



## UNIVERSITÉ DE REIMS CHAMPAGNE-ARDENNE ÉCOLE DOCTORALE SCIENCES FONDAMENTALES - SANTÉ N°619



Pour obtenir le grade de

#### DOCTEUR DE L'UNIVERSITÉ DE REIMS CHAMPAGNE-ARDENNE

#### Discipline : SCIENCES DE LA VIE ET DE LA SANTE

Spécialité :ASPECTS MOLÉCULAIRES ET CELLULAIRES DE LA BIOLOGIE

Présentée et soutenue publiquement par

## Cao Cuong LE

Le 24 janvier 2020

### Rôle de LRP-1 dans la prolifération des cellules issues de cancer du côlon en matrice tridimensionnelle de collagène de type I

### Thèse dirigée par **STEPHANE DEDIEU**

### HAMID MORJANI

#### JURY

M. Maxime LEHMANN,Professeur, Université de Strasbourg, PrésidentMme Dominique GUENOT,Directeur de Recherche, INSERM, Université de Strasbourg, RapporteurM. Frédéric SALTEL,Chargé de Recherche HDR, INSERM, Université de Bordeaux, RapporteurM. Eric BATTAGLIA,Maître de Conférences HDR, Université de Lorraine, ExaminateurM. Laurent MARTINY,Professeur, Université de Reims Champagne Ardenne, ExaminateurM. Stéphane DEDIEU,Professeur, Université de Reims Champagne Ardenne, Directeur de thèseM. Hamid MORJANI,Professeur, Université de Reims Champagne Ardenne, Directeur de thèse

M. Amar BENNASROUNE, Maître de Conférences, HDR, Université de Reims Champagne Ardenne, Membre invité





# UNIVERSITY OF REIMS CHAMPAGNE-ARDENNE THE FUNDAMENTAL SCIENCES AND HEALTH DOCTORAL SCHOOL - N°619

# **PH.D. THESIS**

To obtain the degree of

#### DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY OF THE UNIVERSITY OF REIMS CHAMPAGNE-ARDENNE

#### Major : LIFE SCIENCES AND HEALTH

Speciality : MOLECULAR AND CELLULAR BIOLOGY

Presented and published by

## Cao Cuong LE

January 24, 2020

# Role of LRP-1 in colon cancer cell proliferation in three-dimensional culture systems

### Directed by **STEPHANE DEDIEU**

### HAMID MORJANI

#### JURY

M. Maxime LEHMANN, Professor, University of Strasbourg, President

Mme Dominique GUENOT, DR, INSERM, University of Strasbourg, Reporter

M. Frédéric SALTEL, CR, HDR, INSERM, University of Bordeaux, Reporter

M. Eric BATTAGLIA, MCU, HDR, University of Lorraine, Examinator

M. Laurent MARTINY, Professor, University of Reims Champagne Ardenne, Examinator

M. Stéphane DEDIEU, Professor, University of Reims Champagne Ardenne, PhD Director

M. Hamid MORJANI, Professor, University of Reims Champagne Ardenne, PhD Director

Mme Aline BENNASROUNE, MCU, University of Reims Champagne Ardenne, Co-supervisor

M. Amar BENNASROUNE, MCU, HDR, University of Reims Champagne Ardenne, invited juror

# Rôle de LRP-1 dans la prolifération des cellules issues de cancer du côlon en matrice tridimensionnelle de collagène de type I

Le récepteur *low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein-1* (LRP-1) est un récepteur d'endocytose multifonctionnel impliqué dans de nombreux processus physiologiques et pathologiques. Plusieurs études ont montré que LRP-1 joue un rôle crucial lors des processus de tumorigenèse et durant la progression tumorale, notamment en régulant l'expression de protéines membranaires. Des études antérieures ont montré l'implication des récepteurs du collagène de type I de la famille des *Discoidin Domain Receptors* (DDRs) dans la régulation de la prolifération des cellules cancéreuses en 3D. Le but de ce travail est d'étudier s'il existe une interaction fonctionnelle entre LRP-1 et DDR1 et si celle-ci pourrait moduler la prolifération des cellules de cancer colorectal (CRC) cultivées dans une matrice 3D de collagène de type I.

Nos résultats ont permis de montrer qu'une invalidation de LRP-1 ou une inhibition de son activité par l'utilisation d'antagonistes sélectifs (RAP, anticorps bloquants) altère la prolifération des cellules de CRC LS174T et HT-29, uniquement lorsque qu'elles sont intégrées dans une matrice 3D de collagène de type I. De plus, la surexpression de DDR1-GFP dans les cellules HT-29 (HT-29<sup>DDR-GFP</sup>) diminue leur taux de croissance, tandis que l'inhibition de LRP-1 par RAP induit un arrêt du cycle cellulaire et une augmentation de l'apoptose dans les cellules HT-29 et HT-29<sup>DDR-GFP</sup>. Nous avons montré que la quantité de DDR1 à la surface cellulaire était augmentée et que l'endocytose de DDR1 était réduite de moitié lors du traitement par RAP, mettant ainsi en évidence une nouvelle voie d'internalisation pour DDR1. De plus, LRP-1 et DDR1 co-immunoprécipitent ensemble indiquant que ces récepteurs sont fortement associés au sein d'un même complexe moléculaire dans les cellules de CRC.

Nos résultats mettent en évidence l'existence d'une interface fonctionnelle entre LRP-1 et DDR1 I soutenant la prolifération des cellules de CRC dans une matrice 3D de collagène.

LRP-1, DDR1, cancer colorectal, prolifération, matrice 3D de collagène de type I

#### Role of LRP-1 in colon cancer cell proliferation in three-dimensional culture systems

Low-density lipoprotein receptor related protein-1 (LRP-1) is a multifunctional endocytotic receptor mediating the clearance of various molecules from the extracellular matrix, including metalloproteases and various glycoproteins. Several studies have shown that LRP-1 plays crucial roles in tumorigenesis and during tumor progression. LRP-1 also functions as a main regulator of signaling pathway by interacting with other cell-surface receptors. Previous studies have highlighted the involvement of Discoidin Domain Receptors (DDRs), type I collagen receptors with tyrosine kinase activity, in the regulation of cancer cell proliferation in 3D experimental models. The aim of this work is to study the potential functional interplay between LRP-1 and DDR1 in order to investigate whether this interaction may modulate the proliferation of colorectal cancer (CRC) cells in highly relevant 3D type I collagen matrices.

In this study, we demonstrated that inhibition of LRP-1-mediated endocytosis using RNA interference or selective antagonists (RAP and R2629 blocking antibodies) impaired LS174T and HT-29 carcinoma cell proliferation, but only when embedded in a 3D collagen matrix. Using 3D cultures, DDR1-GFP overexpressing HT-29 (HT-29<sup>DDR-GFP</sup>) reduced the colorectal carcinoma cell growth rate, whereas RAP treatment led to cell cycle arrest and induced apoptosis in both HT-29 and HT-29<sup>DDR-GFP</sup>. By streptavidin/biotin-based immunoassays, we demonstrated that membrane-anchored DDR1 amount was increased upon RAP treatment while DDR1 uptake was reduced by a half upon LRP-1 inhibition, highlighting a new way for DDR1 internalization and dynamics. Consistently, co-immunoprecipitations confirmed the existence of a LRP1:DDR1 biomolecular complex at the cell surface of CRC cells.

Our results suggest a role for LRP-1 in promoting CRC cell proliferation in 3D collagen environment by mediating DDR1 endocytosis.

LRP-1, DDR1, colon cancer cell, proliferation, 3D collagen matrix

#### Discipline : SCIENCES DE LA VIE ET DE LA SANTE

Spécialité : Aspects moléculaires et cellulaires de la biologie

Université de Reims Champagne-Ardenne MEDYC - UMR CNRS 7369/ BioSpecT EA 7506 UFR Sciences Exactes et Naturelles, Campus Moulin de la Housse BP 1039 51687 Reims cedex 2, France.

# Acknowledgements

I was lucky enough to have a chance pursuing my Ph.D. in France for three years. Time seems to go by so fast. There are dozens of meaningful things that I would love to do and to experience here before finishing this journey. However, I would keep them for my own, just put them in a corner of my heart. Unlike any other journeys that I had experienced, pursuing the Ph.D. is an unforgettable period of my life. By this Ph.D. thesis, I would like to express my gratefulness to all my beloved supporters and organizations that have supported me to pursue and to obtain this degree.

I would like to express thanks to Professor François-Xavier Maquart, the former director of the Extracellular Matrix and Extracellular Dynamics (MEDyC) unit and Professor Olivier Piot, the director of the Translational Biospectroscopy (BiospecT) unit for accepting me to work in the laboratories.

I also would like to thank Professor Laurent Martiny, the former director of SiRMa laboratory and the present director of MEDyC unit for scientific and administrative managements during my PhD works. Thank you also for your presidency of my Ph.D. jury.

I also would like to express thanks to Professor Maxime Lehmann, Dr. Dominique Guenot, Dr. Frédéric Santel, and Dr. Eric Battaglia for being jury members of my Ph.D. defense.

I am deeply grateful to my enthusiastic Ph.D. director, Professor Stéphane Dedieu and my co-director, Professor Hamid Morjani. Thank you for your continuous supervisions, supports, immense knowledge, kindness, patience, calmness, and sympathy. Thank you also for your kind responses to my numerous scientific questions as well as for your time to have some non-scientific discussions. I have learned a lot from you in both your scientific and professional experts. It is hard to say how much I admire you ! I really regret that I could not come up with my French as your expectation. By the way, I wish I could have a chance to say "Bonjour" to you in my homeland one day.

A special thank is reserved for Dr. Aline Bennasroune, my Ph.D. co-supervisor who was always caring me in both scientific and non-scientific activities. I will never forget my first day in France when it was very cold, and I came to Reims by TGV after a long non-stopover fight. By the time getting off the train, I even did not know that the Champagne TGV station is just over my head, but not in the valley. So, I just stayed there, in the valley, waiting for you with full of confusing, worries, home sickness, especially feeling cold (because I could not adapt well with the weather). Finally, you went down to reach me at the train stop, kindly smiling and asking me "are you Le" (that was the reason why I would love to keep my first name as "Le", which was called for over a year in our lab, I thought, it could be much easier for everyone to call me Le). I guess that you was nervous and confusing for waiting me, too ! For me, I can't express how happy was I for the first-ever meet. I also can't list all works that you did for me in the early days and day-to-day works during my Ph.D. Unfortunately, I did nothing for you, but I am a bit likely an obstinate student !

I specifically appreciate Dr. Amar Bennasroune's guidance and supports. Thank you for your scientific advices and recommendation as well as your unspoken works that you did for me. Thank you for always beside Aline whenever she has a hard sledding or rough moments. I know that my Ph.D. studying has been taken a lot of her energy. It is time for relax. I sincerely invite your family to visit my country one day, too. I wish you guys could arrange for the trip!

Similarly, a profound gratitude goes to my former supervisors for their uncountable research supports and academic advices, which have been made undeniable contributions to the improvement of my scientific knowledge and laboratorial skills. I would particularly give a big thank to Dr. Le Quang Hoa who was my undergraduate supervisor and master II co-supervisor. Thanks to his recommendation and introduction to USTH, I had a chance to follow an excellent master program that totally helped to change my career.

I also would like to give thanks to Dr. Damien Rioult for his assistance with flow cytomestry and cell cycle data analysis advices. I would highly appreciate Dr. Christine Terryn for her expert works in Second Harmonic Generation and immunofluorescence imaging.

I would like to extend thanks to my friends and co-workers in the laboratory. This journey might probably be less colourful without you guys. Firstly, a big fat thank is served for all of my co-workers in both MEDyC and BiospecT teams. Particularly, I would express my gratefulness to Dr. Guillaume Collin, Dr. Charles Saby, Cathy, and Laurence for technical supports. I also higly appreciate Dr. Pascal Maurice, Dr. Benoit Langlois, Dr. Stephanie Salesse, Dr. Christope Schneider, and Dr. Katia Savary for scientific exchanges. Thank you, in particular, Dr. Stéphane Brézillon, Dr. Jérôme Devy, Dr. Abdelilah Beljebbar, Dr. Ganesh Sockalingum, and Dr. Albin Jeanne for your meaningful recommendations and suggestions during my presentation in the team/unit meetings. Besides, I can't leave this section without mentioning about Mrs. Marie-line, Olivier Bouche, Camille Fuselier, Camille B, Amandine, and Lise. Thank you all for your kindness and your super funny jokes as well. I extremely enjoyed your joking times. I wish I could learn a bit from you guys for such amazing arts. Furthermore, I wish all the best for all my beloved friends and colleagues who are working on the ongoing projects. Hey Céline, Véronique, Oumaima, Benjamin, and Elodie ! I wish the best of luck for your next positions. I wish you guys (Fatima, Elie, Pierre, Julien, Océane, Auberi,

Tesnim, Almar, Warda, and Nicolas) doing well your Ph.D. works. Please keep in touch and let me know your defense day !

A special mention goes to "my bro" Thomas and his lover Camille. Two of you had shared lots of beautiful moments with me from time to time. Thank you for your spending time for our dinners in some restaurants here. I promise you that I will introduce to you guys some real traditional and well-known Vietnamese foods when you guys come to visit my homeland ! Well, more importantly, I can't imagine how excited am I when I see your babies <sup>©</sup>. It's amazing ! I still have no idea for that, just looking forward to the wedding !

By the way, I would say sorry to all my friends and colleagues who are not mentioned in this dissertation. I love you all with no doubt, I wish I could have more place to write about you guys. Wait ! please do not worry, I always have free places for you guys in my heart and my mind.

For administration, I would like to thank Dr. Jean Claude Monboisse, Mister director of the SFS doctoral school, University of Reims Champagne-Ardenne; and Mrs. Valérie Piraube, the secretary of SFS doctoral school for all administrative guidance and advices. I also would like to thank Mrs. Hala Abokatma, a Campus France's officer and Ms. Nguyen Ha Anh, a VIED's officer for taking care of me during my abroad studying.

I would like to express my deep gratitude to VIED and USTH for my Ph.D. fellowship. I also would like to thank the Structure Fédérative de Recherche Cap Santé (SFR Cap Santé) and Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique (CNRS) for financial supports of this project.

Last but not least, there is no word to express my gratitude to my parents, and sisters. Mum and dad have been working hard, sacrificed their lives for me, giving me unconditional love, care, and supports. My sisters had given me their rights for higher education. I might not go this far without their supports. I am a person who never directly express innermost feelings to family members, I prefer to keep my infinite love for my family in my heart instead of saying. However, today I would say "I love you all so much, all of you are my whole world". You guys have been waiting for this day for almost 10 years, it is not only the journey in France but also other sledding ones. We will celebrate this event when I go home !

# **Table of Contents**

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	9
LIST OF FIGURES	
LIST OF TABLES	
INTRODUCTION	
INTRODUCTION GÉNÉRALE ET OBJECTIF (SUMMARY IN FRENCH)	14
I. COLORECTAL CANCER OVERVIEW AND THERAPIES	
1. COLORECTAL CANCER	19
1.1 Epidemiology	
1.1.1 Incidence and mortality	
1.1.2 Prognosis	
1.1.3 Risk and preventive factors	
1.2 Histopathological classification	
1.3 Molecular Genetics of Colorectal Cancer	
1.4 Mechanisms and pathophysiology of colorectal cancer	
1.5 Colorectal cancer diagnosis and screening	
1.6 Colorectal cancer treatment	
2. COLORECTAL TUMOR MICROENVIRONMENT	41
2.1 Fibroblasts and CAFs	
2.2 Inflammatory microenvironment of colorectal tumors	43
2.3 Gut Microbiota in Colorectal Tumor Microenvironment	44
2.4 Extracellular Matrix of Colorectal Tumor Microenvironment	46
II. TYPE I COLLAGEN RECEPTORS	
1. Integrins	47
2. DISCOIDIN DOMAIN RECEPTORS	47
2.1 The general structure of DDRs	48
2.2 Collagen-binding site for DDRs	50
2.3 Mechanisms of DDR activation/phosphorylation	50
2.4 DDR Signaling Pathways	51
2.5 DDRs and cancer	
2.5.1 DDRs expression and mutations in cancers	
2.5.2 Roles of DDRs in Cancer Cell Proliferation	53
2.5.3 Effects of DDRs on Cancer Cell Survival and Apoptosis	
2.5.4 Roles of DDRs in EMT and cell invasion	
2.5.5 Roles of DDRs in Metastasis and Tumor Progression	
III. LOW DENSITY LIPOPROTEIN RECEPTOR-RELATED PROTEIN-1	AND ITS
MAIN FUNCTIONS	
1. LRP-1	
1.1 LRP-1 structure	57
1.2 LRP-1 maturation: the key role of RAP	60
2. LRP-1, MODULATOR OF SIGNALING PATHWAYS	

2.1 LRP-1 regulates apoptotic pathways and promotes cell survival	
2.2 Role of LRP-1 in cell proliferation	64
2.3 Role of LRP-1 on inflammatory signaling	
3. LRP-1 INVOLVEMENT IN DISEASES	67
3.1 LRP-1 in neurodegenerative disorders and several chronic diseases	
3.2 LRP-1 and cancers	/0 75
4. LKP-1 IN PRECLINICAL AND CLINICAL TRIALS	
RESULTS	79
SCIENTIFIC GOAL STATEMENT AND PRESENTATION OF THE SCIEN	TIFIC
ARTICLE	80
ARTICLE	
	0.4
ARTICLE (SUMMARY IN FRENCH)	
ORIGINAL ARTICLE	
FIGURES FOR ORIGINAL ARTICLE	110
REVUE	
REVIEW MANUSCRIPT (SUMMARY IN FRENCH)	
REVIEW MANUSCRIPT	
DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION	141
DISCUSSION ET CONCLUSION (SUMMARY IN FRENCH)	142
DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION	148
PERSPECTIVES	
SCIENTIFIC ACTIVITIES AND ACHIEVEMENTS	
INTERNATIONAL PUBLICATIONS	160
ORAL PRESENTATIONS	160
POSTER PRESENTATIONS	161
ADDITIONAL COURSES	162
LIST OF REFERENCES	

# List of Abbreviations

AAT	Alpha 1-antitrypsin		
AD	Alzheimer disease		
ADAM	A Disintegrin and Metalloproteinase		
AMI	Acute Myocardial Infarction therapy		
ApoE	Apolipoprotein E		
APP	Amyloid Protein Precursor		
Αβ	Amyloid beta		
BBB	Blood-brain Barrier		
BFT	Bacteroides fragilis		
BM	Basement Membrane		
CAF	Cancer-Associated Fibroblast		
CAM	Cell Adhesion Molecule		
CCL3	Chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 3		
CDK2	Cyclin-dependent Kinase 2		
cDNA	Complementary DNA		
CRC	Colorectal Cancer		
Dab1	Disabled-1		
DC	Dendritic Cell		
DDR	Discoidin Domain Receptor		
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic Acid		
EC	Endothelial Cell		
ECM	Extracellular Matrix		
EGF	Epidermal Growth Factor		
EMT	Epithelial-mesenchymal Transition		
ER	Endoplasmic Reticulum		
ERK	Extracellular Signal-regulated Protein Kinase		
FGF	Fibroblast Growth Factor		
GFP	Green Fluorescent Protein		
GSK3β	Glycogen Synthase Kinase 3-β		
HBMEC	Human Brain Microvascular Endothelial Cell		
HGF	Hepatocyte Growth Factor		
HNSCC	Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma		
Hsp90	Heat shock protein 90		
IFN	Interferon		
IL	Interleukin		
INL	Innate Lymphoid Cell		
JNK	c-Jun N-terminal Kinase		
LDLR	Low-Density Lipoprotein Receptor		
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide		
LRP-1	Low-Density Lipoprotein Receptor-related Protein-1		
MAMP	Microbe-associated molecular pattern		

# List of Abbreviations (continued)

MAPK	Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase		
MC	Myeloid Cell		
MDSC	Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cell		
miRNA	MicroRNA		
MMP	Matrix Metalloproteinase		
MSC	Mesenchymal Stem Cell		
NF-ĸB	Nuclear Factor-ĸB		
NMDA	N-methyl-D-aspartate Receptor		
PDGF	Platelet-Derived Growth Factor		
PI3K	Phosphoinositide 3-kinase		
РКС	Protein Kinase C		
PSDP95	Post-synaptic Density Protein 95		
RAP	Receptor Associated Protein		
RB	Retinoblastoma protein		
RhoA	Ras homolog family member A		
RNA	Ribonucleic Acid		
ROS	Reactive Oxygen Species		
RTK	Receptor Tyrosine Kinase		
SHG	Second Harmonic Generation		
SHP2	Src Homology region 2 domain-containing Phosphatase-2		
sLRP-1	Soluble LRP-1		
SMC	Smooth Muscle Cell		
STAT3	Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription 3		
TAM	Tumor-Associated Macrophage		
TGF-β	Transforming Growth Factor-β		
Th17	T-helper-17		
Th2	T-helper-2		
TLR4	Toll-like Receptor 4		
TME	Tumor Microenvironment		
tPA	Tissue-type Plasminogen Activator		
TSP1	Thrombospondin 1		
uPA	Urokinase-type Plasminogen Activator		
uPAR	Urokinase Plasminogen Activator Receptor		
VBM	Vascular Basement Membrane		
VEGF	Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor		

# LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE 1. CLASSIFICATION OF COLORECTAL CANCER BASED ON SPORADIC AND HEREDITARY FACTORS 19
FIGURE 2. GLOBAL EPIDEMIOLOGY OF COLORECTAL CANCER IN 2018
FIGURE 3. ESTIMATED AGE-STANDARDIZED 1-,3-,5-YEAR NET SURVIVAL OF COLORECTAL CANCER PATIENTS
IN SOME DEVELOPED COUNTRIES (2010-2014)22
FIGURE 4. THE PERCENTAGE OF ALL COLORECTAL CANCER CASES AMONG BOTH SEXES (WORLDWIDE) WITH
THE ATTRIBUTION OF OVERWEIGHT23
FIGURE 5. PRESENTATION OF COLORECTAL CARCINOGENETIC PATHWAYS
FIGURE 6. CROSSTALK BETWEEN THERAPEUTIC AGENTS TARGETING EGFR AND VEGFRS SIGNALING
PATHWAYS
FIGURE 7. THE OVERVIEW OF THE CROSSTALK BETWEEN COLORECTAL TUMOR CELLS WITH OTHER TME
COMPONENTS IN THE TUMOR NICHE41
FIGURE 8. FIBROBLASTS HETEROGENEITY IN TUMOR MICROENVIRONMENT
FIGURE 9. THE IMMUNE RESPONSE IN COLORECTAL CANCER
FIGURE 10. THE ASSOCIATION OF GUT MICROBIOTA IN COLORECTAL CARCINOGENESIS
FIGURE 11. THE OVERALL STRUCTURES OF RECEPTOR TYROSINE KINASE FAMILIES
FIGURE 12. GENERAL STRUCTURE OF DDRs
FIGURE 13. PROPOSED MODEL OF DDR1 ACTIVATION MECHANISM
FIGURE 14. DDRs INITIATE SEVERAL SIGNALING PATHWAYS
FIGURE 15. MODULAR DOMAIN ORGANIZATION OF LOW-DENSITY LIPOPROTEIN RECEPTOR FAMILY
FIGURE 16. LRP-1 SCHEMATIC STRUCTURE AND LIGANDS
FIGURE 17. LRP-1 SYNTHESIS, PROCESSING AND MATURATION
FIGURE 18. STRUCTURAL REPRESENTATION OF RAP
FIGURE 19. PROPOSED LRP-1 RELATED SIGNALING PATHWAYS IN MULTIPLE PROCESSES OF CANCER
DEVELOPMENT64
FIGURE 20. REGULATION OF LPS INDUCED-INFLAMMATORY RESPONSE BY LRP-1
FIGURE 21. PROPOSED LRP-1-RELATED PATHWAYS FOR AB CLEARANCE FROM CIRCULATING BLOOD AND AB
ACCUMULATION IN BRAINS
FIGURE 22. CONTRIBUTION OF LRP-1 TO TUMOR INVASION AND MIGRATION
FIGURE 23. ENDOCYTOSIS OF UPAR COMPLEX BY LRP1
FIGURE 24. ROLE OF LRP-1 IN ACUTE MYOCARDIAL INFARCTION
FIGURE 25. USING LRP-1 AS A CARGO RECEPTOR TO TRANSPORT GRN1005CHEMOTHERAPY AGENT
FIGURE 26. A PROPOSED MODEL FOR LRP-1/DDR1 PATHWAY IN NON-INVASIVE CRC
FIGURE 27. SECOND HARMONIC GENERATION IMAGING
FIGURE 28. ANALYSIS OF SHG SIGNALS

# LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 1. OVERVIEW OF RISK AND PREVENTIVE FACTORS OF COLORECTAL CANCER	24
TABLE 2. STAGES OF COLORECTAL CANCER BASED ON THE CLASSIFICATION OF THE INTERNATIONAL	UNION
FOR CANCER CONTROL.	25
TABLE 3. CLASSIFICATION OF COLORECTAL CANCERS ACCORDING TO TNM STAGING SYSTEM	
TABLE 4. SELECTED COMMON RECURRENT SOMATIC MUTATIONS IN COLORECTAL CANCER.	
TABLE 5. KEY INDICATORS FOR AVAILABLE COLORECTAL CANCER DIAGNOSTIC AND SCREENING	
TECHNIQUES.	
TABLE 6. LIST OF FDA-APPROVED THERAPY FOR MCRC TREATMENT	
TABLE 7. LIST OF ONGOING CLINICAL TRIALS TARGETING DMMR-MSI-H COLORECTAL CANCER	
TABLE 8. LIST OF ONGOING CLINICAL TRIALS TARGETING PMMR-MSI-L COLORECTAL CANCER	
TABLE 9. ADAPTOR PROTEINS KNOWN TO BIND TO THE CYTOPLASMIC DOMAIN OF LRP-1.	

# Introduction

#### Introduction Générale et Objectif (summary in French)

Le cancer colorectal (CCR) est un problème de santé publique majeur en France et dans le monde. Chaque année, 42 000 nouveaux cas de cancers colorectaux sont diagnostiqués en France. Tous sexes confondus, le CCR est le troisième cancer le plus fréquent après les cancers de la prostate et du sein et cette pathologie cause chaque année 17 000 décès. Les chances de guérison dépendent du stade de progression de la maladie : les patients ont 91% de chances de survie, cinq ans ou plus après la maladie lorsqu'elle est diagnostiquée au stade de tumeur primaire, alors que ce pourcentage est de 11% lorsqu'elle a atteint le stade métastasé. Le CCR est un cancer dont la fréquence augmente avec l'âge. Il est ainsi rarement diagnostiqué avant 45 ans. Les principaux facteurs de risque du CCR sont la consommation d'alcool, le surpoids, l'obésité, le tabagisme, l'alimentation pauvre en fibres, excessive en viande rouge ou en viandes transformées, la sédentarité et l'inactivité physique. En dépit des avancées dans la compréhension des mécanismes moléculaires qui sous-tendent l'apparition et la progression du CCR, et de l'émergence de thérapies ciblées, le traitement de cette pathologie demeure encore insatisfaisant. Ceci est particulièrement vrai pour les cancers colorectaux localement évolués ou compliqués d'emblée de métastases à distance.

Il est bien connu que la plupart des patients atteints de CCR développent des mutations (caractère sporadique). A cause de l'accumulation progressive de ces mutations qui activent les oncogènes et inactivent les gènes suppresseurs de tumeurs, les cellules épithéliales du côlon sont transformées en foyers de cryptes aberrants, entraînant ensuite la formation de polypes et la formation de cancers subséquents. L'analyse génétique a montré que le cancer colorectal sporadique contient des mutations somatiques dans les oncogènes et les gènes suppresseurs de tumeurs. Récemment, la plupart des mutations proto-oncogènes du cancer colorectal ont été élucidées. Des mutations activatrices de KRAS ont été identifiées dans 40% des cas de CCR. Une faible proportion de mutations NRAS a cependant été rapportée. Le gène codant pour la protéine BRAF, un effecteur en aval de la voie Ras, est muté dans le CCR sporadique avec une fréquence d'environ 5 à 10%. De plus, les mutations de BRAF ont été associées à une variation de la progression adénome-carcinome. D'autres mutations somatiques critiques ont également été trouvées dans la kinase PI3K avec des proportions entre 15 et 25% des CCR. Concernant le CCR héréditaire, les deux types de cette pathologie les plus courants sont le cancer du côlon héréditaire sans polypose (HNPCC ou syndrome de Lynch) et la polypose adénomateuse familiale (FAP). Le HNPCC présente des mutations dans plusieurs gènes tels que MSH2 et MLH1, tandis que plus de 90% des FAP contiennent des mutations du gène APC.

#### Introduction

L'environnement des cellules cancéreuses a une influence majeure sur le développement de la tumeur. En effet, le caractère invasif d'une tumeur primitive est déterminé non seulement par le génotype des cellules tumorales, mais aussi par leurs interactions avec l'environnement extracellulaire ou stromal, qui contient de cellules stromales et des éléments de la matrice extracellulaire (MEC). La MEC est composée de facteurs dits solubles (cytokines, facteurs de croissances...) et de facteurs dits adhésifs. Les composants adhésifs majoritaires de la MEC sont représentés par la superfamille des collagènes, parmi lesquels, le collagène de type I constitue le composant structural majeur. Des études récentes basées sur des approches transcriptomiques et protéomiques ont pu identifier les marqueurs spécifiques qui sont dérégulés dans le microenvironnement lors des premiers stades CCR, mais aussi dans celui localement avancé ou métastatique. Il est intéressant de noter que ces études ont permis de mettre en évidence un remodelage significatif du microenvironnement, et en particulier de la MEC. Des acteurs, qui participent à ce remodelage tels que les protéases, oxydases et hydroxylases, ont été identifiés proposés comme des marqueurs de la progression du CCR.

L'analyse des signatures MEC dans les tumeurs du côlon des patients a montré que le collagène de type I est fortement exprimé. Par conséquent, une densité élevée du collagène de type I est un facteur de mauvais pronostic dans le carcinome du côlon. En effet, un environnement riche en collagène de type I est capable d'induire l'expression d'un phénotype mésenchymateux et par conséquent l'invasion tumorale. Outre la densité, la topologie du collagène (alignement des fibres) et l'élasticité (rigidité) semblent également associées au CCR et sa progression. En effet, le collagène dans la MECdes tissus du carcinome du côlon semble être plus rigide que celui des tissus normaux et que l'alignement des fibres de collagène est augmenté dans les tissus du carcinome du côlon par rapport aux tissus normaux. Les études biophysiques ont également montré différentes empreintes moléculaires pour les fibres de collagène dans les tissus du carcinome du côlon par rapport aux tissus normaux. Il est important de noter que l'hypoxie, qui est associée à la densité et à l'organisation du collagène, a été décrite pour avoir un impact sur la migration et l'invasion du CCR en induisant le mésenchymateux dans le CCR.

Dans le cas du collagène de type I, et en plus de sa fonction architecturale, celui-ci est capable de moduler également le comportement des cellules cancéreuses en interagissant avec celles-ci *via* des récepteurs spécifiques. Les récepteurs de collagène de type I les plus étudiés sont les intégrines  $\alpha 1\beta 1$ ,  $\alpha 2\beta 1$ ,  $\alpha 10\beta 1$  et  $\alpha 11\beta 1$ . Pour leur activation, ces récepteurs reconnaissent la séquence GFOGER du collagène de type I. Une étude menée sur des patients a montré que parmi les hétérodimères cités ci-dessus, l'intégrine  $\alpha 1\beta 1$  était le récepteur le plus

#### Introduction

exprimé dans le carcinome du colon. L'expression de l'intégrine ß1 dans les tumeurs a été corrélée avec une diminution de la survie des patients atteints de CCR. Les récepteurs à domaine discoïdine (DDRs) représentent la seconde famille de récepteurs qui interagissent aussi avec le collagène de type I. Ces récepteurs reconnaissent la séquence GVMGFO du collagène de type I et, contrairement aux intégrines, ils ont la particularité de posséder une activité tyrosine kinase. De plus, contrairement aux autres récepteurs à activité tyrosine kinase tels que l'EGFR ou le PDGFR, qui présentent une activation rapide et transitoire, les DDRs présentent une activation longue et prolongée. En effet, leur phosphorylation n'est détectable qu'après une exposition prolongée au collagène (2 heures) et se maintient pendant plus de 16 heures. Le rôle des DDRs et leur interaction avec les voies de signalisation impliquées dans la survie et la prolifération des cellules tumorales a été étudié récemment, aussi bien in vitro qu'in vivo. Ainsi il a été montré que DDR1 et DDR2 étaient capables d'avoir à la fois un rôle dans l'augmentation de la prolifération cellulaire [1-7] mais aussi dans l'inhibition de celle-ci [8-11], en fonction du type cellulaire et du microenvironnement de la tumeur. Des résultats récents ont montré que l'expression de DDR1 et son activation confère aux cellules tumorales de colon des propriétés invasives et la capacité à former des métastases [12, 13]. Cependant, des données de notre groupe et de celui d'Erik Maquoi ont montré que le collagène de type I était capable en matrice 3D d'induire une diminution de la prolifération de cellules cancéreuses, alors qu'il n'en induit pas lorsque ces cellules sont cultivées sur du collagène déposé en 2D [9, 14-16]. De plus, nous avons pu montrer que les récepteurs DDR1 et DDR2 sont les principaux récepteurs impliqués dans ce processus alors que les intégrines n'y participent pas [9, 15, 16].

Le récepteur LRP-1 (*low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein-1*) est un récepteur d'endocytose multifonctionnel régulant différentes voies de signalisation intracellulaire. Ses fonctions dans l'endocytose et le catabolisme de divers constituants associés à la MEC, indiquent un rôle crucial du récepteur dans l'assemblage, le renouvellement et le contrôle de l'organisation du réseau matriciel. Plusieurs études ont montré récemment son rôle dans la migration, l'invasion et la prolifération des cellules cancéreuses. Au cours des dix dernières années, plusieurs d'études ont montré l'implication de LRP-1 dans diverses voies de signalisation qui induisent la prolifération cellulaire. Il est bien connu que LRP-1 régule certaines voies de signalisation cruciales en aval qui sont associées, entre autres, avec la prolifération cellulaire. Cependant, cette fonction reste controversée et dépend des types cellulaires, des stimuli et des conditions qui sont étudiés.

LRP-1 semble participer dans diverses voies de signalisation avec différents acteurs moléculaires pour moduler la prolifération cellulaire. Par exemple, la liaison de l'a2macroglobuline à LRP-1 induit une augmentation de la phosphorylation de ERK1/2, p38 et c-Jun, et favorise ensuite la prolifération cellulaire dérivée des macrophages J774 [17]. Une étude sur les cellules ostéoblastiques a montré que LRP-1 est également impliqué dans la prolifération cellulaire induite par la lactoferrine. Il a été suggéré que la lactoferrine stimule la mitogenèse des ostéoblastes en activant la voie MAPK p42 / 44 via LRP-1 et que la fonction endocytaire de LRP-1 est indépendante de sa fonction de signalisation [18]. De plus, l'activateur tissulaire du plasminogène (tPA) semble interagir avec LRP-1 en induisant une cascade d'événements de signalisation prolifératifs impliquant la phosphorylation de ERK1/2, p90RSK, GSK3β, et l'induction de la cycline D1 entraînant une progression du cycle cellulaire et une prolifération cellulaire [19]. En outre, LRP-1 induit la prolifération cellulaire des fibroblastes embryonnaires de souris après association avec ses ligands, en stimulant les cascades de signalisation pro-prolifératives en aval [20, 21]. En revanche, LRP-1 a été décrit comme un inhibiteur de la prolifération des cellules stellaires hépatiques humaines en diminuant par endocytose le niveau de molécules pro-prolifératives dans le milieu extracellulaire [22, 23]. Une étude récente sur les cellules endothéliales microvasculaires rétiniennes a montré que LRP-1 interagit directement avec la poly- (ADP-ribose) polymérase-1 (PARP-1), un régulateur de la progression du cycle cellulaire, induisant une inhibition de la prolifération des cellules endothéliales. LRP-1 régule également les activités de la kinase dépendante de la cycline 2 (CDK2) et du rétinoblastome, deux protéines qui jouent un rôle important dans la progression du cycle cellulaire et de l'angiogenèse [24].

Des travaux réalisés par notre équipe ont montré que ce récepteur d'endocytose régule les processus d'adhérence des cellules cancéreuses à la MEC afin de favoriser la progression tumorale [25, 26]. Nous avons notamment démontré que LRP-1 joue un rôle de mécanosenseur du microenvironnement tumoral en contrôlant la rigidité des cellules tumorales et en régulant les forces d'adhérence et de détachement de celles-ci [27]. Nous avons aussi montré que l'inhibition de l'expression ou de l'activité de LRP-1 induit des modifications des voies de signalisation intracellulaire (inhibition de l'activation de FAK, suractivation de RhoA...) ainsi qu'une réorganisation du cytosquelette d'actine, qui aboutissent à l'inhibition de la migration et de l'invasion tumorale de carcinomes thyroïdiens dans une matrice 3D de collagène de type I [28]. D'autre part, une étude translationnelle visant à évaluer pour la première fois l'impact clinique du niveau d'expression de LRP-1 sur la survie globale et/ou la survie sans progression de patients atteints de CCR a permis d'établir qu'une perte d'expression de LRP-1 est associée

à des caractéristiques cliniques et des profils morphologiques et moléculaires (instabilité des microsatellites, mutations BRAF...) défavorables qui concourent à un mauvais pronostic [29]. D'autre part, des mutations de LRP-1 ont été rapportées chez des patients ayant des métastases hépatiques [30]. Au vu de ces données, le rôle de LRP-1 dans le CCR nécessite d'être étudié de manière plus précise, en particulier au niveau moléculaire.

Concernant la prolifération cellulaire, des études ont montré que DDR1 induit l'apoptose de cellules de carcinome mammaire dans une matrice 3D de collagène de type I [12, 16, 31]. Dans le cas du CCR, des études récentes ont montré que le nilotinib, un inhibiteur spécifique de la phosphorylation de DDR1, réduisait fortement l'invasion des cellules de CCR induite par DDR1 ainsi que les métastases *in vivo* [32]. Ces travaux ont été effectués sur des cellules de CCR présentant un phénotype invasif. Concernant les cellules non invasives de type carcinome épithélial, une étude précédente a montré un effet inhibiteur de la prolifération cellulaire des cellules de CCR dans une matrice 3D. Cependant, le rôle de DDR1 dans un tel processus n'a pas été établi [15].

Dans le présent travail, nous avons étudié si LRP-1, grâce à sa fonction d'endocytose, peut réguler l'expression de DDR1 au niveau de la membrane plasmique et moduler le pouvoir de DDR1 en tant que suppresseur de la prolifération cellulaire. Nos données démontrent pour la première fois que LRP-1 peut induire une endocytose de DDR1 dans des cellules de CCR non invasives, diminuant ainsi la capacité de l'axe collagène de type I / DDR1 à inhiber la prolifération des cellules tumorales et à induire l'apoptose.

### I. Colorectal Cancer Overview and Therapies

#### 1. Colorectal cancer

The development of colorectal cancer is characterized by the change of normal colonic epithelium in carcinoma tissue, in most cases by the development of colorectal adenomas. Adenocarcinoma from glandular epithelial cells of the colon and rectum is known to be the major type of CRC and make up 90 percent of all colorectal cancer cases. CRC consists of squamous cell carcinoma, spindle cell carcinoma, adenosquamous carcinoma, and undifferentiated carcinoma [33]. Approximately 60-65% of CRC cases are sporadic and arise through acquired somatic genomic alterations, whereas 25% of cases were reported as a family profile-associated CRC without a clear genetic cancer syndrome. Other cases were reported as hereditary cancer syndromes, genetic mutations or unknown inherited genomic aberrations. Among those, only 5% of CRC are hereditary cancer syndromes such as hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer (HNPCC, also known as Lynch syndrome) and familial adenomatous polyposis (FAP), due to inherited germline mutations (Figure 1, page 19) [34]. Besides, the biological and anatomical features of colorectum make a critical contribution to the incidence and malignancy of CRC. Results from meta-analysis studies of some systematic reviews indicated that tumors were dominantly found in the proximal (right) colon of older patients compared to the younger groups and are more common in women than in men. The patients with right colon cancer have lower survival rates than those with the distal (left) colon or rectum cancers [35, 36].



Figure 1. Classification of colorectal cancer based on sporadic and hereditary factors [34]

Introduction

#### 1.1 Epidemiology

#### **1.1.1 Incidence and mortality**

Colorectal cancer was reported as rare cancer in the 1950s, but its incidence has increased rapidly over the decades. CRC now accounts for about 10% of cancer-related mortality in western countries [37-39]. Recent data from the International Agency for Research on Cancer indicated that CRC is the second most common cancer diagnosed in women and the third most commonly occurring cancer in men worldwide (Figure 2) [40]. In 2018, CRC is the second deadliest cancer in the world, with over 1.8 million of new CRC cases and approximately 900,000 CRC-caused deaths. Many studies suggest that the increasing incidence rate of CRC is correlated with Western lifestyle, dietary patterns, industrialization and economic growth [41-43]. Indeed, more than 50 percent of prevalent CRC cases occur in countries characterized by high or very high human development index (Figure 2D, page 21) [44]. Analysis of age-standardized incidence rates of CRC in five continents showed that Oceania had the highest rate with more than 31 cases per 100 000 people, followed by Europe and North America with approximately 28 and 25 cases per 100 000 people, respectively. The lowest incidence rates were seen in Africa with less than 8 cases per 100 000 (Figure 2E, page 21). Global CRC statistics showed that the age-standardized incidence and mortality rates in men are higher than in women. The incidence was estimated at about 23.6 cases in men versus 16.3 in women per 100 000 people and estimated mortality was lower with 10.8 in men versus 7.2 in women cases per 100 000, respectively (Globalcan 2018, data not shown). To date, there is no strong evidence to show a significant difference in CRC incidence and mortality according to racial or ethnic disparities. However, extrinsic factors such as lifestyles and risk factors could contribute to CRC epidemical variation between races [34].

Although the incidence rate is higher in developed continents and areas, the ratio of deaths per number of new cases in these areas has been reported to be lower than those in developing areas (**Figure 2**E, page 21). It should be noted that healthcare systems made an undeniable contribution to that outcome. Indeed, screening programs including the increased use of sigmoidoscopy and colonoscopic polypectomy reduces CRC risk by detecting and removing adenomas, and increases survival and cure rates by earlier diagnosis [45, 46].



*Figure 2. Global epidemiology of colorectal cancer in 2018.* (*A*) *Number of new CRC cases worldwide including both sexes, all ages.* (*B*) *Estimated numbers of prevalent 5-year CRC cases.* (*C*) *Estimated number of deaths caused by CRC all over the world including both sexes and all ages.* 

Figure 2. (Continued) (D) Proportion of deaths caused by all cancers showing that CRC occupied the second leading cancer-related deaths including both sexes and all ages. (E) Estimated age-standardized rates (ASR-world, cases per 100000 individuals/year) of CRC incidence and mortality in five continents including both sexes and ages comprised between 0 and 74 years old. Data from GLOBOCAN database, 2018 [40].

#### 1.1.2 Prognosis

The prognosis of patients with colorectal cancer has improved over the past decades. The estimated 5-year survival rate reached approximately 70% in high-income countries such as Australia, Canada, Denmark, Ireland, New Zealand, and Norway (**Figure 3**, page 22), but it was under 50% in low-income countries [47]. In France, the estimated 5-year survival rate reached about 63.7 % between 2010-2014 (Data from Nuffieldtrust, UK). Tumor stage at diagnosis is an important prognostic factor, and survival is generally good for patients with early-stage CRC. According to data from the American Cancer Society in 2019, the relative survival rate for CRC is 65% at 5 years following diagnosis. However, only 39% of CRC patients are diagnosed with localized-stage disease, for which the 5-year survival rate is 90%; survival declines to 12% in patients diagnosed with stage IV CRC [48].



### Prognosis

Figure 3. Estimated age-standardized 1-,3-,5-year net survival of colorectal cancer patients (both sexes,15–99 years) in some developed countries (2010-2014). Data from Globalcan 2018.

Introduction

#### 1.1.3 Risk and preventive factors

To date, many studies have indicated that both intrinsic (genetic) and extrinsic (environmental) factors partly contribute to the etiology of CRC. It should be noted that the extrinsic factors play undeniable roles on CRC formation. Diets and lifestyles have been strongly associated with CRC. Critical extrinsic risk factors including prolonged smoking [49, 50], excessive alcohol consumption [51], high consumption of red and processed meat [52] have been associated with a higher risk of CRC. Obesity is also a potential risk of CRC development [53]. Indeed, a higher Body-Mass Index (BMI) is associated with increased risks of CRC (Figure 4, page 23). Patients with diabetes [54] and long-term infectious diseases [55-57] are at a higher risk than the general population of developing CRC. Moreover, people with CRC family history or patients with inflammatory diseases have a greater risk of developing CRC [58, 59]. It should be noted that in about 5% of all cases, CRC is associated with a highly penetrant dominantly inherited syndrome, such as Lynch syndrome, familial adenomatous polyposis (FAP) or genetic mutations (<1%) (APC, MUTYH gene mutations) [34, 43, 60]. Interestingly, male sex (gender) is associated with an overall increased risk of CRC. Although gender is not a direct risk factor itself, different lifestyles may explain the variation in CRC causes between men and women. For instance, men tended to smoke and drink alcohol more regularly than women. Last but not least, older age is considered as the strongest risk factor due to the accumulation of risks during patients' lifetime (Table 1, page 24) [43].



Figure 4. The percentage of all colorectal cancer cases among both sexes (worldwide) with the attribution of overweight. Data from Globalcan 2012.

On the contrary, many factors have been reported to be associated with a decreased risk of CRC. This includes physical activities, the use of hormone replacement therapy and aspirin, which were shown to decrease the risk of CRC by about 20-30% [43, 60]. The most effective

strategy for prevention of CRC is screening to detect precancerous polyps by endoscopy and remove them. [45, 46, 61, 62] (**Table 1**, page 24). Some studies suggested that the consumption of fresh fruits and vegetables, dairy products, cereal fibers and whole grains, as well as the intake of calcium, vitamin D, and multivitamins, could be beneficial to decrease risks of colorectal cancer [43, 60]. Finally, statins were considered as promising agents for colorectal cancer prevention, however ongoing clinical trials are still under investigation [63, 64].

Factors	Risk	Factors	Risk
Sociodemographic factors		Lifestyle factors	
Older age	$\uparrow \uparrow \uparrow$	Smoking	<b>↑</b>
Male sex	$\uparrow \uparrow$	Excessive alcohol consumption	<b>↑</b>
Medical factors		Obesity	<b>↑</b>
Family history	$\uparrow \uparrow$	Physical activity	↑
Inflammatory bowel diseases	$\uparrow\uparrow$	Diet factors	
Diabetes	$\uparrow$	High consumption of red and processed meat	↑
Helicobacter pylori infection	(†)	Fruits and Vegetables	$(\downarrow)$
Other infections	(†)	Cereal fibre and whole grain	$(\downarrow)$
Large bowel endoscopy	$\downarrow\downarrow$	Fish	$(\downarrow)$
Hormone replacement therapy	$\downarrow$	Dairy products	$(\downarrow)$
Aspirin	$\downarrow$		
Statins	(↓)		

Table 1. Overview of risk and preventive factors of colorectal cancer

 $\uparrow\uparrow\uparrow=$  very strong risk increase,  $\uparrow\uparrow=$  strong risk increase,  $\uparrow=$  moderate risk increase,  $\downarrow\downarrow=$ strong risk reduction,  $\downarrow=$ moderate risk reduction. Parentheses "()" show probable risk factors, but are not fully established. The table is adapted from Brenner (2014) [43].

#### 1.2 Histopathological classification

To date, there are several staging systems used in oncology. However, the most clinically useful staging system is the tumor, node, and metastasis (TNM) staging system [65]. According to the American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) and the International Union for Cancer Control (UICC), colorectal cancer stages are classified based on three factors "tumor-node-metastasis", which classified CRC into 3 main stages including invasive depth of primary tumor (T stage), regional lymph nodes (N stage), and presence of distant metastases (M stage) [65, 66]. Furthermore, the UICC created a new staging system based on TNM system to improve the prognosis and the therapeutic strategy (**Table 2**, page 25).

Stages	Т	Ν	Μ
Stage 0	Tis	N0	M0
Stage I	T1/T2	N0	M0
Stage II	T3/T4	N0	M0
IIA	Т3	N0	M0
IIB	T4a	N0	M0
IIC	T4b	N0	M0
Stage III	Any	N+	M0
111 4	T1–T2	N1	M0
IIIA	T1	N2a	M0
	T3–T4a	N1	M0
IIIB	T2–T3	N2a	M0
	T1–T2	N2b	M0
	T4a	N2a	M0
IIIC	T3–T4a	N2b	M0
	T4b	N1-N2	M0
Stage IV	Any	Any	M+
IVA	Any	Any	M1a
IVB	Any	Any	M1b

Table 2. Stages of colorectal cancer based on the classification of the International Union for Cancer Control.

The table is adapted from Brenner and collaborators [43]

The factors used to define TNM staging system are summarized in Table 3 (page 26).

Due to some limitations from TNM and UICC staging systems such as difficulties to predict the therapeutic response and outcome of individual patients [43], a future staging system is under investigation [65].

	Definition
T stage	
Tx	No information about local tumor infiltration available
Tis	Tumor restricted to mucosa, no infiltration of lamina muscularis mucosae
<b>T</b> 1	Infiltration through lamina muscularis mucosae into submucosa, no infiltration of
11	lamina muscularis propria
T2	Infiltration into, but not beyond, lamina muscularis propria
Т2	Infiltration into subserosa or non-peritonealised pericolic or perirectal tissue, or
13	both; no infiltration of serosa or neighboring organs
T4a	Infiltration of the serosa
T4b	Infiltration of neighboring tissues or organs
N stage	
Nx	No information about lymph node involvement available
N0	No lymph node involvement
N1a	Cancer cells detectable in 1 regional lymph node
N1b	Cancer cells detectable in 2–3 regional lymph nodes
N1a	Tumor satellites in subserosa or pericolicor perirectal fat tissue, regional lymph
IN IC	nodes not involved
N2a	Cancer cells detectable in 4-6 regional lymph nodes
N2b	Cancer cells detectable in 7 or greater regional lymph nodes
M stage	
Mx	No information about distant metastasis available
M0	No distant metastasis detectable
M1a	Metastasis to 1 distant organ or distant lymph nodes
MIL	Metastasis to more than 1 distant organ or set of distant lymph nodes or
IVI I D	peritoneal metastasis

Table 3. Classification of colorectal cancers according to TNM staging system

This table is adapted from Brenner and collaborators **[43]** and Sobin and collaborators **[66]**.

#### **1.3 Molecular Genetics of Colorectal Cancer**

It is widely known that most of patients with CRC develop gene mutations during their lifetime (sporadic CRC). Through the progressive accumulation of genetic mutations and epigenetic alterations that activate oncogenes and inactivate tumor suppressor genes, colon epithelial cells are transformed to aberrant crypt foci, then leading to polyp formation and subsequent cancer formation [34, 60, 67]. Genetic analysis has shown that sporadic colorectal cancer contains somatic mutations in both oncogenes and crucial tumor suppressor genes. For example, mutations reducing tumor suppressor function of APC were found in approximately 70-80 percent of sporadic adenomas and carcinomas [68, 69]. Similarly, most sporadic colorectal cancer contain p53-inactivating mutations [70-72]. Other common tumor-suppressor gene mutations are summarized in Table 4 (**Table 4**, page 28).

Recently, most of the proto-oncogene mutations in colorectal cancer have been elucidated. *KRAS* mutations are the most common recurrent somatic mutations in CRC. Activating *KRAS* mutations have been identified in 40% of CRC cases and primarily occur in codon 12 and 13 and rarely in codon 61. A small proportion of *NRAS* mutations in CRC was reported in codon 12, 13, or 61 [72-74]. The gene encoding for B-Raf protein, a downstream effector of Ras pathway, is mutated in sporadic CRC with a frequency of approximately 5-10% [75]. Moreover, *BRAF* mutations were associated with a variation on the usual adenoma-carcinoma progression and the altered DNA-methylation phenotype known as CpG island hypermethylation phenotype (CIMP) [76]. Other critical somatic mutations were also found in *PIK3CA* oncogene, in 15 to 25% of CRC [72, 77]. Subsequent studies showed that these mutations lead to activate PIK3CA kinase, which results in increased production of phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-trisphosphate (PIP3) [77], a key second messenger in cell proliferation, survival signaling and other processes [78]. Other common oncogene mutations are summarized in Table 4 (**Table 4**, page 28).

Concerning hereditary CRC, as mentioned above, which represents 5% of the cases, the two most common types of hereditary colorectal cancers are hereditary non-polyposis colon cancer (HNPCC or Lynch syndrome) and familial adenomatous polyposis (FAP). HNPCC contains mutations in several genes such as *MSH2 MLH1 PMS2 GTBP*, *MSH6* while more than 90% of FAP contains *APC* gene mutations [34, 43, 60, 79].

Genes	Type of mutations	Estimated frequency	
Oncogenes			
KRAS	Point mutations (codons 12, 13, 61)	40% (>75% at codon 12)	
NRAS	Point mutations (codons 12, 13, 61)	<5%	
PIK3CA	Point mutations activating kinase activity	15–25%	
BRAF	Point mutations activating kinase activity (V600E)	5–10% (CIMP-positive CRCs)	
EGFR	Gene amplification	5-15%	
CDK8	Gene amplification	10–15%	
СМҮС	Gene amplification	5–10%	
CCNE1	Gene amplification	5%	
CTNNB1	Stabilizing point mutations and in-frame deletions	<5%	
NEU/HER2	Gene amplification	<5%	
MYB	Gene amplification	<5%	
Tumor-supp	ressor genes		
<i>p53</i>	Point mutation, allele loss	60-70% (>95% missense)	
APC	Frameshift, point mutation, deletion, allele loss	70-80% (truncated proteins)	
FBXW7	Nonsense, missense, deletion	20%	
PTEN	Nonsense, deletion	10%	
SMAD4	Nonsense, missense, allele loss	10–15%	
SMAD2	Nonsense, deletion, allele loss	5–10%	
SMAD3	Nonsense, deletion	5%	
TGF <i>βIIR</i>	Frameshift, nonsense	10–15% (>90% MSI-H CRCs)	
TCF7L2	Frameshift, nonsense	5% (MSI-H and MSS CRCs)	
ACVR2	Frameshift	10% (>80% MSI-H CRCs)	
BAX	Frameshift	5% (~50% of MSI-H CRCs)	

Table 4. Selected common recurrent somatic mutations in colorectal cancer.

CIMP: CpG island hypermethylation phenotype; MSI-H: high frequency microsatellite instability; MSS: microsatellite stable; CRCs: types of colorectal cancer

The table is adapted from Fearon [48]

#### 1.4 Mechanisms and pathophysiology of colorectal cancer

Like all other cancers, colorectal tumorigenesis and cancer formation have common mechanisms wherein the accumulation of environmental and genetic risk factors promotes the acquisition of cancer behaviors in normal epithelial cells, which lead to transform them to malignant cells with all hallmark features of cancer [80]. In particular, normal colorectal epithelial cells can undergo several carcinogenic pathways before being transformed into malignant cells depending on accumulated genetic and epigenetic alterations [34, 60]. Indeed, genomic instabilities and/or gene mutations in colorectal cancer were observed and well described since the 1990s and the alterations in oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes were reported to drive the malignant transformation of colon cells [73, 81, 82].

A key feature of most colorectal carcinogenesis is the presence of a benign precursor polyp, a result of abnormal mucosal maturation in the lining of the large intestine, and its progression to invasive cancer can occur in 5 years or take more than 20 years. [83-85]. Adenomatous polyps (adenomas) and serrated polyps are two major subtypes that serve as direct precursors to most CRCs. CRC develops through three distinctive pathways: (*i*) adenoma–carcinoma sequence, (*ii*) serrated pathway and (*iii*) inflammatory pathway. Adenoma–carcinoma sequence model represents the classic pathway and explains the majority of sporadic CRC. In this model, initial genetic changes start in an early adenoma and accumulate as it transforms to carcinoma (**Figure 5**A, page 30). More precisely, carcinogenesis is initiated from inactivation of *APC* gene, regarded as the gatekeeper against colorectal neoplasms, leading to the over-activation of the Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling pathway, which results in dysregulated cell proliferation and adenoma development [86]. Furthermore, subsequent mutations of the oncogene *KRAS* inactivation of TP53 tumor suppressor gene promote adenoma formation [87].

In the serrated adenoma model, normal cells progress to hyperplastic polyp, to sessile serrated adenoma and, finally, to CRC (**Figure 5**B, page 30) [88, 89]. Two molecular events are particularly important in this pathway. Firstly, *BRAF* mutations lead to uncontrolled cell proliferation, which contributes to the formation of hyperplastic polyps. Then, the CpG island methylator phenotype (CIMP), as a consequence of epigenetic instabilities, frequently arises from this pathway [88, 89].

For the chronic inflammatory model, patients with inflammatory bowel diseases, particularly ulcerative colitis, have an estimated 2.4-fold higher risk of CRC compared with the general population [59]. In these patients, carcinogenesis progresses from no dysplasia to indefinite dysplasia, low-grade dysplasia, high-grade dysplasia and, finally, to CRC (**Figure 5**, page 30) [90]. The timing and frequency of molecular events are distinct from other pathways. Contrary to the adenoma-carcinoma sequence, in which genetic mutations in *APC* and *TP53* respectively occur early and late in colorectal carcinogenesis, in the inflammatory pathway, TP53 mutations represent an early event, with APC mutations occurring infrequently and late in carcinogenesis [90].



Figure 5. Presentation of colorectal carcinogenetic pathways. Common sites of metastatic disease from CRC include the liver and lungs with bone metastasis. (A) Adenoma–carcinoma sequence pathway accounts for 85-90% of sporadic CRC. This pathway is highly associated with the development of the chromosomal instability (CIN)-positive subtype. (B) Serrated adenoma pathway makes up of 10–15% of sporadic CRC. In this pathway, the transformation of normal epithelial cells leads to hyperplastic polyp and sessile serrated adenoma formation. Then, the CpG island methylator phenotype (CIMP) further progresses adenoma to CRC. (C) The inflammatory pathway represents less than 2% of all CRC. The chronic inflammation promotes the progression of normal cells to several stages of dysplasia and finally to CRC.[34]

#### 1.5 Colorectal cancer diagnosis and screening

To date, several methods are recently recommended for CRC diagnosis and screening including endoscopic and radiologic examinations such as colonoscopy, sigmoidoscopy, computed tomographic colonography, double-contrast barium enema or stool-based tests like a guaiac-based fecal occult blood test, fecal immunochemical test, and FIT-DNA test (**Table 5**, page 33).

#### Colonoscopy

Colonoscopy is the gold-standard method for the diagnosis of colorectal cancer over the past 20 years [34, 60, 91, 92]. This method not only allows physicians to see the whole large intestine, but it also enables to assess the tumor site for biopsy sampling. Hence, it can provide histological confirmation of the diagnosis and material post studies. Until now, this is the unique screening technique that provides both diagnostic data and therapeutic effect wherein polyps or adenomas can be removable during endoscopy examination using an endoscopic

polypectomy, which both reduces cancer incidence and mortality [60]. In addition, the examination is not required to be repeated in average-risk patients during a 10 years period if the screening results are normal. However, any positive results from other tests should be confirmed by a colonoscopy examination [92]. Long-term follow-up studies indicated that colonoscopy screening probably reduces CRC mortality by 53% and incidence by about 40% [93, 94]. Moreover, screening in the average-risk group was attributed to reducing risks for late-stage CRC incidence [95].

There are minority limitations of colonoscopy screening such as bowel tears and bleeding, especially in the case of polyp removal [84]. The serious bleeding occurs rarely with a ratio of 1 to 2 cases per 1,000 colonoscopy examinations [96-98]. In addition, colonoscopy screening potentially misses some small or flat adenomas such as sessile adenomas, which may progress to invasive colorectal cancers occurring before the next scheduled examination [99, 100].

#### ✤ Sigmoidoscopy

Flexible sigmoidoscopy was a popular screening and diagnostic method for CRC before the widespread application of colonoscopy [92]. The mechanism of sigmoidoscopy is very similar to colonoscopy. However, this technique only allows visualizing the rectum and lower right colon [84]. In the case of a polyp or tumor detection, the patient is recommended for a colonoscopy examination. Due to this limitation, this method is not widely recommended nowadays [92]. Several studies indicated that sigmoidoscopy screening probably reduces approximately 20% of CRC incidence and 30% of mortality [101, 102].

#### **Computed tomographic colonography** (CTC)

CTC, also known as a virtual colonoscopy, was introduced in the 1990s and enables to view the entire colon and rectum [84]. CTC is a non-invasive method that requires no recovery time and typically takes approximately 10 to 15 minutes to complete [103]. It has shown that CT colonography has a sensitivity of 96% for CRC detection [104]. Studies have indicated that CTC performance is similar to colonoscopy for the detection of polyps and invasive CRC. However, CT colonography has lower sensitivity for small polyps/tumors (6–9mm) and flat lesions [105]. In some countries, CTC has replaced the double-contrast barium enema examination (below) and used as an alternation for colonoscopy. However, CT colonography has not been accepted in Europe due to radiation exposure, cost-effectiveness, and efficiency while CTC is only recommended for people who are impossible for colonoscopy [106].

#### ✤ Double-contrast barium enema

Double-contrast barium enema, also known as the barium enema with air contrast, an old technique, is less sensitive than colonoscopy for the visualization of small polyps or cancers. In the case of a polyp or tumor detection, the patient is recommended for a colonoscopy examination. Nowadays, the use of this method is very uncommon due to its efficiency and potential radiation exposure [92].

#### Guaiac-based fecal occult blood test (gFOBT)

gFOBT is based on a chemical reaction to detect blood in the stool. Bleeding from CRC is possibly sporadic or undetectable so that accurate test results require annual testing of 3 consecutive stool samples. The benefits of this method are to detect the abnormalities at early stages without invasiveness that can provide the information for clinicians to decide further examinations such as colonoscopy with polypectomy. Thereby, precancerous polyps or adenomas can be removable during endoscopy examinations. Clinical data indicated that gFOBT could reduce the risk of CRC mortality by 32% and 20% for incidence [107, 108].

#### ✤ Fecal immunochemical test (FIT)

FIT, also known as an immunochemical FOBT, or iFOBT, uses antibodies against hemoglobin to detect hidden blood in the stool. Current highly sensitive versions of this test were commercialized over 10 years. FIT is more convenient than gFOBT because it requires no dietary restrictions [92].

#### FIT-DNA test (Cologuard®)

**Cologuard®**, a commercial test targeting multi markers, allows detecting blood and certain genetic mutations that are released into the stool by large adenomas and CRC. Patients with a positive result are recommended for a colonoscopy. This test has been shown to detect cancer and precancerous lesions better than FIT, but also results in more false-positive tests (for example, blood due to hemorrhoids), which can lead to unnecessary colonoscopies [109].

Methods	Benefits	Performance & Complexity	Limitations	Test Interval
Visual Examinat	ions			
Colonoscopy	<ul> <li>Examines entire colon</li> <li>biopsy and remove</li> <li>Diagnoses other diseases</li> <li>Confirms abnormal results from other tests</li> </ul>	<b>Performance:</b> Highest <b>Complexity:</b> Highest	<ul> <li>Full bowel cleansing</li> <li>Be expensive</li> <li>Sedation and sports needed</li> <li>Take time</li> <li>Risks: bowel tears or infections</li> </ul>	10 year
СТС	<ul> <li>Examines entire colon</li> <li>Fairly quick</li> <li>Few complications</li> <li>No sedation needed</li> <li>Noninvasive</li> </ul>	Performance: High for large polyps Complexity: Intermediate	<ul> <li>Full bowel cleansing</li> <li>No polyp removal or biopsies</li> <li>Exposure to low-dose radiation</li> <li>Colonoscopy necessary if positive</li> </ul>	5 years
Double contrast barium enema	<ul> <li>Can view entire colon</li> <li>Few complications</li> <li>No sedation needed</li> </ul>	Performance: High for large polyps Complexity: High	<ul> <li>Full bowel cleansing</li> <li>Some false-positive test results</li> <li>No polyp removal or biopsies</li> <li>Exposure to low-dose radiation</li> <li>Colonoscopy necessary if positive</li> <li>Very limited availability</li> </ul>	5 years
Sigmoidoscopy	<ul> <li>Fairly quick</li> <li>Few complications</li> <li>Less preparation</li> <li>No sedation</li> </ul>	Performance: High for rectum & right colon Complexity: Intermediate	<ul> <li>Partial bowel cleansing</li> <li>Views lower right colon</li> <li>No polyp removal</li> <li>Risk of infection or bowel tear</li> <li>Colonoscopy necessary if positive</li> <li>Limited availability</li> </ul>	5 years
Stool Tests (Low-	-sensitivity stool tests, such a	as single-sample F	FOBT are not recommended.)	
FIT	<ul> <li>No bowel cleansing</li> <li>No sedation</li> <li>Performed at home</li> <li>Low cost</li> <li>Non-invasive</li> </ul>	Performance: Intermediate for cancer Complexity: Low	<ul> <li>Requires multiple stool samples</li> <li>Miss most polyps</li> <li>Possible false-positive test results</li> <li>Colonoscopy necessary if positive</li> </ul>	Annual
High sensitivity (gFOBT)	<ul> <li>No bowel cleansing</li> <li>Performed at home</li> <li>Low cost</li> <li>Non-invasive</li> </ul>	Performance: Intermediate for cancer Complexity: Low	<ul> <li>Requires multiple stool samples</li> <li>Will miss most polyps</li> <li>Possible false-positive test results</li> <li>Pre-test dietary limitations</li> <li>Colonoscopy necessary if positive</li> </ul>	Annual
FIT-DNA test (Cologuard®)	<ul> <li>No bowel cleansing</li> <li>Perform at home</li> <li>A single stool sample</li> <li>Non-invasive</li> </ul>	Performance: Intermediate for cancer Complexity: Low	<ul> <li>Will miss most polyps</li> <li>False-positive results</li> <li>Higher cost than gFOBT and FIT</li> <li>Colonoscopy necessary if positive</li> </ul>	3 years

Table 5. Key indicators for available colorectal cancer diagnostic and screening techniques.

The table is adapted from the American Cancer Society: Colorectal Cancer Facts & Figures 2017-2019 with the combined information from Kuipers and colleagues **[60]**.

#### **1.6 Colorectal cancer treatment**

Many colon cancer treatment options are available for colorectal cancer, including surgery, chemotherapy, radiation, and the emerging immunotherapy. Like all other cancer treatments, the approach of therapeutic methods is highly dependent on the pathophysiology of CRC such as stages, genetic and epigenetic features. Furthermore, colon cancer and rectal cancer are two distinct cancers that require different approaches.

#### ✤ Surgery

Surgery is the mainstay curative treatment for patients with non-metastatic CRC. However, the outcome is strongly dependent on the quality of surgery, the quality of pre-operative staging [110, 111], as well as the location and complexity of tumors [111, 112].

Total mesorectal excision (TME) is a standard surgical procedure for rectal cancer treatment, which requires to remove completely the rectum, surrounding mesorectum, and mesorectal fascia. The complete removal is necessary to prevent recurrence and tumor deposits due to the possibility of the cancer cells to spread in lymph nodes [113]. Indeed, several studies showed that in patients with invasive rectal cancer called circumferential margin, the risks of local tumor recurrence and development of distant metastases are increased [114, 115]. Thereby, the clearance of tumors with a positive circumferential margin and its regional invasive sites clearly contributes to therapeutic outcome [114].

In colon cancer surgery, the removal of the tumor and the surrounding lymph vessels is considered as a conventional surgical procedure. The surgery can be extended depending on the localization of tumors and the supplying blood vessels [43]. Recently, the emerging method called complete mesocolic excision (CME) with central vascular ligation (CVL) has been developed. It consists in removing completely afflicted colon, its accessory lymphatic vessels and regional lymph nodes [116].

Nowadays, laparoscopic colon surgery has been shown to be as safe as the open alternative [60, 117], cost-effectiveness [118], and has the same long-term results as conventional methods with the exception of the long operation [117, 119-121].

#### \* Neoadjuvant therapy

Neoadjuvant therapy is defined as therapy administered prior to definitive local treatment. There is no recommended neoadjuvant treatment for colon cancer. However, recent reports indicated that neoadjuvant chemotherapy improves surgical outcomes [122], and leads to improve survival in patients with T4b colon cancer [123]. By contrast, neoadjuvant radiotherapy or chemo-radiotherapy are recommended for intermediate and advanced-stages of rectal cancer to reduce the rate of local tumor recurrence [60]. The treatment with a neoadjuvant radiotherapy or chemo-radiotherapy prior to a surgery have long been considered as a standard procedure for treatment of locally advanced rectal cancer, with a local recurrence rate of less than 10% at the fifth year [124-127]. In addition, both preoperative radiotherapy and chemo-radiotherapy are more efficient by reducing local tumor recurrence compared to postoperative treatments. Unfortunately, the effect of these treatments on overall survival rates remained unchanged [125, 128]. Furthermore, the combination of 5-fluorouracil and oxaliplatin treatment with radiotherapy has been studied. However, the results demonstrated no clear survival benefits and an increase of the toxicity of the treatments [129].

#### \* Adjuvant therapy

Adjuvant therapy is defined by the National Cancer Institute (NCI) as "additional cancer treatment given after the primary treatment to lower the risk that the cancer will come back." The aim of this adjuvant therapy is to eliminate residual cancer cells left behind at surgery. Adjuvant therapy may include chemotherapy, radiation therapy, hormone therapy, targeted therapy, or biological therapy. For patients with stage III colorectal cancer, tumor has a local recurrence of 15% to 50%. An adjuvant chemotherapy with 5-fluorouracil is therefore commonly recommended for all patients with stage III colorectal cancer after surgery [130]. In addition, capecitabine, an oral prodrug of 5-fluorouracil, can be used as an alternative treatment to 5-fluorouracil with efficacy benefits maintained at 5 years and in older patients. [131]. To improve disease-free survival (DFS) and overall survival (OS) rates, some combined treatments were investigated [43].Among these treatments the combination of capecitabine and oxaliplatin (known as the XELOX protocol) [132], and 5-fluorouracil combined leucovorin and oxaliplatin (FOLFOX4 protocol) have shown a significant increase in both DFS and OS rates [133].

According to current guidelines, adjuvant (5-fluorouracil) chemotherapy is not recommended for stage II colon cancer patients with microsatellite instability-high (MSI-H) or defective mismatch repair (dMMR) due to the low risk of tumor recurrence in this CRC subtype [134-136]. The prevalence of MSI-H colorectal cancers depends on clinicopathological factors. This type of cancers are commonly found in elderly female patients (above aged 70 years) with poorly differentiated stage II colon cancers [137]. Nevertheless, combined chemotherapy has been demonstrated its beneficial treatment for colorectal cancer patients with MSI-H and/or

dMMR genotypes. The combination of three drugs including oxaliplatin, 5-fluorouracil, and leucovorin (FOLFOX4) has been reported to increase in relapse-free survival (RFS), FDS, and OS of stage II and III CRC patients with MSI-H/dMMR genotypes [138, 139]. In addition, treatment with FOLFOX improved survival outcomes in patients with dMMR tumors compared with those with MMR-proficient tumors [140, 141].

#### \* Treatments for patients with metastatic colorectal cancer

The OS for patients with untreated metastatic CRC (mCRC) is about six months. However, a significant two years improvement in OS is observed in patients treated with the combination of chemotherapy and immunotherapy [142, 143]. Standard chemotherapy for patients with mCRC consists of 5-fluorouracil combined with other anticancer agents such as leucovorin and oxaliplatin (**Table 6**, page 36). Indeed, The combination of irinotecan, a topoisomerase I inhibitor, with 5-fluorouracil is associated with higher response rate, longer progression free survival, and longer OS [144-146]. Treatment with three drugs including 5-fluorouracil, leucovorin, and oxaliplatin as first-line therapy is associated with improvement in progression-free survival and response rate [147, 148]. In addition, FDA-approved therapy for mCRC treatment are summarized in Table 6 (**Table 6**, page 36).

Therapeutic agent	Mechanism of action	
5-Fluorouracil	Pyrimidine analog	
Oxaliplatin	Platinum derivative, alkylating agent	
Irinotecan	Topoisomerase I inhibitor	
Regorafenib	Tyrosine kinase inhibitor of VEGFR1-3, TIE2, others	
Bevacizumab	Monoclonal antibody to VEGF-A	
Aflibercept	Recombinant protein, decoy receptor for VEGF-A, VEGF-B, and PIGF	
Cetuximab	Monoclonal antibody to EGFR	
Panitumumab	Monoclonal antibody to EGFR	

 Table 6. List of FDA-approved therapy for mCRC treatment [143].

Among these molecules, tumor-driven angiogenesis is an attractive target in mCRC. FDA has approved a total of four drugs that block angiogenesis (bevacizumab, aflibercept, ramucirumab, and regorafenib) (**Table 6**). Regorafenib and aflibercept are two recombinant proteins which inhibit either kinases of vascular endothelial growth factor receptors such as VEGFR1- VEGFR-2, and VEGFR-3 or the effect of placenta growth factor (PIGF) and vascular endothelial growth factors such as VEGF-A, VEGF-B, respectively. Bevacizumab, specific of VEGF-A, cetuximab and panitumumab (specific of epidermal growth factor
receptor (EGFR)) are monoclonal antibodies. Cetuximab and panitumumab are only recommended for patients without *RAS* mutations and are commonly used in combination therapy (**Figure 6**, page 37) [143].



*Figure 6. Crosstalk between therapeutic agents targeting EGFR and VEGFRs signaling pathways.* EGFR: epidermal growth factor receptor; MEK: mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase; PlGF: placental growth factor; VEGF: vascular endothelial growth factor; VEGFR: VEGF receptor; PI3K: phosphoinositide 3-kinase; AKT: protein kinase B [143].

#### ✤ Immunotherapy

Immune checkpoint therapy was approved in 2017 for the treatment of heavily mutated colorectal tumors with deficient mismatch repair (dMMR) and/or high rate of microsatellite instability (MSI-H) referred as dMMR–MSI-H colorectal cancer. However, treatments with current immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs) are inefficient in CRC patients with tumors containing proficient mismatch repair (pMMR), microsatellite stability (MSS), and in cases with a low rate of microsatellite instability (MSI-L) termed as pMMR-MSI-L colorectal cancer [149]. dMMR–MSI-H tumors are characterized by a diffuse immune infiltrate, composed of CD8<sup>+</sup> tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs), T helper 1, CD4<sup>+</sup> TILs, and macrophages and by a microenvironment rich in type I interferons [149].

dMMR–MSI-H genotype accounts for approximately 15% of all CRCs [150], and presents a lower risk of tumor recurrence at stage II than the patients with pMMR–MSI-L genotype

[151]. Although stage IV dMMR–MSI-H CRC represents only around 2–4% of all metastatic cases, they are associated with a worse prognosis [152]. However, recent studies have shown that the expression of both programmed cell death protein 1 (PD1), programmed death-ligand 1 (PD-L1), and cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein 4 (CTLA4/CD152) are upregulated in dMMR–MSI-H colorectal cancer, which suggests a potential involvement of immune checkpoint blockade in this CRC type [153].

#### ✤ Immunotherapy for dMMR-MSI-H colorectal cancer

Several clinical trials using monoclonal antibodies target CTLA4 (tremelimumab) or PDL1 (BMS-936559, nivolumab, pembrolizumab, and ipilimumab) in CRC patients with dMMR-MSI-H genotype. In most cases, the results of these trials showed a modest effectiveness of single antibody therapy, but presented a noticeable effect when combined with other treatments [149]. For instance, unlike nivolumab alone, combination of nivolumab and ipilimumab showed a robust and durable clinical benefit in CRC patients with dMMR-MSI-H genotype [154, 155]. Furthermore, pembrolizumab and nivolumab were approved by FDA in 2017 and were considered as the second-line treatment for patients with dMMR–MSI-H CRC. However, none of these molecules is currently approved by the European Medicines Agency (EMA) and phase III randomized controlled trials are needed to allow their use in Europe [149].

Recently, many monoclonal antibodies targeting PD1 and PDL1 in dMMR–MSI-H colorectal cancer that are currently in clinical trials are presented in Table 7 (**Table 7**, page 39).

Checkpoint inhibitor	Trial type	Study treatment groups	Trial identifier
Atezolizumab	• Phase III • Stage 3 CRC	Adjuvant atezolizumab+FOLFOX versus FOLFOX alone	NCT02912559
	<ul><li>Phase III</li><li>First-line metastatic CRC</li></ul>	Atezolizumab versus atezolizumab+FOLFOX +bevacizumab versus FOLFOX+bevacizumab	NCT02997228
Pembrolizumab	• Phase III • First-line metastatic CRC	Pembrolizumab versus standard-of-care chemotherapy	NCT02563002
	<ul> <li>Phase II</li> <li>mCRC: refractory</li> <li>or ≥1 prior therapy</li> </ul>	Pembrolizumab	NCT02460198
Avelumab	<ul><li>Phase II</li><li>mCRC: &gt;1 prior therapy</li></ul>	Avelumab	NCT03150706
Nivolumab ± ipilimumab	<ul><li> Phase II</li><li> Refractory CRC</li></ul>	Nivolumab±ipilimumab or daratumumab or anti-LAG3 antibody	NCT02060188
Atezolizumab	<ul> <li>Phase I</li> <li>Locally advanced or metastatic solid tumors</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Atezolizumab+bevacizumab</li> <li>Atezolizumab+bevacizumab+FOLFOX</li> <li>Atezolizumab+carboplatin+paclitaxel</li> <li>Atezolizumab+carboplatin+pemetrexed</li> <li>Atezolizumab+carboplatin+nab-paclitaxel</li> <li>Atezolizumab+nab-paclitaxel</li> </ul>	NCT01633970

Table 7. List of ongoing clinical trials targeting dMMr–MSI-H colorectal cancer

Source from [149] with original data from <u>https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/home</u>

# ✤ Immunotherapy for dMMR-MSI-L colorectal cancer

For the vast majority of patients with mCRC whose tumors are dMMR-MSI-L, immunotherapy currently offers little to no clinical benefit. [149]. In fact, several clinical trials studied combined biological and/or biopharmaceutical agents (including approved/disapproved recombinant proteins and monoclonal antibodies) to target pMMR–MSI-L colorectal cancer. However, the results still show modest efficacy or confusing outcome [149]. So far, many clinical trials are still under investigation, which either combine the inhibition of MEK and PD1 or MEK inhibition with chemotherapy and are summarized in **Table 8** (page 40).

Checkpoint inhibitor	Trial type	Combination treatment (target)	Trial identifier
Atezolizumab	Phase I     mCRC	Cobimetinib (MEK) and bevacizumab (VEGFA)	NCT02876224
	<ul><li> Randomized phase II</li><li> Refractory CRC</li></ul>	Capecitabine and bevacizumab (VEGFA)	NCT02873195
	• Phase III, mCRC	Cobimetinib (MEK) and regorafenib	NCT02788279
	<ul><li> Phase II</li><li> First-line metastatic CRC</li></ul>	Cobimetinib (MEK)	NCT02291289
Durvalumab	<ul><li>Phase I/II</li><li>Refractory CRC</li></ul>	Cediranib (VEGFR and KIT)	NCT02484404
	• Phase I, mCRC	Radiation	NCT02888743
Durvalumab±	• Phase II, mCRC	Radiation or ablation	NCT03122509
trememiumub	• Phase II, mCRC	Radiation	NCT03007407
Durvalumah	• Phase II, mCRC	Trametinib (MEK)	NCT03428126
	• Phase II, mCRC	Azacitidine (DNMT)	NCT02811497
	<ul><li>Phase I/II</li><li>CRC and solid tumours</li></ul>	Epacadostat (IDO1)	NCT02327078
Nivolumab	<ul><li>Phase I/II</li><li>Locally advanced rectal cancer</li></ul>	Chemoradiation	NCT02948348
	Phase II     Refractory CRC	TAS-102	NCT0280546
	Phase II     Refractory CRC	<ul><li>Cobimetinib (MEK)</li><li>Daratumumab (CD38)</li></ul>	NCT02060188
	<ul><li>Phase I/II</li><li>Metastatic pretreated CRC</li></ul>	Binimetinib (MEK)	NCT03271047
Nivolumab±	Phase II     CRC arm	Radiation	NCT03104439
ipilimumab	<ul><li>Phase I/II</li><li>Metastatic pretreated CRC</li></ul>	Trametinib (MEK)	NCT03377361
	Phase II     RAS-wild-type CRC	Panitumumab (EGFR)	NCT03442569
	Phase II     Stage 1–3 CRC	Celecoxib (COX2)	NCT03026140
	<ul><li>Phase I</li><li>Metastatic pretreated CRC</li></ul>	Oral azacitidine (DNMT) and romidepsin (HDAC1 and/or HDAC2)	NCT02512172
	Phase Ib     mCRC	<ul><li>Binimetinib (MEK)</li><li>±FOLFOX or FOLFIRI</li></ul>	NCT03374254
	Phase I/II     mCRC	Nintedanib (VEGFR, PDGFR and FGFR)	NCT02856425
Pembrolizumab	<ul><li>Phase I/II</li><li>Refractory CRC and NSCLC</li></ul>	Azacitidine (DNMT) and epacadostat (IDO1)	NCT02959437
	<ul><li>Phase Ib/II</li><li>Metastatic pretreated CRC</li></ul>	Cetuximab (EGFR)	NCT02713373
	<ul><li>Phase II</li><li>GI tumors and CRC arm</li></ul>	Tumour-infiltrating lymphocytes, IL-2, cytoxan and fludarabine	NCT01174121
	• Phase II, mCRC	Binimetinib (MEK), FOLFOX and FOLFIRI	NCT03374254
	<ul><li>Phase I</li><li>First-line metastatic CRC</li></ul>	FOLFOX and bevacizumab (VEGFA)	NCT03176264
PDR001	<ul><li>Phase I</li><li>Metastatic pretreated CRC</li></ul>	Regorafenib (multikinase)	NCT03081494
Avelumab	• Phase II	eFT508 (MNK)	NCT03258398

Table 8.	List of	ongoing	clinical trials	targeting	pMMR-	-MSI-L	colorectal	cancer
		·····	••••••••••••••		Principal		••••••••	

Source from [149] with original data from <u>https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/home</u>

#### 2. Colorectal Tumor Microenvironment

Like all other solid cancers, CRC cells possess all hallmarks of cancer [80] with a specific tumor microenvironment (TME) [156-160]. TME basically consists of cellular and noncellular components. The main cellular components of colorectal TME are fibroblasts, cancer associated fibroblasts (CAFs) [161, 162], mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs), CRC non-stem and stem cells [163], and a complex inflammatory network with multiple immune cell types (**Figure 7**, page 41) [164-167]. However, unlike other cancers, colorectal TME contains numerous intestinal microorganisms, named gut microbiota that are commonly found in mucosal layer of intestine [161, 167, 168]. Non-cellular components are referred to extracellular matrix (ECM). To date, over hundred molecules of ECM have been identified in CRC tumors, which are classified into several groups such as glycoproteins, collagens, proteoglycans, ECM regulators, ECM-affiliated proteins, and secreted factors [169, 170]. The roles of some key components of CRC TME will be discussed in this section.



Figure 7. The overview of the crosstalk between colorectal tumor cells with other TME components in the tumor niche. ROS: reactive oxygen species, BFT: Bacteroides fragilis, TGF- $\beta$ : transforming growth factor- $\beta$ , VEGF: vascular endothelial growth factor, EGF: epidermal growth factor [161].

# 2.1 Fibroblasts and CAFs

Fibroblasts are non-epithelial, non-vascular, and non-immune cells located in the fibrillar matrix of connective tissues [171, 172]. They are essential constituents of gastrointestinal tract, which form a cellular network under the epithelial basement membrane [173]. Fibroblasts not only play multiple roles in physiological conditions, but also contribute to pathogenesis. As main regulators of the ECM, fibroblasts mediate cell growth and differentiation through paracrine and juxtracrine signaling, and response to wound healing or tumorigenesis [18,20].



*Figure 8. Fibroblasts heterogeneity in tumor microenvironment.* ECM: extracellular matrix, BM: basement membrane, VBM: vascular basement membrane, EMT: epithelial to mesenchymal transition, CAFs: cancer-associated fibroblasts, EC: endothelial cell, NK: nature killer. Source from [172].

CAFs basically corresponded to all fibroblasts, which acquired phenotype modifications within TME and surrounding cancer cells (**Figure 8**) [171, 174]. CAFs population remains poorly specified regarding their origin, subtypes, and biology due to a high heterogeneity and a lack of specific markers [172, 175]. However, numerous studies have demonstrated that CAFs have emerged as important regulators of tumor progression. For instance, it has been shown that CAFs stimulate epithelial cell growth, maintain cancer stem cells and promote

tumorigenesis and cancer development, including in CRC [176-184]. Indeed, EGF family proteins secreted by hepatic myofibroblasts and colon cancer-attached CAFs promote cancer progression through ErbB receptors activation [181, 185]. Moreover, hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) secreted by CAFs is involved in maintaining colon cancer stem cells by enhancing Wnt signaling [177]. Fibroblasts have been shown to increase colon cancer cell proliferation and liver metastases [178, 186, 187]. In addition, stanniocalcin-1 secretion by PDGF-stimulated CAFs c can promote colorectal cancer cell intravasation and distant metastases [188].

#### 2.2 Inflammatory microenvironment of colorectal tumors

In CRC tumor microenvironment, a network of immune cells have been well identified, which includes both innate and adaptive immune cells as well as gut microbiota (Figure 9, page 44). The innate immune cells comprise tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs), myeloidderived suppressor cells (MDSCs) or immature myeloid cells (iMCs), neutrophil granulocytes, dendritic cells (DCs), and mast cells (MCs) while the adaptive immune populations consist of T and B cells [189]. It is well known that immune cells are both involved in cancer progression and in anti-tumor properties. In fact, several innate immune cells (TAMs, MCs, neutrophils, and MDSCs) and adaptive immune cells such as T-helper-17 and -2 (Th17 and Th2) have shown to promote tumorigenesis and cancer development through the production of cytokines, growth factors, enzymes, and angiogenic mediators [189]. The density of T cells in colon tumors has been reported to be associated with patient outcomes, and was considered as a powerful prognostic indicator [190, 191]. Indeed, the high density of cytotoxic and memory T cells in tumor cores or at the margin of invasive tumor sites is predictive of a better response to chemotherapy in patients with liver metastatic from colon cancer [192]. In addition, the increasing number of M1 and M2 macrophages infiltrated in the TME correlates with the improved survival rate among CRC patients [193]. Interestingly, the presence of regulatory T (Treg) cells in tumors is a favorable prognostic indicator in patients with CRC [194, 195]. Notwithstanding, innate immune cells such as T-cell subsets were reported to promote CRC development. Similarly, high density of innate lymphoid cells was also known to correlate with colorectal tumorigenesis through interleukin-22 secretion. Whereas, the accumulation of Th17 cells at tumor sites has been correlated with poor overall survival in CRC patients [195]. The role of the gut microbiota in CRC will be discussed in the next section.



*Figure 9. The immune response in colorectal cancer.* (*a*) *The schema represents the antitumor immunity in CRC with the contribution of dendritic cells (DCs), tumor-specific B cells and T cells, Neutrophil, and Nature killer cells. In the contrary, (b) tumor promoting properties of immune cells are driven by CD4+ T cells, innate lymphoid cells (ILCs) and tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) under gut microbial stimuli (not shown). Source from [167].* 

#### 2.3 Gut Microbiota in Colorectal Tumor Microenvironment

Microorganisms living in intestine are also known as gut microbiota and/or microbiome. These populations include both archaea, fungi, protozoa and viruses [196] that play vital roles in maintaining physiological conditions of the host. However, unbalanced growth or being invasive by harmful bacteria result in pathogenesis such as chronic inflammation, tumorigenesis, malignant transformation, etc [168, 197, 198]. In fact, several studies have indicated that specific alterations in the gut microbiome (termed as CRC gut microbiota) associated with CRC. In CRC gut microbiota, protective species such as *Roseburia* was found significantly less abundant while pro-carcinogenic species such as *Fusobacterium, Bacteroides, Escherichia,* and *Porphyromonas* were reported more abundant [199-201]. Interestingly, familiar pathogenic species such as *Shigella, Salmonella, Cronobacter, and Citrobacter* were abundantly found in normal adjacent tissues, but were rarer in colorectal tumor sites [202]. One of the most important findings was attributed to the clarification of *Fusobacterium spp* involvements in CRC [202]. In terms of geography, although the variations in gut microbiota were reported among populations [203, 204], several meta-analysis studies

have consistently indicated the involvement of gut microbiota in CRC across populations in different continents and territories [205, 206]. Indeed, a set of 29 core species has been identified to be significantly enriched in intestine of patients with CRC [207]. In colorectal adenomas, precursors of major CRC, modifications in ecological enrichment and alterations of microbial populations have been observed. For instance, *Fusobacterium* was abundantly found in patients with colorectal adenomas. Similarly, *F. nucleatum and Solobacterium moorei* were reported to be enriched across stages of colorectal carcinogenesis. However, in patients with multiple adenomas or intramucosal carcinomas, *Atopobium parvulum and Actinomyces odontolyticus* populations were only enhancing at early stages of carcinogenesis [208-211]. As mentioned above, viruses and fungi are also components of gut microbiota as well. However, the correlation of these components on CRC development remains unclear and controversial.



**Figure 10.** The association of gut microbiota in colorectal carcinogenesis. The gut microbiota may participate in several colorectal carcinogenesis processes such as inflammatory pathways or metabolic pathways. In other cases, some bacteria can directly drive procarcinogenesis through stimulating cell proliferation in tumor microenvironment. BFT: Bacteroides fragilis toxin; CAM: cell adhesion molecule; FadA: Fusobacterium adhesin A; IFN: interferon; LPS: lipopolysaccharide; MAMP: microbe-associated molecular pattern; NF- $\kappa$ B: nuclear factor- $\kappa$ B; PRR: pattern recognition receptor; STAT3: signal transducer and activator of transcription 3; TLR4: Toll-like receptor 4. Source from [168].

The role of gut microbiota in promoting colorectal carcinogenesis is complicated, which is partly explained by Tilg and collaborators [212] and described in **Figure 10** (page 45).

#### 2.4 Extracellular Matrix of Colorectal Tumor Microenvironment

Composed of hundreds of different building blocks, the extracellular matrix (ECM) makes up the complex and dynamic, highly cross-linked, three-dimensional (3D) network of macromolecules that surround cells. The main components of ECM consist in collagens, laminins, fibronectins, glycosaminoglycans, and proteoglycans [213-218]. The composition and functions of ECM are different and highly dependent on the organization of tissue types [213-215, 217, 218]. In colorectal tissues, the main constituents of ECM are type I collagen (COL1A1, COL1A2), proteoglycan, perlecan, laminin, fibronectin, and nidogen [219]. Similarly, the basement membrane (BM), a highly specialized ECM structure, which physically separates mucous layers, contains the same components as previously, with the exception of type I collagen, which is substituted by type IV collagen [219].

In CRC, the remodeling and changes in ECM have been well characterized. Loss of BM integrity in colorectal primary tumors correlates with a higher metastatic potentiality and poor prognosis [220-222]. Extensive collagen remodeling including modification of collagen density and fiber alignment was reported in colorectal malignant samples [223]. In addition, collagen degradation was observed by the detection of collagen triple helical fragments in urine of patients with metastatic CRC [224]. The alteration of ECM protein expression was found in colorectal tumor samples [170, 225, 226]. Naba and collaborators have reported a specific expression of several common membrane-anchored proteins such as ADAM 9, 10, TSL1, and MMP1, 2, 9, 11, 12, as well as numerous unfamiliar ECM proteins in primary colon tumors, compared to normal tissues [170]. Indeed, high MMP-1, -2, -7, -9, and -13 levels in colorectal tumors were reported to correlate with worse clinical outcomes [227]. Moreover, some insoluble ECM proteins including myosin, keratin, and type IV collagen (a1, a2, and a3) were down-regulated in tumor biopsies of patients with CRC [228]. Unfortunately, the levels of some key growth factors in ECM of colorectal tumors such as VEGFA, FGFs, PDGFB, and TGFβ have not been fully identified so far.

# **II.** Type I collagen receptors

#### **1. Integrins**

Integrins are membrane heterodimeric receptors that non-covalently combined of 18 aand 8  $\beta$ - subunits [229, 230]. In human, integrins enable to form 24 heterodimers [231, 232]. However, type I collagen-binding integrins are represented by four heterodimers of  $\alpha 1\beta 1$ ,  $\alpha 2\beta 1$ ,  $\alpha 10\beta 1$ , and  $\alpha 11\beta 1$  which are able to recognize the GFOGER motif of type I collagen [233]. In tissue homeostasis,  $\alpha 2\beta 1$  integrin is responsible for thrombus formation while  $\alpha 10\beta 1$  is supposed to be important for cartilage formation.  $\alpha 11\beta 1$  integrin is necessary for tooth eruption [232]. However, in pathological situations,  $\alpha 1\beta 1$  and  $\alpha 2\beta 1$  integrins may be required for initiating immune response while  $\alpha 10\beta 1$  and  $\alpha 11\beta 1$  integrins are promising molecular targets for modulating regenerative processes (wound healing, cartilage repair). In tumor progression,  $\alpha 1\beta 1$  and  $\alpha 2\beta 1$  integrins are widely expressed by different tumors and stromal cells, including cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs). Recent studies have shown that a1b1 expression in cancer cells promotes tumorigenesis, invasion and metastasis [234, 235]. Pozzi et al. have reported that  $\alpha 1\beta$ 1-integrin expression in endothelial cells promotes angiogenesis [236]. Enhancing a1 integrin expression was found in the majority of colorectal tumors suggesting a role for  $\alpha 1\beta 1$  in colorectal cancer progression [237, 238]. By contrast, loss of  $\alpha 2\beta 1$  integrin expression was reported to be associated with a poor prognosis in patients with breast carcinoma [239]. Recent studies have suggested that α10β1 integrin also potentially contributes to tumor progression [240, 241]. Lu et al. have shown that  $\alpha 11\beta 1$  integrin, expressed in fibroblasts, was able to promote tumorigenesis, migration, and invasion in lung adenocarcinoma [242]. Moreover, recent studies also have shown a role of this integrin in the collagen fiber remodeling [243, 244], as a consequence of the promotion of tumor growth and metastasis [244].

#### 2. Discoidin Domain Receptors

Discoidin Domain Receptors (DDRs) are type I membrane tyrosine kinases receptors (*Figure 11*) [245]. DDRs have been identified and described by several groups in the early 1990s [246-252]. This tyrosine kinase receptor family consists of two members DDR1 and DDR2 [253]. *DDR1* gene, due to alternative splicing, encodes five different isoforms, including DDR1a, DDR1b, DDR1c, DDR1d, and DDR1e. However, *DDR2* gene encodes for unique receptor known as DDR2 [254-257]. DDRs were considered as orphan receptors until 1997. However, two independent studies later demonstrated that several types of collagen are

functional ligands of DDRs [258, 259]. In fact, the studies have also shown that DDRs are activated *via* dimerization and tyrosine phosphorylation upon type I collagen stimulation. They were the first membrane receptors of collagen harboring a kinase function [258, 259].



Figure 11. The overall structures of Receptor Tyrosine Kinase families [245].

# 2.1 The general structure of DDRs

DDRs consist of three crucial domains comprising an extracellular domain, a transmembrane domain, and an intracellular domain containing tyrosine kinase (*Figure 12*, page 49). In the extracellular domain, the N-terminal discoidin domain is able to interact with various types of collagen [260]. The juxtamembrane (JM) region makes up of about 50 and 30 amino acids for DDR1 and DDR2 respectively. The single transmembrane (TM) domain connects the extracellular domain with the cytoplasmic domain with up to 169 and 140 amino acids for DDR1 and DDR2 respectively(*Figure 12*, page 49) [257, 261]. The catalytic domains of DDR1 and DDR2 in the cytoplasmic domain contain 15 tyrosine residues and 14 tyrosine residues respectively [257].

Among the five isoforms of DDR1, only three isoforms, including DDR1a (97 kDa), DDR1b (101 kDa), and DDR1c (102 kDa), are encoded as full-length functional receptors while DDR1d (56 kDa) and DDR1e (86 kDa) are truncated encoding as a result of non-functional receptors [257].



Figure 12. General Structure of DDRs. The extracellular domain contains a discoidin subdomain (DS), a discoidin-like domain (DS-like), and an extracellular juxtamembrane region (JM). TM is for transmembrane domain. The intracellular domain contains an intracellular juxtamembrane region (JM) and a tyrosine kinase domain in DDR1a, DDR1b, DDR1c, DDR1e, and DDR2 [261].

# 2.2 Collagen-binding site for DDRs

Both DDR1 and DDR2 are activated by fibrillar collagens such as type I collagen [258, 259]. However, there are some differences to distinguish the two receptors. In fact, only DDR1 can recognize non-fibrillar type IV collagen [258, 259, 262] while type X collagen likely activate DDR2 only [262, 263]. Besides, DDR1 can be activated by type VIII collagen, and this is not the case of DDR2 [264]. Many studies indicated that DDRs can be activated by almost collagen form, including fibrillar collagens [257, 260, 265], soluble collagen [258, 265, 266] or triple-helical peptides [265, 267, 268]. DDRs recognize collagen through its discoidin domain (DS) (**Figure 12**, page 49) [269]. The identification of the collagen-binding sequence of DDRs has been identified by using a collagen peptide library, known as a collagen Toolkit [270]. It is well documented that both DDRs can recognize the triple-helical collagen peptides containing GVMGFO motif (O for hydroxyproline) [271].

# 2.3 Mechanisms of DDR activation/phosphorylation

It is widely known that all RTKs typically undergo receptor auto-phosphorylation upon binding to their ligands [245, 272]. Unlike most RTKs, this process is unusually slow (up to 2 hours) and sustained (up to 18 hours) for DDRs [258, 259]. Collagen stimulation has been found to induce DDR1 aggregation into clusters, which further processes DDR1 internalization into early endosome vesicles. The internalized receptors are then recycled back to the cell surface instead of being digested in endosome (**Figure 13**, page 50) [273].



Figure 13. Proposed model of DDR1 activation mechanism. DDR1 locates on the cell surface in both monomer and dimer forms. The high-affinity interaction between DDR1 and collagen induces DDR1 dimer internalization, followed by the activation of the endosomal signaling cascades, which further lead to activate the dimers. Activated DDR1 dimers are then recycled to plasma membrane [273].

#### **2.4 DDR Signaling Pathways**

Cell signal pathways triggering by DDRs depends generally on the cell type and the nature of the collagen [258, 259, 274]. DDR1 is known to regulate several downstream signaling pathways in cancer cells. Some of them are represented in **Figure 14**. For instance, DDR1 activation by type IV collagen has been shown to be associated with the regulation of cyclooxygenase 2 (COX2) expression through activation NF- $\kappa$ B, and to induce cell survival in human breast cancer cells [2]. Several studies indicated that DNA damage induced by  $\gamma$ -irradiation or chemotherapeutic agents trigger p53 mediating DDR1 expression in cancer cells and chemo-resistance [2, 6, 275]. DDR1 expression in activated T cells is regulated by the ERK/MAPK signaling pathway and is involved in cell migration in 3D collagen [276, 277]. In macrophages, DDR1 activation by collagen induces an increase in the expression of nitric oxide synthase and the subsequent production of nitric oxide. This process requires the activation of NF- $\kappa$ B, c-jun N-terminal kinase (JNK), and p38 MAPK [278]. A very recent study has demonstrated that activated DDR1 can be translocated to nucleus and plays a role as a transcription factor regulating collagen synthesis and thus a key function in renal fibrosis [279].

DDR1 has also been reported to induce ERK1/2-MAPK cell signaling pathway, cell adhesion and proliferation in mesangial cells [280]. Similarly, DDR1-induced ERK1/2-MAPK phosphorylation mediates human vascular smooth muscle cells (SMCs) migration through a Src-mediated signaling pathway [281].

In the case of DDR2, Iwai *et al.*, (2013) had pointed out a direct crosstalk between DDR2 and the insulin receptor which enhances DDR2 phosphorylation in the presence of collagen [8]. Upon activation, DDR2 has been demonstrated to induce smooth muscle cell migration through activation of p38 MAPK pathway [282]. Several studies have shown that ERK1/2 and p38 MAPK are targeted by DDR2 to induce the transactivation of the transcription factor Runx2 and osteoblast differentiation and chondrocyte maturation [283, 284]. DDR2 was shown also to be involved in interleukine-12 (IL-12) production upon activation by type I collagen *via* NF-κB and JNK pathways [285]. In addition, studies had shown that DDR2 mediates the induction of IL-12 and T-cell reaction suggesting its role in immune response [286, 287]. A recent study indicated that DDR2 is considered as a collagen-aging sensor to regulate tumor cell growth. Upon activation by young collagen, DDR2 triggers SHP-2 phosphatase, which further dephosphorylate p-ERK1/2 signaling pathways in order to upregulate p21 expression and consequently abrogate cell proliferation [15]. In the case of old collagen, DDR2 is less

activated, which is unable to inhibit ERK1/2 phosphorylation, leading to a downregulation of p21 expression and a higher level of cell proliferation.



Figure 14. DDRs initiate several signaling pathways [257].

# 2.5 DDRs and cancer

# 2.5.1 DDRs expression and mutations in cancers

Analysis of DDR1 and DDR2 expression at mRNA and protein levels in different human tumor samples revealed that the association between DDR expression and tumorigenesis is controversial. In many some tumors, the increase of DDR1 or DDR2 expression correlates with a poor prognosis [257].

In breast cancer, DDR1 overexpression has been observed in primary and lymph nodes metastasis samples [288]. Other studies have shown a high level of DDR2 expression in invasive breast tumors, compared to normal tissue [289, 290]. In addition, Toy and collaborators have reported recently that DDR1 and DDR2 are coordinately deregulated in basal-like breast tumors [291]. Such observation is supported by a recent study published by

Werb's group showing that DDR1 expression is downregulated during epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) [292].

DDR1 expression appears to be increased in other tumors. In fact, DDR1 expression is increased in 100% of patients carrying primary and metastatic brain tumors [293], and in 61 % and 64% of patients with primary and invasive lung adenocarcinoma respectively [294]. In renal cancer, DDR1 overexpression was shown to be involved in EMT suggesting that DDR1 is a promising biomarker for prognostic and target therapy in this type of tumor [295]. In gastric cancer, the presence of DDR1 was correlated with the expression of the EMT markers [296]; and DDR1 silencing results in an inhibition of cell migration, invasion of such tumor [297]. On the contrary, in an agreement with Werb's group for breast carcinoma, a recent study has shown a loss of DDR1 expression during EMT process in ovarian cancer cells by a CpG methylation process at the DDR1 promoter [298].

DDR1 and/or DDR2 mutations are much less common. To date, most of DDR mutations have been observed in lung cancer [299]. DDR2 kinase domain mutations were found in 3.8% of squamous cell lung carcinomas, which have been identified as a novel potential therapeutic target of the FDA-approved drug dasatinib [3].

#### 2.5.2 Roles of DDRs in Cancer Cell Proliferation

In the last decade, several studies have investigated whether DDRs regulate cell growth. However, this function remains controversial. In fact, both DDR1 and DDR2 can either promote or suppress cell proliferation in tumors and such effect dependent on the nature of the pathology and composition of the stromal microenvironment [300]. A recent study has reported that pharmacological inhibition of DDR1 is able to reduce the proliferation of breast carcinoma [301]. By using DDR1-IN-1, a specific inhibitor of DDR1, Kim and collaborators have shown that such inhibition was able to induce a decrease in proliferation of solid tumors of several organs, including breast, lung, bone, colorectal, and uterus [302]. A recent study has shown that treatment of human lung adenocarcinoma xenograft with combined inhibition of DDR1 with dasatinib and Notch signaling induces inhibition of cell proliferation and an increase in apoptosis [303]. DDR1 knockdown has been also reported to reduce cell proliferation in several breast cancer cell lines *in vitro* [304-306]. *In vivo*, DDR1 knockdown has been shown to induce the expression of the transforming growth factor- $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ 1) and to inhibit the growth of pancreatic tumor xenograft [7]. DDR1 overexpression promotes cell proliferation of gastric carcinoma and osteosarcoma cells of cancer cells *in vivo* [296, 307].

For DDR2, the S131C mutation in the receptor was shown to contribute to cell proliferation and invasion of squamous cell lung cancer (SCC) [308]. In addition, Kim *et al.* have reported that DDR2 inhibition results in an inhibition of cell proliferation and invasion in lung carcinoma [4].

# 2.5.3 Effects of DDRs on Cancer Cell Survival and Apoptosis

In breast cancer, DDR1 knockdown has been shown to reduce cell survival of MDA-MB-435 breast carcinoma cells [309]. DDR1 has been shown also to induce cell survival and resistance to chemotherapy in breast carcinoma [2]. A study carried on colorectal cancer has demonstrated that p53 induction by DNA damage was able to increase DDR1 expression. Consequently, this allows Ras/Raf/MAPK signaling pathway triggering, resulting in cell survival and resistance to apoptosis [6]. Conversely, DDR1 has been identified as a key factor in the induction of apoptosis by 3D matrix collagen in breast carcinoma by inducing an increase in the pro-apoptotic protein BIK [9, 16, 310].

DDR1 knockdown has been shown to induce a decrease in cell survival and collageninduced resistance to etoposide in Hodgkin lymphoma cells [1]. A very recent study has shown that upon activation by collagen, DDR1 drives therapy resistance by modulating autophagy [311, 312].

#### 2.5.4 Roles of DDRs in EMT and cell invasion

To date, many studies have shown the involvement of DDRs in cancer cell migration and invasion. For instance, a study has shown that DDR1 is required for invasion process of the basal-like breast cancer cells by inducing linear invadosomes [313, 314]. However, overexpression of DDR1 has been shown to reduce the invasive phenotype of the same breast carcinoma cells [315]. In gastric cancer, DDR1 overexpression has been shown to promote cell migration and invasion [296]. Moreover, DDR1 expression level was also correlated to the expression of EMT markers such as vimentin and Snail [296]. In addition, DDR1 silencing has been reported to inhibits multiple steps of metastasis cascade in gastric cancer [297]. In glioma, DDR1 was found to be able to promote cell invasion in association with matrix metalloproteinase-2 [316]. Moreover, DDR1 has been shown promotes cell invasion and to be associated with poor prognosis in non-small-cell lung cancer [317]. A recent study published by Serge Roche has demonstrated that DDR1 is able to phosphorylate BCR to maintain  $\beta$ -catenin transcriptional activity which is necessary for colon carcinoma cell invasion [12, 13].

In the case of DDR2, Zhang *et al.* have demonstrated a key role of DDR2 in supporting breast carcinoma migration and invasion through collagen matrix [290]. In hypoxic conditions, upregulation of DDR2 expression has been observed in several breast carcinoma cell lines. This supports the role of DDR2 in the positive regulation of cell migration and invasion [318]. Interestingly, DDR2 expression in CAFs also enhances collective invasion of metastatic breast carcinoma cells [319]. In metastatic murine melanoma, DDR2 inhibition results in a reduction of migration and invasion by suppressing MMP2/9 expression through downregulation of ERK/NF-κB signaling pathway [320].

Concerning EMT, it is well known that this process is important for the reactivation of the expression of several actors playing a crucial in metastasis program. Among these actors, we can cite Snail-1, which is involved in the invasion process of basal-like breast carcinoma cells [321]. Accordingly, some studies have shown that DDRs are involved in the EMT process. Whereas DDR1 activation by type I collagen has been reported to positively regulate the EMT process in pancreatic cancer cells [322], DDR2 activation has been reported to induce TGF- $\beta$ -mediated EMT in renal and lung cancer cells [323]. In hypoxia condition, DDR2 positively regulates EMT process in breast carcinoma [318].

#### 2.5.5 Roles of DDRs in Metastasis and Tumor Progression

*In vivo*, the role of DDR1 and DDR2 in metastasis were widely evaluated. Most of the experiments were based on xenograft models. DDR1 expression was reported to be correlated with metastasis process [296]. In gastric cancer, DDR1 silencing in metastatic cancer cells inhibits the metastasis process, especially to the host lymph node and the metastatic niche [324]. In pancreatic cancer, type I collagen-induced DDR1 activation has been shown to upregulate N-cadherin and to promotes metastasis [325]. Kim and collaborators have shown that invalidation of DDR1 in human HCT116 colon cancer cells reduced tumor growth when implanted into the mouse subcutaneous tissue [5]. A recent study has shown that DDR1 inhibition by nilotinib or DDR1 knockdown lead to a reduction of the metastatic process of colorectal cancer cells [12, 13].

DDR1 has been reported also to be involved in bone metastatic process by non-small lung carcinoma [326]. Accordingly, clinical studies have shown that DDR1 expression was associated with poor prognosis of non-small lung carcinoma [294]. In the latest study, Miao's group has shown additionally that in non-small cell lung cancer, DDR1 was able to promote cell invasion *via* activating EMT process [317]. In breast carcinoma, DDR1 has been reported to promote multi-organ site metastatic activation [327].

In the case of DDR2, it was not only found important in promoting metastatic process of tumor cells but also plays biological roles in CAFs and other stromal cells [328]. Ren and collaborators have demonstrated that DDR2 knockdown in MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells results in a decrease in lung metastasis. However, DDR2 deficiency has no affect on tumorigenesis [318]. In fact, it is demonstrated that DDR2-deficient 4T1 mouse breast cancer cells results in a decrease in lung metastasis while growth of the primary tumor is not affected [290]. Interestingly, another study has shown that DDR2 deficiency of the host inhibits both tumor angiogenesis and metastasis [329]. Other studies have shown that DDR2 was involved in the peritoneal dissemination of gastric carcinoma and growth of metastatic breast carcinoma [330-332]. DDR2 overexpression has also been reported in the metastatic process of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) [333].

# III. Low Density Lipoprotein Receptor-related Protein-1 and its main functions

# 1. LRP-1

LRP-1, for low-density lipoprotein receptor related protein-1, also known as CD91 or α2macroglobulin receptor, is a member of Low-Density Lipoprotein Receptor (LDLR) family (**Figure 15**, page 58), which is ubiquitously expressed on the plasma membrane of both normal and malignant cells [334-336]. LRP-1 was first identified in 1988 as an abundant surface protein in liver with a structure close to LDLR [337]. Other members of LDLR family include LRP1B [338], LRP2 (megalin) [339], very low-density lipoprotein (VLDLR) [340], LRP3 [341], LRP4 (also known as Megf7) [342], LRP5 [343, 344], LRP6 [345], LRP8 (apolipoprotein E receptor 2) [346], LRP10 (murine LRP9) [347], LRP11 (sorLA-1) [348, 349], LRP12 (ST7/Mg13) [350], and the recent novel member LRAD3 [351]. Global deletion of the LRP-1 gene in mice leads to embryonic lethality at an early stage of development, demonstrating the essential role for LRP-1 in development [352]. LRP-1 is involved not only in ligand uptake, receptor mediated endocytosis and lipoprotein transport but also regulates pericellular protease activity, controls binding and cellular entry of several (glyco) proteins and acts on a wide variety of cell signaling pathways.

# 1.1 LRP-1 structure

LRP-1, with a mass of 600 kDa, undergoes a furin-mediated proteolytical cleavage in the Golgi apparatus during its biosynthesis. This cleavage results in two non-covalently bound subunits, a 515 kDa N-terminal fragment located extracellularly (the heavy  $\alpha$ -chain) and an 85 kDa membrane-bound C-terminal fragment (the light  $\beta$ -chain) that form the mature LRP-1 [353]. The  $\alpha$ -chain, primarily responsible of the ligand-binding activity of LRP-1, includes four clusters of complement-like repeats (CRs I-IV) and EGF-like domains which consist of two cysteine-rich EGF repeats (**Figure 15**, page 58 and **Figure 16**, page 59). These regions together with the  $\beta$ -propeller domain (YWTD) play an important role in releasing ligands at low pH conditions in the endosomal compartments [336].



**Figure 15.** Modular domain organization of low-density lipoprotein receptor family. The seven core members (left) are LDL receptor (Ldlr), very-LDL receptor (Vldlr), Apolipoprotein E (ApoE) receptor 2 (Apoer2/Lrp8), LDL receptor related protein-4 (Lrp4), Lrp1, Lrp1b and Lrp2. These members are classified as core members by the presence of at least one NPxY-motif (asterisk) and a combination of two classical LDL receptor domains. The more distant members (middle) are the NPxY-lacking Lrp5/Lrp6 and hybrid SorLA with additional Fibronectin repeats (pink) and importantly the VPS10p-sorting motif (green). Four very distant "far side" proteins (right, Lrp3, Lrp10, Lrp12, and Lrad3) only encode ligand binding-type repeats. Lrp3, Lrp10 and Lrp12 also contain atypical CUB-domain [354].

The clusters (I-IV) contain 2, 8, 10, and 11 cysteine-rich complement-type repeats (CRs), respectively. The clusters II and IV are the major binding regions for ligands, including apolipoprotein E, the blood coagulation factor VIIIa, numerous proteinases and proteinase-inhibitor complexes (including matrix metalloproteases (MMPs) and plasminogen activators), bacterial toxins, viruses, and various extracellular matrix-associated proteins (**Figure 16**, right panel, page 59). In fact, the recent updated data indicate that over 80 representative molecules may interact with LRP-1 [355] and more than 40 ligands which bind directly to LRP-1 have been identified [336, 356].



*Figure 16. LRP-1 schematic structure and ligands.* (a) *Full mature LRP-1 molecule can be processed by membrane resident proteinases.* (b) A short list of well-known LRP-1 ligands [357].

The LRP-1  $\alpha$ -chain is composed of ligand binding complement-type and EGF receptorlike cysteine-rich repeats, YWTD domains, a single transmembrane domain, and a cytoplasmic region. The  $\beta$ -chain cytoplasmic region consists of two NPxY motifs, one YxxL motif (a dominant signal transmitter that promotes a rapid internalization) and two di-leucine motifs that have been associated with the endocytotic functions of LRP-1 (**Figure 15**, page 58) [354, 358-360]. The  $\beta$ -chain also consists of docking sites for cytoplasmic adaptors or signaling proteins such as Disabled-1, Shc, FE65 or protein kinase C- $\alpha$  (PKC $\alpha$ ), which mediate LRP1dependent signal transduction (**Table 9**, page 60) [335, 336, 361]. LRP-1 initiates signaling by direct ligand binding or, through its co-receptors. Although the exact molecular mechanisms have been only partly elucidated, the tyrosine phosphorylation at the NPxY motifs appears necessary for LRP-1-mediated signal transduction [361, 362]. LRP-1 can additionally undergo an intramembrane proteolysis by  $\beta$ -secretase (BACE) that results in a shed extracellular LRP-1 fragment and a  $\gamma$ -secretase cleaved intracellular LRP-1 domain. Upon cleavage, the intracellular LRP-1 domain may be translocated to the cell nucleus to activate gene transcription and signaling (**Figure 16**, left panel, page 59) [363, 364].

Adaptor protein	Functions
Dab1	Activation of downstream Src kinases; regulation of neurogenesis and neuronal motility
РКСа	Regulation of apoptosis, inflammation, proliferation, differentiation and motility
Shc	Activation of downstream tyrosine kinases
JIP-1, JIP-2	Activation of downstream MAPK kinases
GULP	Regulation of phagocytosis
PSD95	Coupling to NMDA receptors
FE65	Regulation of actin dynamics, APP processing, neuronal growth and migration

 Table 9. Adaptor proteins known to bind to the cytoplasmic domain of LRP-1.

Dab1, disabled-1, PKCα, protein kinase C α; JIP, JNK (c-Jun N-terminal kinase)-interacting proteins; MAPK, mitogen-activated protein kinase; PSD95, post-synaptic density protein 95; NMDA, N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor.

#### 1.2 LRP-1 maturation: the key role of RAP

The LRP-1 gene codes for a precursor protein that tightly binds to the receptor associated protein (RAP), an ER resident protein, functioning as a chaperone for several LDL receptors [365, 366]. RAP connects the ligand binding domains of the precursor [14] to prevent the binding of other ligands [367], thus ensuring its correct folding in the endoplasmic reticulum [368, 369]. In the ER, RAP functions as a chaperone to escort LRP-1 precursor to the trans-Golgi network. Under low pH environment in the trans-Golgi compartment, RAP is dissociated from the precursor receptor [365, 368, 370, 371] (**Figure 17**, page 61). Released RAP is recognized by ERD2 protein via its HNEL C-terminal sequence which allows its return to the ER [372]. LRP-1 precursor is then cleaved by furin-like endoproteases in the trans-Golgi complex to form the heavy 515-kDa  $\alpha$ -chain coupled through noncovalent interactions to the 85-kDa  $\beta$ -chain [373], as mentioned above. LRP-1 fragments are then reorganized to construct a full mature LRP-1 finally transported to the plasma membrane.



Figure 17. LRP-1 synthesis, processing and maturation [374]. The LRP1 precursor protein is synthesized in the endoplasmic reticulum binding to its chaperone, the receptor associated protein (RAP). Then, the premature LRP-1 is transported to the trans-Golgi network where RAP is dissociated under low pH condition. In the Golgi, the protease furin cleaves the precursor LRP-1 at the RX(K/R)R consensus sequence to generate a large  $\alpha$ -chain (515 kDa) and a light  $\beta$ -chain (85 kDa) that are linked noncovalently to each other to form the full functional LRP-1. Finally, LRP-1 is escorted to the plasma membrane where it is responsible for multifunctional tasks.

RAP binds to LRP-1 with a strong affinity ( $K_D = 3 \text{ nM}$ ) on CR-II, III and IV. Furthermore, it is important to note that RAP is the only known ligand which interacts with CR-III [369, 375]. RAP is a modular protein that contains three independent bundle helical domains: D1, D2, and D3 [366, 376], which are connected by long flexible linkers but do not interact with each other allowing RAP to adopt various conformations to interact with LDL receptors (**Figure 18**, page 62). These three domains have distinct functions: the carboxyl-terminal domain (D3) of RAP is required for folding and trafficking of LRP-1, whereas the aminoterminal tandem D1D2 domains of RAP are required for blocking the binding of certain ligands, such as activated forms of  $\alpha$ 2-macroglobulin, to LRP-1 [375]. RAP binds LRP-1 via

two major high-affinity binding sites [377, 378]. The first binding site is located within domain 1 and 2 (D1, D2) [375, 379], that contains two lysine residues, Lys-60 in D1 and Lys-191 in D2 [380]. The second site is located within the D3. Two lysine residues in D3, Lys-256 and Lys-270 have been identified as critical residues for high-affinity binding of D3 to LRP-1 [379, 381]. Several studies indicated that RAP binds poorly to other LDL receptors due to the extreme weak affinity of D3 with CR34 structure (the 3rd and 4th CR module/region of the LDL receptors), compared to LRP-1 [381-383]. Indeed, the additional interactions between D3 and LRP-1 contribute to higher binding affinity between LRP-1 and RAP.



**Figure 18.** Structural representation of RAP. (A) NMR structure of RAP domains 1 (D1), D2 and D3. Each domain is composed of three helical bundle numbered as  $\alpha_1 - \alpha_9$  (B) One of the possible conformations of RAP in solution. The organization of RAP shows the three independent domains of RAP connected by long flexible loops. [336].

From an experimental point of view, RAP could be used as a competitive inhibitor of LRP-1. Indeed, if exogenous RAP is added in the culture medium, its high affinity for LRP-1 allows it to link preferentially to the membrane-anchored LRP-1 to the detriment of other extracellular ligands.

# 2. LRP-1, modulator of signaling pathways

LRP-1 is the most multifunctional member of the LDL receptor gene family. It has been implicated in two main biological functions: endocytosis of its numerous ligands and regulation of cell signaling pathways. The large variety of LRP1 ligands translates the multiple biological functions of this evolutionarily ancient receptor. Its ubiquitous expression, the noteworthy structural and sequence conservation among species and the lethality of the conventional knockout in mice reveal that LRP1 is essential for cellular physiology.

#### 2.1 LRP-1 regulates apoptotic pathways and promotes cell survival

Several *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies have demonstrated that LRP-1 signaling is essential for inhibiting death pathways and promoting cell survival. Indeed, LRP-1 initiates and regulates several survival pathways, such as serine/threonine protein kinase (AKT), pro-apoptotic PI3K, NF- $\kappa$ B and JNK. For instance, *in vitro* studies have shown that in PC12 cells and neurons, the binding of tPA or  $\alpha$ 2-macroglobulin to LRP-1 results in Src family kinase (SFK) activation and SFK-dependent Trk receptor transactivation, followed by AKT activation [384]. AKT/PI3K signaling pathway is known to be one of the most important pathways which inhibits apoptosis and promotes cell survival [385].

Mounting evidence suggests that LRP-1 plays an important role in regulating cell survival and apoptosis. Indeed, knockdown of LRP-1 by short hairpin RNA in primary neurons results in a significant increase in caspase-3 activation and a decrease in the levels of AKT, insulin receptor phosphorylation [386]. In addition, LRP-1 silencing in Schwann cells by small interfering RNA also decreased PI3K/AKT activation and increased active caspase-3 levels [387]. In ischemic neurons, inhibition of LRP-1 by RAP decreased AKT and anti-apoptotic factor B-cell lymphoma 2 (Bcl-2) activation and increased pro-death signaling pathways such as nuclear factor-Kappa B (NF-KB) and caspase-3 pathways [388]. In vivo, the important role of LRP-1 in regulating insulin receptor and AKT survival pathways was also demonstrated in LRP-1 forebrain knock-out mice [389]. In addition, Lutz et al., (2002) indicated that LRP-1 increases the location of c-Jun N-terminal kinases (JNKs) at the plasma membrane, inhibiting JNK translocation into the nucleus and nuclear activation of the JNK-dependent transcription factors Elk-1 and cJun [390]. The ability of LRP-1 to modulate cJun/Elk-1 transcriptional activity suggests that it may also be sensitive to negative signals that are involved in the induction of apoptosis. In summary, LRP-1 clearly plays important roles in regulating prosurvival signaling cascades and anti-programmed cell death. However, the understanding of how LRP-1 interacts and activates survival mediators remains unclear. Although Pallero et al have reported the involvement of LRP-1 in anoikis resistance by inducing tissue remodeling through TSP1/calreticulin/LRP1 signaling [391], other potential functions of LRP-1 in the regulation of distinct cell death processes such as necrosis and pyroptosis have not been studied.

#### 2.2 Role of LRP-1 in cell proliferation

Over the past ten years, a series of studies revealed the involvement of LRP-1 in diverse signaling pathways leading to inducing cell proliferation. It is well known that LRP-1 regulates some crucial downstream signaling pathways such as Ras, c-Myc, MAPKs, and Akt/PI3K, which are associated with oncogenesis, cell proliferation, and survival [392] (**Figure 19**, page 64). However, the function of LRP-1 in cell proliferation remains controversial and depends on the cell types, stimuli and conditions that are studied.



# Figure 19. Proposed LRP-1 related signaling pathways in multiple processes of cancer development [356].

On one hand, LRP1 is involved in PDGF-mediated induction of ERK phosphorylation, which can increase smooth muscle cell and fibroblast proliferation. Interestingly, PDGF induces the phosphorylation of LRP-1-ICD in a process dependent on PDGF receptor activation. In details, LRP-1 functions as a co-receptor that modulates signal transduction pathways initiated by the PDGF receptor, which further regulates MAPK/ERK and Akt/PI3K pathways [393-395], and mediates the tyrosine phosphorylation of the LRP-1 at the intracellular domain (LRP-1-ICD) [394, 396]. Invalidation of LRP-1 in mouse vascular smooth

muscle cells (SMC) leads to PDGF receptor accumulation and abnormal activation of PDGF receptor signaling, followed by a disruption of elastic layer, SMC proliferation and migration, and aneurysm formation [393, 397]. LRP-1 was also found to bind Cbl, an ubiquitin-protein ligase necessary for lysosomal-mediated degradation of the PDGF receptor complex, resulting in a decrease in cell proliferation [398].

On the other hand, LRP-1 participates in other signaling pathways with different molecular actors to modulate cell proliferation. For example, a2-macroglobulin binding to LRP-1 induces an increase of ERK1/2, p38 and c-Jun phosphorylation, and subsequently promotes J774 macrophage-derived cell proliferation [17]. A study in osteoblastic cells indicated that LRP-1 is also involved in lactoferrin-induced cell proliferation. It was suggested that lactoferrin stimulates osteoblast mitogenesis by activating p42/44 MAPK pathway through LRP-1 and that the endocytic function of LRP1 is independent of its signaling function [18]. In addition, Lin and colleagues demonstrated that binding of tissue plasminogen activator (tPA) to LRP-1 induces Tyr-4507 phosphorylation on LRP-1-ICD, initiating a cascade of proliferative signaling events involving phosphorylation of ERK1/2, p90RSK, GSK3β, and induction of cyclin D1 resulting in cell-cycle progression and stimulated cell proliferation [19]. Furthermore, studies in radial glia and neural stem precursor cells (NSPCs) showed that LRP-1 exhibits a positive effect on NSPC proliferation and survival, promotes oligodendroglial and neuronal differentiation, but negatively affects astrogliogenesis in vitro. Although this effect seems to be dependent of downstream activation of ERKs and PI3K/Akt signaling, the accurate molecular mechanisms by which LRP-1 mediates NSPC proliferation remains undefined [399]. Furthermore, LRP-1 induces cell proliferation of mouse embryonic fibroblasts after association with its ligands, by stimulating downstream pro-proliferative signaling cascades [20, 21]. By contrast, LRP-1 can suppress lung adenocarcinoma and human hepatic stellate cell proliferation by decreasing through endocytosis the level of pro-proliferative molecules in the extracellular medium [22, 23]. A recent study in retinal microvascular endothelial cells showed that LRP-1 interacts directly with poly-(ADP-ribose) polymerase-1 (PARP-1), a regulator of cell cycle progression, resulting in a negative regulation of endothelial cell proliferation and neovascularization in the hypoxic retina. LRP-1 also regulates cyclin-dependent kinase 2 (CDK2) and retinoblastoma activities, two proteins which play important roles in promoting cell cycle progression and angiogenesis [24].

Altogether, the role of LRP-1 on cell proliferation remains questioned and controversial and appears to be highly dependent on the microenvironment state and the time window of observation. However, this is an issue that seems absolutely essential to clarify, particularly in the tumor context.

#### 2.3 Role of LRP-1 on inflammatory signaling

Inflammatory is a natural adaptive immune response, which is triggered by harmful stimuli and by a variety of factors, including pathogens, damaged cells and toxic compounds [400]. However, inflammatory response could contribute to the pathogenesis of numerous chronic diseases such as arthritis, cardiovascular diseases, autoimmune disorders, and cancer [401]. In cancer, inflammation is a critical process during tumor progression and promotes different steps of malignant behaviors like proliferation, invasiveness, metastasis, or angiogenesis [80, 402]. It is well documented that inflammation is coordinated by a wide range of mediators, which are classified into seven groups such as vasoactive amines, vasoactive peptides, fragments of complement components, lipid mediators, cytokines, chemokines, and proteolytic enzymes [400]. Recent studies indicated that LRP-1 fragments can be involved in the regulation of inflammatory response. Indeed, the soluble extracellular domain obtained by shedding of LRP-1 (sLRP-1) constitutes potently a proinflammatory mediator [403] while the intracellular subunit of LRP-1 β-chain (LRP-1-ICD) serves as an anti-inflammatory factor neutralizing the inflammation [364, 403]. Moreover, studies clarified that LRP-1 shedding activities are involved in the regulation of inflammation. In fact, LRP-1 is shed by different membrane-anchored proteases. For instance, the membrane-anchored LRP-1 can be shed by either  $\beta$ -secretase to release sLPR-1 and/or intracellularly by  $\gamma$ -secretase to generate the LRP-1-ICD [357]. In addition, studies from human brain microvascular endothelial cells (HBMECs) and human Alzheimer's disease brains indicated that LRP-1 a-chain can be shed by both ADAM10 and ADAM17 [403-405]. Nonetheless, LRP-1 can also be shed by MMP-14 in inflammatory tissues such as osteoarthritic cartilages [406]. In vivo, LRP-1 shedding activities occur steadily in healthy conditions [407], but are strongly increased during enhancing inflammatory response such as in injured tissues of patients carrying rheumatoid arthritis and systemic lupus erythematosus [408]. It is agreed that LRP-1 regulates the inflammatory response through a two-way feedback loop signaling. Firstly, the inflammatory response induced by lipopolysaccharide (LPS) results in increased shedding of the LRP-1 extracellular domain and generation of sLRP-1. As mentioned above, sLRP-1 tends to support inflammatory events. By contrast, following  $\gamma$ -secretase-dependent cleavage, LRP-1-ICD can be translocated into the nucleus where it interacts directly with IRF-3 and separates it from CBP/P300. The complex LRP-1-ICD:IRF-3 is then exported out of the nucleus causing the interruption of LPS targeted-gene transcription and expression of metalloproteases, resulting in decreasing inflammation response (**Figure 20**, page 67) [364].



Figure 20. Regulation of LPS induced-inflammatory response by LRP-1. IFR-3 activates a part of genes induced by LPS. Expression of metalloproteases are increased by IRF-3 and other LPS-induced signaling pathways activation. In addition, PKC is activated by LPS. Shedding of LRP1 is therefore augmented. Increased proteolysis of LRP-1 leads to LRP1 ICD cleavage by  $\gamma$ -secretase and its release. The interaction of LRP1 ICD with IRF-3 facilitates its nuclear export and reduces the expression of IRF-3 target gene [364].

# 3. LRP-1 involvement in diseases

# 3.1 LRP-1 in neurodegenerative disorders and several chronic diseases

Dysregulation of LRP-1-dependent signaling events is involved in the development of multiple pathological events such as neurodegenerative disorders, atherosclerosis, tissue inflammation, and coagulation complications. In this part, I will describe few examples of LRP-1 involvement in Alzheimer's disease, atherosclerosis, and chronic diseases.

#### Alzheimer's disease

LRP-1 and other members of LDLR gene family, including apolipoprotein E receptor 2 and the VLDL receptor, have been largely implicated in Alzheimer disease (AD) [409]. In vivo and in vitro experiments have demonstrated multiple mechanisms by which LRP-1 may regulate AD onset and progression. Notably, LRP-1 serves as an endocytic signaling receptor for apolipoprotein E and functions as a receptor for amyloid beta (Aβ peptide). Numerous clinical data suggested that the dysregulation of A<sup>β</sup> level, a crucial biomarker, is associated with functional and structural brain alterations and contributes to the major hallmark of AD [410]. Amyloid- $\beta$  peptide accumulation and aggregation in the brain trigger neurodegenerative processes lead to the dementia observed in AD patients [411]. It should be noted that imbalance between A $\beta$  clearance and its production is attributed to AD development in most cases [411, 412]. To date, numerous preclinical studies have demonstrated the involvement of LRP-1 in Aß metabolism and degradation, as reviewed by Shinohara and collaborators [412]. It has been demonstrated that liver is the major organ responsible for Aβ clearance from plasma [413, 414] and LRP-1 is an important receptor for plasma A<sup>β</sup> clearance in the liver [415]. In addition, upregulation of LRP-1 expression in the liver induced an increase of A<sup>β</sup> removing from the blood, and potentially enhances A<sup>β</sup> transport across the blood-brain barrier (BBB) [416]. A recent study indicated that BBB pericytes are able to clear Aβ aggregates in a LRP-1/ApoE isoformspecific interaction [417], which is similar to previous studies about LRP-1/ApoE-dependent Aβ endocytosis [412, 418]. Figure 21 (page 69) summarized the different LRP-1 related pathways involved in Aβ production and clearance. Others studies have shown that LRP-1 expression is up-regulated in some cell types from brain of AD patients [419-421], and its expression is increased during neuroinflammation and postsynaptic damages [422]. To conclude, accumulating evidence from in vitro and in vivo studies demonstrated that LRP-1 not only regulates the metabolism of amyloid- $\beta$  peptide (A $\beta$ ) in the brain, but also maintains brain homeostasis impairment which probably contributes to AD development in Aβindependent manners. However, despite very promising results, the highly complex roles of LRP-1 in AD pathogenesis remains to be further clarified.



Figure 21. Proposed LRP-1-related pathways for  $A\beta$  clearance from circulating blood and  $A\beta$  accumulation in brains. LRP-1 might regulate  $A\beta$  production from Amyloid Protein Precursor (APP) in neurons through its interaction with APP or competition with the  $\beta/\gamma$ -secretase cleavage of APP. After its secretion into the extracellular space in the brain,  $A\beta$  uptake is regulated by LRP1 in neurons, microglia, astrocytes, vascular smooth muscle cells, pericytes, endothelial cells, and the choroid plexus. After internalization,  $A\beta$  is either degraded in lysosomes or accumulated in the cells provoking cellular toxicity. A part of  $A\beta$  may be transported into the blood through LRP-1 dependent trancytosis. LRP-1 in the liver could accelerate the elimination of peripherally circulating  $A\beta$  [412].

#### \* Metabolic disorders, atherosclerosis and inflammation

Studies over the last decade have found that LRP-1 is implicated in the pathological mechanisms underlying metabolic disorders. In physiological conditions, LRP-1 regulates glucose and lipid metabolism in neurons [423, 424] and adipose tissue [425] as well as liver [426] whereas lower LRP-1 expression in visceral fat was reported in obesity patients [427]. Recent studies indicated that LRP-1 is involved in aggregated LDL uptake and lipid accumulation in vascular smooth muscle cells resulting in foam cell formation, which is attributed to atherosclerotic development [428-430]. It should be noted that the role of LRP-1 in atherosclerosis are cellular-dependent contexts. For instance, LRP-1/Wnt5a pathway regulates intracellular cholesterol homeostasis, which reduces the burden of cholesterol accumulation diseases such as atherosclerosis [431]. Moreover, LRP-1 modulates M2 to M1 macrophage transformation and production of proinflammatory factors that occur in the development of atherosclerotic lesions [432]. However, LRP-1 expression in macrophages has been shown to protect vessel wall and reduce neointimal formation [433]. In addition, LRP1 was reported to protect the vascular wall integrity and prevents atherosclerosis by modulating PDGFR activation [393].

Several studies reported also that LRP-1 is involved in other cardiovascular diseases including ischemic/non-ischemic heart failures, myocardial ischemia and reperfusion injury. The role of LRP-1 on these pathologies has recently been reviewed [434].

#### 3.2 LRP-1 and cancers

LRP-1 is considered as a multifunctional regulator playing diverse roles in cancer-related events including adhesion, invasion, migration, as well as metastasis development. However, LRP-1 expression is highly variable depending on the tumor type and the stage of cancer progression. For instance, a clinical study in hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) indicated that low level of LRP-1 is associated with tumor invasiveness, tumor recurrence, poorer prognosis, and decreasing overall survival rates [435]. LRP-1 expression is decreased during cutaneous melanocytic tumor progression, especially in the late stages. Similarly, low LRP-1 expression was also demonstrated in advanced stages of Wilms tumors [436]. A study in lung adenocarcinomas, using a cohort of 439 patients, showed that LRP-1 expression was reduced in both mRNA and protein levels and this lower expression of LRP-1 is correlated with less favorable clinical outcome [23]. In addition, Yamamoto et al. mentioned that LRP-1 is weakly expressed in primary lung adenocarcinomas and metastatic brain tumors from metastatic lung adenocarcinomas [437]. Recently, results from our team reported that loss of LRP-1 expression in colorectal tumors is highly correlated with advanced cancer stages, poor prognosis, and lower survival rates [29]. By contrast, LRP-1 overexpression was reported in breast cancer cells [438, 439]. Interestingly, although no evidence has been found to correlate LRP-1 expression with overall patient survival in these studies, it was suggested that overexpression of LRP-1 is correlated with increased cell proliferation, tumor recurrence, and invasiveness [439]. Supporting this way, recent data from our team indicates that LRP-1 participates to triple-negative breast cancer development by supporting tumor vascularization in vivo [unpublished results]. Moreover, increasing LRP-1 expression is correlated with high-grade tumors and advanced tumor stages in patients carrying endometrial carcinoma [440]. In prostate cancer, LRP-1 overexpression was found in the late stages of prostate tumors and metastasis lesions [441]. LRP-1 expression was reported in all types of cerebral tumors. Indeed, LRP-1 is highly expressed in invasive glial tumor cells, especially in glioblastoma and LRP-1 overexpression correlates with the malignancy grade of astrocytoma [437, 442, 443]. More, a recent study in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma demonstrated that LRP-1 overexpression is associated with poor prognosis and perineural invasion [444].

On one hand, it is well known that increased ECM degradation, including shedding mechanisms, is associated with advanced tumor stages that could partly explain how LRP-1 expression can be decreased during cancer progression. On the other hand, we need to consider that LRP-1-dependant endocytosis is mainly involved in the regulation of ECM remodeling in malignant cells by decreasing the level of certain pericellular proteases (Figure 22, page 72), such as matrix metalloprotease (MMP)-2 [445], MMP-9 [435], tissue-type plasminogen activator (tPA), and urokinase-type plasminogen activator (uPA) [335, 446]. When the membrane-anchored LRP-1 amount and activity are decreased in tumors, this leads to even higher levels of these proteases at tumor sites contributing to support tumor aggressiveness and progression through a deleterious control loop. Many studies indeed demonstrated that LRP-1 inhibition or increased LRP-1 shedding resulted in the accumulation of MMP-2 and MMP-9 [447, 448]. For instance, LRP-1 inhibition leads to enhance invasion of low-metastasis human hepatocellular carcinoma cells due to decreased internalization of MMP-9 [435]. Indeed, several studies have demonstrated the involvement of MMP-2 in ECM remodeling and degradation during tumor progression [449-452], suggesting that the procees of LRP-1mediated MMP-2 clearance appears absolutely essential to reduce cancer progression.



Figure 22. Contribution of LRP-1 to tumor invasion and migration. LRP-1 regulates uPA, tPA, and matrix metalloproteases activities by endocytotosis causing membrane-anchored proteinases degradation, which results in cancer cell migration and invasion inhibition. On the contrary, LRP1-ICD fragment induces MMP expression which enhance matrix degradation and tumor invasion [453].

In another context, urokinase receptor (uPAR) signaling is an alternative migration- and invasion-related pathway regulated by LRP-1 that can promote cell invasion and migration. The uPA-plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1) complex is a bivalent ligand that triggers uPAR internalization and regulates the uPAR signaling by bridging extracellularly uPAR and LRP1 [454-456]. Moreover, uPAR can associate with several integrins and binding to uPA:PAI-1:LRP-1 complex, thus stimulating formation of clathrin-coated pits and subsequent endocytosis [457]. This affects uPAR presence at the plasma membrane with consequences for ECM degradation via the plasminogen activation system and uPAR-integrin interaction, both important for supporting tumor cell migration and invasion (**Figure 23**, page 73) [458]. Indeed, uPA and its receptor participate in numerous signaling pathways that together play various functions in cancer-related events, including apoptotic suppression, extracellular matrix degradation, cell adhesion, migration, invasion, and metastasis [459, 460].


*Figure 23. Endocytosis of uPAR complex by LRP1.* The ternary uPAR:uPA:PAI-1 complex associates to LRP-1. At once, various integrins associated with uPAR are subject to LRP1-facilitated endocytosis via clathrin-coated pits [458].

Salama and collaborators recently highlighted the involvement of the tPA:LRP-1 complex in promoting cell migration and proliferation in melanoma [461]. From loss- and gain-of-function analyses, they proposed a model wherein LRP-1 enhances ERK activation, resulting in increased MMP-9 expression within the tumor (at both mRNA and protein level), accumulation of tPA and MMP-9 and changes the cancer-associated fibroblasts content to support tumor cell growth and metastasis [461]. Briefly, LRP-1-mediated endocytosis could be first associated with anti-tumor progression via the clearance of the pericellular or membrane-associated proteases (MMP-2, -9, tPA, and uPA). However, membrane LRP-1 could be post-transcriptionally regulated by other membrane-anchored proteases such as MMP-14, ADAM-10, and ADAM-17, as was mentioned in the previous section. Hence, by regulating the composition of the plasma membrane proteome, LRP-1 can also indirectly control activation of important cell-signaling pathways involved in each hallmark of cancer.

Many works indeed showed the contribution of LRP-1 in various signaling cascades involved in tumor progression regardless of LRP-1 expression amount. Our team reported that LRP-1 silencing prevents the invasion of follicular thyroid carcinomas despite increased pericellular proteolytic activities from MMP-2 and uPA [462]. In this previous work, we established that LRP-1 may coordinate the adhesion and de-adhesion balance of malignant cells to support tumor progression by regulating the amount, molecular composition and distribution of focal adhesion structures [462]. In addition, Langlois and collaborators reported that LRP-1 promotes thyroid carcinoma cell migration and invasion through concomitant activation of

ERK and inhibition of JNK pathways that stimulates focal adhesion disassembly [463]. These data were confirmed by a complementary study in three-dimensional type I collagen matrix. Indeed, inhibition of LRP-1 activity or expression leads to drastic morphological changes affecting cell-matrix interactions, reorganizations of the actin-cytoskeleton especially by inhibiting FAK activation and increasing RhoA activity and MLC-2 phosphorylation, thus preventing 3D cell migration [28]. Moreover, in glioblastoma, extracellular heat shock protein 90 (Hsp90) cooperates with LRP-1, activating Src and AKT phosphorylation to promote cell migration and stimulate the metastatic activities [443, 464]. In melanoma, it was shown that LRP-1 acts in response to apolipoprotein E (ApoE) as an endogenous suppressor of the metastatic phenotype [465]. It should be noted however, that LRP-1 silencing in xenotransplanted CL16 breast cancer cells in mice has no effect on cell growth or on primary tumor formation. Montel and colleagues reported that LRP-1 expression is notably increased by hypoxic conditions and stimulates metastasis development in the lung [466]. Similarly, recent work from Leslie and collaborators demonstrated that LRP-1 expression plays a crucial role on colorectal cancer cell survival and is regulated by p53 under stress conditions [467]. Thereby, under sub-lethal conditions, p53 increases both LRP-1 mRNA and protein expression, which further induces an increase in tumor cell survival. Interestingly, lethal doses of p53-activating stress inhibit LRP-1 expression through a translational repression mechanism regulated by miRNA 103 and 107. This inhibition results in cell death [467]. On the contrary, it is reported that stable transfection of H1299 human lung carcinoma cells with full-length LRP-1 cDNA restores the sensitivity to growth inhibition [468]. However, this mechanism needs to be further elucidated by additional studies.

Many studies reported that LRP-1 in monocytes and macrophages plays a critical role in cancer progression by acting as a regulator of inflammation. As inflammation is a critical feature in cancer, the activities of macrophages in tumor microenvironment make a crucial contribution to cancer progression, as described elsewhere [402, 469]. Indeed, the presence of LRP-1-deficient monocytes into subcutaneous and orthotopic pancreatic tumors were significantly increased [470]. The secretion of chemokines, particularly CCL3, is enhanced in LRP1-deficient macrophages, resulting in an increased number of tumor-associated macrophages (TAM) at the tumor site. The authors provided evidence that the LRP1-deficient TAM contribute to the higher VEGF amount into the tumor microenvironment, leading to increased tumor angiogenesis. [470]. Moreover, a recent study in which our team participated, indicated that LRP-1 contributes to the activation and trafficking of CXCR3 and correlates with poor prognosis in glioblastoma patients [471].

In summary, LRP-1 functionalities during cancer development and progression appears highly dependent of the temporality and tumor context and remains, despite numerous studies, extremely difficult to understand as a whole. As a multifunctional cell surface receptor, LRP-1 can internalize diverse biological ligands and regulate many signaling pathways. To accurately decipher LRP-1 functionalities in the tumor context, we have to systematically take into account the cell types, the state of the cellular microenvironment, the co-receptor distribution and expression, and even the assortment and local concentration of soluble ligands. In cancer cells, LRP-1 expression is not only dependent on the cellular properties but also on the experimental conditions of cell cultures. For example, LRP-1 remains undetectably in HCT116 colon cancer cells under conventional cell culture conditions. Its expression, however, is strongly increased upon adjusting a sub-lethal stress [467]. In addition, LRP-1 is expressed at very low or nearly undetectable levels in some cancer cells such as 2C5, CL16 and MDA-MB-468 when cells are cultured in conventional conditions. In opposite, LRP-1 expression in these cells is very abundantly in tumor xenografts. Furthermore, it is well documented that LRP-1 expression is reduced in normoxic cell culture conditions in many cancer cell lines, compared to hypoxic cell cultures mimicking tumor environment [466]. Further in-depth studies will be necessary in the future to better understand the function of this receptor in malignant diseases and the emergence of more complex and realistic experimental models (such as organoids and organ-on-a chip) should be helpful.

#### 4. LRP-1 in preclinical and clinical trials

Several preclinical and clinical trials have been performed to target acute myocardial infarction therapy (AMI). Alpha 1-antitrypsin (AAT), a naturally occurring nonselective/specific LRP-1 agonist [472, 473], was first considered as a potential target for clinical trials. Indeed, AAT is known as an abundant serine-protease inhibitor that protects tissues from degradation by inhibiting proteolytic activities from proteinase-3, cathepsin G, and neutrophil elastase [474, 475]. Preclinical trials showed that AAT treatment reduces significantly myocardial injuries in AMI mouse model [476]. Reports from a clinical feasibility numbered NCT01936896, trial (VCU-α1RT pilot study, available online at https://clinicaltrials.gov/) showed that treatment with AAT in patients with acute myocardial infarction is well-tolerated without serious adverse events [477, 478]. Moreover, data indicated that plasma-derived AAT is associated with a blunted acute inflammatory response after AMI and no heart failure occurs in treated patients the year following treatment. Although the obtained data need to be further elucidated, these studies offers promising prospects to LRP-1

agonists as new cardiac therapeutic target. Furthermore, preclinical studies using a synthetic peptide agonist of LRP-1, SP16 (Ac-VKFNKPFVFLNleIEQNTK-NH2), demonstrated a cardioprotective effect of this peptide in AMI (**Figure 24**, page 76) [479]. These extremely interesting data allowed initiation of a phase I clinical trial testing SP16 in healthy volunteers (numbered NCT03651089, available online at https://clinicaltrials.gov/). The results show that SP16 is not toxic and well tolerated.



Figure 24. Role of LRP-1 in acute myocardial infarction. Effect of a short peptide LRP1 agonist SP16 in AMI mouse model. LRP1 activation with SP16 during experimental AMI leads to a cardioprotective signal, reducing infarct size and preserving cardiac systolic function in mice. SP16 represents a first-in-class pharmacologic agent exploring an entirely novel approach of cardioprotection in AMI [479].

To date, despite very promising results from preclinical studies, no LRP-1-based clinical trial for AD therapy is underway. However, numerous evidences from preclinical and clinical studies have indicated potentialities for LRP-1 targeting in AD treatments and have recently been reviewed by Shinohara *et al.* [412].

In cancer, no therapeutic strategy targeting LRP-1 is currently developed. Only therapeutic strategies using LRP-1 as a cargo receptor to transport chemotherapy agents across the bloodbrain barrier have been proposed. Indeed, it was shown that LRP-1 is able to mediate bidirectional transcytosis of amyloid- $\beta$  across the BBB [480]. This ability of LRP-1 to mediate the transport of molecules through the BBB is therefore a valuable and expected tool for delivering chemotherapeutic agents to which the BBB was previously impermeable. According to this principle, a molecule named ANG1005 or GRN1005 has been developed. GRN1005 is composed of three molecules of paclitaxel covalently linked to Angiopep-2, a peptide designed to exploit the LRP-1 transport system to cross the BBB or BCB (blood-cerebrospinal fluid barrier) (**Figure 25, page 78**) [481]. This Angiopep-2 peptide derived from a Kunitz domain presents an important ability of transcytosis across the BBB *in vitro* [482]. This strategy was also shown to be effective *in vivo* [483]. ANG1005/GRN1005 have been tested in clinical Phase I in patients with progressive grade II to IV glioma undergoing treatment [481] and in patients with brain metastases from different types of cancer (melanoma, breast, lung,..., etc) [484]. These studies reported promising results with good tolerance and a therapeutic response (stability or decrease of the lesions) in 1/3 to half of the patients (**Figure 25**, page 78) [481, 484].

It is obvious that there is considerable potential to exploit the endocytosis properties of the receptor or to inhibit its deleterious functions for clinical studies, especially in the field of malignant diseases. However, the development of original pharmacological approaches and therapeutic strategies will require a better decoding and understanding of the overall functionalities associated to this endocytic receptor.



*Figure 25. Using LRP-1 as a cargo receptor to transport GRN1005chemotherapy agent.* (*A*) *Transcytosis through the BBB using Angiopep-2 targeting LRP-1.* (*B*) *LRP-1-mediated uptake of GRN1005 into a tumor cell to induce cell death [481].* 

## Results

# Scientific goal statement and presentation of the scientific article

The use of *in vitro* 3D collagen matrices to mimic *in vivo* cellular environment has been developed over the past two decades to improve our understanding of cell growth, survival, migration, and cell-ECM interactions that may occur *in vivo* under physiological and pathological conditions.

Among the cellular interactions within the tumor microenvironment, the interactions between cancer cells and collagen is known to contribute to tumor initiation, progression and metastasis in colorectal cancer (*see our review*). Collagen constitutes a key molecule that influence tumor cell behavior through two main receptors that are integrins and DDRs. DDR1 is expressed in colon carcinomas and appears involved in invasion processes and metastasis development. Data from our laboratory and Dr. Maquoi's group have reported that the proliferation of tumor cells is decreased in type I collagen 3D matrices, but not when using a conventional 2D coating. DDR1 and DDR2 were identified as being the main collagen receptors involved in these processes, while integrins were not engaged.

LRP-1 mediates the endocytosis of a series number of extracellular ligands, which play crucial roles in tumorigenesis and tumor progression. In addition to its endocytic function, LRP1 also mainly regulates signal transduction pathways and can interact with a lot of cellular receptors, themselves involved in intracellular signaling. In the field of cancer, LRP-1mediated endocytosis was first associated with antitumor properties but original data from our team shed light on the ability of LRP-1 to coordinate the adhesion-deadhesion balance in malignant cells to support tumor progression. LRP-1 has recently been identified as a hub within a biomarker network for multi-cancer clinical outcome and distinct studies reported that the ECM could influence the ability of LRP-1 to modulate the composition and the dynamics of the membrane proteome in the tumor context. Now the vision we have of this receptor, previously considered only as a scavenger receptor, is much more complex than originally thought. Its functionalities clearly vary from one tumor type to another and are highly dependent of the temporality of the tumor evolution and development and the state of the tumor microenvironment. Indeed, several studies have reported that low LRP-1 expression was closely related to advanced tumor stages and poor survival in several solid tumors, such as hepatocellular carcinoma, lung adenocarcinoma, melanoma and Wilms tumors, whereas high LRP-1 expression was related to advanced tumor stages in endometrial, breast and prostate

carcinomas. Furthermore, recent data obtained in our team showed that both LRP-1 mRNA and protein levels were significantly lower in colon adenocarcinoma cells compared with colon mucosa and stroma cells obtained after laser capture microdissection, thus suggesting that loss of LRP-1 expression is associated with worse colon cancer outcomes. However, the role of LRP-1 in CRC remains poorly understood and deserves to be further studied, especially to gain molecular insights.

Therefore, in my PhD works, we have investigated how LRP-1 may contribute to CRC development. We investigated how the extracellular matrix from CRC may influence LRP-1 functionalities by using a 3D relevant culture system. As DDR1 is involved in cell proliferation and tightly interacts with type I collagen, we focused our study on the putative interplay that may occur between LRP-1 and DDR1 for the regulation of colon carcinomas proliferation and survival in 3D matrices. The expression of these two receptors were first assessed by qRT-PCR and western-blot in distinct CRC (Caco2, RKO, LS174-T and HT-29 cells). Three cell lines were selected to evaluate the role of LRP-1 in cell proliferation: LS174T and HT29 cells that expressed both LRP-1 and DDR1, and RKO cells expressing only LRP-1. LS174T, HT-29 and RKO cells were seeded in type I collagen 3D matrices or in plastic-based cell culture in presence or in absence of RAP (receptor-associated protein), the LRP-1 antagonist, in order to efficiently inhibit LRP-1-mediated endocytosis. Results from 3D cell cultures highlighted that RAP treatment in LS174T or HT-29 cells led to reduced proliferation, while no effect was observed using plastic-based cell culture systems or classical 2D coating. Interestingly, RAP treatment has no effect on RKO cell proliferation. To confirm these results, we examined the effect of the R2629 polyclonal antibody, a validated LRP-1 blocking antibody. Interestingly, treatment with R2629 decreased the proliferation of both HT29 and LS174T cells to the same extent as using RAP. These experiments were confirmed by LRP-1 knock-down in HT-29 cells. Taken together, these results suggested that LRP-1 supports colon cancer cell proliferation, but only in a 3D type I collagen network.

Since cell proliferation was down-regulated under LRP-1 antagonization only in 3D collagen environment, we hypothesized that DDRs could be involved in this molecular regulation. DDR1 overexpression was conducted in HT-29 using lentivirus encoding for DDR1-GFP. Our results clearly showed that DDR1 overexpression in HT-29 cells results in decreased cell growth in our 3D collagen matrix. Additionally, the contribution of DDR1 on CRC proliferation was reinforced by using treatment with nilotinib, a tyrosine kinase inhibitor. Indeed, we observed a significant increase in CRC proliferation under nilotinib treatment that drastically decreased DDR1 phosphorylation and activation.

We then assessed the potential molecular interaction between LRP-1 and DDR1 using especially co-immunoprecipitation assays. Our data demonstrated that these two cell-surface receptors coexisted within the same molecular complexes in colon cancer cells. Interestingly, DDR1 was found accumulated at the plasma membrane of HT-29 cells when LRP-1-mediated internalization was prevented. Using a biochemical endocytosis assay, we demonstrated that DDR1 uptake was impaired when LRP-1 was antagonized, suggesting that LRP-1 promotes CRC proliferation through DDR1 internalization, and that this function cannot be compensated. To further characterize the role of LRP-1, we investigated whether RAP treatment affects the cell cycle of colon carcinomas using flow cytometry. Cell cycle analysis revealed that RAP treatment led to cell cycle arrest at G0/G1 phase. Interestingly, RAP treatment and LRP-1 blocking antibody induced a higher accumulation of tumor cells at G1 phase when DDR1 is overexpressed.

The inhibition of breast cancer cell growth in type I collagen 3D matrices has been previously attributed to a strong DDR1-dependent induction of apoptotic cell death. To evaluate whether type I collagen/DDR1 axis can induce apoptosis of colon carcinomas, cells apoptosis was evaluated by Annexin V staining and flow cytometry. RAP treatment induces an increase in apoptosis in both wild-type and DDR1-overexpressing HT-29 cells. Furthermore, using a second harmonic generation approach, we found that LRP-1 participates to collagen fiber/fibrin remodeling. This finding provides a crucial information which will require further exploration of collagenase activities and collagen fiber structure, especially using Raman spectroscopy imaging. This will certainly contribute to a better understanding of how LRP-1 may influence the ECM organization.

So, our recent results shed light on a new role of LRP-1 in increasing colon carcinoma proliferation in collagen-rich network through mediating DDR1 endocytosis and regulating cell cycle regulation and apoptosis.

### **Article**

LRP-1 stimule la prolifération des cellules cancéreuses du côlon en induisant l'endocytose de DDR1 dans des matrices 3D de collagène de type I

#### **Article (summary in French)**

#### Introduction

Le récepteur low-density lipoprotein (LDL) receptor-related protein 1 (LRP-1) est un membre de la famille des récepteurs aux LDL. Cette famille est composé de douze protéines transmembranaires participant à plusieurs processus physiopathologiques [485]. LRP-1 est un récepteur d'endocytose multifonctionnel exprimé dans plusieurs tissus et semble être impliqué dans des processus clés tels que le métabolisme des lipoprotéines, l'inflammation, la coagulation et la régulation de la protéolyse matricielle. Initialement synthétisé sous forme d'un précurseur de 600 kDa, LRP-1 est clivé dans l'appareil de Golgi par une furine-convertase pour former une sous-unité de haut poids moléculaire (chaîne  $\alpha$ , 515 kDa) et une sous-unité de faible poids moléculaire (chaîne β, 85 kDa) qui seront toutes deux liées de manière non covalente. L'endocytose médiée par LRP-1 est étroitement couplée à la régulation des voies de signalisation [394, 486, 487]. Il a été démontré que le processus d'endocytose dépendant de LRP-1 et les événements de signalisation cellulaire associés jouent un rôle essentiel dans différentes pathologies telles que les maladies de Parkinson et d'Alzheimer, les troubles du métabolisme, l'athérosclérose et le cancer. Concernant la prolifération des cellules tumorales et les processus d'invasion et de métastase, la contribution moléculaire de LRP-1 reste mal connue et dépend fortement du microenvironnement tumoral. Bien que l'expression de LRP-1 et son rôle dans la progression du cancer soient désormais établis dans le gliome [471], le mélanome [461], la thyroïde [25, 28, 488] et le carcinome du sein [489, 490], peu de choses sont connues sur le rôle de LRP-1 dans le développement et la progression du CCR. Des études antérieures ont montré une diminution de l'expression de LRP-1 dans les cellules de CCR [491, 492]. Une étude clinique récente de notre équipe a montré que l'expression de LRP-1 était significativement plus faible dans les cellules de CCR que dans les cellules épithéliales du tissu colique normal [29]. De plus, des mutations de LRP-1 ont été rapportées chez des patients atteints de métastases hépatiques [493].

Le collagène de type I est la protéine matricielle la plus abondante du microenvironnement cellulaire dans de nombreux tissus et joue un rôle crucial dans la progression tumorale de plusieurs tumeurs solides, en particulier du CCR [494]. Cette protéine est sur-exprimée dans le CCR et y présente généralement une densité importante ainsi qu'une topologie associée à une agressivité tumorale [495]. Deux types de récepteurs membranaires peuvent interagir avec le collagène de type I, les hétérodimères de l'intégrine  $\beta$ 1 et les récepteurs à domaine discoïdine (DDR). Quatre hétérodimères d'intégrine,  $\alpha$ 1 $\beta$ 1,  $\alpha$ 2 $\beta$ 1,  $\alpha$ 10 $\beta$ 1 et  $\alpha$ 11 $\beta$ 1 sont activés par le

collagène de type I et ont un impact sur la progression de tumorale [496, 497]. DDR1 et DDR2 sont les seuls récepteurs du collagène de type I possédant une fonction tyrosine kinase [263, 300, 498]. L'activation de DDR1 et DDR2 est relativement lente et soutenue par rapport aux récepteurs à fonction tyrosine kinase classiques [259, 499]. L'expression de DDR1 a été associée à une augmentation de l'agressivité de nombreuses tumeurs humaines [296, 305, 306, 500]. Le rôle de DDR1 dans la régulation de la prolifération des cellules tumorales et de l'apoptose reste cependant controversé. Dans le cancer du sein, DDR1 semble être associé fonctionnellement au récepteur dit *insulin-like growth factor-1 receptor* (IGFR) pour stimuler la prolifération cellulaire [305]. Dans les cellules cancéreuses de poumon, il a été montré que l'inhibition de DDR1 diminue la prolifération cellulaire [306]. Cependant, d'autres études ont montré que DDR1 inhibe la prolifération cellulaire et induit l'apoptose dans les cellules de carcinome mammaire [9, 16, 310].

Dans le cas du CCR, des études récentes ont montré que le nilotinib, un inhibiteur spécifique de DDR1, induit une diminution du pouvoir invasif des cellules de CCR ainsi que les métastases *in vivo* [12]. Ces travaux ont été effectués sur des cellules de CCR présentant un phénotype invasif. Concernant les cellules non invasives de type carcinome épithélial, une étude précédente a montré un effet inhibiteur de la prolifération cellulaire des cellules de CCR dans une matrice 3D. Cependant, le rôle de DDR1 dans un tel processus n'a pas encore été établi [32].

Dans ce travail, nous avons étudié si LRP-1, grâce à sa fonction d'endocytose, peut réguler l'expression de DDR1 au niveau de la membrane plasmique et moduler le pouvoir de DDR1 en tant que suppresseur de la prolifération cellulaire. Nos données démontrent pour la première fois que LRP-1 peut induire une endocytose de DDR1 dans des cellules de CCR non invasives, diminuant ainsi la capacité de l'axe collagène de type I / DDR1 à inhiber la prolifération des cellules tumorales et à induire l'apoptose.

#### **Résultats et discussion**

Dans un premier temps, et parmi plusieurs lignées cellulaires de carcinome colique, les cellules HT-29 et LS174T, ont été sélectionnées pour leur niveau d'expression de LRP-1 et DDR1. La prolifération des cellules HT-29 et LS174T a été étudiée en matrice 3D et en dépôt 2D de collagène de type I, en présence ou en absence de RAP (*Receptor Associated Protein*), un antagoniste de LRP-1, ou d'un anticorps bloquant spécifique de LRP-1 (R2629). Nos résultats montrent que l'inhibition de LRP-1 entraîne une diminution de la prolifération des cellules cancéreuses d'environ 50%, mais uniquement lorsque les cellules sont cultivées en

matrice 3D de collagène de type I. Afin de confirmer ces données, l'expression de LRP-1 a été invalidée dans les cellules HT-29 grâce à une stratégie d'interférence ARN qui a permis une diminution de l'expression de LRP-1 supérieure à 90%. La prolifération des cellules HT-29 invalidées pour LRP-1 est diminuée d'environ 50% en matrice 3D de collagène de type I alors qu'aucune diminution de la prolifération n'a été observée en 2D, par comparaison avec des cellules infectées avec un shRNA témoin. L'ensemble de ces résultats montre que LRP-1 soutient la prolifération des cellules de cancer colorectal et que cet effet ne se produit que dans un environnement 3D incluant le collagène de type I.

Nous avons alors émis l'hypothèse que LRP-1 pourrait interagir avec DDR1, un des récepteurs clé du collagène de type I, pour exercer ses effets sur la prolifération. L'inhibition de l'endocytose médiée par LRP1 *via* l'antagoniste RAP provoque une augmentation de la présence de DDR1 à la surface des cellules d'environ 50%. D'autre part, des expériences d'endocytose ont permis de démontrer que l'inhibition de LRP-1 diminue de 40% l'internalisation de DDR1. Ces résultats semblent indiquer que LRP-1 pourrait réguler par endocytose la présence de DDR1 au niveau membranaire et ainsi modifier les fonctionnalités de ce récepteur. LRP-1 est connu pour posséder de très nombreux ligands, plus d'une quarantaine ont à l'heure actuelle été répertoriés, mais il peut également, par l'intermédiaire de ceux-ci interagir de manière indirecte avec de nombreuses autres protéines. C'est pourquoi, nous avons décidé de déterminer si LRP-1 et DDR1 étaient suffisamment proches pour interagir et co-exister au sein d'un même complexe protéique. Pour cela, des expériences de co-immunoprécipitation ont été réalisées. Nos résultats montrent que DDR1 co-immunoprécipite avec LRP-1 et inversement, ce qui confirme notre hypothèse de départ.

Des données précédentes ont montré que la prolifération de cellules cancéreuses est inhibée par le collagène de type I dans des cellules cancéreuses mammaires, et ce de manière dépendante de l'activation de DDR1 par le collagène [9, 310]. Etant donné que LRP-1 régule la prolifération cellulaire des cellules HT-29 et l'endocytose des récepteurs DDR1 uniquement en matrice 3D de collagène de type I, nous avons proposé l'hypothèse selon laquelle le niveau d'expression de DDR1 à la membrane plasmique pourrait constituer un paramètre clé du contrôle de la croissance et de la survie des cellules cancéreuses du côlon. Afin de la vérifier, une stratégie de surexpression de DDR1 dans les cellules HT-29 a été adoptée et a permis de montrer que l'augmentation de l'expression de DDR1 dans les cellules HT-29 en matrice 3D de collagène de type I diminuait la prolifération des cellules d'environ 40% par rapport aux cellules sauvages. D'autre part, l'inhibition de LRP-1, soit par RAP soit par l'anticorps R2629, réduit la prolifération des cellules HT-29 surexprimant DDR1 d'environ 60%. De plus,

l'inhibition pharmacologique de l'activation de DDR1 par un agent pharmacologique, le nilotinib, induit une augmentation de la prolifération des cellules HT-29 surexprimant DDR1.

Afin de mieux caractériser le rôle de LRP-1 dans la régulation de la prolifération cellulaire des cellules HT-29, une étude du cycle cellulaire a été effectuée sur des cellules HT-29 traitées ou non par RAP ou R2629. L'ensemble des données montrent que l'inhibition de LRP-1 entraine une augmentation du nombre de cellules en phase G1, suggérant ainsi un arrêt du cycle cellulaire. L'inhibition de la prolifération des cellules de carcinome mammaire induite par les matrices 3D de collagène de type I a précédemment été attribuée à une forte induction de l'apoptose induite par DDR1 [9, 310]. Une étude de l'apoptose a donc été effectuée par marquage à l'Annexine V puis analyse par cytométrie en flux. L'inhibition de LRP-1 par RAP induit une forte augmentation de l'apoptose des cellules HT-29. De plus, la surexpression de DDR1 dans les cellules HT-29 augmente la quantité de cellules apoptotiques par rapport aux cellules contrôles.

## **Original article**

#### LRP-1 promotes colon cancer cell proliferation in 3D collagen matrices by mediating DDR1 endocytosis

Cao Cuong Le<sup>1, 2, 3</sup>, Amar Bennasroune<sup>1, 2</sup>, Guillaume Collin<sup>1, 3</sup>, Cathy Hachet<sup>1, 2</sup>, Véronique Lehrter<sup>1, 3</sup>, Damien Rioult<sup>4</sup>, Stéphane Dedieu<sup>1, 2, #</sup>, Hamid Morjani<sup>1,3, #</sup>, Aline Appert-Collin<sup>1, 2, #</sup>

1. Université de Reims Champagne-Ardenne, Reims, France.

2. CNRS UMR 7369, Matrice Extracellulaire et Dynamique Cellulaire, MEDyC, Reims, France.

3. Unité BioSpecT, EA7506, Reims, France.

4. Plateau technique mobile de cytométrie environnementale MOBICYTE, URCA/INERIS, Reims Champagne-Ardenne University (URCA), Campus Moulin de la Housse, 51687, Reims, France.

# These authors contributed equally to this work.

\* Correspondence: Dr. Aline Appert-Collin

aline.bennasroune@univ-reims.fr

#### Abstract

Low density lipoprotein receptor related protein-1 (LRP-1) is a large ubiquitous endocytic receptor mediating the clearance of various molecules from the extracellular matrix. Several studies have shown that LRP-1 plays crucial roles during tumorigenesis functioning as a main signal pathway regulator, especially by interacting with other cell-surface receptors. Discoïdin Domain Receptors (DDRs), type I collagen receptors with tyrosine kinase activity, have previously been associated with tumor invasion and aggressiveness in diverse tumor environments. Here, we addressed whether it could exist functional interplays between LRP-1 and DDR1 to control colon carcinoma cell behavior in three-dimensional (3D) collagen matrices. We found that LRP-1 established tight molecular connections with DDR1 at the plasma membrane in colon cancer cells. In this tumor context, we provide evidence that LRP-1 regulates by endocytosis the cell surface levels of DDR1 expression. The LRP-1 mediated endocytosis of DDR1 increased cell proliferation by promoting cell cycle progression into S phase and decreasing apoptosis. In this study, we identified a new molecular way that controls the cell-surface expression of DDR1 and consequently the colon carcinoma cell proliferation and apoptosis and highlighted an additional mechanism by which LRP-1 carries out its sensor activity of the tumor microenvironment.

#### Keywords

LRP-1, DDR1, colon cancer cell, proliferation, 3D collagen matrix

#### Introduction

The low-density lipoprotein (LDL) receptor-related protein (LRP) superfamily contains twelve transmembrane proteins participating in a wide range of physiopathological processes (1, 2). Belonging to this family, LRP-1 is widely expressed in a large variety of tissues and exhibits functionalities in controlling key biological processes such as pericellular protease activities and extracellular matrix (ECM) function. This protein consists of a large functional endocytic receptor firstly synthesized as a 600-kDa precursor cleaved to an extracellular ligand-binding subunit of 515 kDa and a transmembrane 85 kDa part containing a 100 amino acids cytosolic tail. LRP-1-mediated endocytosis is tightly coupled to regulation of signaling pathways (3-5). LRP-1 can indeed regulates mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK) as well as the survivalassociated PI3K/Akt signaling pathway (6-8). LRP-1-dependent endocytosis and signalingrelated events have been shown to play critical roles in severe pathologies including both Parkinson's and Alzheimer's diseases, metabolism dysfunction and cancer. Regarding tumor growth and metastasis, the molecular contribution of LRP-1 remains misunderstood and be highly dependent of the tumor microenvironment. Although LRP-1 expression and its role in cancer hallmarks are now well referenced in glioma (9), melanoma (10), thyroid (11-13), and breast carcinoma (14, 15), little is known about LRP-1 functionalities in colorectal carcinoma (CRC). LRP-1B, a member of LDL-R family highly homologous to LRP-1, is downregulated in the colon cancer tissues and inhibits the growth, migration and metastasis of colon cancer cells (16). Previous studies based on few colon adenocarcinoma samples have shown a frequent loss of LRP-1 immunohistochemical expression in adenocarcinomatous cells (17, 18). A recent clinical study from our team demonstrated that LRP-1 expression was significantly lower in colon adenocarcinoma cells compared to colon epithelial cells and stromal cells and that this decrease in LRP-1 expression is associated with worse patient outcomes (19). Moreover, LRP-1 mutations have been reported in patients with liver metastasis (20). In the light of these data, the role of LRP-1 in CRC remains poorly understood and deserves to be further studied, especially to gain molecular insights.

Type I collagen is one of the main components of the cellular microenvironment in many mammalian tissues and plays a crucial role in tumor progression in several solid tumors, particularly in CRC (21). This protein is highly expressed in CRC with infiltrative growth phenotype (22). Two cellular groups of membrane receptors can interact with type I collagen, β1 integrin heterodimers and discoidin domain receptors (DDRs). DDR1 and DDR2 are the only receptors of collagen harboring a tyrosine kinase function (23-25). Upon collagen binding, activation of DDR1 and DDR2 are associated with a slow and sustained self-phosphorylation in comparison to other tyrosine kinase receptors (26, 27). Indeed, tyrosine residues of DDR receptors are phosphorylated after two hours and can be maintained for several hours. DDR1 expression has been associated with an increase in tumor invasion and aggressiveness of many human tumors, including esophageal cancer (28), gastric cancer (29), glioma (30), breast cancer (31), and lung cancer (32). The role of DDR1 in the regulation of tumor cell proliferation and apoptosis remains poorly documented and somewhat controversial. In breast cancer, DDR1 activates the insulin-like growth factor I receptor (IGF-IR) to support several IGF-IR-mediated biological responses such as cell proliferation (31). In lung cancer cells, DDR1 knockdown has been reported to decrease ERK and Akt phosphorylation leading to a downregulation of cell proliferation (32). However, other studies have demonstrated that, in breast carcinomas, DDR1 promotes apoptosis through induction of pro-apoptotic protein BIK1 (33-35). In the case of CRC, recent studies have shown that nilotinib, a specific inhibitor of DDR1 phosphorylation, strongly reduced DDR1-mediated CRC cell invasion and metastasis in mouse models (36), and that the use of antibody-drug conjugates targeting DDR1 exhibits antitumor effects in a mouse model of CRC (37). These works have been carried out on CRC cells harboring invasive-like phenotype. Concerning the non-invasive epithelial-like carcinoma cells, a previous study reported a down-regulation of cell proliferation using 3D matrix, but the role of DDR1 in such a process was not explored (38).

In the present work, we investigated whether LRP-1 may control DDR1 expression at the plasma membrane in non-invasive CRC and influence its ability to regulate tumor cell proliferation upon its activation by type I collagen. Our data demonstrate for the first time that LRP-1 can induce endocytosis of DDR1 in CRC, thus decreasing the ability of the 3D collagen matrix/DDR1 axis to inhibit tumor cell proliferation.

#### Materials and methods

#### **Cell lines**

LS174T (Duke's type B) and HT-29 CRC cell lines were purchased from American Type Culture Collection (ATCC, Rockville, MD, USA). LS174T cells and HT-29 cells were grown in Eagle's Minimum Essential Medium (EMEM) (ATCC 30-2003) or in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) with high glucose (4.5 g/L) (Thermo scientific) respectively. Culture media were supplemented with 10% (v/v) fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Dutscher, France) and 1% penicillin-streptomycin (v/v, Invitrogen, Cergy-Pontoise, France). Cultures were maintained at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere containing 5% CO2 (v/v). Cells were routinely passaged at preconfluency using 0.05% trypsin, 0.53 mM EDTA (Invitrogen, 25300) and screened for the absence of mycoplasma using PCR methods.

#### Vectors, transfection and infection.

DDR1-GFP overexpression was performed using pLVX-CMV-DDR1-GFP construct which was a generous gift from Frederic Saltel (INSERM, UMR1053, BaRITOn Bordeaux Research in Translational Oncology, Bordeaux, France). DDR1-GFP lentiviral particles were generated by transient co-transfection of 293T with pCMV  $\Delta$ R8.91 (gag-pol) and phCMVG-VSVG (env) expression constructs using the FuGene 6 transfection reagent (Promega) according to manufacturer's recommendations. Three days after transfection, the supernatant containing lentiviruses was collected, filtered through 0.45 µm filter, mixed with fresh medium (1 of 4) and hexadimethrine bromide at 8 µg/ml (Sigma) and used to infect HT-29 recipient cells. GFP control cells were processed in the same way. Infected cells were selected using puromycin (Invitrogen) at 3 µg/ml. LRP1 knock-down was achieved using shRNA sequences previously described (39) that were purchased from Sigma. shRNA LRP1 lentiviral particles were produced in 293T cells using FuGene 6 transfection reagent (Promega) and used to infect HT-29 recipient cHT-29 recipient cells as described above. HT-29 cells expressing control shRNA were generated in the same way. Infected cells were selected using puromycin (Invitrogen) at 3 µg/ml.

#### 2D and 3D cell culture

Fibrillar native type I collagen was extracted from tail tendons of 2-month-old rats and prepared as already described (40). For 2D cell cultures, each well was coated with 5  $\mu$ g/cm<sup>2</sup> of collagen solubilized in 0.018 M acetic acid. Coated substrates were dried overnight at room temperature (RT) under sterile conditions. Thereafter, wells were washed two times with PBS (Invitrogen) before cell plating. In cell proliferation studies, cells were seeded on the coated surfaces at a density of 15 x 10<sup>3</sup> cells/well or 5 x 10<sup>3</sup> cells/0.33 cm<sup>2</sup> (24 well plates). In other studies, cell density was adjusted depending on the confluence. For 3D culture, cells were seeded at a final density of 15 x 10<sup>3</sup> cells/mL. For that, 3 × 10<sup>4</sup> cells were resuspended in 100 µl of FBS and mixed with a solution containing 100 µl of 10X DMEM culture medium for HT-29 cells or

EMEM for LS174T cells, 100 µl NaHCO3 (0.44 M), 90 µl NaOH 0.1 M, 10 µl sodium pyruvate, 10 µL Ampicillin + Streptomycin, (and 10 µl glutamine 200 mM for MEM culture medium), the premix is adjusted to 500 µl with sterile ultrapure water. After that, the mix containing cells is gently homogenized with 500 µl of collagen 3 mg/ml to finalize the collagen-based medium. Then, 1 ml/well of this pre-solidified medium was deposited in 24-well plates, and collagen gel solidification was performed at 37°C during 30 min. Finally, 1 ml of complete culture medium was added on top of each gel and the plates were incubated at 37°C. Covering medium is changed every 2 days. After 3 or 5 days, the covering medium was removed, and gels were digested with 2 mg/ml collagenase P (Roche). Viable cells were determined by phase contrast microscopy using Kova Glasstic Slides (Kova International Inc, Garden Grove, CA, USA).

#### Antibodies and recombinant proteins

Anti-LRP1  $\beta$ -chain antibody (clone EPR3724) was purchased from Abcam (Cambridge, UK). Rabbit monoclonal antibodies against DDR1 (D1G6), phospho-DDR1 (Tyr792, 4G10), GFP (D5.1) and GAPDH (14C10) were purchased from cell signaling. IgGs used as a negative control for immunoprecipitation was purchased from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Heidelberg, Germany). Blocking LRP-1 polyclonal antibody (R2629) was a generous gift from Dr. D.K. Strickland (Department of Surgery, University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA) (41). Histidine-tagged RAP was purified as previously described (39).

#### **RNA** isolation and qPCR

Total mRNAs were extracted using TRIzol reagent (Thermofisher), isolated from other cellular materials by chloroform/isoamyl alcohol (24:1) precipitation before centrifugation (12,000  $\times$ g, 4°C, 15 min), as described previously (12). 250 ng total mRNAs were reverse-transcribed using VERSO cDNA kit (Thermofisher) according to the manufacturer instructions. Real-time PCR was then performed using an Absolute SYBR Green Rox mix (Thermofisher) and a CFX 96 real time PCR detection system (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA). The cycle threshold (Ct) values were recorded using Bio-Rad CFX Manager 3.0 software (Bio-Rad) (42). PCR primers were synthesized by Eurogentec (Liege, Belgium) as follow (5'-3'): for LRP1: GCTATCGACGCCCCTAAGAC and CGCCAGCCCTTTGAGATACA; DDR1: for TGCTCTCCAATCCAGCCTAC and ATTATGCCGAGGCTGACATT: for **RS18**: GCAGAATCCACGCCAGTACAA and GCCAGTGGTCTTGGTGTGCT; for **RPL32**: CATTGGTTATGGAAGCAACAAA and TTCTTGGAGGAAACATTGTGAG.

#### Total protein extraction and immunoblotting

Cells were seeded in 3D type I collagen matrix for 5 days, then were harvested from digested matrices using collagenase P (2 mg/ml), washed twice with PBS, and lysed. The cells were then pelleted by centrifuging at 1000 rpm for 5 min. Whole-cell extracts were lysed in RIPA buffer (Thermofisher), sonicated and then incubated on ice. Cell lysates were collected after a centrifugation at 14000 rpm and 4°C for 15 min. Protein concentration was quantified by BCA assay (Thermofisher). Proteins were separated by sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) and transferred onto a nitrocellulose membrane (Amersham Biosciences, Little Chalfont, UK). Membranes were blocked with 5% skimmed milk (m/v) in Tris buffered saline (0.02 M Tris-HCl, 0.137 M NaCl, pH 7.4), supplemented with 1% Tween 20 (v/v) at RT for 1 hour. Blocked membranes were incubated with antibodies against LRP-1  $\beta$ -chain (EPR3724), DDR1 (D1G6) and GAPDH (14C10) overnight at 4°C under gentle agitation. Finally, membranes were incubated with corresponding peroxidase conjugated secondary antibody at RT. Chemiluminescent reactions were revealed by using ECL Prime Kit

(GE Healthcare, Orsay, France), signal was detected by the Odyssey-FC system (Licor, Lincoln, NE, USA).

#### Cell surface protein isolation

The cells were treated with or without 500 nM RAP for 1 hour, washed twice with PBS before suffering a biotinylation with 0.5  $\mu$ g/mL of EZ-Link sulfo-NHS-LC-biotin (Thermofisher) in cold PBS. After 3 washes, biotinylated cells were incubated with 100 mM glycine at 4°C during 30 min to limit nonspecific binding. Cells were washed three times with PBS before protein extraction. Cells were scrapped in cold lysis buffer (10 mM Tris HCl, pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl, 2 mM Na3VO4, 5 mM EDTA, 1% Triton X-100, supplemented with protease inhibitor cocktail), followed by a quick sonication on ice. Cell extracts were pelleted at 10,000 g (20 min, 4°C) before protein quantification. Solubilized biotinylated proteins (200  $\mu$ g) were then affinity purified using 40  $\mu$ L of streptavidin-agarose beads (GE Healthcare), overnight at 4°C under gentle agitation. After washes with lysis buffer, Laemmli buffer was added and samples were heated at 100°C for 5 min and resolved by SDS-PAGE followed by immunoblotting analysis.

#### Endocytosis assay

Endocytosis assays were adjusted from validated method previously described (12). Cellsurface proteins were labeled using 0.5  $\mu$ g/mL of EZ-Link sulfo-NHS-LC-biotin (Thermofisher) in cold PBS at 4°C for 30 min. After washes with PBS, cells were incubated with 100 mM glycine at 4°C for 15 min. Nonspecific binding and free biotin were discarded by warm PBS washes before addition of warm medium supplemented with 10% FBS. Cells were treated with 500 nM RAP at 37°C for 1 hour to antagonize endocytosis function of LRP-1. Cells were then quickly placed on ice to block internalization activities. After 3 washes with PBS, cells were incubated with 50 mM glutathione in cold buffer (75 mM NaCl, 75 mM NaOH, 1 mM MgCl2, 0.1 mM CaCl2, 10 mM EDTA, pH 8.6) at 4°C for 30 min to remove remaining biotin at the cell surface. To evaluate the total amount of surface biotinylation, one culture dish was kept on ice after biotin labeling and preserved from glutathione treatment. Whole-cells extracts were prepared as described above. Internalized DDR1 was determined from 350 µg of cell lysate by adding 40 µL of streptavidin-agarose beads (GE Healthcare), incubating overnight at 4°C under gentle agitation and using DDR1 antibody through immunoblotting, as described above.

#### Immunoprecipitation

Whole cell extracts from HT-29<sup>*DDR1-GFP*</sup> were performed as described in a previous study (12). Whole cell lysates were subjected to immunoprecipitation using anti-LRP-1 (EPR3724), anti-DDR1 (D1D6) antibodies or nonspecific IgGs at 4°C for 12 h, bound to protein G sepharose beads (GE Healthcare) at 4°C for 2 h and finally washed 3 times with cold lysis buffer followed by a protein denaturation step at 100°C for 5 min. After that, the samples were centrifuged at 10000 rpm for 1 min, supernatants were then subjected to a western blot analysis using anti-LRP-1  $\beta$ -chain (clone EFR3724), anti-DDR1 (D1D6) and anti-GFP antibodies.

#### DDR1 phosphorylation analysis

HT-29 and HT-29 overexpressing DDR1-GFP (HT-29<sup>DDR1-GFP</sup>) cells were cultured in 3D type I collagen matrices with or without 50 nM nilotinib treatment for 16 h. Matrices were digested before undergoing a standard procedure for total protein extraction in 3D (40). Then, 300  $\mu$ g of whole-cell extracts were immunoprecipitated with anti-DDR1 (D1D6), as described above. The proteins were separated by SDS-PAGE and the immunoprecipitates were blotted with anti-

phosphotyrosine antibody, clone 4G10 (Millipore, 05-321). The blots were then stripped using a stripping buffer (200 mM glycine, 1% SDS, 0.02% sodium azide, pH 2.5) and re-probed with anti-DDR1 antibody.

#### Cell cycle

Double thymidine block procedure was adapted from an established protocol (43). Specifically, HT-29 and HT-29<sup>*DDR1-GFP*</sup> cells were cultured in medium supplemented with 2 mM thymidine for 18 h then switched to thymidine-free medium for 9 h. After 2 washes with PBS, cells were cultured again in medium supplemented with 2 mM thymidine for 15 h. Cells were released by washing twice with PBS before trypsinization. The synchronized cells were then seeded into 3D type I collagen matrices with or without 1  $\mu$ M RAP treatment for 24 h. Collagen matrices were further digested to harvest cultured cells. Lastly, cells were washed twice with PBS and stained with nuclear isolation medium-4,6-diamidino-2-phenylindole dihydrochloride named NIM-DAPI (NPE Systems, Pembroke Pines, FL) at RT for 5 min. The samples were analyzed with an Accuri-C6 Special Order Product (BD Bioscience) by acquisition of 20000 events. Analysis was performed with an excitation wavelength of 375 nm and fluorescence detection at 427 ± 10 nm.

#### Apoptosis assay

HT-29 and HT-29<sup>DDR1-GFP</sup> cells were cultured in 3D type I collagen matrices with or without 1  $\mu$ M RAP treatment for 3 days. The culture medium was replaced every 2 days by fresh complete DMEM medium with or without 1  $\mu$ M RAP. After 5 days, cells were harvested as described above. Harvested cells were washed with PBS before suffering a quick trypsinization. The single cells were then incubated with Annexin V-iFluor 647 Apoptosis solution (Abcam, UK), supplemented with propidium iodide (Sigma-Aldrich). The incubation was carried out at RT for 30 min. Apoptosis assays were performed using flow cytometer, FL4 channel (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA, USA).

#### Immunofluorescence

HT-29<sup>DDR1-GFP</sup> cells were seeded onto collagen-coated glass slides for 48 h at 37°C and then fixed in PBS containing 4% paraformaldehyde for 15 min at RT. After three washes with PBS, cells were incubated for 30 min in PBS containing 1% bovine serum albumin and then incubated overnight at 4°C with GFP primary antibodies. Then, after 5 washes with PBS, cells were incubated with secondary antibodies conjugated to Alexa Fluor 488 (1/1000) during 1 h at RT. DAPI was added during washes. Slides were incubated with mounting medium. Immunofluorescence-labeled cell preparations were analyzed using a Zeiss LSM 710 confocal laser scanning microscope with the 63×0il-immersion objective Zeiss operating system (Carl Zeiss MicroImaging GmbH, Deutschland).

#### Data analysis

All statistical results were analyzed from at least three independent experiments. Data were represented as the standard deviation (SD) using Graphpad Prism software. Student's t-test and ANOVA test were used for statistical analysis. Immunoblotting images were analyzed by ImageJ software.

#### Results

LRP-1 inhibition decreases colon carcinoma cell proliferation only in 3D collagen matrices.

To study the involvement of LRP-1 and DDR1 in the regulation of colon tumor cell proliferation by 3D collagen matrix, the endogenous expression level of LRP-1 and DDR1 was analyzed by both RT-qPCR and immunoblotting in LS174T and HT-29 cells (Fig. 1). Results showed that the expression of the two receptors at the mRNA and protein levels in HT-29 cells are higher than in LS174T cells.

We then examined the effect of LRP-1 inhibition on HT-29 and LS174T cell proliferation in 2D and in 3D collagen matrices. For this purpose, we compared the cell proliferation after 5 days of culture in the presence or absence of RAP (receptor associated protein), the LRP-1 antagonist, or its blocking antibody (R2629). As shown in Figs. 2A and 2B, in both cell lines, treatment by RAP or R2629 did not modify cell proliferation in 2D collagen coating. By contrast, 3D-cell proliferation was decreased by about 50% in each cell line when using RAP or R2629 treatment. To focus on the role of LRP-1 in the regulation of cell proliferation in 3D collagen matrices, an RNA interference strategy against LRP-1 was performed in HT-29 cells. Two different cell lines that stably overexpressed a specific shRNA for LRP-1 (shLRP-1<sub>(a)</sub> and shLRP-1<sub>(b)</sub>) were selected, and a control cell line was established after infection with control shRNA (shCTRL). The endogenous level of LRP-1 was assessed by both RT-qPCR and immunoblotting (Fig. 2C, left panel). As expected, infection with lentiviruses expressing shCTRL had no effect on the LRP-1 expression level while LRP-1-specific shRNA was able to efficiently knock-down the expression of LRP-1 at the mRNA level (data not shown) as well as at the protein level by about 90%. The same inhibition was observed for both shLRP-1 cell lines (Fig. 2C, left panel). As shown in Fig. 2C (right panel), proliferation of LRP-1-silenced cancer cells was decreased by about 50% in 3D collagen matrices, whereas no effect of LRP-1 silencing was observed in 2D (data not shown). Taken together, these data indicate that LRP-1 sustains colon cancer cell proliferation, and that this process occurs only in a 3D collagen environment.

#### LRP-1 and DDR1 coexist within the same molecular complexes.

Since LRP-1 had a positive effect on cell proliferation only in 3D collagen environment by LRP-1, we hypothesized that LRP-1 could interact with DDR1, one of the key collagen membrane receptors, to induce its endocytosis. To validate this hypothesis, we first evaluated whether LRP-1 may influence the DDR1 amount at the plasma membrane of HT-29 cells. After cell-surface protein labeling with the membrane-impermeable biotinylation reagent sulfo-NHS-LC-biotin, biotinylated proteins were selectively recovered from cell extracts by streptavidin affinity precipitation, and DDR1 was detected in the affinity precipitates by immunoblot analysis. After RAP treatment, DDR1 was found to accumulate at the plasma membrane fraction (Fig. 3A), suggesting that LRP-1 mediates DDR1 internalization. Thus, we investigated DDR1 uptake by using a previously validated endocytosis assay (12). This method requires labeling of cell surface proteins using the non-membrane permeating sulfo-NHS-LCbiotin at 4°C, then moving to a permissive temperature for endocytosis (37°C). Cell surface protein biotinylation as well as efficiency of biotin stripping with glutathione were controlled (Fig. 3B, left panel). As shown in Fig. 3B (right panel), DDR1 internalization was decreased by about 40% when LRP-1-mediated endocytosis was antagonized by RAP treatment. To test whether LRP-1 and DDR1 may participate in a common biomolecular complex, coimmunoprecipitation experiments were carried out in DDR1 overexpressing HT-29 cells (HT-29<sup>DDR1-GFP</sup>). As shown in Fig. 3C, HT-29<sup>DDR1-GFP</sup> expressed a high level of recombinant DDR1-GFP. Our data clearly demonstrated that DDR1 was coimmunoprecipitated with LRP-1 (Fig. 3D). Reverse immunoprecipitation experiments with anti-DDR1 were also performed using the same cell lysates. The data presented in Fig. 3E confirmed that LRP-1 and DDR1 were detected in the same molecular complexes in colon carcinomas.

#### LRP-1 promotes HT-29 proliferation in a DDR1 dependent fashion.

Previous reports demonstrated that cancer cell growth was downregulated by 3D type I collagen matrix in epithelial-like breast carcinoma cells and that this was dependent on activation of DDR1 by collagen (33, 34). Considering that LRP-1 induced HT29 cell proliferation in 3D collagen matrices (Fig. 2) and drives endocytosis of DDR1 (Fig. 3), we assume that the cell-surface expression level of DDR1 may constitute a key parameter to control growth and survival of colon cancer cells. To address this hypothesis, we compared the cell proliferation of HT-29<sup>DDR1-GFP</sup> and control counterparts. As expected, overexpression of DDR1 led to decreased cell proliferation in collagen 3D matrices by about 40%, compared to control cells (Fig. 4A). Furthermore, cell proliferation in collagen 3D matrices was decreased by about 60% under RAP or R2629 antibody treatments in HT-29 cells overexpressing DDR1-GFP (Fig. 4B). Interestingly, the proliferative inhibition under LRP-1 antagonization was more important when DDR1 was overexpressed.

#### DDR1 activity is necessary to induce cell proliferation in HT-29<sup>DDR1-GFP</sup> cells.

We then evaluated the effect of the inhibition of DDR1 kinase activity on cell proliferation using the pharmacological inhibitor nilotinib, in both control (Fig. 4C) and HT-29<sup>DDR1-GFP</sup> (Fig. 4D) cells. Nilotinib treatment had no effect on cell proliferation in control cells (Fig. 4C, right panel) whereas carcinoma cell proliferation in DDR1-overexpressing cells was increased after nilotinib treatment (Fig. 4D, right panel). Consistently, DDR1 phosphorylation was drastically inhibited upon nilotinib treatment in HT-29<sup>DDR1-GFP</sup> cells (Fig. 4D, left panel).

#### LRP-1 inhibition induces cells cycle arrest in the G0/G1 phase.

To further characterize the role of LRP-1 in the regulation of cancer cell proliferation, we investigated whether RAP treatment affects the cell cycle of HT-29 colon carcinomas. First, HT-29 and HT-29<sup>*DDR1-GFP*</sup> cells were synchronized in G0/G1-phase by double thymidine blocking. The cells were then seeded in 3D collagen matrix to allow their re-entry into the cell cycle. The results of flow cytometric analysis revealed that HT-29 cells treated by RAP displayed an increased cell proportion in G1-phase (35% vs 19%) and a decreased cell proportion in (S+G2-M)-phase (60% vs 75%), compared to non-treated cells (Fig. 5A). Moreover, the effect of RAP treatment on G1 and (S+G2-M)-phases was higher in HT-29<sup>*DDR1-GFP*</sup> (54% and 48%, respectively) (Fig. 5B). To confirm whether LRP-1 inhibition affects the G1/S transition, HT-29 and HT-29<sup>*DDR1-GFP*</sup> were treated with the R2629 blocking antibody (Figs. 5C and 5D). R2629 treatment has confirmed the obtained data wherein cells were treated with RAP. In fact, R2629-treated cells displayed also an increase in the proportion of cells in G1-phase and a decrease in S-phase cell population, compared to non-treated cells (Figs. 5C and 5D).

#### LRP-1 counteracts the DDR1-dependant promotion of apoptosis in colon carcinomas.

The inhibition of breast cancer cell growth induced by type I collagen 3D matrices has been previously attributed to a strong DDR1-dependent induced apoptosis (33, 34). To evaluate whether type I collagen/DDR1 axis can induce apoptosis in colon carcinoma, the apoptosis assay was performed using Annexin V staining and flow cytometry. As shown in Figs. 6A and 6B, LRP-1 antagonization by RAP resulted in an increase in the proportion of apoptotic and necrotic cells in 3D collagen environment. Interestingly, this effect was higher in HT-29<sup>DDR1-GFP</sup> cells (15,0% of apoptotic cells), compared to HT-29 cells (5,9% of apoptotic cells). The ability of DDR1 to increase apoptosis of colon carcinomas was confirmed in Fig. 6C. These results were corroborated by immunofluorescence experiments. As shown in Fig. 6D, the assay

consistently shown the increased presence of nuclear condensation and DNA fragmentation upon LRP-1 inhibition.

#### Discussion

The findings of this study have highlighted the first ever molecular association between LRP-1 and DDR1 in colon carcinoma. Indeed, we showed that the endocytic receptor LRP-1 established tight molecular connections with DDR1 at the plasma membrane of colon cancer cells. In this tumor context, we provide evidence that LRP-1 promotes cell proliferation through regulating the levels of membrane DDR1 in 3D collagen matrices. The LRP-1 mediated endocytosis of DDR1 supports colon carcinoma cell proliferation by promoting the entry of cell cycle to the S phase and decreasing apoptosis.

LRP-1 is considered as a key integrator of signals from the ECM and a multifunctional regulator of cancer-related events. Its overall function remains nevertheless extremely complex to decipher especially because the deregulation degree of its expression is highly variable depending on the type of tumors and the stage of cancer progression. In malignant diseases, the current trend seems to correlate LRP-1 overexpression with poor prognostic, increased cell proliferation, invasiveness and tumor recurrence (14, 44, 45). To date, few studies have examined the contribution of LRP-1 in the field of CRC despite obvious clinical interest. We have recently highlighted that low LRP-1 immunohistochemistry score in malignant colon adenocarcinoma cells is a strong prognosis marker (19). We especially reported that in patients with metastases, LRP-1 expression predicts a shorter overall survival, especially when patients were treated by anti-VEGF therapies. The lower expression of LRP-1 in malignant cells is partly explained by LRP-1 gene mutation through the hypermutator type of CRC. In the present study conducted using relevant 3D collagen matrices, we showed in a surprising way that LRP-1 inhibition decreased colon carcinoma cell proliferation. Although these results seem to be conflicting with the previous data (19), it could be explained by the fact that the studied cell lines in this work are non-invasive cells. Although it is well documented that LRP-1 may activate crucial downstream signaling pathways such as Ras, c-Myc, MAPK, and Akt/PI3K, which are widely known as oncogenic pathways, especially in cell proliferation and survival processes (46), very few data have previously involved LRP-1 during cancer cell proliferation steps. Salama and collaborators reported the involvement of LRP-1:tPA pathway in promoting melanoma cell migration and proliferation (10). Their results, using loss- and gain-of-function strategy demonstrated a model wherein LRP-1 drives melanoma growth and metastases by enhancing ERK activation resulting in increased proteolytic events and in changing the cellular content within the tumor. Data from Beaujouin and colleagues also revealed that secreted procath-D binds to LRP-1 promoting human mammary fibroblast outgrowth (15).

Interestingly, our findings stressed that LRP-1 displays a pro-proliferative effect on colon cancer cells only in 3D type I collagen matrices. During tumor progression, especially after degradation of the basement membrane, type I collagen is a key component of the stroma at the invasion front of human colorectal cancer (21). In addition to its properties as a scaffold protein, type I collagen can induce different cellular signaling pathways, which regulate several functions of tumor cells (47). Accumulating evidence suggest that DDR plays a key role in cancer progression by regulating the interactions of cells with the stromal collagen (36, 48-50). Data obtained on HT-29 cells demonstrated that inhibition of LRP-1-dependent endocytosis by either RAP or R2629 antibodies led to membrane DDR1 accumulation in the same extent. We then demonstrated that LRP-1 and DDR1 are tightly associated in the same biomolecular complexes at the plasma membrane of colon carcinoma to constitute a new endocytosis complex. These results are even more interesting, as so far, little information is available

concerning the regulation of DDR1 expression at the cell membrane. It is nevertheless known that activated DDR1 undergoes aggregation followed by cytoplasmic internalization and incorporation into early endosomes (51). In mouse fibroblasts, DDR1 was reported to be internalized alone or complexed with other receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs). Indeed, IGF-I receptor can phosphorylate DDR1 in breast carcinoma thus induce co-internalization of the receptors and incorporation into early endosomes (31). Internalized RTKs can recycle back to the plasma membranes, be degraded, or undergo an endosome/Golgi/endoplasmic reticulum retrograde pathway. Interestingly, a novel mechanism whereby activated DDR1 plays a role of transcription factor has been demonstrated in injured human and mouse kidney proximal tubules (52).

Our findings showed that LRP-1 exerts its proliferative effects by down-regulating the amount of DDR1 at the plasma membrane. Indeed, by inducing the endocytosis of DDR1, LRP-1 counteracts the negative effect of DDR1 on cancer cell proliferation. Antagonization of LRP-1 by RAP or blocking antibodies indeed induced a significant cell cycle arrest in G1 phase, and this is magnified under DDR1 overexpression. Moreover, inhibition of LRP-1 by RAP treatment increases apoptosis of wild-type HT-29 cells and more importantly of HT-29<sup>DDR1-</sup> GFP. In a coherent way, overexpression of DDR1 in HT-29 cells favors cell cycle arrest and apoptosis of colon carcinoma in 3D environment. These data are consistent with those previously obtained by Erik Maquoi's group demonstrating that MCF-7 and ZR-75-1 breast carcinoma cell growth was reduced in 3D type I collagen gels, but not when the cells were plated on a 2D matrix (33, 53). Moreover, type I collagen was able to induce apoptosis in these cells. In fact, type I collagen can activate DDR1 to induce the expression of BIK, a proapoptotic member of the BCL-2 protein family, thereby triggering apoptotic cell death in these breast cancer cell lines (33). In addition, our group already demonstrated that young collagen inhibited cell proliferation and induced apoptosis when compared to the old one, due to a higher level of DDR1 phosphorylation (33, 34). Furthermore, DDR2 is able to inhibit proliferation of human melanoma and fibrosarcoma cells by inducing a growth arrest in the G0/G1 phase of the cell cycle when the cells were plated on fibrillar collagen. This process was shown to be induced through p15INK4b cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor, suggesting that this protein could be a downstream target of DDR2 signaling (54-56). Moreover, DDR2, upon activation by 3D collagen, was able to target the cell cycle by increasing the expression of the cyclindependent kinase inhibitor p21<sup>CIP1</sup> and thus inhibiting cell proliferation in a fibrosarcoma model (40). In contrast, DDR1 activation can also induce pro-survival signals (57). In colon carcinoma cells, DDR1 regulates the cleavage of Notch 1by a  $\gamma$ -secretase and the subsequent release and translocation of its intracellular domain to the nucleus to stimulate pro-survival genes (58). The collective findings suggest that DDR1 can induce survival as well as apoptosis, highly depending on experimental settings.

Finally, we identified a new molecular way that controls the cell-surface expression of DDR1 and suggested an additional role of LRP-1 as a key sensor of the tumor microenvironment.

#### Acknowledgments

We thank Dr. Frederic Saltel (INSERM U1053, Bordeaux) for the gift of the lentivirus encoding DDR1-GFP and Dr. Dudley K. Strickland (University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, Maryland, United States) for the gift of R2629 antibody.

We thank Dr. Christine Terryn from the Image Core Facility (PICT) of the University of Reims Champagne-Ardenne for its excellent technical assistance and Mrs Laurence Van-Gullick for her valuable technical assistance.

#### Author contributions

C.C.L. was responsible for the execution of experiments, data analysis and preparation of the paper. C.H., G. C., A. B. and V. L. supported the experimental work and data analysis. A.B. contributed to the interpretation of the results and the writing of the paper. A. A.-C., H. M. and S. D. designed, supervised the study and wrote the paper. All authors critically commented on and approved the final submitted version of the paper.

#### **Additional informations**

Conflict of interest: The authors declare no competing interests.

**Funding:** The work is supported by the Structure Fédérative de Recherche Cap Santé (SFR Cap Santé), Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique (CNRS), Université de Reims Champagne-Ardenne and University of Science and Technology of Hanoi (Fellowship of Cao Cuong Le).

**Data availability:** All data that support the findings of this study are included in this published article.

#### References

 Emonard H, Theret L, Bennasroune AH, Dedieu S. Regulation of LRP-1 expression: make the point. *Pathologie-biologie* (2014) 62(2):84-90. Epub 2014/03/26. doi: 10.1016/j.patbio.2014.02.002. PubMed PMID: 24661974.

2. Pohlkamp T, Wasser CR, Herz J. Functional Roles of the Interaction of APP and Lipoprotein Receptors. *Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience* (2017) 10(54). doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2017.00054.

3. Kang HS, Kim J, Lee HJ, Kwon BM, Lee DK, Hong SH. LRP1-dependent pepsin clearance induced by 2'-hydroxycinnamaldehyde attenuates breast cancer cell invasion. *The international journal of biochemistry & cell biology* (2014) 53:15-23. Epub 2014/05/07. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2014.04.021. PubMed PMID: 24796846.

4. Muratoglu SC, Mikhailenko I, Newton C, Migliorini M, Strickland DK. Low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 1 (LRP1) forms a signaling complex with platelet-derived growth factor receptor-beta in endosomes and regulates activation of the MAPK pathway. *The Journal of biological chemistry* (2010) 285(19):14308-17. Epub 2010/03/12. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.046672. PubMed PMID: 20220145; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPmc2863204.

5. Mantuano E, Lam MS, Gonias SL. LRP1 assembles unique co-receptor systems to initiate cell signaling in response to tissue-type plasminogen activator and myelin-associated glycoprotein. *The Journal of biological chemistry* (2013) 288(47):34009-18. Epub 2013/10/17. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M113.509133. PubMed PMID: 24129569; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPmc3837140.

6. Roura S, Cal R, Galvez-Monton C, Revuelta-Lopez E, Nasarre L, Badimon L, et al. Inverse relationship between raft LRP1 localization and non-raft ERK1,2/MMP9 activation in idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy: potential impact in ventricular remodeling. *International*  *journal of cardiology* (2014) 176(3):805-14. Epub 2014/08/19. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2014.07.270. PubMed PMID: 25131918.

7. Fuentealba RA, Liu Q, Kanekiyo T, Zhang J, Bu G. Low density lipoprotein receptorrelated protein 1 promotes anti-apoptotic signaling in neurons by activating Akt survival pathway. *The Journal of biological chemistry* (2009) 284(49):34045-53. Epub 2009/10/10. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.021030. PubMed PMID: 19815552; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPmc2797175.

8. Langlois B, Perrot G, Schneider C, Henriet P, Emonard H, Martiny L, et al. LRP-1 Promotes Cancer Cell Invasion by Supporting ERK and Inhibiting JNK Signaling Pathways. *PLoS One* (2010) 5(7):e11584. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0011584.

9. Boyé K, Pujol N, D Alves I, Chen Y-P, Daubon T, Lee Y-Z, et al. The role of CXCR3/LRP1 cross-talk in the invasion of primary brain tumors. *Nature Communications* (2017) 8(1):1571. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-01686-y.

10. Salama Y, Lin SY, Dhahri D, Hattori K, Heissig B. The fibrinolytic factor tPA drives LRP1-mediated melanoma growth and metastasis. *FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology* (2019) 33(3):3465-80. Epub 2018/11/21. doi: 10.1096/fj.201801339RRR. PubMed PMID: 30458112.

Perrot G, Langlois B, Devy J, Jeanne A, Verzeaux L, Almagro S, et al. LRP-1–CD44,
 a New Cell Surface Complex Regulating Tumor Cell Adhesion. *Mol Cell Biol* (2012)
 32(16):3293-307. doi: 10.1128/mcb.00228-12.

12. Theret L, Jeanne A, Langlois B, Hachet C, David M, Khrestchatisky M, et al. Identification of LRP-1 as an endocytosis and recycling receptor for β1-integrin in thyroid cancer cells. *Oncotarget* (2017) 8(45):78614-32. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.20201. PubMed PMID: 29108253. 13. Appert-Collin A, Bennasroune A, Jeannesson P, Terryn C, Fuhrmann G, Morjani H, et al. Role of LRP-1 in cancer cell migration in 3-dimensional collagen matrix. *Cell Adhesion & Migration* (2017) 11(4):316-26. doi: 10.1080/19336918.2016.1215788.

14. Tian Y, Wang C, Chen S, Liu J, Fu Y, Luo Y. Extracellular Hsp90α and clusterin synergistically promote breast cancer epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition and metastasis via LRP1. *Journal of cell science* (2019) 132(15):jcs228213. doi: 10.1242/jcs.228213.

15. Beaujouin M, Prebois C, Derocq D, Laurent-Matha V, Masson O, Pattingre S, et al. Pro-cathepsin D interacts with the extracellular domain of the beta chain of LRP1 and promotes LRP1-dependent fibroblast outgrowth. *Journal of cell science* (2010) 123(Pt 19):3336-46. Epub 2010/09/10. doi: 10.1242/jcs.070938. PubMed PMID: 20826454; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPmc2964349.

Wang Z, Sun P, Gao C, Chen J, Li J, Chen Z, et al. Down-regulation of LRP1B in colon cancer promoted the growth and migration of cancer cells. *Experimental cell research* (2017) 357(1):1-8. Epub 2017/04/15. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2017.04.010. PubMed PMID: 28408316.

17. Toquet C, Jarry A, Bou-Hanna C, Bach K, Denis MG, Mosnier JF, et al. Altered Calreticulin expression in human colon cancer: maintenance of Calreticulin expression is associated with mucinous differentiation. *Oncology reports* (2007) 17(5):1101-7. Epub 2007/03/29. doi: 10.3892/or.17.5.1101. PubMed PMID: 17390051.

18. Obermeyer K, Krueger S, Peters B, Falkenberg B, Roessner A, Rocken C. The expression of low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein in colorectal carcinoma. *Oncology reports* (2007) 17(2):361-7. Epub 2007/01/05. PubMed PMID: 17203175.

Boulagnon-Rombi C, Schneider C, Leandri C, Jeanne A, Grybek V, Bressenot AM, et
 al. LRP1 expression in colon cancer predicts clinical outcome. *Oncotarget* (2018) 9(10):8849 69. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.24225. PubMed PMID: 29507659.

20. Wu JB, Sarmiento AL, Fiset PO, Lazaris A, Metrakos P, Petrillo S, et al. Histologic features and genomic alterations of primary colorectal adenocarcinoma predict growth patterns of liver metastasis. *World journal of gastroenterology* (2019) 25(26):3408-25. Epub 2019/07/26. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v25.i26.3408. PubMed PMID: 31341365; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPmc6639555.

21. Brabletz T, Spaderna S, Kolb J, Hlubek F, Faller G, Bruns CJ, et al. Down-regulation of the homeodomain factor Cdx2 in colorectal cancer by collagen type I: an active role for the tumor environment in malignant tumor progression. *Cancer research* (2004) 64(19):6973-7. Epub 2004/10/07. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.can-04-1132. PubMed PMID: 15466189.

22. Oku Y, Shimoji T, Takifuji K, Hotta T, Yokoyama S, Matsuda K, et al. Identification of the molecular mechanisms for dedifferentiation at the invasion front of colorectal cancer by a gene expression analysis. *Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research* (2008) 14(22):7215-22. Epub 2008/11/18. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-08-0370. PubMed PMID: 19010838.

23. Leitinger B. Molecular analysis of collagen binding by the human discoidin domain receptors, DDR1 and DDR2. Identification of collagen binding sites in DDR2. *The Journal of biological chemistry* (2003) 278(19):16761-9. Epub 2003/03/04. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M301370200. PubMed PMID: 12611880.

24. Abdulhussein R, McFadden C, Fuentes-Prior P, Vogel WF. Exploring the collagenbinding site of the DDR1 tyrosine kinase receptor. *The Journal of biological chemistry* (2004) 279(30):31462-70. Epub 2004/05/12. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M400651200. PubMed PMID: 15136580.

25. Rammal H, Saby C, Magnien K, Van-Gulick L, Garnotel R, Buache E, et al. Discoidin Domain Receptors: Potential Actors and Targets in Cancer. *Front Pharmacol* (2016) 7(55). doi: 10.3389/fphar.2016.00055.

26. Shrivastava A, Radziejewski C, Campbell E, Kovac L, McGlynn M, Ryan TE, et al. An orphan receptor tyrosine kinase family whose members serve as nonintegrin collagen receptors. *Molecular cell* (1997) 1(1):25-34. Epub 1998/07/11. PubMed PMID: 9659900.

27. Vogel W, Gish GD, Alves F, Pawson T. The Discoidin Domain Receptor Tyrosine Kinases Are Activated by Collagen. *Molecular cell* (1997) 1(1):13-23. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/S1097-2765(00)80003-9.

28. Nemoto T, Ohashi K, Akashi T, Johnson JD, Hirokawa K. Overexpression of protein tyrosine kinases in human esophageal cancer. *Pathobiology : journal of immunopathology, molecular and cellular biology* (1997) 65(4):195-203. Epub 1997/01/01. doi: 10.1159/000164123. PubMed PMID: 9396043.

Xie R, Wang X, Qi G, Wu Z, Wei R, Li P, et al. DDR1 enhances invasion and metastasis of gastric cancer via epithelial-mesenchymal transition. *Tumor Biology* (2016) 37(9):12049-59. doi: 10.1007/s13277-016-5070-6.

Yamanaka R, Arao T, Yajima N, Tsuchiya N, Homma J, Tanaka R, et al. Identification of expressed genes characterizing long-term survival in malignant glioma patients. *Oncogene* (2006) 25(44):5994-6002. Epub 2006/05/03. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1209585. PubMed PMID: 16652150.

Malaguarnera R, Nicolosi ML, Sacco A, Morcavallo A, Vella V, Voci C, et al. Novel 31. cross talk between IGF-IR and DDR1 regulates IGF-IR trafficking, signaling and biological responses. **Oncotarget** (2015)6(18):16084-105. Epub 2015/04/04. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.3177. PubMed PMID: 25840417; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPmc4599258.

Xiao Q, Jiang Y, Liu Q, Yue J, Liu C, Zhao X, et al. Minor Type IV Collagen α5 Chain
Promotes Cancer Progression through Discoidin Domain Receptor-1. *PLOS Genetics* (2015)
11(5):e1005249. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1005249.

33. Assent D, Bourgot I, Hennuy B, Geurts P, Noel A, Foidart JM, et al. A membrane-type-1 matrix metalloproteinase (MT1-MMP)-discoidin domain receptor 1 axis regulates collageninduced apoptosis in breast cancer cells. *PLoS One* (2015) 10(3):e0116006. Epub 2015/03/17. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0116006. PubMed PMID: 25774665; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPmc4638154.

34. Saby C, Rammal H, Magnien K, Buache E, Brassart-Pasco S, Van-Gulick L, et al. Agerelated modifications of type I collagen impair DDR1-induced apoptosis in non-invasive breast carcinoma cells. *Cell Adhesion & Migration* (2018) 12(4):335-47. doi: 10.1080/19336918.2018.1472182.

35. Saby C, Collin G, Sinane M, Buache E, Van Gulick L, Saltel F, et al. DDR1 and MT1-MMP Expression Levels Are Determinant for Triggering BIK-Mediated Apoptosis by 3D Type I Collagen Matrix in Invasive Basal-Like Breast Carcinoma Cells. *Front Pharmacol* (2019) 10:462-. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2019.00462. PubMed PMID: 31130862.

36. Jeitany M, Leroy C, Tosti P, Lafitte M, Le Guet J, Simon V, et al. Inhibition of DDR1BCR signalling by nilotinib as a new therapeutic strategy for metastatic colorectal cancer.
(2018) 10(4). doi: 10.15252/emmm.201707918. PubMed PMID: 29438985.

37. Tao Y, Wang R, Lai Q, Wu M, Wang Y, Jiang X, et al. Targeting of DDR1 with antibody-drug conjugates has antitumor effects in a mouse model of colon carcinoma. *Molecular oncology* (2019) 13(9):1855-73. Epub 2019/05/23. doi: 10.1002/1878-0261.12520. PubMed PMID: 31116512; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPmc6717758.

38. Luca AC, Mersch S, Deenen R, Schmidt S, Messner I, Schafer KL, et al. Impact of the 3D microenvironment on phenotype, gene expression, and EGFR inhibition of colorectal cancer cell lines. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(3):e59689. Epub 2013/04/05. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0059689. PubMed PMID: 23555746; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPmc3608563. 39. Dedieu S, Langlois B, Devy J, Sid B, Henriet P, Sartelet H, et al. LRP-1 Silencing Prevents Malignant Cell Invasion despite Increased Pericellular Proteolytic Activities. *Mol Cell Biol* (2008) 28(9):2980. doi: 10.1128/MCB.02238-07.

40. Saby C, Buache E, Brassart-Pasco S, El Btaouri H, Courageot MP, Van Gulick L, et al.
Type I collagen aging impairs discoidin domain receptor 2-mediated tumor cell growth suppression. *Oncotarget* (2016) 7(18):24908-27. Epub 2016/04/29. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.8795. PubMed PMID: 27121132; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPmc5041879.

41. Mikhailenko I, Battey FD, Migliorini M, Ruiz JF, Argraves K, Moayeri M, et al. Recognition of alpha 2-macroglobulin by the low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein requires the cooperation of two ligand binding cluster regions. *The Journal of biological chemistry* (2001) 276(42):39484-91. Epub 2001/08/17. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M104382200. PubMed PMID: 11507091.

42. Le Cigne A, Chieze L, Beaussart A, El-Kirat-Chatel S, Dufrene YF, Dedieu S, et al. Analysis of the effect of LRP-1 silencing on the invasive potential of cancer cells by nanomechanical probing and adhesion force measurements using atomic force microscopy. *Nanoscale* (2016) 8(13):7144-54. Epub 2016/03/12. doi: 10.1039/c5nr08649c. PubMed PMID: 26965453.

43. Chen G, Deng X. Cell Synchronization by Double Thymidine Block. *Bio Protoc* (2018)
8(17):e2994. doi: 10.21769/BioProtoc.2994. PubMed PMID: 30263905.

44. Gheysarzadeh A, Ansari A, Emami MH, Razavi AE, Mofid MR. Over-expression of low-density lipoprotein receptor-related Protein-1 is associated with poor prognosis and invasion in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *Pancreatology* (2019) 19(3):429-35. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pan.2019.02.012.

45. Catasus L, Llorente-Cortes V, Cuatrecasas M, Pons C, Espinosa I, Prat J. Low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 1 (LRP-1) is associated with highgrade, advanced stage and p53 and p16 alterations in endometrial carcinomas. *Histopathology* (2011) 59(3):567-71. Epub 2011/11/01. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2559.2011.03942.x. PubMed PMID: 22034896.

46. Van Gool B, Dedieu S, Emonard H, Roebroek AJM. The Matricellular Receptor LRP1 Forms an Interface for Signaling and Endocytosis in Modulation of the Extracellular Tumor Environment. *Front Pharmacol* (2015) 6:271-. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2015.00271. PubMed PMID: 26617523.

47. Leitinger B. Transmembrane Collagen Receptors. *Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology* (2011) 27(1):265-90. doi: 10.1146/annurev-cellbio-092910-154013. PubMed PMID: 21568710.

Valiathan RR, Marco M, Leitinger B, Kleer CG, Fridman R. Discoidin domain receptor tyrosine kinases: new players in cancer progression. *Cancer metastasis reviews* (2012) 31(1-2):295-321. Epub 2012/03/01. doi: 10.1007/s10555-012-9346-z. PubMed PMID: 22366781; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPmc3351584.

49. Gao H, Chakraborty G, Zhang Z, Akalay I, Gadiya M, Gao Y, et al. Multi-organ Site Metastatic Reactivation Mediated by Non-canonical Discoidin Domain Receptor 1 Signaling. *Cell* (2016) 166(1):47-62. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2016.06.009.

50. Toy KA, Valiathan RR, Núñez F, Kidwell KM, Gonzalez ME, Fridman R, et al. Tyrosine kinase discoidin domain receptors DDR1 and DDR2 are coordinately deregulated in triple-negative breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* (2015) 150(1):9-18. Epub 02/10. doi: 10.1007/s10549-015-3285-7. PubMed PMID: 25667101.

51. Mihai C, Chotani M, Elton TS, Agarwal G. Mapping of DDR1 Distribution and Oligomerization on the Cell Surface by FRET Microscopy. *Journal of Molecular Biology* (2009) 385(2):432-45. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2008.10.067.

52. Chiusa M, Hu W, Liao H-J, Su Y, Borza CM, de Caestecker MP, et al. The Extracellular Matrix Receptor Discoidin Domain Receptor 1 Regulates Collagen Transcription by Translocating to the Nucleus. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology* (2019):ASN.2018111160. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2018111160.

53. Maquoi E, Assent D, Detilleux J, Pequeux C, Foidart JM, Noel A. MT1-MMP protects
breast carcinoma cells against type I collagen-induced apoptosis. *Oncogene* (2012) 31(4):48093. Epub 2011/06/28. doi: 10.1038/onc.2011.249. PubMed PMID: 21706048.

54. Henriet P, Zhong ZD, Brooks PC, Weinberg KI, DeClerck YA. Contact with fibrillar collagen inhibits melanoma cell proliferation by up-regulating p27KIP1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2000) 97(18):10026-31. Epub 2000/08/16. doi: 10.1073/pnas.170290997. PubMed PMID: 10944199; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPmc27660.

55. Wall SJ, Werner E, Werb Z, DeClerck YA. Discoidin domain receptor 2 mediates tumor cell cycle arrest induced by fibrillar collagen. *The Journal of biological chemistry* (2005) 280(48):40187-94. Epub 2005/09/28. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M508226200. PubMed PMID: 16186104; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPmc2768768.

56. Wall SJ, Zhong ZD, DeClerck YA. The cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors p15INK4B and p21CIP1 are critical regulators of fibrillar collagen-induced tumor cell cycle arrest. *The Journal of biological chemistry* (2007) 282(33):24471-6. Epub 2007/06/08. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M702697200. PubMed PMID: 17553787.

57. Ongusaha PP, Kim JI, Fang L, Wong TW, Yancopoulos GD, Aaronson SA, et al. p53 induction and activation of DDR1 kinase counteract p53-mediated apoptosis and influence p53 regulation through a positive feedback loop. *The EMBO journal* (2003) 22(6):1289-301. Epub 2003/03/12. doi: 10.1093/emboj/cdg129. PubMed PMID: 12628922; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPmc151063.
58. Kim HG, Hwang SY, Aaronson SA, Mandinova A, Lee SW. DDR1 receptor tyrosine kinase promotes prosurvival pathway through Notch1 activation. *The Journal of biological chemistry* (2011) 286(20):17672-81. Epub 2011/03/15. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.236612. PubMed PMID: 21398698; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPmc3093843.

# **Figures for Original Article**

# Fig. 1.

Molecular characterization of colorectal carcinoma cell lines. **a** Transcriptional level of LRP-1 and DDR1 were assessed using RTqPCR. LRP-1 and DDR1 mRNA expression levels in HT-29 (black boxes) and LS174T (grey boxes) were normalized with both RPL32 and RS18 mRNA expression. **b** Whole cell extracts from HT-29 and LS174T cells were analyzed by SDS PAGE followed by western blotting using anti-DDR1, anti-LRP-1 and anti-GAPDH antibodies. Graphical representations of LRP-1 (**c**) and DDR1 (**d**) expression at protein level as normalized with GAPDH. All experiments were performed in three biological replicates. Plots are presented as the mean SD, \*\*: p < 0.01; \*\*\*\*: p < 0.0001, n=3, two sample t-test.

# Fig. 2.

Effect of LRP-1 antagonists and LRP-1 knockdown on colorectal cancer cell proliferation. LS174T (**a**) and HT-29 (**b**) cells were cultured in 2D type I collagen coating (left panels) or 3D type I collagen matrices (right panels) without (black boxes) or with RAP (500 nM, light grey boxes) or R2629 (2.5  $\mu$ g/mL, dark grey boxes) treatment. After 5 days of culture, cell growth indices were assessed using at least three separate sets of culture, all conditions were repeated at least three times. (**c**) HT-29 cells were transduced with lentivirus encoding non-silencing shRNA (shCTRL) or shRNA targeting LRP-1 (shLRP1<sub>(a)</sub> and shLRP1<sub>(b)</sub>) (right panel). Whole-cell extracts from each clonal cell were submitted to immunoblot analysis using anti-LRP-1 antibody (5A6). GAPDH expression level served as a loading control. shCTRL (black boxes) and shLRP-1<sub>(a)</sub> or shLRP-1<sub>(b)</sub> (grey boxes) HT-29 cells were seeded in 3D type I collagen matrix (left panel) during 5 days with or without RAP and R2629 treatment. Cell growth was evaluated by at least three separate experiments, each done in triplicate. The data are presented as the mean SD. \*\*\*: p < 0.001; \*\*\*\*: p = 0.0001; ns: not significant, One-way ANOVA test using Dunnett's multiple comparisons.

# Fig. 3.

RAP treatment inhibits DDR1 endocytosis and led to its accumulation at the plasma membrane. a Plasma membrane extracts from cell surface biotinylated proteins were obtained from HT-29 cells treated or not with RAP (1µM, 1 h). Immunoblot analysis was performed using anti-DDR1 antibodies. Expression level of GAPDH in the intracellular fraction served as a loading control and for normalization. Three independent experiments were conducted, the data is represented as the mean SD. \*\*: p < 0.005, two sample t-test. b HT-29 cells were treated with/without RAP (1µM) for 1 h. Plasma membrane proteins were biotinylated and endocytosis assay was carried out as reported in the experimental procedure section. DDR1 internalization was quantified by immunoblotting using DDR1 antibody (right panels including graph, \*\*\*\*: p < 0.0001, two sample t-test). Left panel (4°C) serves to control DDR1 binding to the cell surface (-Glut, without glutathione) and glutathione efficacy for biotin stripping (+ glut, with glutathione). c Whole-cell extracts were obtained from HT-29 cells overexpressing GFP (control) or DDR1-GFP. Immunoblot analysis was performed using anti-DDR1 and anti-GFP antibodies and GAPDH served as a loading control. LRP-1 (d) or DDR1 (e) containing complexes were immunoprecipitated (IP) from DDR1-GFP overexpressing HT-29 cells wholecell extracts by using anti-LRP-1 (clone EPR3724) or anti-DDR1 (D1G6) monoclonal antibody, respectively. Immunocomplexes were then subjected to SDS-PAGE and immunoblotted (IB) by using specific antibodies for LRP-1, DDR1 and GFP.

# Fig. 4.

DDR1 down-regulates colorectal cancer cell proliferation in 3D collagen matrix. **a** Wild-type HT-29 were cultured in 3D type I collagen matrix for 5 days, then cell proliferation was

evaluated by three independent experiments. The data are represented as the mean SD, \*\*\*\* p < 0.0001, two sample t-test. **b** HT-29<sup>DDR1-GFP</sup> cells were seeded in 3D type I collagen matrix during 5 days with/without RAP or LRP-1 blocking antibodies (R2629). Cell proliferation was then evaluated by at least 3 separate sets of culture, the data are presented as the mean SD and compared to untreated cells. \*\*\*\*: p = 0.0001, One-way ANOVA test using Dunnett's multiple comparisons. HT-29 (**c**) and HT-29<sup>DDR1-GFP</sup> cells (**d**) were seeded in 3D type I collagen matrix and cultured with 50 nM nilotinib or DMSO (that served as a control) for 5 days. Left panels: DDR1 containing complexes were immunoprecipitated (IP) whole-cell extracts by using an anti-DDR1 monoclonal antibody (D1G6). Immunocomplexes were then subjected to SDS-PAGE and immunoblotted (IB) by using anti-DDR1 (D1G6) and anti-phospho-DDR1 (Tyr792, 4G10). The bottom panel indicates the expression of DDR1 and GAPDH in whole cell lysates and served as a control. Right panels: cell proliferation was evaluated by three independent experiments, the data are presented as the mean SD. \*\*: p < 0.005; ns: not significant, two sample t-test.

## Fig. 5.

Inhibition of LRP-1-mediated endocytosis induces cell cycle arrest at G1 phase. HT-29 (**a** and **c**) and HT-29<sup>*DDR1-GFP*</sup> (**b** and **d**) cells were grown on plastic surface and synchronized by double thymidine block. Synchronized cells were then seeded in 3D type I collagen matrix with or without 1µM RAP (**a** and **b**) or LRP-1-blocking antibodies (R2629, 30 µg/mL) (**c** and **d**) for 24 hours, followed by a cell cycle analysis. After nuclear staining with DAPI, 20.000 events were acquired and analyzed by flow cytometry. On the left colored panels, cell cycle distributions of HT-29 (**a** and **c**) and HT-29<sup>*DDR1-GFP*</sup> (**b** and **d**) cells treated with or without RAP or R2629 for 24 hours are shown as histogram plots of the FL3 fluorescence channel. On the right panels, histograms represent the percentage of interphase stages (G1, S+G2/M) and the relative (S+G2-M)/G1 ratio of HT-29 (**a** and **c**) or HT-29<sup>*DDR1-GFP*</sup> (**b** and **d**) cells treated with (grey boxes) or without (black boxes) RAP or R2629. The data are presented as the mean SD. \*: p < 0.05; \*\*: p = 0.01, two samples t-test. Cell cycle assays were performed in four separate biological experiments for RAP treatment (**a-b**) and two separate experiments, each conducted in double triplicates for R2629 treatment (**c-d**).

#### Fig. 6.

Inhibition of LRP-1 results in an increase in apoptosis. HT-29 (**a**) and, grey boxes HT-29<sup>*DDR1-GFP*</sup> cells (**b**) were seeded in 3D type I collagen matrix and were treated without (black boxes) or with RAP (1µM) for 3 days. The cells were then collected from digested matrix and suffered a rapid trypsinization before underwent an apoptotic assay. Apoptotic cells were stained with Annexin V and histogram (left panel), showed the percent of apoptotic. The values of treated samples were normalized to their controls, the data are represented as the mean SD, \*: p < 0.05, two sample t-test. (**c**) The plot represents the apoptotic indices of wild-type HT-29 overexpressing GFP (black boxes) and HT-29<sup>*DDR1-GFP*</sup> (grey boxes) cells seeded in 3D collagen matrix. The apoptosis assays were performed in two distinct experiments, each done in double triplicates. (**d**) Immunostaining of recombinant DDR1 (green) in untreated (left picture) or RAP-treated (right picture) HT-29<sup>*DDR1-GFP*</sup> cells. DNA is stained with DAPI. Scale bar: 5 µm.







# Figure 2. Cuong et al.





Figure 4. Cuong et al.

Results



Figure 5. Cuong et al.

# Results



# Figure 6. Cuong et al.



# **Revue**

Interaction fonctionnelle entre le réseau de collagène et les cellules du microenvironnement tumoral dans le cancer colorectal

## **Review manuscript (summary in French)**

Le cancer colorectal est le deuxième cancer le plus fréquent chez les hommes et le troisième chez les femmes dans le monde. Au cours des dernières décennies, plusieurs travaux ont souligné l'importance du microenvironnement dans la progression du cancer du côlon [169]. Dans le microenvironnement tumoral, la MEC joue un rôle clé dans ce processus. L'organisation des composants de la MEC intervient non seulement en tant que soutien structural des cellules mais permet également le contrôle de nombreuses fonctions cellulaires, y compris la prolifération, la migration, la différenciation et la survie et permet ainsi de réguler l'homéostasie et la morphogenèse. Les modifications de la composition de la MEC et de ses propriétés mécaniques pendant la cancérogenèse sont essentielles pour l'initiation et la progression de la tumeur. Le matrisome tumoral est constitué de cinq classes de macromolécules que sont les collagènes, les laminines, la fibronectine, les protéoglycanes et les hyaluronanes. Dans la plupart des tissus, le collagène fibrillaire est le principal composant de la MEC. Les cellules au sein de ce collagène fibrillaire interagissent avec lui par l'intermédiaire de leurs récepteurs de surface, tels que les intégrines et les récepteurs à domaine discoïdine (DDRs). D'une part, les cellules intègrent des signaux provenant de la MEC ce qui modifient leurs fonctions et leurs comportements. D'autre part, toutes les cellules de l'environnement tumoral (cellules cancéreuses, fibroblastes associés au cancer, cellules endothéliales, cellules immunitaires) synthétisent et sécrètent des macromolécules de la matrice sous le contrôle de signaux extracellulaires multiples. Ce dialogue cellule-MEC participe de manière dynamique à la formation et aux propriétés biophysiques et biochimiques de la MEC. Certaines études récentes basées sur des approches transcriptomiques ou protéomiques globales apportent un éclairage nouveau sur les marqueurs spécifiques qui sont dérégulés au cours des premières étapes de la carcinogenèse du côlon, mais aussi dans le cancer colorectal localement avancé ou métastatique (CRC) [501-503]. De manière intéressante, l'analyse protéomique des fractions insolubles de tumeurs primaires du côlon et de métastases hépatiques dérivées, comparées aux tissus non tumoraux adjacents, a montré l'enrichissement spécifique de certaines protéines du matrisome et de plusieurs enzymes modifiant le collagène comme les MMPs, ADAMs et LOXL1 [501]. La desmoplasie et le dépôt de collagènes constituent des caractéristiques du cancer colorectal et divers collagènes, dont les types I, VI, VII, VIII, X, XI et XVIII, sont accumulés dans les échantillons de cancer colorectal [504-510]. Une étude récente a montré que la quantité de collagène de type I est plus élevée dans les tissus tumoraux que dans les tissus normaux [423]. De plus, il a été démontré que l'ARNm du collagène de type I est également plus élevé dans le sang des patients atteints de cancer colorectal que dans celui des individus sains [511, 512].

Les récepteurs du collagène de type I les plus étudiés sont les intégrines  $\alpha 1\beta 1$ ,  $\alpha 2\beta 1$ ,  $\alpha 10\beta 1$ et  $\alpha 11\beta 1$  [229]. La reconnaissance de la triple hélice de collagène par les intégrines se fait au niveau de la séquence GFOGER du collagène de type I [513]. Une étude menée sur des patients a montré que parmi les hétérodimères cités ci-dessus, l'intégrine  $\beta 1$  était le récepteur le plus exprimé dans le carcinome du côlon [237]. Un niveau d'expression élevé de l'intégrine  $\beta 1$  dans les tumeurs est corrélée à une réduction de la survie globale et à un taux de survie sans récidive plus faible chez un grand nombre de patients atteints de cancer colorectal [423]. L'intégrine  $\beta 1$ est notamment présente dans le sérum de patients atteints de cancer colorectal et son niveau d'expression semble corrélé au stade de la tumeur, au potentiel invasif et à la présence de micrométastases [514]. La surexpression de l'intégrine  $\beta 1$  est également associée à la progression du cancer colorectal et du cancer colorectal métastasés au foie [514, 515]. Cependant, bien que l'intégrine  $\beta 1$  semble contribuer au développement des métastases, il a été démontré que le traitement ciblant cette protéine n'est pas efficace dans la prise en charge du cancer colorectal. En fait, l'inhibition simultanée de l'intégrine  $\beta 1$  et de l'EGFR dans le cancer colorectal n'améliore pas l'efficacité de la radiothérapie [504].

De plus en plus d'études s'intéressent aux récepteurs à domaine discoïdine DDR1 et DDR2 qui interagissent également avec le collagène de type I [516] et jouent un rôle dans la progression tumorale [300]. Ces récepteurs, qui ont une activité tyrosine kinase, reconnaissent la séquence GVMGFO du collagène de type I [271] et présentent une activation relativement tardive et prolongée [258]. Des études ont montré que DDR1 est exprimé dans le carcinome du côlon et favorise les métastases dans le carcinome invasif du côlon [12, 13, 517]. En ce qui concerne DDR2, son expression élevée est associée à un taux plus important de métastases ganglionnaires et à un mauvais pronostic, ce qui suggère que l'expression de DDR2 pourrait être une cible thérapeutique efficace [518].

L'ensemble de ces données démontre le rôle du collagène et de ces partenaires en tant que biomarqueurs du cancer colorectal, ce qui suggère leur importance dans les processus de tumorigénèse, y compris la croissance cellulaire, la différenciation et la diffusion métastatique. Cette revue s'intéresse aux données actuelles décrivant les interactions fonctionnelles qui s'établissent entre les cellules du microenvironnement tumoral et le réseau de collagène dans le développement du cancer colorectal. Dans ce cadre, nous y décrivons notamment l'importance des relations qui s'établissent entre les principaux types de cellules qui composent le microenvironnement tumoral, comme les cellules cancéreuses, les fibroblastes associés au

cancer et les cellules endothéliales. Enfin, nous faisons également un point technique sur les systèmes d'études, notamment tridimensionnels, permettant d'appréhender au mieux ces interactions et sur l'intérêt de la microscopie de génération de seconde harmonique (SHG) pour étudier la structure et l'état du collagène lors des processus de cancérisation.

# **Review manuscript**

# Functional interplay between collagen network and cell behavior within tumor microenvironment in colorectal cancer

Cao Cuong Le<sup>1, 2, 3</sup>, Amar Bennasroune<sup>1, 2</sup>, Benoit Langlois<sup>1, 2</sup>, Stéphanie Salesse<sup>1, 2</sup>, Camille Boulagnon-Rombi<sup>1, 2, 4</sup>, Hamid Morjani<sup>1, 3</sup>, Stéphane Dedieu<sup>1, 2\*</sup> & Aline Appert-Collin<sup>1, 2\*</sup>

1. Université de Reims Champagne-Ardenne, Reims, France.

2. CNRS UMR 7369, Matrice Extracellulaire et Dynamique Cellulaire, MEDyC, Reims, France.

3. Unité BioSpecT, EA7506, Reims, France.

4. Laboratoire de Biopathologie, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire et Faculté de Médecine, Reims, France.

\* Co-senior authors

Email corresponding author: <a href="mailto:aline.bennasroune@univ-reims.fr">aline.bennasroune@univ-reims.fr</a>

Colorectal cancer is the second most common cancer diagnosed in men and the third most commonly occurring in women worldwide. Interactions between cells and the surrounding extracellular matrix (ECM) are involved in the development and progression of tumors in many types of cancer. The organization of the ECM molecules provides not only physical scaffoldings and dynamic network into which cells are embedded but also allows the control of many cellular behaviors including proliferation, migration, differentiation and survival to regulate homeostasis, and morphogenesis. Modifications of ECM composition and mechanical properties during carcinogenesis are critical for tumor initiation and progression. The core matrisome is constituted of five classes of macromolecules which are collagens, laminins, fibronectin, proteoglycans, and hyaluronans. In most tissues, fibrillar collagen is the major component of ECM. Cells embedded into fibrillar collagen interact with it through their surface receptors, such as integrins and discoidin domain receptors (DDRs). On the one hand, cells incorporate signals from ECM that modify their functionalities and behaviors. On the other hand, all cells within tumor environment (cancer cells, cancer-associated fibroblasts, endothelial cells, immune cells) synthesize and secrete matrix macromolecules under the control of multiple extracellular signals. This cell-ECM dialog participates in a dynamic way in the formation and the biophysical and biochemical properties of ECM. Here we will review the functional interplay of cells from the tumor microenvironment and collagen network during colorectal cancer progression.

**Keywords:** Colorectal cancer, collagen, cancer-associated fibroblast, tumor cell, endothelial cell, in vitro model

Results

#### Collagen and colorectal cancer: state of play.

In recent decades, several works have underlined the importance of the microenvironment in colon cancer progression [1]. In the tumor microenvironment (TME), extracellular matrix (ECM) plays a key role in this process. Among ECM adhesives components, type I collagen is one of important factors regulating cancer-related events at different tumorigenesis stages [2]. After effacement of the basement membrane, paracrine signals from the nascent tumor lead to profound reorganizations of submucosal ECM that include deposition of fibrillar collagens together with growth factors and ECM modifying enzymes which stimulate active vascular remodeling. Some recent studies based on global transcriptomic or proteomic approaches shed new light on the specific markers that are dysregulated during early steps of colon carcinogenesis, but also in locally advanced or metastatic colorectal cancer (CRC) [3-5]. Interestingly, proteomic analysis of detergent insoluble fractions of paired primary colon tumors and liver metastasis compared with adjacent non tumorous tissues, illustrated the pathological samples specific enrichment in core matrisome and several collagen modifying enzymes such as MMPs, ADAMs and LOXL1 [5]. Desmoplasia and collagens deposition constitute a hallmark of CRC and various collagens including type I, VI, VII, VIII, X, XI and XVIII were found accumulated in CRC samples [6-12]. A recent study showed an increase of type I collagen in tumor tissues compared to normal tissue [13]. Moreover, type I collagen mRNA were also reported as increased in blood of CRC patients compared to healthy individuals [13, 14]. Consistently, second harmonic generation imaging of fibrillar collagens contents have shown clinical efficacy stratify high grade tumors and relevance to predict CRC patient outcome [7, 15].

The most studied type I collagen receptors are integrins  $\alpha 1\beta 1$ ,  $\alpha 2\beta 1$ ,  $\alpha 10\beta 1$  and  $\alpha 11\beta 1$  [16]. For their activation, these receptors recognize GFOGER sequence of type I collagen [17].  $\alpha 1\beta 1$ dimer was considered as the most expressed receptor in colon carcinoma [18].  $\beta 1$ -integrin expression in tumors was correlated with reduced overall survival and reduced disease-free survival in a large cohort of CRC patients [19]. Notably,  $\beta 1$  integrin is detected in CRC patients serum and its level of expression appears to correlate with aggressiveness and presence of micrometastasis [20].  $\beta 1$  integrin overexpression is also associated with CRC progression and colorectal liver metastasis [20, 21]. However, although  $\beta 1$  integrin seems to contribute to metastasis development,  $\beta 1$  integrin targeted therapy is not successful in CRC management. In fact, simultaneous inhibition of  $\beta 1$  integrin and EGFR in CRC does not improve radiotherapy efficiency [22].

Collagen also signals to cells through the receptor tyrosine kinases discoidin domain receptors DDR1 and DDR2, both of them have also been reported to interact with type I collagen [23] and to play a role in tumor progression [24]. These receptors, which harbor a tyrosine kinase activity, recognize GVMGFO sequence of type I collagen [24] and exhibit a relatively late and prolonged activation [25]. DDR1 is expressed in colon carcinoma and promote metastasis in invasive colon carcinoma [26-28]. Concerning DDR2, a high expression was associated with higher frequencies of T4, lymph node metastasis, peritoneal spread, and worse prognosis, suggesting that DDR2 expression might be an effective therapeutic target [29].

This growing data set supports a key role of collagens and their partners during tumorigenesis processes and as potential biomarkers of CRC. The following parts aim to highlight current evidence regarding the functional interplay between cells within the TME and collagen network during CRC progression. The main data are presented in Figure 1.

#### The relationship between collagen and cancer cells

Analysis of ECM signatures in patients colon tumors has revealed that type I collagen is highly expressed [5]. Accordingly, high density of type I collagen constitutes a poor prognosis factor in colon carcinoma and type I collagen-rich environment is able to induce mesenchymal gene expression and invasion [30]. Beside the density, collagen topology (fiber alignment) and elasticity (stiffness) appear to be also associated to colon tumorigenesis. Brauchle and co-workers have demonstrated that the alignment of collagen fibers is increased in colon carcinoma tissues when compared to normal tissues, and associated with increased stiffness [31]. Biophysical investigations have also shown different molecular fingerprints for collagen fibers in colon carcinoma tissues when compared to normal tissues [31]. Another study has shown that density and collagen fiber alignment were higher in tumor invasion front than in primary tumor and normal tissue [32]. Of note, hypoxia, that is associated to collagen density and organization, has an impact on colon carce carcinoma migration and invasion through promotion of epithelial to mesenchymal transition [33].

At the functional level, the homeobox transcription factor Cdx2 has been reported to play a role as a tumor suppressor and be down-regulated in colon carcinoma [34]. Furthermore, Cdx2 expression was significantly lower in colon carcinoma with the highest grades [35]. Interestingly, type I collagen was previously considered to promote tumorigenesis by

downregulating Cdx2 expression [36]. Brummer's group has demonstrated few years ago a close correlation between BRAF mutation and low level of Cdx2 expression in colon carcinoma. Type I collagen at high density has been also reported to suppress HNF4 $\alpha$  when inducing mesenchymal gene expression in vitro and in patient-derived colon tumors [30] Consistently, invalidation or inhibition of HNF4 $\alpha$  promotes colon carcinogenesis, whereas its enforced expression is able to inhibit cell growth in colon carcinoma [37, 38].

Concerning the role of type I collagen receptors in tumor progression, Roche's group has elegantly recently shown that DDR1 plays a crucial role in the invasion function of metastatic colon carcinoma [26, 27]. They have particularly demonstrated that pharmacological inhibition of DDR1-BCR signaling axis decreased invasion and metastatic processes in colon carcinoma, suggesting that DDR1 targeting could be an efficient co-treatment strategy in colon carcinoma [26, 27]. More recently, NSD2 circular RNA has been shown to promote DDR1 expression and colorectal cancer metastasis by targeting miR-199b-5p [39]. For integrins, Wu and co-workers have lately reported that type I collagen is able to support colon carcinoma cell stemness, invasion and metastasis through activation of  $\alpha 2\beta 1$  integrin heterodimer and PI3K/AKT/Snail signaling pathway [40].

Regarding the role of type I collagen in the cancer cell sensitivity to targeted therapies, a recent study has demonstrated that 3D type I collagen may protect colon carcinoma against the anti-EGFR cetuximab therapy by increasing tyrosine phosphorylation of MET and RON [30]. The effect of 3D type I collagen on the sensitivity to vemurafenib of colon carcinoma, carrying the BRAF<sup>*V600E*</sup> mutation has also been investigated. At the opposite of the general concept describing type I collagen as a shield of colon carcinoma cells against therapies, authors have demonstrated that cells seeded in 3D type I collagen were 10-fold more sensitive to the vemurafenib targeted drug. On the contrary, 3D matrix was able to protect tumor cells against the cytotoxic effect of the fluorouracil chemotherapeutic agent [41].

A recent study has shown that 3D type I collagen was also able to increase sensitivity of colon carcinoma to chemotherapy by regulating the expression of ABCB1 gene which encodes P-glycoprotein [42]. Interestingly, the expression of ABCB1/P-glycoprotein appears to be associated with high Cdx2 expression in normal colon tissue and basal/low Cdx2 expression in colon carcinoma [43].

#### The relationship between collagen and cancer-associated fibroblasts

#### Results

The most abundant cell type in TME are cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs), an activated type of fibroblasts that play a major role in tumorigenesis and metastatic processes [44]. CAFs demonstrate a functional heterogeneity in colorectal cancer (CRC) that may arise from different cellular origins and can affect the clinical course of colon cancer patients [45]. In CRC, an abundance of CAFs in the TME has been associated with poor outcomes and transcriptomic studies linked CAF signature with poor-prognosis and highly aggressive CRC molecular subtypes. CAFs are not only associated with advanced CRC but also found in early stages [46]. Several studies identified CAFs as potential prognosis and recurrence markers in patients with colon cancer [47-50]. Histologic evaluations of CRC patient samples and organotypic 3D coculture models demonstrated that CAFs are the primary drivers of collagen synthesis and remodeling in the highly desmoplastic environment found in CRC [51, 52]. Interestingly, a significant heterogeneity was observed within CAF population related to collagen remodeling [53]. Transcriptome and Proteome profiling identified CRC CAFs as the main source for connective tissue components of the ECM, such as collagens, thus altering the molecular composition of the matrix by increasing the deposition of new matrix components [54, 55]. Another way for CAFs to remodel ECM is to degrade it by using MMPs and formation of degradative protrusions. Genes induced in CRC CAFs, compared to normal colonic fibroblasts, include several tumor-promoting MMPs and TGF-B1 [54-56]. In CAFs, invadopodia are formed upon Twist1 translocation into the nucleus, which upregulates the expression of the actin-binding protein paladin (isoform 4). Interestingly, Twist1 and paladin are overexpressed in purified colon CAFs as compared with their normal counterparts and associate with poor prognosis in CRC [57]. In addition to MMPs, CAFs also express other proteases such as the fibroblast activation protein (FAP), a collagenase and gelatinase [58]. Stromal FAP expression in human colon cancer samples is a marker of early stage in cancer development and correlated with poor patient outcome [59]. FAPa activity has a strong impact on fibroblasts secretome composition, including matrix processing enzymes, and influence morphology and collagen contraction capacity of immortalized CRC CAFs. Recent studies established a direct link between CAFs and the modifications of ECM organization and stiffness described in colon cancer. LOXL2, a collagen cross-linker was reported as highly expressed in CAFs and is associated with poor CRC survival [60]. Hic-5, a non-enzymatic adaptor protein, was described as a novel factor responsible for the development of CRC, by promoting in CAFs the production of collagen I and LOX that lead to stiffness of cancer tissues [61]. More recently, in a collagen gel co-culture system, with fibroblasts and CRC cells, Delaine-Smith's group demonstrated that fibroblast-derived TG2 (transglutaminase-2), a protein cross-linking

enzyme, induced gel stiffening by formation of thicker collagen fibers and proposed a regulatory link between TG2 and LOX. In addition, stiffness is further increased by fibroblast/CRC crosstalk and a potential role for extracellular vesicles in mediating this tumordriven fibroblast response is suggested by authors [62]. Another study reported that fibroblasts activated by late-stage CRC cell-derived exosomes, became specialized in type I collagen and physical remodeling of ECM through cytoskeletal re-organization, membrane protrusion formation and secretion of matrix-remodeling proteins [63].

#### The relationship between collagen and endothelial cells

Angiogenesis exerts crucial functions during major steps of CRC progression [1, 3, 64]. Stimulation of CRC cells by oncogenic drivers such as EGF or stabilization of hypoxia inducible factors (HIFs) were involved in the secretion of angiogenic diffusible factors and ECM structural compounds in the TME [65]. Moreover, collagen supports nascent vascular structures during intussusceptive angiogenesis in CRC [66]. A nine genes signature including collagen I, X and XI was specifically enriched in angiogenic and hypoxic CRC genesets [4]. Another study identified a matrisomal signature of 110 genes induced during the angiogenic switch of the standard RIP1-Tag2 murine model of tumor angiogenesis [3]. The expression of this set of genes, which includes collagens I, VI, VIII, X and various ECM regulators was positively correlated with that of endothelial cell markers and increased with CRC progression. This signature was also specifically induced in hepatic metastasis suggesting a functional contribution to both early events and metastatic cascade. It is now well-established that tumor and stromal cells synergize to activate pro-angiogenic signals in the TME [3, 59, 64, 67, 68]. CAFs and tumor-associated macrophages (TAM) are both involved in TGF- $\beta$  signaling activation during the angiogenic switch [3]. Stromal activation of this pathway promotes both tumor initiation and early metastatic events [64] and was specifically associated to consensus molecular subtypes CMS4 of CRC that express various angiogenesis markers and present the worst overall survival [69]. Several reports illustrated the contributions of tumor resident or infiltrated stromal cells to ECM modifying events that accommodate endothelial cells fitness and provide angiogenic cues [59, 67, 70]. Although a clear scenario is sometimes difficult to draw on the angiogenic consequences of collagen deposition, emerging angio-active parameters include types of collagens (network, fibrils-anchoring or fibrillar collagens that convey different angiogenic signals), topology and stiffness. Post-translational modifications such as proteolytic degradation or cross-linking can modulate the biophysical properties of collagen rich scaffolds [11, 68, 70, 71]. FAP-a expression and activity was linked to the

secretion of pro-angiogenic factors such as angiopoietin-1 and VEGF-C by colon patientderived CAFs [59]. Gain and loss of function experiments illustrated that FAP-a-dependent CAF secretome can stimulate 3D endothelial spheroids sprouting. In vivo, targeting of FAP- $\alpha$ into an immune competent murine model of colon cancer decreased blood vessel density and induced fibrillar collagen accumulation [67]. The activity of SNAI1 and PDGFBB contributes to CAF ability to assemble aligned collagen fibers that promote endothelial cell proliferation and morphogenesis in a 3D model of CAF-derived matrices [70]. SNAI1 expression by fibroblasts was also associated with the abundance of CD34 positive endothelial cells in an in vivo model of CRC. Co-culture of TAM with CRC cells can potentiate the production of tumorderived MMP2 and MMP9 [72]. Recruitment of collagenolytic enzymes-expressing immune cells in the CRC TME might influence the bioavailability of ECM-immobilized angiogenic factors such as VEGF, as reported in other tumor context [73, 74]. Collagen-enriched niches emerge as biomarkers of desmoplastic and angiogenic CRC microenvironment [75, 76]. High expression of collagens I and IV, with tumor endothelial marker-1 (TEM-1, endosialin), especially when distributed around tumor vessels, allows stratification of CRC patients according to their poor prognosis [75]. Collagen-enriched niches might also account for the adaptive response of the TME to anti-angiogenic therapies [76, 77]. Collagen IV empty sleeves resulting from tumor vessel pruning triggered by VEGFR2 can promote a rapid vascular regrowth after treatment withdrawal [77]. Although, VEGFR2 blocking in a CRC model normalized tumor vessels, decreasing diameter while ameliorating collagen IV perivascular coverage [76]. Endostatin, a collagen XVIII-derived fragment, is an inflammatory marker detected around blood vessels and in the plasma of advanced CRC patients [12]. This molecule, efficient to inhibit both lymphangiogenesis and hemangiogenesis [78], is considered as a valuable tool to control metastatic CRC growth since several studies reported its moderate toxicity without observing the increased metastatic dissemination encountered in response to the anti-VEGF antibody bevacizumab [28].

#### In vitro tumor microenvironment models using collagen

Two-dimensional (2D) collagen-coated systems routine use has largely shown their limitations to summarize the complexity of tumor initiation and progression processes. It is absolutely necessary to include some major extracellular components to mimic properties of the TME such as the spatial configuration [79] and the addition of supporting materials with mechanical properties close to the ECM encountered during disease progression [80]. The use of in vitro 3D models should fill the gap between traditional 2D cell culture and animal models, by

#### Results

mimicking the cancer micro- and macro-environment potentially able to integrate multiple cell types in a controlled environment and should allow to better characterize CRC drivers and develop new therapeutic strategies in constantly upgraded models of growing complexity. One possible approach is to develop spheroids of cancer cells seeded on low-attachment tissue culture plates. Whereas this type of culture allows cancer cells to communicate with one another and to release low levels of intrinsic collagen [81], substantial aspects of TME are still missing. More complex models using biological scaffolds such as collagen are therefore added to create an ECM to obtain biomimicry and study cancer progression by recreating the tumor microenvironment. Patient-derived xenograft models are an important tool for preclinical and clinical research, especially when orthotopically transplanted. However, in this model, the principal limit is that TME cannot be properly reconstituted owing to important stromal cells such as cancer-associated fibroblasts and endothelial cells which are not derived from the tumor samples and can be late recruited [82]. New 3D models of cancer using a collagen matrix can promote the crosstalk between cancer and stromal cell. Co-cultures of different colorectal cancer cell lines with fibroblasts and endothelial cells in 3D spheroids have been elaborated to test drug dose-response and compared with results in 2D and homotypic 3D cultures. The results suggest that 3D co-cultures are more relevant, providing a higher level of translational information that should help to define patient-specific treatment options [83].

Pape and colleagues developed a CRC model using high-density type I monomeric collagen, termed as tumoroids [84]. This model consists of a central cancer mass containing either the highly invasive HCT116 or less invasive HT29 cells embedded in collagen type I hydrogels to mimic the TME in situ [85]. The stromal compartment in this model is easily manipulated and ECM components and stromal cell types can be added accordingly. Furthermore, on-chip biomimetic microenvironments using microfluidic technologies are being developed to better reproduce the complexity of in vivo restrictions. In this model, human colonic microvascular endothelial cells cultivated in a 3D vessel-mimetic device are attached to the wall of the lateral channels of the microfluidic chip whereas HCT-116 cells are embedded in collagen IV-enriched Matrigel in the central chamber [86].

Considering the feature of tumor heterogeneity, the main limitation of these models is the presence of a single CRC cell type exhibiting a unique genetical pattern. The development of more realistic preclinical models is absolutely required and is a major challenge for the coming years, especially for improving drug screening. The use of patients-derived 3D tumor models may provide a solution to overcome the oversimplified 2D cell cultures and the limitations of

in vivo models [87]. These new designs are not intended to completely supplant but rather complete and expand the currently available techniques.



CAFS

Figure 1. Relationship between type I collagen network and cells in tumor microenvironment. On the one hand, cancer cells, cancer-associated fibroblasts and endothelial cells influence collagen structure and composition. On the other hand, type I collagen participates to tumor progression. DDR1: discoïdin domain receptor I, FAP: fibroblast activation protein, LOX: lysyl oxidase, MMP: metalloproteinase, PDGFBB: Platelet-derived growth factor BB, TG2: Transglutaminase 2, TGF- $\beta$ : Transforming growth factor- $\beta$ .

#### **Author Contributions**

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

#### **Conflict of Interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

# Abbreviations

CAF: cancer-associated fibroblast, CRC: colorectal cancer, DDR: discoïdin domain receptor, ECM: extracellular matrix, FAP: fibroblast activation protein, SHG: second harmonic generation, TME: tumor microenvironment

#### References

- Crotti, S., et al., Extracellular Matrix and Colorectal Cancer: How Surrounding Microenvironment Affects Cancer Cell Behavior? J Cell Physiol, 2017. 232(5): p. 967-975.
- 2. Xu, R., et al., *Roles of the Phosphorylation of Transcriptional Factors in Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition.* Journal of Oncology, 2019. **2019**: p. 11.
- Langlois, B., et al., AngioMatrix, a signature of the tumor angiogenic switch-specific matrisome, correlates with poor prognosis for glioma and colorectal cancer patients. Oncotarget, 2014. 5(21): p. 10529-45.
- Yuzhalin, A.E., et al., A core matrisome gene signature predicts cancer outcome. Br J Cancer, 2018. 118(3): p. 435-440.
- 5. Naba, A., et al., *Extracellular matrix signatures of human primary metastatic colon cancers and their metastases to liver*. BMC Cancer, 2014. **14**: p. 518.
- 6. Skovbjerg, H., et al., *Collagen mRNA levels changes during colorectal cancer carcinogenesis.* BMC Cancer, 2009. **9**: p. 136.
- 7. Burke, K., et al., *Using second harmonic generation to predict patient outcome in solid tumors.* BMC Cancer, 2015. **15**: p. 929.
- 8. Qiao, J., et al., *Stroma derived COL6A3 is a potential prognosis marker of colorectal carcinoma revealed by quantitative proteomics*. Oncotarget, 2015. **6**(30): p. 29929-46.
- Shang, J., et al., Co-expression Network Analysis Identified COL8A1 Is Associated with the Progression and Prognosis in Human Colon Adenocarcinoma. Dig Dis Sci, 2018.
   63(5): p. 1219-1228.
- 10. Sole, X., et al., *Discovery and validation of new potential biomarkers for early detection of colon cancer*. PLoS One, 2014. **9**(9): p. e106748.
- 11. Yuzhalin, A.E., et al., *Colorectal cancer liver metastatic growth depends on PAD4driven citrullination of the extracellular matrix.* Nat Commun, 2018. **9**(1): p. 4783.
- 12. Kantola, T., et al., Serum endostatin levels are elevated in colorectal cancer and correlate with invasion and systemic inflammatory markers. Br J Cancer, 2014. 111(8): p. 1605-13.
- 13. Zou, X., et al., *Up-regulation of type I collagen during tumorigenesis of colorectal cancer revealed by quantitative proteomic analysis.* J Proteomics, 2013. **94**: p. 473-85.

- Rodia, M.T., et al., Systematic large-scale meta-analysis identifies a panel of two mRNAs as blood biomarkers for colorectal cancer detection. Oncotarget, 2016. 7(21): p. 30295-306.
- Birk, J.W., et al., Second harmonic generation imaging distinguishes both high-grade dysplasia and cancer from normal colonic mucosa. Dig Dis Sci, 2014. 59(7): p. 1529-34.
- Barczyk, M., S. Carracedo, and D. Gullberg, *Integrins*. Cell and Tissue Research, 2009.
   **339**(1): p. 269.
- 17. Knight, C.G., et al., *The collagen-binding A-domains of integrins alpha(1)beta(1) and alpha(2)beta(1) recognize the same specific amino acid sequence, GFOGER, in native (triple-helical) collagens.* J Biol Chem, 2000. 275(1): p. 35-40.
- Boudjadi, S., J.C. Carrier, and J.-F. Beaulieu, *Integrin α1 subunit is up-regulated in colorectal cancer*. Biomarker Research, 2013. 1(1): p. 16.
- Liu, Q.Z., et al., Expression of ITGB1 predicts prognosis in colorectal cancer: a large prospective study based on tissue microarray. Int J Clin Exp Pathol, 2015. 8(10): p. 12802-10.
- 20. Oh, B.Y., et al., *Role of beta1-Integrin in Colorectal Cancer: Case-Control Study*. Ann Coloproctol, 2014. **30**(2): p. 61-70.
- Sun, C., et al., Association of CD98, integrin beta1, integrin beta3 and Fak with the progression and liver metastases of colorectal cancer. Pathol Res Pract, 2014. 210(10): p. 668-74.
- 22. Poschau, M., et al., *EGFR and beta1-integrin targeting differentially affect colorectal carcinoma cell radiosensitivity and invasion*. Radiother Oncol, 2015. **116**(3): p. 510-6.
- 23. Rammal, H., et al., *Discoidin Domain Receptors: Potential Actors and Targets in Cancer*. Front Pharmacol, 2016. **7**: p. 55.
- 24. Konitsiotis, A.D., et al., *Characterization of high affinity binding motifs for the discoidin domain receptor DDR2 in collagen.* J Biol Chem, 2008. **283**(11): p. 6861-8.
- 25. Vogel, W., et al., *The discoidin domain receptor tyrosine kinases are activated by collagen*. Mol Cell, 1997. **1**(1): p. 13-23.
- 26. Jeitany, M., et al., *Inhibition of DDR1-BCR signalling by nilotinib as a new therapeutic strategy for metastatic colorectal cancer*. 2018. **10**(4).
- 27. Sirvent, A. and M. Lafitte, *DDR1 inhibition as a new therapeutic strategy for colorectal cancer*. 2018. **5**(4): p. e1465882.

- Chen, C.T., et al., Dual targeting of tumor angiogenesis and chemotherapy by endostatin-cytosine deaminase-uracil phosphoribosyltransferase. Mol Cancer Ther, 2011. 10(8): p. 1327-36.
- Sasaki, S., et al., DDR2 Expression Is Associated with a High Frequency of Peritoneal Dissemination and Poor Prognosis in Colorectal Cancer. Anticancer Res, 2017. 37(5):
   p. 2587-2591.
- 30. Vellinga, T.T., et al., Collagen-rich stroma in aggressive colon tumors induces mesenchymal gene expression and tumor cell invasion. Oncogene, 2016. **35**(40): p. 5263-5271.
- 31. Brauchle, E., et al., *Biomechanical and biomolecular characterization of extracellular matrix structures in human colon carcinomas*. Matrix Biol, 2018. **68-69**: p. 180-193.
- 32. Blockhuys, S., et al., Second harmonic generation for collagen I characterization in rectal cancer patients with and without preoperative radiotherapy. J Biomed Opt, 2017. **22**(10): p. 1-6.
- 33. Hongo, K., et al., *Hypoxia enhances colon cancer migration and invasion through promotion of epithelial-mesenchymal transition.* J Surg Res, 2013. **182**(1): p. 75-84.
- 34. Bonhomme, C., et al., *The Cdx2 homeobox gene has a tumour suppressor function in the distal colon in addition to a homeotic role during gut development*. Gut, 2003. 52(10): p. 1465-1471.
- 35. Asgari-Karchekani, S., et al., *CDX2 Protein Expression in Colorectal Cancer and Its Correlation with Clinical and Pathological Characteristics, Prognosis, and Survival Rate of Patients.* J Gastrointest Cancer, 2019.
- 36. Brabletz, T., et al., *Down-regulation of the homeodomain factor Cdx2 in colorectal cancer by collagen type I: an active role for the tumor environment in malignant tumor progression.* Cancer Res, 2004. **64**(19): p. 6973-7.
- 37. Tanaka, T., et al., Dysregulated expression of P1 and P2 promoter-driven hepatocyte nuclear factor-4alpha in the pathogenesis of human cancer. J Pathol, 2006. 208(5): p. 662-72.
- Chellappa, K., G.R. Robertson, and F.M. Sladek, *HNF4α: a new biomarker in colon cancer?* Biomarkers in medicine, 2012. 6(3): p. 297-300.
- Chen, L.Y., et al., NSD2 circular RNA promotes metastasis of colorectal cancer by targeting miR-199b-5p-mediated DDR1 and JAG1 signalling. 2019. 248(1): p. 103-115.

- 40. Wu, X., et al., Collagen facilitates the colorectal cancer stemness and metastasis through an integrin/PI3K/AKT/Snail signaling pathway. Biomed Pharmacother, 2019.
  114: p. 108708.
- 41. Kikuchi, K. and D. Hoshino, *Sensitization of HT29 colorectal cancer cells to vemurafenib in three-dimensional collagen cultures*. Cell Biol Int, 2019.
- 42. Ashley, N., D. Ouaret, and W.F. Bodmer, *Cellular polarity modulates drug resistance in primary colorectal cancers via orientation of the multidrug resistance protein ABCB1*. J Pathol, 2019. **247**(3): p. 293-304.
- 43. Takakura, Y., et al., *CDX2 regulates multidrug resistance 1 gene expression in malignant intestinal epithelium*. Cancer Res, 2010. **70**(17): p. 6767-78.
- 44. Kalluri, R., *The biology and function of fibroblasts in cancer*. Nat Rev Cancer, 2016.
  16(9): p. 582-98.
- 45. Herrera, M., et al., *Functional heterogeneity of cancer-associated fibroblasts from human colon tumors shows specific prognostic gene expression signature.* Clin Cancer Res, 2013. **19**(21): p. 5914-26.
- 46. Herrera, M., et al., *Cancer-associated fibroblast and M2 macrophage markers together predict outcome in colorectal cancer patients*. Cancer Sci, 2013. **104**(4): p. 437-44.
- 47. Tsujino, T., et al., *Stromal myofibroblasts predict disease recurrence for colorectal cancer*. Clin Cancer Res, 2007. **13**(7): p. 2082-90.
- Berdiel-Acer, M., et al., A monotonic and prognostic genomic signature from fibroblasts for colorectal cancer initiation, progression, and metastasis. Mol Cancer Res, 2014. 12(9): p. 1254-66.
- 49. Calon, A., et al., *Stromal gene expression defines poor-prognosis subtypes in colorectal cancer*. 2015. **47**(4): p. 320-9.
- Mukaida, N. and S. Sasaki, *Fibroblasts, an inconspicuous but essential player in colon cancer development and progression*. World journal of gastroenterology, 2016. 22(23):
   p. 5301-5316.
- Coulson-Thomas, V.J., et al., Colorectal cancer desmoplastic reaction up-regulates collagen synthesis and restricts cancer cell invasion. Cell Tissue Res, 2011. 346(2): p. 223-36.
- 52. Shin, N., et al., Cancer-Associated Fibroblasts and Desmoplastic Reactions Related to Cancer Invasiveness in Patients With Colorectal Cancer. Ann Coloproctol, 2019.
  35(1): p. 36-46.

- 53. Hanley, C.J., et al., A subset of myofibroblastic cancer-associated fibroblasts regulate collagen fiber elongation, which is prognostic in multiple cancers. Oncotarget, 2016.
  7(5): p. 6159-74.
- 54. Torres, S., et al., Proteome profiling of cancer-associated fibroblasts identifies novel proinflammatory signatures and prognostic markers for colorectal cancer. Clin Cancer Res, 2013. 19(21): p. 6006-19.
- 55. Rupp, C., et al., *IGFBP7, a novel tumor stroma marker, with growth-promoting effects in colon cancer through a paracrine tumor-stroma interaction.* Oncogene, 2015. 34(7): p. 815-25.
- 56. Tommelein, J., et al., *Cancer-associated fibroblasts connect metastasis-promoting communication in colorectal cancer*. Front Oncol, 2015. **5**: p. 63.
- 57. Garcia-Palmero, I., et al., Twist1-induced activation of human fibroblasts promotes matrix stiffness by upregulating palladin and collagen alpha1(VI). Oncogene, 2016.
  35(40): p. 5224-5236.
- Brokopp, C.E., et al., Fibroblast activation protein is induced by inflammation and degrades type I collagen in thin-cap fibroatheromata. Eur Heart J, 2011. 32(21): p. 2713-22.
- 59. Koczorowska, M.M., et al., *Fibroblast activation protein-alpha, a stromal cell surface protease, shapes key features of cancer associated fibroblasts through proteome and degradome alterations.* Mol Oncol, 2016. **10**(1): p. 40-58.
- Torres, S., et al., LOXL2 Is Highly Expressed in Cancer-Associated Fibroblasts and Associates to Poor Colon Cancer Survival. Clin Cancer Res, 2015. 21(21): p. 4892-902.
- 61. Omoto, T., et al., *The impact of stromal Hic-5 on the tumorigenesis of colorectal cancer through lysyl oxidase induction and stromal remodeling*. Oncogene, 2018. **37**(9): p. 1205-1219.
- 62. Delaine-Smith, R., et al., *Transglutaminase-2 Mediates the Biomechanical Properties* of the Colorectal Cancer Tissue Microenvironment that Contribute to Disease Progression. Cancers, 2019. **11**(5): p. 701.
- 63. Rai, A., et al., *Exosomes Derived from Human Primary and Metastatic Colorectal Cancer Cells Contribute to Functional Heterogeneity of Activated Fibroblasts by Reprogramming Their Proteome.* Proteomics, 2019. **19**(8): p. e1800148.

- 64. Calon, A., et al., *Dependency of colorectal cancer on a TGF-beta-driven program in stromal cells for metastasis initiation*. Cancer Cell, 2012. **22**(5): p. 571-84.
- 65. Khong, T.L., et al., *Identification of the angiogenic gene signature induced by EGF and hypoxia in colorectal cancer*. BMC Cancer, 2013. **13**: p. 518.
- 66. Paku, S., et al., A new mechanism for pillar formation during tumor-induced intussusceptive angiogenesis: inverse sprouting. Am J Pathol, 2011. **179**(3): p. 1573-85.
- 67. Santos, A.M., et al., *Targeting fibroblast activation protein inhibits tumor stromagenesis and growth in mice.* J Clin Invest, 2009. **119**(12): p. 3613-25.
- 68. Afik, R., et al., *Tumor macrophages are pivotal constructors of tumor collagenous matrix.* J Exp Med, 2016. **213**(11): p. 2315-2331.
- 69. Guinney, J., et al., *The consensus molecular subtypes of colorectal cancer*. Nat Med, 2015. 21(11): p. 1350-6.
- 70. Herrera, A., et al., *Endothelial cell activation on 3D-matrices derived from PDGF-BB-stimulated fibroblasts is mediated by Snail1*. Oncogenesis, 2018. **7**(9): p. 76.
- 71. Olof Olsson, P., et al., *Inhibition of integrin alphaVbeta6 changes fibril thickness of stromal collagen in experimental carcinomas*. Cell Commun Signal, 2018. **16**(1): p. 36.
- 72. Kang, J.C., et al., *Intratumoral macrophage counts correlate with tumor progression in colorectal cancer.* J Surg Oncol, 2010. **102**(3): p. 242-8.
- 73. Cavdar, Z., et al., *Role of gelatinases (matrix metalloproteinases 2 and 9), vascular endothelial growth factor and endostatin on clinicopathological behaviour of rectal cancer.* Colorectal Dis, 2011. **13**(2): p. 154-60.
- 74. Nozawa, H., C. Chiu, and D. Hanahan, *Infiltrating neutrophils mediate the initial angiogenic switch in a mouse model of multistage carcinogenesis*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2006. **103**(33): p. 12493-8.
- 75. O'Shannessy, D.J., et al., Influence of tumor microenvironment on prognosis in colorectal cancer: Tissue architecture-dependent signature of endosialin (TEM-1) and associated proteins. Oncotarget, 2014. 5(12): p. 3983-95.
- 76. Tong, R.T., et al., Vascular normalization by vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2 blockade induces a pressure gradient across the vasculature and improves drug penetration in tumors. Cancer Res, 2004. **64**(11): p. 3731-6.
- 77. Mancuso, M.R., et al., *Rapid vascular regrowth in tumors after reversal of VEGF inhibition*. J Clin Invest, 2006. **116**(10): p. 2610-21.

- Jia, Y., et al., *Recombinant human endostatin endostar inhibits tumor growth and metastasis in a mouse xenograft model of colon cancer*. Pathol Oncol Res, 2012. 18(2): p. 315-23.
- 79. Stock, K., et al., *Capturing tumor complexity in vitro: Comparative analysis of 2D and 3D tumor models for drug discovery.* Sci Rep, 2016. **6**: p. 28951.
- 80. Mierke, C.T., *The fundamental role of mechanical properties in the progression of cancer disease and inflammation*. Rep Prog Phys, 2014. **77**(7): p. 076602.
- 81. De Angelis, M.L., et al., *Colorectal cancer spheroid biobanks: multi-level approaches to drug sensitivity studies.* 2018. **34**(6): p. 459-469.
- 82. Yada, E., et al., *Use of patient-derived xenograft mouse models in cancer research and treatment*. Future science OA, 2017. **4**(3): p. FSO271-FSO271.
- 83. Zoetemelk, M., et al., *Short-term 3D culture systems of various complexity for treatment optimization of colorectal carcinoma*. Sci Rep, 2019. **9**(1): p. 7103.
- 84. Pape, J., et al., *Cancer invasion regulates vascular complexity in a three-dimensional biomimetic model.* Eur J Cancer, 2019. **119**: p. 179-193.
- 85. Magdeldin, T., et al., *Engineering a vascularised 3D in vitro model of cancer progression*. Sci Rep, 2017. **7**: p. 44045.
- 86. Carvalho, M.R. and D. Barata, *Colorectal tumor-on-a-chip system: A 3D tool for precision onco-nanomedicine*. 2019. **5**(5): p. eaaw1317.
- Piccoli, M., et al., Decellularized colorectal cancer matrix as bioactive microenvironment for in vitro 3D cancer research. J Cell Physiol, 2018. 233(8): p. 5937-5948.

# **Discussion and Conclusion**

#### **Discussion et Conclusion (summary in French)**

L'ensemble de nos données a permis de mettre en évidence une association moléculaire fonctionnelle entre LRP-1 et DDR1 dans des cellules de cancer colorectal. En effet, nous avons montré que LRP-1 est capable d'endocyter et de réguler l'expression de DDR1 à la membrane plasmique de carcinomes colorectaux. Cette association permet de réguler la prolifération des cellules de cancer colorectal dans une matrice 3D de collagène de type I en favorisant l'entrée du cycle cellulaire en phase S et en diminuant l'apoptose.

De nombreux travaux ont montré que LRP-1 peut être considéré non seulement comme un intégrateur des signaux issus du microenvironnement tumoral mais aussi comme un récepteur multifonctionnel régulant de nombreux processus tels que la migration et la survie des cellules cancéreuses. Sa fonction globale reste néanmoins extrêmement complexe à interpréter d'autant plus que le niveau de son expression est très variable selon le type de tumeurs et le stade d'évolution du cancer. Cependant, dans différents types de cancer, la tendance semble montrer une corrélation entre la surexpression de LRP-1 avec un mauvais pronostic [440, 519], une prolifération cellulaire accrue, un pouvoir invasif plus important et une récidive tumorale [29, 444, 489]. Jusqu'à présent, peu d'études ont recherché la contribution de LRP-1 dans la pathologie du CCR malgré un intérêt clinique évident. Nous avons récemment démontré que la perte d'expression de LRP-1 est associée à un mauvais pronostic dans les cancers du côlon [29]. De plus, chez les patients au stade métastatique, l'expression de LRP-1 est associée à une survie globale plus courte. Dans ce travail, nous avons montré que l'inhibition de l'expression de LRP-1 diminue la prolifération des cellules du carcinome du colon et ce uniquement en matrice 3D de collagène de type I. Bien que de nombreux travaux aient prouvé que LRP-1 peut activer des voies de signalisation telles que Ras, c-Myc, MAPK et Akt/PI3K, largement connues comme des voies oncogéniques impliquées dans les processus de prolifération et de survie cellulaire [392], très peu de données ont montré que LRP-1 jouait un rôle dans la prolifération cellulaire. Salama et ses collaborateurs ont décrit récemment l'implication de la voie LRP-1:tPA dans la migration et la prolifération des cellules de mélanome [461]. Leurs résultats ont permis de proposer un modèle selon lequel LRP-1 augmente la prolifération des cellules de mélanome et le nombre de métastases de manière dépendante de la voie de signalisation ERK. Les données de Beaujouin et al. ont également montré que la liaison de la pro-cath-D à LRP-1 favorise la croissance des fibroblastes dans le cancer mammaire [490].

Il est intéressant de noter que nos résultats montrent que LRP-1 régule la prolifération des cellules cancéreuses du côlon uniquement lorsque ces cellules sont cultivées en matrice 3D de

#### Discussion

collagène de type I. Au cours de la progression tumorale, après le passage de la membrane basale, les cellules cancéreuses vont migrer au sein d'un stroma principalement composé de collagène de type I [494]. En plus de ses propriétés en tant que protéine de structure, le collagène de type I peut activer différentes voies de signalisation cellulaire responsables de plusieurs fonctions des cellules tumorales [260]. De plus en plus d'études suggèrent que les récepteurs DDR jouent un rôle clé dans la progression tumorale en régulant les interactions des cellules avec le collagène [12, 257, 327, 520]. Nos données montrent que l'inhibition de la fonction d'endocytose de LRP-1 induit une accumulation de DDR1 à la surface cellulaire. Nous avons ensuite montré que les récepteurs LRP-1 et DDR1 sont étroitement associés au sein d'un même complexe à membrane plasmique des cellules HT-29 et que LRP-1 constitue un récepteur d'endocytose de DDR1. Ces résultats sont d'autant plus intéressants que jusqu'à présent, peu d'informations sont disponibles sur la régulation de l'expression de DDR1 au niveau de la membrane plasmique. En présence de LRP-1, le récepteur DDR1 pourrait être endocyté dans des endosomes, menant soit à sa dégradation au niveau du lysosome, soit à son recyclage au niveau de la membrane plasmique [273]. Dans des fibroblastes de souris, DDR1 est internalisé seul ou complexé avec d'autres récepteurs à activité tyrosine kinase (RTK). En effet, dans le carcinome mammaire, le récepteur de l'IGF-I peut phosphoryler DDR1 induisant ainsi leur internalisation et leur incorporation dans les endosomes précoces [305]. Les RTK internalisés peuvent être recyclés à la membrane plasmique, être dégradés ou subir une voie rétrograde (endosome/Golgi/réticulum endoplasmique). De récents résultats montrent que DDR1, suite à son activation, est internalisé dans le noyau pour jouer le rôle de facteur de transcription dans des cellules rénales [279].

Nos résultats ont montré que LRP-1 exerce ses effets prolifératifs en régulant de façon négative la présence de DDR1 au niveau de la membrane plasmique. En effet, en induisant l'endocytose de DDR1, LRP-1 abolit l'effet inhibiteur de DDR1sur la prolifération cellulaire. L'inhibition de LRP-1 induit un arrêt du cycle cellulaire en phase G1, et ce de manière plus importante lorsque DDR1 est surexprimé. De plus, l'inhibition de LRP-1 induit une augmentation de l'apoptose des cellules HT-29 et de façon plus importante quand celles-ci surexpriment DDR1. Ces données concordent avec celles obtenues par le groupe d'Erik Maquoi qui a montré que la prolifération cellulaire des cellules de carcinome mammaire de type épithélial et non invasives (MCF-7 et ZR-75-1) était diminuée uniquement dans des matrices 3D de collagène de type I [9, 257]. Dans ces études, DDR1 semble induire l'apoptose *via* l'induction de l'expression de la protéine pro-apototique BIK [260]. D'autre part, des résultats précédents obtenus par notre groupe ont montré que lorsque des cellules de carcinome

mammaire MCF-7 et ZR-75-1 sont cultivées en matrice 3D de collagène de type I âgé, l'activation du récepteur DDR1 est diminuée. Cela induit par conséquent une protection de ces cellules contre le pouvoir suppresseur de la prolifération cellulaire de DDR1, la surexpression de BIK et par conséquent l'apoptose induite par celui-ci [9, 310]. D'autres études ont montré que DDR2 pouvait inhiber la prolifération des cellules de mélanome humain et de fibrosarcome en induisant un arrêt en G0 / G1 du cycle cellulaire. Il a été démontré que ce processus était induit par p15INK4b, un inhibiteur de protéine-kinase dépendante des cyclines (CDK), suggérant que cette protéine pourrait être une cible en aval de la signalisation DDR2 [10, 11, 521]. Saby et ses collaborateurs ont également montré que le vieillissement du collagène de type I induit une diminution de l'activation de DDR2 engendrant une augmentation de la prolifération des cellules de fibrosarcome en matrice 3D. Dans cette étude, le collagène de type I jeune active fortement DDR2 induisant par conséquent une augmentation de l'expression de p21<sup>CIP1</sup> et une diminution de la prolifération cellulaire. Cependant, en présence du collagène de type I âgé, ils ont observé une diminution de l'activation de DDR2 accompagnée par une diminution de l'expression de p21<sup>CIP1</sup> et une augmentation de la prolifération cellulaire [15]. Pour conclure, mon travail de thèse nous a permis d'identifier non seulement un nouveau mécanisme moléculaire contrôlant l'expression de DDR1 à la surface des cellules mais aussi un rôle supplémentaire de LRP-1 en tant qu'intégrateur des signaux issus du microenvironnement tumoral.

Comme mentionné précédemment, les résultats de cette étude ont mis en évidence une nouvelle association fonctionnelle entre LRP-1 et DDR1 jouant un rôle dans la régulation de la prolifération cellulaire et l'apoptose des cellules de cancer du côlon. Cette étude a été réalisée dans un modèle de culture en matrice 3D de collagène de type I. Dans cette étude, ce système de culture est décisif puisque les mêmes effets n'ont pas été observés dans un modèle classique de culture en 2D sur *coating* de collagène de type I.

Cependant, dans ce modèle, la principale limite est l'absence des cellules stromales, composantes essentielles du microenvironnement tumoral, comme les fibroblastes associés au cancer et les cellules endothéliales. De nouveaux modèles 3D de cancer utilisant une matrice de collagène peuvent inclure ces composants pour permettre la communication entre les cellules cancéreuses et stromales, comblant ainsi cette lacune des modèles traditionnels de cancer. Des méthodologies récentes ont été développées pour discriminer différentes populations cellulaires dans les modèles de co-culture et pour analyser leurs interactions et leurs phénotypes [522-525]. L'utilisation de la GFP (*Green Fluorescent Protein*) et d'enzymes tels que la luciférase / luciférine dans les co-cultures a été largement décrite et utilisée [523].
D'autres composants de la MEC devraient également être pris en compte. En effet, une étude récente a montré que par rapport à un tissu normal, la MEC tumorale du cancer colorectal contient aussi spécifiquement d'autres composants protéiques (fibronectine, collagène de type VI, ténascine...) qui doivent être pris en compte [526]. Cependant, la mise en œuvre de ces systèmes multi-cellulaires est extrêmement difficile et prend beaucoup de temps, et les résultats techniques se limitent souvent à combiner au mieux deux types de cellules différents, et rarement plus. De plus, en raison des exigences de culture extrêmement complexes et parfois antagonistes entre les types de cellules, il est difficile d'utiliser ces systèmes pour de longues observations, alors que nous avons pu le faire pendant plus de 5 jours avec notre système 3D.

En ce qui concerne nos données, il apparaît essentiel d'analyser les effets du complexe LRP-1/DDR1 sur la prolifération des cellules CRC dans des contextes cellulaires distincts en utilisant des co-cultures avec des cellules stromales et/ou des études *in vivo*. Par exemple, les expériences menées par notre équipe sur le rôle de LRP-1 dans les CAF devraient permettre d'accroître nos connaissances moléculaires sur ce sujet et d'envisager dans les prochains mois des modèles de co-culture 3D pertinents incluant les CAF.

De plus, l'impact pronostique et clinique de l'expression du DDR1 dans les cancers colorectaux et son association potentielle avec un profil morphologique et/ou moléculaire spécifique doit être étudié avec précision. Une étude clinique menée par notre groupe est actuellement en cours afin d'élargir nos connaissances actuelles sur l'expression de DDR1 dans les cancers colorectaux et son association avec l'expression de LRP-1. Ces travaux sont actuellement réalisés à partir d'une cohorte de patients de l'hôpital de Reims préalablement caractérisée [29]. Les premiers résultats de ce travail récemment initié ont montré que DDR1 est très fortement exprimé dans les tissus de cancer colorectal dans tous les cas, alors qu'il ne l'est que de manière modérée à forte dans 93 % des cas dans les tissus sains. Ces résultats sont très prometteurs et doivent être confirmés et étendus. Nous chercherons notamment à comparer nos résultats concernant l'expression de DDR1 avec ceux déjà obtenus sur LRP-1 et à les corréler avec les données de survie ou de récidive des patients.

En ce qui concerne les données obtenues dans cette étude, bien que nous ayons observé un effet de l'inhibition de LRP-1 sur le cycle cellulaire, la régulation du cycle cellulaire doit être étudiée plus en détails. Une meilleure compréhension des mécanismes moléculaires impliqués dans les effets médiés par l'axe LRP-1/DDR1, notamment en ce qui concerne les voies de signalisation et les cibles en aval, permettrait de mieux comprendre les mécanismes de régulation du cycle cellulaire et de l'apoptose [527, 528]. Par exemple, le facteur de transcription c-Myc favorise la progression du cycle cellulaire en induisant la transcription des

gènes impliqués dans l'activation du cycle cellulaire et en inhibant celle impliqué dans la régulation négative du cycle cellulaire. Les suppresseurs de tumeurs tels que p53 et RB inhibent la progression du cycle cellulaire et induisent l'apoptose [527-531]. Ce sont là des exemples de cibles potentielles qui devront être évaluées.

De nombreuses études ont montré que les interactions entre les cellules et la MEC sont à l'origine de plusieurs fonctions cellulaires dont la prolifération, la migration et la différenciation des cellules. Le remodelage de la MEC se produit naturellement pendant le développement, l'homéostasie tissulaire et les maladies [214]. Comme mentionné précédemment, le collagène de type I est l'une des protéines les plus abondantes dans tout l'organisme et est le principal composant de la MEC. Il joue un rôle crucial dans les conditions physiologiques et pathologiques [532-534]. Le remodelage du collagène de type I est associé à une agressivité de la tumeur et à un mauvais pronostic chez les patients [535-537]. Dans le cancer colorectal, le collagène de type I est impliqué dans la tumorigénèse, la transition épithélio-mésenchymateuse, le caractère invasif et les métastases [30, 511, 538-540]. En effet, le remodelage du collagène favorise la progression du cancer [214, 541]. Le collagène de type I présente un taux de renouvellement excessif lors développement du cancer colorectal [538]. De plus, LRP-1 est bien connu pour être impliqué dans l'endocytose de plusieurs constituants de la MEC (fibronectine, décorine, métalloprotéases, facteur de croissance...) et joue un rôle crucial dans l'assemblage, le renouvellement et le contrôle de l'organisation de la matrice. Afin d'étudier (i) si les cellules de cancer colorectal peuvent remodeler la matrice de collagène de type I dans des conditions in vitro et (ii) si LRP-1 intervient dans ce processus, nous nous proposons d'analyser finement l'organisation des fibrilles de collagène dans un système de matrice 3D. Dans nos expériences préliminaires, les cellules de carcinome colorectal ont été ensemencées dans des matrices de collagène 3D de type I en présence ou non de RAP. Les cellules et les fibres de collagène ont ensuite été analysées par SHG (Figure 27, page 156). De manière intéressante, nos résultats ont montré que l'inhibition de LRP-1 entraîne une diminution significative du diamètre des fibres de collagène (Figure 28C-D, page 157). Le traitement RAP n'a toutefois pas induit de changements significatifs sur la longueur et la rectitude des fibres de collagène (Figure 28E-H, page 157). Ces données préliminaires suggèrent pour la première fois que les processus induits par LRP-1 pourraient être directement impliqués dans le remodelage du collagène.

Nous chercherons à renforcer nos résultats préliminaires en utilisant l'imagerie vibrationnelle (imagerie Raman) pour mieux caractériser les effets de l'endocytose médiée par LRP-1 sur l'organisation 3D des fibres de collagène. Afin de continuer cette étude, nous

proposons notamment d'utiliser plusieurs modèles cellulaires de cancer colorectal présentant différents niveaux d'agressivité et des niveaux d'expression des protéases extracellulaires distincts, pour évaluer les effets de LRP-1 sur les propriétés du collagène de type I. Ces recherches seront complétées par des analyses biochimiques de la dégradation du collagène de type I.

## Discussion

## **Discussion and Conclusion**

CRC treatments are nowadays often based on conventional methods such as surgery, chemotherapy, radiotherapy or a combination of some of them [34, 43, 60]. The therapeutic outcomes are highly dependent on the stages at diagnostic. In general, the tumor recurrence rate is still very high in most stages [48]. For instance, in stage III CRC patients, 33% of them will have recurrence after surgery [542], and the percentage is 15 to 50% after adjuvant therapy [43]. Recently, targeted therapies and immunotherapy are emerging and promising approaches for CRC treatment [137, 143]. However, the efficacy of these therapies remains controversial. Immunotherapy targeting PD1, PDL1, CTLA4, and TCR has been proposed recently and clinical trials are under investigation [149, 543]. Although several studies have defined some common genetic and epigenetic alterations in CRC [149], there is no fully comprehensive understanding of biological and clinical distinct subsets of CRC. Some somatic mutations are commonly found in advanced stages of CRC. However, the frequency of these mutations is variable, suggesting that the known genetic alterations may partly contribute to colorectal progression [34, 79]. Thus, other potential markers of multistep carcinogenesis in CRC progression need to be identified.

Only a few studies have assessed the expression of LRP-1 in CRC [29, 492]. In the present work, we investigated whether LRP-1 may contribute to CRC development and focused on its putative role in tumor cell proliferation. In fact, sustaining proliferation is one of the most important hallmark features of cancer [80]. By using 3D collagen matrix model, we have identified DDR1 as a potential target of LRP-1 in the negative regulation of CRC proliferation. In fact, we demonstrate that LRP-1, by inducing DDR1 endocytosis, decreases its expression at the cell surface and thus inhibits its function as cell proliferation suppressor.

Recent studies indicated the involvement of LRP-1 in cell proliferation in both physiological and pathological contexts. In fact, LRP-1 works either as a regulator or as a mediator to control key proliferative signaling pathways such as PDGF, ERK/MAPK, and AKT/PI3K [392-395, 397]. In addition, upregulation of LRP-1 has been associated with pathogenesis. As an example, upregulation of cell proliferation by LRP-1 results in renal fibrosis [544, 545]. In contrast, LRP-1 was also shown to protect vascular wall integrity and to act against atherosclerosis [393, 546] wherein LRP-1 induces both proliferation and anti-proliferation [24, 547]. Very few studies have reported the role of LRP-1 in regulating the proliferation of cancer cells and some of the published data described a role of LRP-1 as an inhibitor of cancer cell proliferation [23, 29, 435-437, 441-443]. However, a very recent study

## Discussion

indicated that LRP-1:tPA pathway promotes melanoma cell migration and proliferation [461]. Other studies have shown that LRP-1 overexpression seems to correlate with poor prognosis, increased cell proliferation, invasiveness and tumor recurrence [440, 444, 489, 519]. In CRC, little is known about the contribution of LRP-1 in CRC proliferation. Recent studies in our team demonstrated that low LRP-1 expression in colorectal tumors is correlated with unfavorable clinical outcomes [29]. In an apparently contradictory way, in the present work, we demonstrated that LRP-1 up-regulates colorectal adenocarcinoma cell proliferation in 3D collagen matrices (Figure 2, Results part). In fact, LRP-1 knockdown using shLRP-1 results in restoration of DDR1 amount at the cell surface and its activation by collagen, thus inducing an inhibition of CRC proliferation (Figure 3, Results part). As usual when working on LRP-1, it is somewhat difficult to associate the conclusion from the data of these studies. Indeed, while the first clinical study conducted in the team highlights a role of LRP-1 as tumor suppressor in tumors from patients [12], we showed using our in vitro 3D matrix that LRP-1 plays a positive role in CRC tumorigenesis through promotion of proliferation. However, it is important to note that while we investigated the role of LRP-1 in CRC proliferation (tumorigenesis), especially in the non-invasive HT-29 cells, the clinical study cited above has investigated the statute of LRP-1 based on the outcome of patients associated to the risk of aggressiveness and metastasis [12]. This clearly feeds our reflection on the fact that this receptor can play distinct, and sometimes contradictory, roles depending on the cells within the microenvironment and especially on the temporality of tumor development. Concerning DDR1, its role seems to be also controversial. In fact, we described its role as a proliferation (or tumorigenesis) restrictor. However, in the recently published data by Serge Roche's group, DDR1 has been described as a promotor of CRC invasion and metastasis [12, 13]. In this case also, it is quite difficult to associate the conclusions of the two studies since the role of DDR1 has been addressed on two different cellular functions, cell proliferation and invasion, respectively.

As LRP-1 is a multifunctional endocytotic receptor, LRP-1 inhibition results in the accumulation of its ligands or effectors at/around the plasma membrane. In this study, we have clarified that LRP-1 inhibition leads to increase in membrane DDR1 accumulation (**Figure 4A**, Results part), that consequently reduces CRC proliferation. Since LRP1-upregulated cell proliferation was only observed in 3D collagen matrices (**Figure 2**, Results part), we supposed that the density of collagen fibers in 2D models was not sufficient and optimized to induce cell proliferation through LRP1-induced DDR1 endocytic pathway. Although the down-regulated effects of DDR1 on cell proliferation have been well discussed in the Results part of the manuscript (see the original article), some questions concerning other type I collagen receptors

need to be clarified.  $\beta$ 1-integrin heterodimers ( $\alpha$ 1 $\beta$ 1,  $\alpha$ 2 $\beta$ 1,  $\alpha$ 10 $\beta$ 1, and  $\alpha$ 11 $\beta$ 1) have been the first studied and the most studied type I collagen receptors [229, 230, 548, 549]. Glycoprotein VI (GPVI) and leukocyte-associated immunoglobulin-like receptor-1 (LAIR-1) have been described also as receptors of type I collagen [260]. In the case of integrins, recent studies in our team demonstrated that LRP-1 induces *β*1-integrin internalization and recycling back to plasma membrane in tumor cells [25]. However,  $\beta$ 1-integrin has been reported to negatively regulate cell proliferation in a wide range of cellular environment [549-552]. Recent studies in our team demonstrated that  $\beta$ 1-integrin is not involved in the regulation of cell proliferation in epithelial-like breast carcinomas and fibrosarcoma cells in collagen 3D matrix. Indeed, DDR1 and DDR2 have been identified to play a role of cell proliferation suppressors in these two cancer cell models [9, 15, 16, 310]. More importantly, both  $\alpha 1\beta 1$  and  $\alpha 2\beta 1$  have been reported to promote CRC progression, cell proliferation and survival [553-556]. Little is known about the effects of  $\alpha 10\beta 1$  and  $\alpha 11\beta 1$  on cell proliferation. Lu and collaborators have shown that  $\alpha 11$ integrin is essential for non-small cell lung adenocarcinoma A549 cell proliferation [242]. In the agreement with this study, a very recent work also indicated that all-integrin mediates 3D cell invasion and ERK-mediated cell proliferation [557]. Similarly,  $\alpha 10\beta 1$  was recently shown to promote glioblastoma cell proliferation [558].

To date, a comprehensive understanding of type I collagen's contribution in CRC progression has not yet fully covered. However, recent studies have suggested a role for type I collagen in CRC. Type I collagen has been reported to promote CRC progression through the activation of integrin/PI3K/AKT/Snail signaling pathway [30, 511, 538-540]. In our study, the effects of LRP-1 inhibition was only observed in 3D type I collagen environment (**Figures 2 and 3**, Results part), underlining the fact that a 3D matrix model is the most physiologically relevant to mimic the natural tumor microenvironment and investigate the phenotype of cancer cells *in vitro*.

In this study, we have shown that LRP-1 inhibition by using both RAP and blocking antibodies leads to cell cycle arrest at G1 phase (**Figure 6**, Results part). These data suggested a role for DDR1 in the regulation of cell cycle. Others studies have demonstrated that DDR2 also inhibit cell proliferation by regulating proteins involved in the cell cycle [10, 11, 521].

Our results also indicated that LRP-1 inhibition leads to increase in apoptotic index (**Figure 7**, Results part).

Little is known about a direct involvement of LRP-1 in driving apoptosis. Nevertheless, numerous studies have reported the contribution of LRP-1 to cell survival. For example, early studies showed that LRP-1 deletion leads to mouse embryonic lethality [352]. Wang and

## Discussion

collaborators recently reported that LRP-1 is able to reduce the effects of oxidative stress and neuronal apoptosis in mice [559]. *In vitro*, LRP-1 has been shown to trigger the activation of AKT pathway to promote cell survival [384, 389]. Furthermore, LRP-1 was reported to inhibit apoptosis by modulating JNK signaling pathway [390], and anoikis through TSP1/calreticulin axis signaling [391]. LRP-1 knockdown or inhibition has also been shown to lead to a decrease in AKT activation and to an increase in pro-apoptotic Caspase-3 activation [386-388, 560]. Interestingly, our findings suggested that the accumulation of membrane-anchored DDR1 upon LRP-1 inhibition may mainly contribute to apoptosis in a non-direct manner through the tumor suppression function of DDR1. Consistently, overexpression of DDR1-GFP induced an increase in CRC apoptosis (**Figure 7C**, Results part). Indeed, DDR1 was reported to induce BIK expression, a pro-apoptotic member of the BCL-2 protein family that triggers apoptotic pathway [9, 310]. However, it has been demonstrated that DDR1 promotes cell survival [6, 303, 561-563]. Moreover, DDR1 has been shown to be necessary for the formation of linear invadosomes at the level of collagen fibers for the invasion process of basal-like breast carcinoma cells without requiring the kinase function of the receptor [313].

In conclusion, we identified that LRP-1-mediated internalization of DDR1 promotes noninvasive CRC proliferation. This is probably just one of several features supported by the LRP-1/DDR1 interaction in the CRC context. This new mechanical insight is proposed in the graphical abstract below (**Figure 26**, page 152).



Figure 26. A proposed model for LRP-1/DDR1 pathway in non-invasive CRC. (A) In basal conditions, LRP-1 induces DDR1 internalization, sustaining cell cycle progression and leading to decreased cell apoptosis and increased cell proliferation. (B) Upon LRP-1 antagonization or inhibition by either RAP or R2629, LRP-1 becomes unable to interact with cell-surface DDR1, thus decreasing DDR1 endocytosis and increasing the amount of activated DDR1 at the cell surface. This leads to cell cycle arrest and subsequent down-regulation of cell proliferation and up-regulation of apoptosis.

# Perspectives

As mentioned previously, the findings of this study highlighted a new functional association between LRP-1 and DDR1 playing a role in the regulation of cell proliferation and apoptosis of colon carcinomas. This study was carried out in 3D type I collagen matrix culture system. This culture system was critical since 2D collagen coating conditions did not lead to the same effects.

However, in this model, the principal limit was that the tumor microenvironment cannot be reconstituted nor mimicked owing to important stromal cells, such as cancer-associated fibroblasts and endothelial cells. New 3D models of cancer using a collagen matrix can include these components to allow the cancer-stromal cell crosstalk, therefore being able to fill this gap in the biomimicry of cancer disease models. Recent methodologies have been developed to discriminate different cell populations in co-culture models and to analyze their interactions and phenotypes [522-525]. The use of GFP and luciferase/luciferin reporters in co-cultures have been largely described and used [523]. Other components of the ECM should be also considered. In fact, a recent study has shown that compared to normal tissue, tumor ECM of CRC contains also specifically other adhesive components (fibronectin, type VI collagen, tenascin ...) that should be taken into account, notably in the right ratios [526]. However, the implementation of these multi-cellular systems is extremely difficult and time-consuming to implement, and the technical deliverables are often limited to combining two different cell types at the best, and rarely more. In addition, due to the extremely complex and sometimes antagonistic culture requirements between cell types, it is difficult to use these systems for long observations, when we were able to do by for more than 5 days using our 3D system.

Regarding our data, it appears essential to elucidate the effects of the LRP-1/DDR1 complex on CRC cell proliferation in separate cellular contexts using co-cultures with stroma cells and/or *in vivo* assays. For instance, the experiments being carried out by the team on the role of LRP-1 in CAFs should make it possible to increase our molecular knowledge on this topic and to consider relevant 3D co-culture models including CAFs in the coming months. Moreover, prognostic and clinical impact of DDR1 expression in colorectal cancers and its potential association with a specific morphologic and/or a molecular profile needs to be accurately addressed. A clinical study conducted by our group is currently underway to expand our current knowledge about the expression of DDR1 in colorectal cancers and its association with LRP-1 expression. This work is carried out using a previously validated and annotated cohort of patients from the Reims Hospital [29]. The first results of this recently initiated work showed that DDR1 is very strongly expressed in colorectal cancer tissues in all cases, whereas it is only expressed in a moderate to strong manner in 93% of cases in normal tissues.

results are very promising and needs to be confirmed and extended. We will notably seek to merge and reconcile our results regarding DDR1 expression with those already obtained on LRP-1 using the same cohort and explore correlations with patient survival or recurrence data.

Although we have observed changes in cell cycle upon LRP-1 inhibition, the regulation of cell cycle needs to be studied in more detail. A better understanding of the molecular mechanisms involved in the LRP-1/DDR1-mediated pathway, especially regarding signaling pathways and the downstream targets, would allow to better establish how the cell cycle and the apoptosis are regulated [527, 528]. For instance, the transcription factor c-Myc promotes cell cycle progression by inducing transcription of genes involved in the cell cycle activation and by suppressing the expression of genes that are involved in the negative regulation of cell cycle. Tumor suppressors such as p53 and RB inhibit cell cycle progression and induce apoptosis [527-531]. These are examples of potential targets that will need to be assessed.

It is well documented that interactions between cells and ECM drive several processes including cell proliferation, migration, and differentiation. ECM remodeling naturally occur during development, tissue homeostasis and diseases [214]. As mentioned previously, type I collagen is one of the most abundant proteins throughout the body and is the main component of ECM, which plays crucial roles in both physiological and pathological conditions [532-534]. Type I collagen remodeling has been associated with tumor aggressiveness and poor prognosis in patients [21, 25, 26]. In CRC, type I collagen has been reported to be involved in tumorigenesis, EMT, invasiveness, and metastasis [30, 511, 538-540]. In fact, it has been welldocumented that collagen remodeling promotes cancer progression [214, 541]. Excessive type I collagen turnover during CRC progression has been reported [538]. Moreover, LRP-1 is wellknown to be involved in endocytosis of several constituents of the ECM (fibronectin, decorin, metalloproteases, growth factor...) and plays a crucial role in the assembly, the turnover and the control of matrix network organization. To know whether CRC cells can remodel type I collagen matrix under in vitro conditions and whether LRP-1 could play a role in this process, we propose to finely analyze collagen fibril organization in 3D matrix system. In our preliminary experiments, the colorectal carcinoma cells were seeded in 3D type I collagen matrices in the presence or not of the LRP-1 antagonist RAP. Then, cells and collagen fibers were analyzed by SHG (Figure 27, page 156). Excitingly, our results showed that LRP-1 inhibition results in a significant decrease in collagen fiber diameter (Figure 28C-D page 157). RAP treatment did not however induced significant changes on the collagen fiber length and straightness (Figure 28E-H, page 157). These preliminary data suggest for the first time that LRP-1-engaged processes could be directly involved in collagen remodeling.



**Figure 27.** Second Harmonic Generation imaging.  $HT-29^{DDR1-GFP}$  cells were seeded in 3D type I collagen matrix with/without RAP treatments (500 nM) for 3 days. SHG images were performed using Zeiss LSM 710-NLO confocal microscopic system. Laser excitation was set at 860 nm using a CHAMELEON femtosecond Titanium-Sapphire laser (Coherent, Courtaboeuf, France). Laser power was adjusted up to 20 mW. The emitted SHG signal, after spectral filtering using a 420–440 nm band-pass filter, is shown in blue. Backward pSHG images (425 µm × 425 µm) were acquired using ZEN imaging software. (A) Pixel by pixel detection of transmission-photomultiplier tube. (B) The organization of collagen fibers and cells using reflection channel (C). Detection of HT-29<sup>DDR1-GFP</sup> cells with GFP channel. (D) Detection of collagen fibers with SHG channel.



*Figure 28. Analysis of SHG signal.* (*A*) *The model of frame-by-frame analysis for studying fibrillar type I collagen remodeling.* (*B*) *The graph represents the distribution of width values of all fibers in control and RAP treated conditions.* (*C*, *D*) *RAP treatment results in a significant decrease in the width of collagen fibers. The graphs E and F represent the distribution of length (E) and straightness (F) respectively of the fibers. The quantitative analysis of fiber length and straightness is presented in G and H respectively.* 

## **Perspectives**

Although the mechanisms of ECM remodeling by tumor cells have not yet well been elucidated, recent studies have shown a cross-talk between tumor cells and ECM which involves a role of factors secreted by tumor cells in the remodeling and/or degradation of ECM components, particularly type I collagen. It is known that type I collagen degradation are processed by multiple proteases. Metalloproteinases (MMP) family is among the most wellknown and characterized proteases involved in ECM remodeling, especially in the degradation of type I collagen [564-566]. For example, MMP-9 was reported to degrade type I collagen [567]. Karagiannis and Popel have reported that MMP-2 is likewise involved in type I collagen degradation [568] while serum levels of type I collagen degradation products have been associated with poor prognosis in lung cancer [569]. It should be noted that MMP-1 and MMP-14/MT1-MMP are the most widely studied proteases regarding type I collagen degradation. MT1-MMP plays also an important role in MMP-2 activation [570-572], underlining the intricacy of the networks for activating these processes. Furthermore, urokinase-type plasminogen activator (uPA) also has been shown to promote type I collagen degradation through inducing MMP activation [459, 460]. In CRC, the expression of MMP-1, MMP-2, MMP-9 and MMP-13 have been demonstrated to correlate with tumor invasiveness, metastasis, and poor prognosis in patients with CRC [227]. More importantly, MMP-9 expression level has been reported as an indicator of advanced CRC stages [573-575]. As previously mentioned, LRP-1 regulates through endocytosis the pericellular levels of several extracellular proteases, especially MMP-2, MMP-9, MMP-13 and uPA among those mentioned above [55-58], suggesting that LRP-1 indirectly contributes by this way to ECM remodeling.

Our data may partly explain how LRP-1 inhibition leads to collagen fiber remodeling and further investigations should be necessary to confirm this hypothesis. We will seek to reinforce our preliminary findings by using adapted vibrational imaging (Raman imaging) to better characterize the effects of LRP-1-mediated endocytosis on the 3D organization of the collagen fibers. To go further on that way, we notably propose in the forthcoming weeks to use several CRC cell models exhibiting different invasiveness levels and distinct patterns of expression for extracellular proteases, to evaluate the effects of LRP-1 on the type I collagen properties. These investigations will be completed by biochemical analyzes of type I collagen degradation.

# Scientific activities and achievements

## **International publications**

Le Cao Cuong, Amar Bennasroune, Guillaume Collin, Cathy Hachet, Véronique Lehrter, Damien Rioult, Stéphane Dedieu, Hamid Morjani, Aline Appert-Collin. LRP-1 promotes colon cancer cell proliferation in 3D collagen matrices by mediating DDR1 endocytosis. *British Journal of Cancer (submitted)*.

**Le Cao Cuong**, Amar Bennasroune, Benoit Langlois, Stéphanie Salesse, Camille Boulagnon-Rombi, Hamid Morjani, Stéphane Dedieu & Aline Appert-Collin. The Impact of Tumor Extracellular Matrix Cross-Talk on Cancer Hallmarks. *Frontiers in Oncology (submitted)*.

## **Oral presentations**

<u>Cao-Cuong Le</u>, Amar Bennasroune, Guillaume Collin, Stéphane Dedieu, Hamid Morjani, Aline Bennasroune. Role of LRP-1 in Colon Cancer Cell Proliferation in 3D Culture Systems. Cancéropôles Grand Est-11<sup>th</sup> Forum, *November 15-16, 2018*, Centre des congrès, Reims, France.

**<u>Cao-Cuong Le</u>**, Amar Bennasroune, Guillaume Collin, Stéphane Dedieu, Hamid Morjani, Aline Bennasroune LRP-1 increases colon cancer cell proliferation in 3D culture systems by mediating DDR1 endocytosis. First International Conference on Discoidin Domain Receptor Biology (1<sup>st</sup> DDRs Meeting), May 22-24, 2019, Bordeaux, France.

<u>Cao-Cuong Le</u>, Amar Bennasroune, Guillaume Collin, Stéphane Dedieu, Hamid Morjani, Aline Bennasroune. LRP-1 mediates colon cancer cell proliferation in 3D culture systems by mediating DDR1 endocytosis. Journée Rémoise Des Jeunes Chercheurs en Santé 2019, *October 17, 2019*, *Faculty of Medicine (URCA), Reims, France*. .

## **Poster presentations**

<u>Cao-Cuong Le</u>, Amar Bennasroune, Stéphane Dedieu, Hamid Morjani, Aline Bennasroune. 1ère Journee Role of LRP-1 in colon cancer cell proliferation in 3D culture systems. Doctorale Transfrontaliere, *March 7<sup>th</sup>*, *2018*, University of Reims Champagne-Ardenne, Reims, France.

<u>Cao-Cuong Le</u>, Amar Bennasroune, Guillaume Collin, Stéphane Dedieu, Hamid Morjani, Aline Bennasroune. Role of LRP-1 in colon cancer cell proliferation in 3D culture systems. Journée. Rémoise Des Jeunes Chercheurs en Santé 2018, *October 18, 2018*, *Faculty of Medicine (URCA), Reims, France.* 

**<u>Cao-Cuong Le</u>**, Amar Bennasroune, Guillaume Collin, Stéphane Dedieu, Hamid Morjani, Aline Bennasroune. LRP-1 increases colon cancer cell proliferation in 3D culture systems by mediating DDR1 endocytosis. Annual Meeting of the French Society For Extracellular Matrix Biology, *May 15-17, 2019*, Faculty of Medicine (URCA), Reims, France.

## **Additional courses**

#### Catégorie : Autres dispositions permettant l'octroi des crédits

JREDs - Journées de Rentrée des Ecoles doctorales STS et SHS de l'URCA (09 janvier 2018) Campus Croix rouge - Amphi Recherche
16 haurree Note : 16 Crédit : 2

16 heures Note : 16 Crédit : 2

<u>Total du nombre d'heures pour la catégorie Autres dispositions permettant l'octroi des crédits</u> : 16 h <u>Total du nombre de crédits pour la catégorie Autres dispositions permettant l'octroi des crédits</u> : 2

## Catégorie : Connaissance du Milieu Professionnel

UE 32c2 - Dispositifs internationaux en matière de recherche et innovation (21 juin 2018) Ecoles Doctorales
 Bâtiment 13 - R320 - Campus Croix-Rouge
 3 heures Crédit : 1
 Total du nombre d'heures pour la catégorie Connaissance du Milieu Professionnel : 3 h

Total du nombre de crédits pour la catégorie Connaissance du Milieu Professionnel : 1

### Catégorie : Diffusion De La Recherche

 Communication en anglais dans un colloque international : 1st DDRs Meeting, université Bordeaux Universite' de Bordeaux
 48 heures Crédit : 4
 <u>Total du nombre d'heures pour la catégorie Diffusion De La Recherche</u> : 48 h
 <u>Total du nombre de crédits pour la catégorie Diffusion De La Recherche</u> : 4

### Catégorie : Langues et Techniques de communication

UE 01 - Anglais - Entrainement conversation niveau avancé (B2 et+) - Interculturalité (07 février 2019)
 Animation doctorale - Bâtiment 13 - 1er étage aile gauche - Salle R320
 16 heures Crédit : 4

UE 01 - Anglais - Entrainement conversation niveau avancé (B2 et+) - Interculturalité (08 février 2018) <u>14 heures</u>

UE 02b - Anglais - Rédaction en anglais STS (26 avril 2017) Campus Sciences Moulin de la Housse - Salle 3R80

16 heures Crédit : 4

<u>Total du nombre d'heures pour la catégorie Langues et Techniques de communication</u> : *46 h* <u>Total du nombre de crédits pour la catégorie Langues et Techniques de communication</u> : *8* 

#### Catégorie : Méthodologie et outils de la thèse

UE 12a - Introduction à la recherche de brevets (04 avril 2019) BU Moulin de la housse 2 heures Crédit : 1

■ UE 12c - Seminaire BU : You and the library : an overview – Panorama pour étudiants non-francophones (Présentation) (08 mars 2018) Campus Moulin de la Housse, BU

2 heures Crédit : 1

UE 12d - Journée d'étude Science Ouverte (26 mars 2019) Campus Croix Rouge - Amphi 10 <u>4 heures</u> Crédit : 2

UE 12d - Seminaire BU Reims - atelier Scopus (23 avril 2019) Facultés de Médecine et de Pharmacie, pôle Santé de Reims, amphithéâtre n° 5

<u>2 heures</u> Crédit : 1

<u>Total du nombre d'heures pour la catégorie : 10 h</u> Total du nombre de crédits pour la catégorie : 5

#### Total participation : 123 heures / 10 modules

Total des Crédits de Thèse : 20

## **List of References**

Thesis references

- Cader, F.Z., M. Vockerodt, S. Bose, E. Nagy, M.A. Brundler, P. Kearns, and P.G. Murray, *The EBV oncogene LMP1 protects lymphoma cells from cell death through the collagen-mediated activation of DDR1*. Blood, 2013. **122**(26): p. 4237-45.
- Das, S., P.P. Ongusaha, Y.S. Yang, J.M. Park, S.A. Aaronson, and S.W. Lee, *Discoidin domain receptor 1 receptor tyrosine kinase induces cyclooxygenase-2 and promotes chemoresistance through nuclear factor-kappaB pathway activation*. Cancer Res, 2006. 66(16): p. 8123-30.
- Hammerman, P.S., M.L. Sos, A.H. Ramos, C. Xu, A. Dutt, W. Zhou, L.E. Brace, B.A. Woods, W. Lin, J. Zhang, X. Deng, S.M. Lim, S. Heynck, M. Peifer, J.R. Simard, M.S. Lawrence, R.C. Onofrio, H.B. Salvesen, D. Seidel, T. Zander, J.M. Heuckmann, A. Soltermann, H. Moch, M. Koker, F. Leenders, F. Gabler, S. Querings, S. Ansen, E. Brambilla, C. Brambilla, P. Lorimier, O.T. Brustugun, A. Helland, I. Petersen, J.H. Clement, H. Groen, W. Timens, H. Sietsma, E. Stoelben, J. Wolf, D.G. Beer, M.S. Tsao, M. Hanna, C. Hatton, M.J. Eck, P.A. Janne, B.E. Johnson, W. Winckler, H. Greulich, A.J. Bass, J. Cho, D. Rauh, N.S. Gray, K.K. Wong, E.B. Haura, R.K. Thomas, and M. Meyerson, *Mutations in the DDR2 kinase gene identify a novel therapeutic target in squamous cell lung cancer*. Cancer Discov, 2011. 1(1): p. 78-89.
- Kim, D., P. Ko, E. You, and S. Rhee, *The intracellular juxtamembrane domain of discoidin domain receptor 2 (DDR2) is essential for receptor activation and DDR2-mediated cancer progression.* Int J Cancer, 2014. 135(11): p. 2547-57.
- Kim, H.G., S.Y. Hwang, S.A. Aaronson, A. Mandinova, and S.W. Lee, *DDR1 receptor* tyrosine kinase promotes prosurvival pathway through Notch1 activation. J Biol Chem, 2011. 286(20): p. 17672-81.
- Ongusaha, P.P., J.I. Kim, L. Fang, T.W. Wong, G.D. Yancopoulos, S.A. Aaronson, and S.W. Lee, *p53 induction and activation of DDR1 kinase counteract p53-mediated apoptosis and influence p53 regulation through a positive feedback loop*. Embo j, 2003. 22(6): p. 1289-301.
- Rudra-Ganguly, N., C. Lowe, M. Mattie, M.S. Chang, D. Satpayev, A. Verlinsky, Z. An, L. Hu, P. Yang, P. Challita-Eid, D.R. Stover, and D.S. Pereira, *Discoidin domain receptor 1 contributes to tumorigenesis through modulation of TGFBI expression*. PLoS One, 2014. 9(11): p. e111515.
- Iwai, L.K., F. Chang, and P.H. Huang, *Phosphoproteomic analysis identifies insulin* enhancement of discoidin domain receptor 2 phosphorylation. Cell adhesion & migration, 2013. 7(2): p. 161-164.

- Assent, D., I. Bourgot, B. Hennuy, P. Geurts, A. Noel, J.M. Foidart, and E. Maquoi, A membrane-type-1 matrix metalloproteinase (MT1-MMP)-discoidin domain receptor 1 axis regulates collagen-induced apoptosis in breast cancer cells. PLoS One, 2015. 10(3): p. e0116006.
- Wall, S.J., E. Werner, Z. Werb, and Y.A. DeClerck, *Discoidin domain receptor 2 mediates tumor cell cycle arrest induced by fibrillar collagen*. J Biol Chem, 2005. 280(48): p. 40187-94.
- Wall, S.J., Z.D. Zhong, and Y.A. DeClerck, *The cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors* p15INK4B and p21CIP1 are critical regulators of fibrillar collagen-induced tumor cell cycle arrest. J Biol Chem, 2007. 282(33): p. 24471-6.
- Jeitany, M., C. Leroy, P. Tosti, M. Lafitte, J. Le Guet, V. Simon, D. Bonenfant, B. Robert, F. Grillet, C. Mollevi, S. El Messaoudi, A. Otandault, L. Canterel-Thouennon, M. Busson, A.R. Thierry, P. Martineau, J. Pannequin, and S. Roche, *Inhibition of DDR1-BCR signalling by nilotinib as a new therapeutic strategy for metastatic colorectal cancer*. 2018. **10**(4).
- Sirvent, A., M. Lafitte, and S. Roche, *DDR1 inhibition as a new therapeutic strategy* for colorectal cancer. Molecular & cellular oncology, 2018. 5(4): p. e1465882e1465882.
- Maquoi, E., D. Assent, J. Detilleux, C. Pequeux, J.M. Foidart, and A. Noel, *MT1-MMP* protects breast carcinoma cells against type I collagen-induced apoptosis. Oncogene, 2012. **31**(4): p. 480-93.
- Saby, C., E. Buache, S. Brassart-Pasco, H. El Btaouri, M.P. Courageot, L. Van Gulick, R. Garnotel, P. Jeannesson, and H. Morjani, *Type I collagen aging impairs discoidin domain receptor 2-mediated tumor cell growth suppression*. Oncotarget, 2016. 7(18): p. 24908-27.
- Saby, C., G. Collin, M. Sinane, E. Buache, L. Van Gulick, F. Saltel, E. Maquoi, and H. Morjani, DDR1 and MT1-MMP Expression Levels Are Determinant for Triggering BIK-Mediated Apoptosis by 3D Type I Collagen Matrix in Invasive Basal-Like Breast Carcinoma Cells. Frontiers in pharmacology, 2019. 10: p. 462-462.
- Bonacci, G.R., L.C. Cáceres, M.C. Sánchez, and G.A. Chiabrando, Activated α2macroglobulin induces cell proliferation and mitogen-activated protein kinase activation by LRP-1 in the J774 macrophage-derived cell line. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics, 2007. 460(1): p. 100-106.

- Grey, A., T. Banovic, Q. Zhu, M. Watson, K. Callon, K. Palmano, J. Ross, D. Naot, I.R. Reid, and J. Cornish, *The low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 1 is a mitogenic receptor for lactoferrin in osteoblastic cells*. Mol Endocrinol, 2004. 18(9): p. 2268-78.
- 19. Lin, L., G. Bu, W.M. Mars, W.B. Reeves, S. Tanaka, and K. Hu, *tPA activates LDL receptor-related protein 1-mediated mitogenic signaling involving the p90RSK and GSK3beta pathway.* The American journal of pathology, 2010. **177**(4): p. 1687-1696.
- Derocq, D., C. Prébois, M. Beaujouin, V. Laurent-Matha, S. Pattingre, G.K. Smith, and E. Liaudet-Coopman, *Cathepsin D is partly endocytosed by the LRP1 receptor and inhibits LRP1-regulated intramembrane proteolysis.* Oncogene, 2011. **31**: p. 3202.
- Kozlova, N., J.K. Jensen, T.F. Chi, A. Samoylenko, and T. Kietzmann, *PAI-1* modulates cell migration in a LRP1-dependent manner via beta-catenin and ERK1/2. Thromb Haemost, 2015. 113(5): p. 988-98.
- 22. Llorente-Cortes, V., V. Barbarigo, and L. Badimon, *Low density lipoprotein receptorrelated protein 1 modulates the proliferation and migration of human hepatic stellate cells.* J Cell Physiol, 2012. **227**(10): p. 3528-33.
- Meng, H., G. Chen, X. Zhang, Z. Wang, D.G. Thomas, T.J. Giordano, D.G. Beer, and M.M. Wang, *Stromal LRP1 in lung adenocarcinoma predicts clinical outcome*. Clin Cancer Res, 2011. 17(8): p. 2426-33.
- Mao, H., P. Lockyer, W.H. Townley-Tilson, L. Xie, and X. Pi, *LRP1 Regulates Retinal* Angiogenesis by Inhibiting PARP-1 Activity and Endothelial Cell Proliferation. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2016. 36(2): p. 350-60.
- 25. Theret, L., A. Jeanne, B. Langlois, C. Hachet, M. David, M. Khrestchatisky, J. Devy,
  E. Hervé, S. Almagro, and S. Dedieu, *Identification of LRP-1 as an endocytosis and recycling receptor for β1-integrin in thyroid cancer cells*. Oncotarget, 2017. 8(45): p. 78614-78632.
- Perrot, G., B. Langlois, J. Devy, A. Jeanne, L. Verzeaux, S. Almagro, H. Sartelet, C. Hachet, C. Schneider, E. Sick, M. David, M. Khrestchatisky, H. Emonard, L. Martiny, and S. Dedieu, *LRP-1--CD44, a new cell surface complex regulating tumor cell adhesion.* Mol Cell Biol, 2012. **32**(16): p. 3293-307.
- 27. Le Cigne, A., L. Chieze, A. Beaussart, S. El-Kirat-Chatel, Y.F. Dufrene, S. Dedieu, C. Schneider, L. Martiny, J. Devy, and M. Molinari, Analysis of the effect of LRP-1 silencing on the invasive potential of cancer cells by nanomechanical probing and

*adhesion force measurements using atomic force microscopy.* Nanoscale, 2016. **8**(13): p. 7144-54.

- Appert-Collin, A., A. Bennasroune, P. Jeannesson, C. Terryn, G. Fuhrmann, H. Morjani, and S. Dedieu, *Role of LRP-1 in cancer cell migration in 3-dimensional collagen matrix*. Cell Adhesion & Migration, 2017. 11(4): p. 316-326.
- Boulagnon-Rombi, C., C. Schneider, C. Leandri, A. Jeanne, V. Grybek, A.M. Bressenot, C. Barbe, B. Marquet, S. Nasri, C. Coquelet, C. Fichel, N. Bouland, A. Bonnomet, R. Kianmanesh, A.-S. Lebre, O. Bouché, M.-D. Diebold, G. Bellon, and S. Dedieu, *LRP1 expression in colon cancer predicts clinical outcome*. Oncotarget, 2018. 9(10): p. 8849-8869.
- Wu, X., J. Cai, Z. Zuo, and J. Li, Collagen facilitates the colorectal cancer stemness and metastasis through an integrin/PI3K/AKT/Snail signaling pathway. Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy, 2019. 114: p. 108708.
- Tao, Y., R. Wang, Q. Lai, M. Wu, Y. Wang, X. Jiang, L. Zeng, S. Zhou, Z. Li, T. Yang, Y. Yao, Y. Wu, L. Yu, Y. Fu, W. Lai, Y. Peng, Y. Lu, Z. Zhang, C. Guo, G. Zhang, L. Gou, and J. Yang, *Targeting of DDR1 with antibody-drug conjugates has antitumor effects in a mouse model of colon carcinoma*. Mol Oncol, 2019. **13**(9): p. 1855-1873.
- Luca, A.C., S. Mersch, R. Deenen, S. Schmidt, I. Messner, K.L. Schafer, S.E. Baldus, W. Huckenbeck, R.P. Piekorz, W.T. Knoefel, A. Krieg, and N.H. Stoecklein, *Impact of the 3D microenvironment on phenotype, gene expression, and EGFR inhibition of colorectal cancer cell lines.* PLoS One, 2013. 8(3): p. e59689.
- Fleming, M., S. Ravula, S.F. Tatishchev, and H.L. Wang, *Colorectal carcinoma: Pathologic aspects.* J Gastrointest Oncol, 2012. 3(3): p. 153-73.
- 34. Keum, N. and E. Giovannucci, *Global burden of colorectal cancer: emerging trends, risk factors and prevention strategies.* Nature Reviews Gastroenterology & Hepatology, 2019.
- Petrelli, F., G. Tomasello, K. Borgonovo, M. Ghidini, L. Turati, P. Dallera, R. Passalacqua, G. Sgroi, and S. Barni, *Prognostic Survival Associated With Left-Sided vs Right-Sided Colon Cancer: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis.* JAMA Oncol, 2017. 3(2): p. 211-219.
- Lee, G.H., G. Malietzis, A. Askari, D. Bernardo, H.O. Al-Hassi, and S.K. Clark, *Is right-sided colon cancer different to left-sided colorectal cancer? a systematic review*. Eur J Surg Oncol, 2015. 41(3): p. 300-8.

- 37. Vasen, H.F., I. Tomlinson, and A. Castells, *Clinical management of hereditary colorectal cancer syndromes*. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol, 2015. **12**(2): p. 88-97.
- Capelle, L.G., N.C. Van Grieken, H.F. Lingsma, E.W. Steyerberg, W.J. Klokman, M.J. Bruno, H.F. Vasen, and E.J. Kuipers, *Risk and epidemiological time trends of gastric cancer in Lynch syndrome carriers in the Netherlands*. Gastroenterology, 2010. 138(2): p. 487-92.
- Warthin, A., Heredity with reference to carcinoma: As shown by the study of the cases examined in the pathological laboratory of the university of michigan, 1895-1913.
  Archives of Internal Medicine, 1913. XII(5): p. 546-555.
- 40. GLOBOCAN. *GLOBOCAN 2018: Cancer today/Data visualization tools for exploring the global cancer burden in 2018.* Available from: <u>http://gco.iarc.fr/today/home</u>.
- 41. Center, M.M., A. Jemal, and E. Ward, *International trends in colorectal cancer incidence rates.* Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev, 2009. **18**(6): p. 1688-94.
- 42. American-Institute-for-Cancer-Research and W.C.R. Funds. *Continuous update project report: Diet, nutrition, physical activity, and colorectal cancer.* 2018; Available from: https://www.aicr.org/continuous-updateproject/reports/colorectal-cancer-2017report.pdf.
- 43. Brenner, H., M. Kloor, and C.P. Pox, *Colorectal cancer*. The Lancet, 2014. 383(9927):
  p. 1490-1502.
- 44. GLOBOCAN, GLOBOCAN 2018: estimated cancer incidence, mortality and prevalence worldwide in 2018. 2018.
- 45. Center, M.M., A. Jemal, R.A. Smith, and E. Ward, *Worldwide variations in colorectal cancer*. CA Cancer J Clin, 2009. **59**(6): p. 366-78.
- 46. Stock, C., D. Pulte, U. Haug, and H. Brenner, *Subsite-specific colorectal cancer risk in the colorectal endoscopy era*. Gastrointest Endosc, 2012. **75**(3): p. 621-30.
- Sankaranarayanan, R., R. Swaminathan, H. Brenner, K. Chen, K.S. Chia, J.G. Chen, S.C. Law, Y.O. Ahn, Y.B. Xiang, B.B. Yeole, H.R. Shin, V. Shanta, Z.H. Woo, N. Martin, Y. Sumitsawan, H. Sriplung, A.O. Barboza, S. Eser, B.M. Nene, K. Suwanrungruang, P. Jayalekshmi, R. Dikshit, H. Wabinga, D.B. Esteban, A. Laudico, Y. Bhurgri, E. Bah, and N. Al-Hamdan, *Cancer survival in Africa, Asia, and Central America: a population-based study*. Lancet Oncol, 2010. **11**(2): p. 165-73.
- 48. Miller, K.D., L. Nogueira, A.B. Mariotto, J.H. Rowland, K.R. Yabroff, and C.M. Alfano, *Cancer treatment and survivorship statistics*, 2019. 2019. **69**(5): p. 363-385.

- 49. Botteri, E., S. Iodice, V. Bagnardi, S. Raimondi, A.B. Lowenfels, and P. Maisonneuve, *Smoking and colorectal cancer: a meta-analysis.* Jama, 2008. **300**(23): p. 2765-78.
- Liang, P.S., T.Y. Chen, and E. Giovannucci, *Cigarette smoking and colorectal cancer* incidence and mortality: systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Cancer, 2009. 124(10): p. 2406-15.
- Fedirko, V., I. Tramacere, V. Bagnardi, M. Rota, L. Scotti, F. Islami, E. Negri, K. Straif, I. Romieu, C. La Vecchia, P. Boffetta, and M. Jenab, *Alcohol drinking and colorectal cancer risk: an overall and dose-response meta-analysis of published studies.* Ann Oncol, 2011. 22(9): p. 1958-72.
- 52. Chan, D.S., R. Lau, D. Aune, R. Vieira, D.C. Greenwood, E. Kampman, and T. Norat, *Red and processed meat and colorectal cancer incidence: meta-analysis of prospective studies.* PLoS One, 2011. 6(6): p. e20456.
- Ma, Y., Y. Yang, F. Wang, P. Zhang, C. Shi, Y. Zou, and H. Qin, *Obesity and risk of colorectal cancer: a systematic review of prospective studies*. PLoS One, 2013. 8(1): p. e53916.
- 54. Jiang, Y., Q. Ben, H. Shen, W. Lu, Y. Zhang, and J. Zhu, *Diabetes mellitus and incidence and mortality of colorectal cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies.* Eur J Epidemiol, 2011. **26**(11): p. 863-76.
- 55. Sonnenberg, A. and R.M. Genta, *Helicobacter pylori is a risk factor for colonic neoplasms*. Am J Gastroenterol, 2013. **108**(2): p. 208-15.
- Kostic, A.D., D. Gevers, C.S. Pedamallu, M. Michaud, F. Duke, A.M. Earl, A.I. Ojesina, J. Jung, A.J. Bass, J. Tabernero, J. Baselga, C. Liu, R.A. Shivdasani, S. Ogino, B.W. Birren, C. Huttenhower, W.S. Garrett, and M. Meyerson, *Genomic analysis identifies association of Fusobacterium with colorectal carcinoma*. Genome research, 2012. 22(2): p. 292-298.
- 57. Boleij, A., M.M. van Gelder, D.W. Swinkels, and H. Tjalsma, *Clinical Importance of Streptococcus gallolyticus infection among colorectal cancer patients: systematic review and meta-analysis.* Clin Infect Dis, 2011. **53**(9): p. 870-8.
- Taylor, D.P., R.W. Burt, M.S. Williams, P.J. Haug, and L.A. Cannon-Albright, *Population-based family history-specific risks for colorectal cancer: a constellation approach.* Gastroenterology, 2010. 138(3): p. 877-85.
- Jess, T., C. Rungoe, and L. Peyrin-Biroulet, *Risk of colorectal cancer in patients with ulcerative colitis: a meta-analysis of population-based cohort studies*. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol, 2012. 10(6): p. 639-45.

- Kuipers, E.J., W.M. Grady, D. Lieberman, T. Seufferlein, J.J. Sung, P.G. Boelens,
   C.J.H. van de Velde, and T. Watanabe, *Colorectal cancer*. Nature Reviews Disease
   Primers, 2015. 1: p. 15065.
- 61. Brenner, H., J. Chang-Claude, C.M. Seiler, A. Rickert, and M. Hoffmeister, *Protection from colorectal cancer after colonoscopy: a population-based, case-control study*. Ann Intern Med, 2011. **154**(1): p. 22-30.
- 62. Elmunzer, B.J., R.A. Hayward, P.S. Schoenfeld, S.D. Saini, A. Deshpande, and A.K. Waljee, *Effect of flexible sigmoidoscopy-based screening on incidence and mortality of colorectal cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials.* PLoS Med, 2012. 9(12): p. e1001352.
- 63. Lochhead, P. and A.T. Chan, *Statins and Colorectal Cancer*. Clinical Gastroenterology and Hepatology, 2013. **11**(2): p. 109-118.
- 64. Li, Y. and X. He, *Statin uses and mortality in colorectal cancer patients: An updated systematic review and meta-analysis.* 2019. **8**(6): p. 3305-3313.
- 65. Edge, S.B. and C.C. Compton, *The American Joint Committee on Cancer: the 7th Edition of the AJCC Cancer Staging Manual and the Future of TNM*. Annals of Surgical Oncology, 2010. **17**(6): p. 1471-1474.
- 66. Sobin, L.H., M.K. Gospodarowicz., and C. Wittekind., *TNM Classification of Malignant Tumours, 7th Edition.* 2009, New York: Wiley-Blackwell, 2009.
- 67. Davies, R.J., R. Miller, and N. Coleman, *Colorectal cancer screening: prospects for molecular stool analysis.* Nat Rev Cancer, 2005. **5**(3): p. 199-209.
- 68. Polakis, P., *The many ways of Wnt in cancer*. Curr Opin Genet Dev, 2007. 17(1): p. 45-51.
- 69. Segditsas, S. and I. Tomlinson, *Colorectal cancer and genetic alterations in the Wnt pathway*. Oncogene, 2006. **25**(57): p. 7531-7.
- Baker, S.J., A.C. Preisinger, J.M. Jessup, C. Paraskeva, S. Markowitz, J.K. Willson, S. Hamilton, and B. Vogelstein, *p53 gene mutations occur in combination with 17p allelic deletions as late events in colorectal tumorigenesis*. Cancer Res, 1990. 50(23): p. 7717-22.
- Tang, R., P.F. Wang, H.C. Wang, J.Y. Wang, and L.L. Hsieh, *Mutations of p53 gene in human colorectal cancer: distinct frameshifts among populations*. Int J Cancer, 2001.
  91(6): p. 863-8.
- 72. Wood, L.D., D.W. Parsons, S. Jones, J. Lin, T. Sjoblom, R.J. Leary, D. Shen, S.M. Boca, T. Barber, J. Ptak, N. Silliman, S. Szabo, Z. Dezso, V. Ustyanksky, T.

Nikolskaya, Y. Nikolsky, R. Karchin, P.A. Wilson, J.S. Kaminker, Z. Zhang, R. Croshaw, J. Willis, D. Dawson, M. Shipitsin, J.K. Willson, S. Sukumar, K. Polyak, B.H. Park, C.L. Pethiyagoda, P.V. Pant, D.G. Ballinger, A.B. Sparks, J. Hartigan, D.R. Smith, E. Suh, N. Papadopoulos, P. Buckhaults, S.D. Markowitz, G. Parmigiani, K.W. Kinzler, V.E. Velculescu, and B. Vogelstein, *The genomic landscapes of human breast and colorectal cancers*. Science, 2007. **318**(5853): p. 1108-13.

- Fearon, E.R. and B. Vogelstein, A genetic model for colorectal tumorigenesis. Cell, 1990. 61(5): p. 759-67.
- 74. Malumbres, M. and M. Barbacid, *RAS oncogenes: the first 30 years*. Nat Rev Cancer, 2003. 3(6): p. 459-65.
- Rajagopalan, H., A. Bardelli, C. Lengauer, K.W. Kinzler, B. Vogelstein, and V.E. Velculescu, *Tumorigenesis: RAF/RAS oncogenes and mismatch-repair status*. Nature, 2002. 418(6901): p. 934.
- 76. Jass, J.R., *Classification of colorectal cancer based on correlation of clinical, morphological and molecular features.* Histopathology, 2007. **50**(1): p. 113-30.
- 77. Samuels, Y., Z. Wang, A. Bardelli, N. Silliman, J. Ptak, S. Szabo, H. Yan, A. Gazdar, S.M. Powell, G.J. Riggins, J.K. Willson, S. Markowitz, K.W. Kinzler, B. Vogelstein, and V.E. Velculescu, *High frequency of mutations of the PIK3CA gene in human cancers.* Science, 2004. **304**(5670): p. 554.
- Zhao, L. and P.K. Vogt, *Class I PI3K in oncogenic cellular transformation*. Oncogene, 2008. 27(41): p. 5486-96.
- 79. Fearon, E.R., *Molecular genetics of colorectal cancer*. Annu Rev Pathol, 2011. **6**: p. 479-507.
- Hanahan, D. and Robert A. Weinberg, *Hallmarks of Cancer: The Next Generation*. Cell, 2011. 144(5): p. 646-674.
- Kinzler, K.W. and B. Vogelstein, *Lessons from hereditary colorectal cancer*. Cell, 1996. 87(2): p. 159-70.
- Lengauer, C., K.W. Kinzler, and B. Vogelstein, *Genetic instabilities in human cancers*. Nature, 1998. **396**(6712): p. 643-9.
- Levine, J.S. and D.J. Ahnen, *Clinical practice. Adenomatous polyps of the colon.* N Engl J Med, 2006. 355(24): p. 2551-7.
- Levin, B., D.A. Lieberman, B. McFarland, K.S. Andrews, D. Brooks, J. Bond, C. Dash,
   F.M. Giardiello, S. Glick, D. Johnson, C.D. Johnson, T.R. Levin, P.J. Pickhardt, D.K.
   Rex, R.A. Smith, A. Thorson, and S.J. Winawer, *Screening and Surveillance for the*

Early Detection of Colorectal Cancer and Adenomatous Polyps, 2008: A Joint Guideline From the American Cancer Society, the US Multi-Society Task Force on Colorectal Cancer, and the American College of Radiology. Gastroenterology, 2008. **134**(5): p. 1570-1595.

- 85. Burt, R.W., J.S. Barthel, K.B. Dunn, D.S. David, E. Drelichman, J.M. Ford, F.M. Giardiello, S.B. Gruber, A.L. Halverson, S.R. Hamilton, M.K. Ismail, K. Jasperson, A.J. Lazenby, P.M. Lynch, E.W. Martin, Jr., R.J. Mayer, R.M. Ness, D. Provenzale, M.S. Rao, M. Shike, G. Steinbach, J.P. Terdiman, and D. Weinberg, *NCCN clinical practice guidelines in oncology. Colorectal cancer screening.* J Natl Compr Canc Netw, 2010. 8(1): p. 8-61.
- Dow, L.E., K.P. O'Rourke, J. Simon, D.F. Tschaharganeh, J.H. van Es, H. Clevers, and S.W. Lowe, *Apc Restoration Promotes Cellular Differentiation and Reestablishes Crypt Homeostasis in Colorectal Cancer*. Cell, 2015. 161(7): p. 1539-1552.
- 87. Armaghany, T., J.D. Wilson, Q. Chu, and G. Mills, *Genetic alterations in colorectal cancer*. Gastrointest Cancer Res, 2012. **5**(1): p. 19-27.
- Leggett, B. and V. Whitehall, *Role of the Serrated Pathway in Colorectal Cancer Pathogenesis*. Gastroenterology, 2010. **138**(6): p. 2088-2100.
- Kedrin, D. and M.K. Gala, *Genetics of the serrated pathway to colorectal cancer*. Clin Transl Gastroenterol, 2015. 6: p. e84.
- 90. Itzkowitz, S.H. and X. Yio, Inflammation and cancer IV. Colorectal cancer in inflammatory bowel disease: the role of inflammation. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol, 2004. 287(1): p. G7-17.
- 91. Carethers, J.M., *Fecal DNA Testing for Colorectal Cancer Screening*. Annual Review of Medicine, 2019.
- 92. American-Cancer-Society. *American Cancer Society 2017: Colorectal Cancer Facts & Figures 2017-2019.* 2017; Available from: https://www.cancer.org/research/cancer-facts-statistics/colorectal-cancer-facts-figures.html.
- 23. Zauber, A.G., S.J. Winawer, M.J. O'Brien, I. Lansdorp-Vogelaar, M. van Ballegooijen,
  B.F. Hankey, W. Shi, J.H. Bond, M. Schapiro, J.F. Panish, E.T. Stewart, and J.D. Waye, *Colonoscopic Polypectomy and Long-Term Prevention of Colorectal-Cancer Deaths.*New England Journal of Medicine, 2012. 366(8): p. 687-696.
- 94. Nishihara, R., K. Wu, P. Lochhead, T. Morikawa, X. Liao, Z.R. Qian, K. Inamura, S.A. Kim, A. Kuchiba, M. Yamauchi, Y. Imamura, W.C. Willett, B.A. Rosner, C.S. Fuchs, E. Giovannucci, S. Ogino, and A.T. Chan, *Long-Term Colorectal-Cancer Incidence*

*and Mortality after Lower Endoscopy*. New England Journal of Medicine, 2013. **369**(12): p. 1095-1105.

- 95. Doubeni, C.A., S. Weinmann, K. Adams, A. Kamineni, D.S.M. Buist, A.S. Ash, C.M. Rutter, V.P. Doria-Rose, D.A. Corley, R.T. Greenlee, J. Chubak, A. Williams, A.R. Kroll-Desrosiers, E. Johnson, J. Webster, K. Richert-Boe, T.R. Levin, R.H. Fletcher, and N.S. Weiss, *Screening colonoscopy and risk for incident late-stage colorectal cancer diagnosis in average-risk adults: a nested case-control study*. Annals of internal medicine, 2013. **158**(5 Pt 1): p. 312-320.
- 96. Ko, C.W., S. Riffle, L. Michaels, C. Morris, J. Holub, J.A. Shapiro, M.A. Ciol, M.B. Kimmey, L.C. Seeff, and D. Lieberman, *Serious complications within 30 days of screening and surveillance colonoscopy are uncommon*. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol, 2010. 8(2): p. 166-73.
- 97. Quintero, E., A. Castells, L. Bujanda, J. Cubiella, D. Salas, Á. Lanas, M. Andreu, F. Carballo, J.D. Morillas, C. Hernández, R. Jover, I. Montalvo, J. Arenas, E. Laredo, V. Hernández, F. Iglesias, E. Cid, R. Zubizarreta, T. Sala, M. Ponce, M. Andrés, G. Teruel, A. Peris, M.-P. Roncales, M. Polo-Tomás, X. Bessa, O. Ferrer-Armengou, J. Grau, A. Serradesanferm, A. Ono, J. Cruzado, F. Pérez-Riquelme, I. Alonso-Abreu, M. de la Vega-Prieto, J.M. Reyes-Melian, G. Cacho, J. Díaz-Tasende, A. Herreros-de-Tejada, C. Poves, C. Santander, and A. González-Navarro, *Colonoscopy versus Fecal Immunochemical Testing in Colorectal-Cancer Screening*. New England Journal of Medicine, 2012. 366(8): p. 697-706.
- 98. Bretthauer, M., M.F. Kaminski, M. Loberg, A.G. Zauber, J. Regula, E.J. Kuipers, M.A. Hernan, E. McFadden, A. Sunde, M. Kalager, E. Dekker, I. Lansdorp-Vogelaar, K. Garborg, M. Rupinski, M.C. Spaander, M. Bugajski, O. Hoie, T. Stefansson, G. Hoff, and H.O. Adami, *Population-Based Colonoscopy Screening for Colorectal Cancer: A Randomized Clinical Trial.* JAMA Intern Med, 2016. **176**(7): p. 894-902.
- 99. Corley, D.A., C.D. Jensen, A.R. Marks, W.K. Zhao, J.K. Lee, C.A. Doubeni, A.G. Zauber, J. de Boer, B.H. Fireman, J.E. Schottinger, V.P. Quinn, N.R. Ghai, T.R. Levin, and C.P. Quesenberry, *Adenoma Detection Rate and Risk of Colorectal Cancer and Death*. New England Journal of Medicine, 2014. **370**(14): p. 1298-1306.
- 100. Lieberman, D., Colorectal Cancer Screening With Colonoscopy. JAMA Intern Med, 2016. 176(7): p. 903-4.
- 101. Holme, O., M. Loberg, M. Kalager, M. Bretthauer, M.A. Hernan, E. Aas, T.J. Eide, E. Skovlund, J. Schneede, K.M. Tveit, and G. Hoff, *Effect of flexible sigmoidoscopy*

screening on colorectal cancer incidence and mortality: a randomized clinical trial. Jama, 2014. **312**(6): p. 606-15.

- 102. Littlejohn, C., S. Hilton, G.J. Macfarlane, and P. Phull, *Systematic review and metaanalysis of the evidence for flexible sigmoidoscopy as a screening method for the prevention of colorectal cancer.* Br J Surg, 2012. **99**(11): p. 1488-500.
- Patel, J.D. and K.J. Chang, *The role of virtual colonoscopy in colorectal screening*. Clin Imaging, 2016. **40**(2): p. 315-20.
- Pickhardt, P.J., C. Hassan, S. Halligan, and R. Marmo, Colorectal cancer: CT colonography and colonoscopy for detection--systematic review and meta-analysis. Radiology, 2011. 259(2): p. 393-405.
- 105. de Haan, M.C., R.E. van Gelder, A. Graser, S. Bipat, and J. Stoker, *Diagnostic value of CT-colonography as compared to colonoscopy in an asymptomatic screening population: a meta-analysis.* European radiology, 2011. **21**(8): p. 1747-1763.
- Sung, J.J., S.C. Ng, F.K. Chan, H.M. Chiu, H.S. Kim, T. Matsuda, S.S. Ng, J.Y. Lau, S. Zheng, S. Adler, N. Reddy, K.G. Yeoh, K.K. Tsoi, J.Y. Ching, E.J. Kuipers, L. Rabeneck, G.P. Young, R.J. Steele, D. Lieberman, and K.L. Goh, *An updated Asia Pacific Consensus Recommendations on colorectal cancer screening*. Gut, 2015. 64(1): p. 121-32.
- 107. Mandel, J.S., T.R. Church, J.H. Bond, F. Ederer, M.S. Geisser, S.J. Mongin, D.C. Snover, and L.M. Schuman, *The effect of fecal occult-blood screening on the incidence of colorectal cancer*. N Engl J Med, 2000. **343**(22): p. 1603-7.
- 108. Shaukat, A., S.J. Mongin, M.S. Geisser, F.A. Lederle, J.H. Bond, J.S. Mandel, and T.R. Church, *Long-term mortality after screening for colorectal cancer*. N Engl J Med, 2013. 369(12): p. 1106-14.
- 109. Imperiale, T.F., D.F. Ransohoff, S.H. Itzkowitz, T.R. Levin, P. Lavin, G.P. Lidgard, D.A. Ahlquist, and B.M. Berger, *Multitarget stool DNA testing for colorectal-cancer screening*. N Engl J Med, 2014. **370**(14): p. 1287-97.
- van de Velde, C.J., P.G. Boelens, J.M. Borras, J.W. Coebergh, A. Cervantes, L. Blomqvist, R.G. Beets-Tan, C.B. van den Broek, G. Brown, E. Van Cutsem, E. Espin, K. Haustermans, B. Glimelius, L.H. Iversen, J.H. van Krieken, C.A. Marijnen, G. Henning, J. Gore-Booth, E. Meldolesi, P. Mroczkowski, I. Nagtegaal, P. Naredi, H. Ortiz, L. Pahlman, P. Quirke, C. Rodel, A. Roth, H. Rutten, H.J. Schmoll, J.J. Smith, P.J. Tanis, C. Taylor, A. Wibe, T. Wiggers, M.A. Gambacorta, C. Aristei, and V.

Valentini, *EURECCA colorectal: multidisciplinary management: European consensus conference colon & rectum.* Eur J Cancer, 2014. **50**(1): p. 1.e1-1.e34.

- 111. van de Velde, C.J., P.G. Boelens, P.J. Tanis, E. Espin, P. Mroczkowski, P. Naredi, L. Pahlman, H. Ortiz, H.J. Rutten, A.J. Breugom, J.J. Smith, A. Wibe, T. Wiggers, and V. Valentini, *Experts reviews of the multidisciplinary consensus conference colon and rectal cancer 2012: science, opinions and experiences from the experts of surgery*. Eur J Surg Oncol, 2014. **40**(4): p. 454-68.
- 112. Quirke, P., N.P. West, and I.D. Nagtegaal, EURECCA consensus conference highlights about colorectal cancer clinical management: the pathologists expert review. Virchows Arch, 2014. 464(2): p. 129-34.
- Heald, R.J. and R.D. Ryall, *Recurrence and survival after total mesorectal excision for rectal cancer*. Lancet, 1986. 1(8496): p. 1479-82.
- 114. Nagtegaal, I.D. and P. Quirke, *What is the role for the circumferential margin in the modern treatment of rectal cancer?* J Clin Oncol, 2008. **26**(2): p. 303-12.
- 115. Caricato, M., D. Borzomati, F. Ausania, S. Valeri, A. Rosignoli, and R. Coppola, *Prognostic factors after surgery for locally recurrent rectal cancer: an overview.* Eur J Surg Oncol, 2006. **32**(2): p. 126-32.
- 116. West, N.P., W. Hohenberger, K. Weber, A. Perrakis, P.J. Finan, and P. Quirke, Complete mesocolic excision with central vascular ligation produces an oncologically superior specimen compared with standard surgery for carcinoma of the colon. J Clin Oncol, 2010. 28(2): p. 272-8.
- 117. Fujii, S., M. Tsukamoto, Y. Fukushima, R. Shimada, K. Okamoto, T. Tsuchiya, K. Nozawa, K. Matsuda, and Y. Hashiguchi, *Systematic review of laparoscopic vs open surgery for colorectal cancer in elderly patients*. World journal of gastrointestinal oncology, 2016. 8(7): p. 573-582.
- 118. Fitch, K., A. Bochner, and D.S. Keller, *Cost comparison of laparoscopic colectomy versus open colectomy in colon cancer*. Curr Med Res Opin, 2017. **33**(7): p. 1215-1221.
- Kuhry, E., W.F. Schwenk, R. Gaupset, U. Romild, and H.J. Bonjer, *Long-term results of laparoscopic colorectal cancer resection*. Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2008(2): p. Cd003432.
- 120. Liang, Y., G. Li, P. Chen, and J. Yu, Laparoscopic versus open colorectal resection for cancer: a meta-analysis of results of randomized controlled trials on recurrence. Eur J Surg Oncol, 2008. 34(11): p. 1217-24.

- Trastulli, S., R. Cirocchi, C. Listorti, D. Cavaliere, N. Avenia, N. Gulla, G. Giustozzi,
  F. Sciannameo, G. Noya, and C. Boselli, *Laparoscopic vs open resection for rectal cancer: a meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials*. Colorectal Dis, 2012. 14(6): p. e277-96.
- 122. Seymour, M.T. and D. Morton, *FOxTROT: an international randomised controlled trial in 1052 patients (pts) evaluating neoadjuvant chemotherapy (NAC) for colon cancer.* Journal of Clinical Oncology, 2019. **37**(15\_suppl): p. 3504-3504.
- Dehal, A., A.N. Graff-Baker, B. Vuong, T. Fischer, S.J. Klempner, S.C. Chang, G.L. Grunkemeier, A.J. Bilchik, and M. Goldfarb, *Neoadjuvant Chemotherapy Improves Survival in Patients with Clinical T4b Colon Cancer*. J Gastrointest Surg, 2018. 22(2): p. 242-249.
- 124. Cedermark, B., M. Dahlberg, B. Glimelius, L. Pahlman, L.E. Rutqvist, and N. Wilking, *Improved survival with preoperative radiotherapy in resectable rectal cancer*. N Engl J Med, 1997. **336**(14): p. 980-7.
- Sauer, R., H. Becker, W. Hohenberger, C. Rödel, C. Wittekind, R. Fietkau, P. Martus, J. Tschmelitsch, E. Hager, C.F. Hess, J.-H. Karstens, T. Liersch, H. Schmidberger, and R. Raab, *Preoperative versus Postoperative Chemoradiotherapy for Rectal Cancer*. New England Journal of Medicine, 2004. 351(17): p. 1731-1740.
- Peeters, K.C., C.A. Marijnen, I.D. Nagtegaal, E.K. Kranenbarg, H. Putter, T. Wiggers, H. Rutten, L. Pahlman, B. Glimelius, J.W. Leer, and C.J. van de Velde, *The TME trial after a median follow-up of 6 years: increased local control but no survival benefit in irradiated patients with resectable rectal carcinoma*. Ann Surg, 2007. 246(5): p. 693-701.
- 127. Bosset, J.F., L. Collette, G. Calais, L. Mineur, P. Maingon, L. Radosevic-Jelic, A. Daban, E. Bardet, A. Beny, and J.C. Ollier, *Chemotherapy with preoperative radiotherapy in rectal cancer*. N Engl J Med, 2006. 355(11): p. 1114-23.
- van Gijn, W., C.A. Marijnen, I.D. Nagtegaal, E.M. Kranenbarg, H. Putter, T. Wiggers, H.J. Rutten, L. Pahlman, B. Glimelius, and C.J. van de Velde, *Preoperative radiotherapy combined with total mesorectal excision for resectable rectal cancer: 12-year follow-up of the multicentre, randomised controlled TME trial.* Lancet Oncol, 2011. 12(6): p. 575-82.
- Glimelius, B., E. Tiret, A. Cervantes, and D. Arnold, *Rectal cancer: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up.* Ann Oncol, 2013. 24
   Suppl 6: p. vi81-8.

- 130. Gill, S., C.L. Loprinzi, D.J. Sargent, S.D. Thome, S.R. Alberts, D.G. Haller, J. Benedetti, G. Francini, L.E. Shepherd, J. Francois Seitz, R. Labianca, W. Chen, S.S. Cha, M.P. Heldebrant, and R.M. Goldberg, *Pooled analysis of fluorouracil-based adjuvant therapy for stage II and III colon cancer: who benefits and by how much?* J Clin Oncol, 2004. 22(10): p. 1797-806.
- 131. Twelves, C., W. Scheithauer, J. McKendrick, J.F. Seitz, G. Van Hazel, A. Wong, E. Diaz-Rubio, F. Gilberg, and J. Cassidy, *Capecitabine versus 5-fluorouracil/folinic acid as adjuvant therapy for stage III colon cancer: final results from the X-ACT trial with analysis by age and preliminary evidence of a pharmacodynamic marker of efficacy.* Ann Oncol, 2012. 23(5): p. 1190-7.
- 132. Haller, D.G., J. Tabernero, J. Maroun, F. de Braud, T. Price, E. Van Cutsem, M. Hill, F. Gilberg, K. Rittweger, and H.J. Schmoll, *Capecitabine plus oxaliplatin compared with fluorouracil and folinic acid as adjuvant therapy for stage III colon cancer*. J Clin Oncol, 2011. **29**(11): p. 1465-71.
- 133. Andre, T., C. Boni, M. Navarro, J. Tabernero, T. Hickish, C. Topham, A. Bonetti, P. Clingan, J. Bridgewater, F. Rivera, and A. de Gramont, *Improved overall survival with oxaliplatin, fluorouracil, and leucovorin as adjuvant treatment in stage II or III colon cancer in the MOSAIC trial.* J Clin Oncol, 2009. 27(19): p. 3109-16.
- Labianca, R., B. Nordlinger, G.D. Beretta, S. Mosconi, M. Mandala, A. Cervantes, and
   D. Arnold, *Early colon cancer: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis,* treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol, 2013. 24 Suppl 6: p. vi64-72.
- 135. Duffy, M.J., R. Lamerz, C. Haglund, A. Nicolini, M. Kalousova, L. Holubec, and C. Sturgeon, *Tumor markers in colorectal cancer, gastric cancer and gastrointestinal stromal cancers: European group on tumor markers 2014 guidelines update.* Int J Cancer, 2014. **134**(11): p. 2513-22.
- 136. Sepulveda, A.R., S.R. Hamilton, C.J. Allegra, W. Grody, A.M. Cushman-Vokoun, W.K. Funkhouser, S.E. Kopetz, C. Lieu, N.M. Lindor, B.D. Minsky, F.A. Monzon, D.J. Sargent, V.M. Singh, J. Willis, J. Clark, C. Colasacco, R.B. Rumble, R. Temple-Smolkin, C.B. Ventura, and J.A. Nowak, *Molecular Biomarkers for the Evaluation of Colorectal Cancer: Guideline From the American Society for Clinical Pathology, College of American Pathologists, Association for Molecular Pathology, and the American Society of Clinical Oncology.* J Clin Oncol, 2017. **35**(13): p. 1453-1486.
- 137. Sveen, A., S. Kopetz, and R.A. Lothe, *Biomarker-guided therapy for colorectal cancer: strength in complexity.* Nature Reviews Clinical Oncology, 2019.

- 138. Tougeron, D., G. Mouillet, I. Trouilloud, T. Lecomte, R. Coriat, T. Aparicio, G. Des Guetz, C. Lecaille, P. Artru, G. Sickersen, E. Cauchin, D. Sefrioui, T. Boussaha, A. Ferru, T. Matysiak-Budnik, C. Silvain, L. Karayan-Tapon, J.C. Pages, D. Vernerey, F. Bonnetain, P. Michel, J. Taieb, and A. Zaanan, *Efficacy of Adjuvant Chemotherapy in Colon Cancer With Microsatellite Instability: A Large Multicenter AGEO Study.* J Natl Cancer Inst, 2016. **108**(7).
- 139. Flejou, J.-F., T. André, B. Chibaudel, A. Scriva, T. Hickish, J. Tabernero, J.-L. Van Laethem, M. Banzi, E. Maartense, A. Shani, G. Carlsson, W. Scheithauer, D. Papamichael, M. Moehler, S. Landolfi, P. Demetter, A. Duval, M. Lee, S. Colote, and A. De Gramont, *Effect of adding oxaliplatin to adjuvant 5-fluorouracil/leucovorin (5FU/LV) in patients with defective mismatch repair (dMMR) colon cancer stage II and III included in the MOSIAC study*. Journal of Clinical Oncology, 2013. **31**(15\_suppl): p. 3524-3524.
- 140. Zaanan, A., J.F. Flejou, J.F. Emile, G.G. Des, P. Cuilliere-Dartigues, D. Malka, C. Lecaille, P. Validire, C. Louvet, P. Rougier, A. de Gramont, F. Bonnetain, F. Praz, and J. Taieb, *Defective mismatch repair status as a prognostic biomarker of disease-free survival in stage III colon cancer patients treated with adjuvant FOLFOX chemotherapy*. Clin Cancer Res, 2011. 17(23): p. 7470-8.
- Gavin, P.G., L.H. Colangelo, D. Fumagalli, N. Tanaka, M.Y. Remillard, G. Yothers, C. Kim, Y. Taniyama, S.I. Kim, H.J. Choi, N.L. Blackmon, C. Lipchik, N.J. Petrelli, M.J. O'Connell, N. Wolmark, S. Paik, and K.L. Pogue-Geile, *Mutation profiling and microsatellite instability in stage II and III colon cancer: an assessment of their prognostic and oxaliplatin predictive value*. Clin Cancer Res, 2012. 18(23): p. 6531-41.
- 142. Arnold, D. and T. Seufferlein, *Targeted treatments in colorectal cancer: state of the art and future perspectives.* Gut, 2010. **59**(6): p. 838-58.
- 143. Ciombor, K.K., C. Wu, and R.M. Goldberg, *Recent therapeutic advances in the treatment of colorectal cancer*. Annu Rev Med, 2015. **66**: p. 83-95.
- 144. Douillard, J.Y., D. Cunningham, A.D. Roth, M. Navarro, R.D. James, P. Karasek, P. Jandik, T. Iveson, J. Carmichael, M. Alakl, G. Gruia, L. Awad, and P. Rougier, *Irinotecan combined with fluorouracil compared with fluorouracil alone as first-line treatment for metastatic colorectal cancer: a multicentre randomised trial.* Lancet, 2000. 355(9209): p. 1041-7.

- 145. Saltz, L.B., J.V. Cox, C. Blanke, L.S. Rosen, L. Fehrenbacher, M.J. Moore, J.A. Maroun, S.P. Ackland, P.K. Locker, N. Pirotta, G.L. Elfring, and L.L. Miller, *Irinotecan plus fluorouracil and leucovorin for metastatic colorectal cancer. Irinotecan Study Group.* N Engl J Med, 2000. 343(13): p. 905-14.
- 146. Kohne, C.H., E. van Cutsem, J. Wils, C. Bokemeyer, M. El-Serafi, M.P. Lutz, M. Lorenz, P. Reichardt, H. Ruckle-Lanz, N. Frickhofen, R. Fuchs, H.G. Mergenthaler, T. Langenbuch, U. Vanhoefer, P. Rougier, R. Voigtmann, L. Muller, B. Genicot, O. Anak, and B. Nordlinger, *Phase III study of weekly high-dose infusional fluorouracil plus folinic acid with or without irinotecan in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer: European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer Gastrointestinal Group Study 40986.* J Clin Oncol, 2005. 23(22): p. 4856-65.
- 147. Giacchetti, S., B. Perpoint, R. Zidani, N. Le Bail, R. Faggiuolo, C. Focan, P. Chollet, J.F. Llory, Y. Letourneau, B. Coudert, F. Bertheaut-Cvitkovic, D. Larregain-Fournier, A. Le Rol, S. Walter, R. Adam, J.L. Misset, and F. Levi, *Phase III multicenter randomized trial of oxaliplatin added to chronomodulated fluorouracil-leucovorin as first-line treatment of metastatic colorectal cancer.* J Clin Oncol, 2000. 18(1): p. 136-47.
- 148. de Gramont, A., A. Figer, M. Seymour, M. Homerin, A. Hmissi, J. Cassidy, C. Boni, H. Cortes-Funes, A. Cervantes, G. Freyer, D. Papamichael, N. Le Bail, C. Louvet, D. Hendler, F. de Braud, C. Wilson, F. Morvan, and A. Bonetti, *Leucovorin and fluorouracil with or without oxaliplatin as first-line treatment in advanced colorectal cancer*. J Clin Oncol, 2000. 18(16): p. 2938-47.
- 149. Ganesh, K., Z.K. Stadler, A. Cercek, R.B. Mendelsohn, and J. Shia, *Immunotherapy in colorectal cancer: rationale, challenges and potential.* 2019. **16**(6): p. 361-375.
- 150. Boland, C.R., S.N. Thibodeau, S.R. Hamilton, D. Sidransky, J.R. Eshleman, R.W. Burt, S.J. Meltzer, M.A. Rodriguez-Bigas, R. Fodde, G.N. Ranzani, and S. Srivastava, A National Cancer Institute Workshop on Microsatellite Instability for cancer detection and familial predisposition: development of international criteria for the determination of microsatellite instability in colorectal cancer. Cancer Res, 1998. 58(22): p. 5248-57.
- 151. Popat, S., R. Hubner, and R.S. Houlston, *Systematic review of microsatellite instability and colorectal cancer prognosis.* J Clin Oncol, 2005. **23**(3): p. 609-18.
- 152. Venderbosch, S., I.D. Nagtegaal, T.S. Maughan, C.G. Smith, J.P. Cheadle, D. Fisher,
  R. Kaplan, P. Quirke, M.T. Seymour, S.D. Richman, G.A. Meijer, B. Ylstra, D.A.
  Heideman, A.F. de Haan, C.J. Punt, and M. Koopman, *Mismatch repair status and*

*BRAF mutation status in metastatic colorectal cancer patients: a pooled analysis of the CAIRO, CAIRO2, COIN, and FOCUS studies.* Clin Cancer Res, 2014. **20**(20): p. 5322-30.

- 153. Llosa, N.J., M. Cruise, A. Tam, E.C. Wicks, E.M. Hechenbleikner, J.M. Taube, R.L. Blosser, H. Fan, H. Wang, B.S. Luber, M. Zhang, N. Papadopoulos, K.W. Kinzler, B. Vogelstein, C.L. Sears, R.A. Anders, D.M. Pardoll, and F. Housseau, *The vigorous immune microenvironment of microsatellite instable colon cancer is balanced by multiple counter-inhibitory checkpoints*. Cancer Discov, 2015. 5(1): p. 43-51.
- 154. Overman, M.J., S. Lonardi, K.Y.M. Wong, H.J. Lenz, F. Gelsomino, M. Aglietta, M.A. Morse, E. Van Cutsem, R. McDermott, A. Hill, M.B. Sawyer, A. Hendlisz, B. Neyns, M. Svrcek, R.A. Moss, J.M. Ledeine, Z.A. Cao, S. Kamble, S. Kopetz, and T. Andre, *Durable Clinical Benefit With Nivolumab Plus Ipilimumab in DNA Mismatch Repair-Deficient/Microsatellite Instability-High Metastatic Colorectal Cancer*. J Clin Oncol, 2018. 36(8): p. 773-779.
- 155. Andre, T., S. Lonardi, M. Wong, H.-J. Lenz, F. Gelsomino, M. Aglietta, M. Morse, E. Van Cutsem, R.S. McDermott, A.G. Hill, M.B. Sawyer, A. Hendlisz, B. Neyns, M. Svrcek, R.A. Moss, J.-M. Ledeine, Z.A. Cao, S. Kamble, S. Kopetz, and M.J. Overman, *Nivolumab* + *ipilimumab* combination in patients with DNA mismatch repair-deficient/microsatellite instability-high (dMMR/MSI-H) metastatic colorectal cancer (mCRC): First report of the full cohort from CheckMate-142. Journal of Clinical Oncology, 2018. 36(4\_suppl): p. 553-553.
- 156. Belli, C., D. Trapani, G. Viale, P. D'Amico, B.A. Duso, P. Della Vigna, F. Orsi, and G. Curigliano, *Targeting the microenvironment in solid tumors*. Cancer Treat Rev, 2018.
  65: p. 22-32.
- 157. Binnewies, M., E.W. Roberts, K. Kersten, V. Chan, D.F. Fearon, M. Merad, L.M. Coussens, D.I. Gabrilovich, S. Ostrand-Rosenberg, C.C. Hedrick, R.H. Vonderheide, M.J. Pittet, R.K. Jain, W. Zou, T.K. Howcroft, E.C. Woodhouse, R.A. Weinberg, and M.F. Krummel, *Understanding the tumor immune microenvironment (TIME) for effective therapy*. Nature Medicine, 2018. 24(5): p. 541-550.
- 158. Roma-Rodrigues, C., R. Mendes, and P.V. Baptista, *Targeting Tumor Microenvironment for Cancer Therapy.* 2019. **20**(4).
- 159. Balkwill, F.R., M. Capasso, and T. Hagemann, *The tumor microenvironment at a glance*. J Cell Sci, 2012. **125**(Pt 23): p. 5591-6.
- Quail, D.F. and J.A. Joyce, *Microenvironmental regulation of tumor progression and metastasis*. Nat Med, 2013. **19**(11): p. 1423-37.
- 161. Quante, M., J. Varga, T.C. Wang, and F.R. Greten, *The gastrointestinal tumor microenvironment*. Gastroenterology, 2013. **145**(1): p. 63-78.
- Gout, S. and J. Huot, *Role of cancer microenvironment in metastasis: focus on colon cancer*. Cancer microenvironment : official journal of the International Cancer Microenvironment Society, 2008. 1(1): p. 69-83.
- Zeki, S.S., T.A. Graham, and N.A. Wright, *Stem cells and their implications for colorectal cancer*. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol, 2011. 8(2): p. 90-100.
- 164. Lasry, A., A. Zinger, and Y. Ben-Neriah, *Inflammatory networks underlying colorectal cancer*. Nat Immunol, 2016. **17**(3): p. 230-40.
- 165. Guo, G., Y. Wang, Y. Zhou, Q. Quan, Y. Zhang, H. Wang, B. Zhang, and L. Xia, Immune cell concentrations among the primary tumor microenvironment in colorectal cancer patients predicted by clinicopathologic characteristics and blood indexes. J Immunother Cancer, 2019. 7(1): p. 179.
- Xiong, Y., Y. Wang, and K. Tiruthani, *Tumor immune microenvironment and nano-immunotherapeutics in colorectal cancer*. Nanomedicine, 2019. 21: p. 102034.
- West, N.R., S. McCuaig, F. Franchini, and F. Powrie, *Emerging cytokine networks in colorectal cancer*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2015. 15(10): p. 615-29.
- 168. Wong, S.H. and J. Yu, *Gut microbiota in colorectal cancer: mechanisms of action and clinical applications*. Nature Reviews Gastroenterology & Hepatology, 2019. 16(11): p. 690-704.
- 169. Crotti, S., M. Piccoli, F. Rizzolio, A. Giordano, D. Nitti, and M. Agostini, *Extracellular Matrix and Colorectal Cancer: How Surrounding Microenvironment Affects Cancer Cell Behavior?* J Cell Physiol, 2017. 232(5): p. 967-975.
- 170. Naba, A., K.R. Clauser, C.A. Whittaker, S.A. Carr, K.K. Tanabe, and R.O. Hynes, Extracellular matrix signatures of human primary metastatic colon cancers and their metastases to liver. BMC Cancer, 2014. 14(1): p. 518.
- 171. Kalluri, R. and M. Zeisberg, *Fibroblasts in cancer*. Nat Rev Cancer, 2006. 6(5): p. 392-401.
- 172. Kalluri, R., *The biology and function of fibroblasts in cancer*. Nat Rev Cancer, 2016.
  16(9): p. 582-98.
- 173. Furuya, S. and K. Furuya, Subepithelial fibroblasts in intestinal villi: roles in intercellular communication. Int Rev Cytol, 2007. 264: p. 165-223.

- 174. Öhlund, D., E. Elyada, and D. Tuveson, *Fibroblast heterogeneity in the cancer wound*. The Journal of experimental medicine, 2014. 211(8): p. 1503-1523.
- 175. Kobayashi, H., A. Enomoto, S.L. Woods, A.D. Burt, M. Takahashi, and D.L. Worthley, *Cancer-associated fibroblasts in gastrointestinal cancer*. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol, 2019. 16(5): p. 282-295.
- 176. Su, S., J. Chen, H. Yao, J. Liu, S. Yu, L. Lao, M. Wang, M. Luo, Y. Xing, F. Chen, D. Huang, J. Zhao, L. Yang, D. Liao, F. Su, M. Li, Q. Liu, and E. Song, CD10(+)GPR77(+) Cancer-Associated Fibroblasts Promote Cancer Formation and Chemoresistance by Sustaining Cancer Stemness. Cell, 2018. 172(4): p. 841-856.e16.
- 177. Vermeulen, L., E.M.F. De Sousa, M. van der Heijden, K. Cameron, J.H. de Jong, T. Borovski, J.B. Tuynman, M. Todaro, C. Merz, H. Rodermond, M.R. Sprick, K. Kemper, D.J. Richel, G. Stassi, and J.P. Medema, *Wnt activity defines colon cancer stem cells and is regulated by the microenvironment*. Nat Cell Biol, 2010. **12**(5): p. 468-76.
- 178. Calon, A., E. Espinet, S. Palomo-Ponce, D.V.F. Tauriello, M. Iglesias, M.V. Céspedes, M. Sevillano, C. Nadal, P. Jung, X.H.F. Zhang, D. Byrom, A. Riera, D. Rossell, R. Mangues, J. Massagué, E. Sancho, and E. Batlle, *Dependency of colorectal cancer on a TGF-β-driven program in stromal cells for metastasis initiation*. Cancer cell, 2012. 22(5): p. 571-584.
- 179. Davis, H., S. Irshad, M. Bansal, H. Rafferty, T. Boitsova, C. Bardella, E. Jaeger, A. Lewis, L. Freeman-Mills, F.C. Giner, P. Rodenas-Cuadrado, S. Mallappa, S. Clark, H. Thomas, R. Jeffery, R. Poulsom, M. Rodriguez-Justo, M. Novelli, R. Chetty, A. Silver, O.J. Sansom, F.R. Greten, L.M. Wang, J.E. East, I. Tomlinson, and S.J. Leedham, *Aberrant epithelial GREM1 expression initiates colonic tumorigenesis from cells outside the stem cell niche*. Nature Medicine, 2014. 21: p. 62.
- 180. Bollrath, J., T.J. Phesse, V.A. von Burstin, T. Putoczki, M. Bennecke, T. Bateman, T. Nebelsiek, T. Lundgren-May, O. Canli, S. Schwitalla, V. Matthews, R.M. Schmid, T. Kirchner, M.C. Arkan, M. Ernst, and F.R. Greten, *gp130-mediated Stat3 activation in enterocytes regulates cell survival and cell-cycle progression during colitis-associated tumorigenesis.* Cancer Cell, 2009. **15**(2): p. 91-102.
- 181. Claperon, A., M. Mergey, L. Aoudjehane, T.H. Ho-Bouldoires, D. Wendum, A. Prignon, F. Merabtene, D. Firrincieli, C. Desbois-Mouthon, O. Scatton, F. Conti, C. Housset, and L. Fouassier, *Hepatic myofibroblasts promote the progression of human*

*cholangiocarcinoma through activation of epidermal growth factor receptor.* Hepatology, 2013. **58**(6): p. 2001-11.

- 182. Chen, W.J., C.C. Ho, Y.L. Chang, H.Y. Chen, C.A. Lin, T.Y. Ling, S.L. Yu, S.S. Yuan, Y.J. Chen, C.Y. Lin, S.H. Pan, H.Y. Chou, Y.J. Chen, G.C. Chang, W.C. Chu, Y.M. Lee, J.Y. Lee, P.J. Lee, K.C. Li, H.W. Chen, and P.C. Yang, *Cancer-associated fibroblasts regulate the plasticity of lung cancer stemness via paracrine signalling*. Nat Commun, 2014. 5: p. 3472.
- 183. Putoczki, T.L., S. Thiem, A. Loving, R.A. Busuttil, N.J. Wilson, P.K. Ziegler, P.M. Nguyen, A. Preaudet, R. Farid, K.M. Edwards, Y. Boglev, R.B. Luwor, A. Jarnicki, D. Horst, A. Boussioutas, J.K. Heath, O.M. Sieber, I. Pleines, B.T. Kile, A. Nash, F.R. Greten, B.S. McKenzie, and M. Ernst, *Interleukin-11 is the dominant IL-6 family cytokine during gastrointestinal tumorigenesis and can be targeted therapeutically.* Cancer Cell, 2013. 24(2): p. 257-71.
- 184. Grivennikov, S., E. Karin, J. Terzic, D. Mucida, G.Y. Yu, S. Vallabhapurapu, J. Scheller, S. Rose-John, H. Cheroutre, L. Eckmann, and M. Karin, *IL-6 and Stat3 are required for survival of intestinal epithelial cells and development of colitis-associated cancer*. Cancer Cell, 2009. 15(2): p. 103-13.
- 185. Neufert, C., C. Becker, O. Tureci, M.J. Waldner, I. Backert, K. Floh, I. Atreya, M. Leppkes, A. Jefremow, M. Vieth, R. Schneider-Stock, P. Klinger, F.R. Greten, D.W. Threadgill, U. Sahin, and M.F. Neurath, *Tumor fibroblast-derived epiregulin promotes growth of colitis-associated neoplasms through ERK*. J Clin Invest, 2013. **123**(4): p. 1428-43.
- Koliaraki, V., C.K. Pallangyo, F.R. Greten, and G. Kollias, *Mesenchymal Cells in Colon Cancer*. Gastroenterology, 2017. 152(5): p. 964-979.
- 187. Koliaraki, V., M. Pasparakis, and G. Kollias, *IKKbeta in intestinal mesenchymal cells promotes initiation of colitis-associated cancer*. J Exp Med, 2015. **212**(13): p. 2235-51.
- Zanconato, F., M. Cordenonsi, and S. Piccolo, *YAP/TAZ at the Roots of Cancer*. Cancer Cell, 2016. 29(6): p. 783-803.
- 189. Grivennikov, S.I., F.R. Greten, and M. Karin, *Immunity, inflammation, and cancer*. Cell, 2010. 140(6): p. 883-99.
- 190. Galon, J., A. Costes, F. Sanchez-Cabo, A. Kirilovsky, B. Mlecnik, C. Lagorce-Pages, M. Tosolini, M. Camus, A. Berger, P. Wind, F. Zinzindohoue, P. Bruneval, P.H. Cugnenc, Z. Trajanoski, W.H. Fridman, and F. Pages, *Type, density, and location of*

*immune cells within human colorectal tumors predict clinical outcome*. Science, 2006. **313**(5795): p. 1960-4.

- 191. Pages, F., A. Kirilovsky, B. Mlecnik, M. Asslaber, M. Tosolini, G. Bindea, C. Lagorce,
  P. Wind, F. Marliot, P. Bruneval, K. Zatloukal, Z. Trajanoski, A. Berger, W.H.
  Fridman, and J. Galon, *In situ cytotoxic and memory T cells predict outcome in patients* with early-stage colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol, 2009. 27(35): p. 5944-51.
- 192. Halama, N., S. Michel, M. Kloor, I. Zoernig, A. Benner, A. Spille, T. Pommerencke, D.M. von Knebel, G. Folprecht, B. Luber, N. Feyen, U.M. Martens, P. Beckhove, S. Gnjatic, P. Schirmacher, E. Herpel, J. Weitz, N. Grabe, and D. Jaeger, *Localization and density of immune cells in the invasive margin of human colorectal cancer liver metastases are prognostic for response to chemotherapy*. Cancer Res, 2011. **71**(17): p. 5670-7.
- 193. Edin, S., M.L. Wikberg, A.M. Dahlin, J. Rutegard, A. Oberg, P.A. Oldenborg, and R. Palmqvist, *The distribution of macrophages with a M1 or M2 phenotype in relation to prognosis and the molecular characteristics of colorectal cancer*. PLoS One, 2012. 7(10): p. e47045.
- 194. Hsieh, M.H., Z.Y. Lin, C.J. Huang, M.C. Shih, and W.L. Chuang, *Management of bilateral adrenal metastases from hepatocellular carcinoma: a case report.* Kaohsiung J Med Sci, 2005. 21(8): p. 371-6.
- 195. Fridman, W.H., F. Pages, C. Sautes-Fridman, and J. Galon, *The immune contexture in human tumours: impact on clinical outcome*. Nat Rev Cancer, 2012. **12**(4): p. 298-306.
- 196. Costello, E.K., K. Stagaman, L. Dethlefsen, B.J. Bohannan, and D.A. Relman, *The application of ecological theory toward an understanding of the human microbiome*. Science, 2012. **336**(6086): p. 1255-62.
- 197. Elinav, E., R. Nowarski, C.A. Thaiss, B. Hu, C. Jin, and R.A. Flavell, *Inflammationinduced cancer: crosstalk between tumours, immune cells and microorganisms.* Nat Rev Cancer, 2013. **13**(11): p. 759-71.
- Sears, C.L. and W.S. Garrett, *Microbes, microbiota, and colon cancer*. Cell Host Microbe, 2014. 15(3): p. 317-28.
- 199. Castellarin, M., R.L. Warren, J.D. Freeman, L. Dreolini, M. Krzywinski, J. Strauss, R. Barnes, P. Watson, E. Allen-Vercoe, R.A. Moore, and R.A. Holt, *Fusobacterium nucleatum infection is prevalent in human colorectal carcinoma*. Genome research, 2012. 22(2): p. 299-306.

- 200. Feng, Q., S. Liang, and H. Jia, *Gut microbiome development along the colorectal adenoma-carcinoma sequence*. 2015. **6**: p. 6528.
- Yu, J., Q. Feng, S.H. Wong, D. Zhang, Q.Y. Liang, Y. Qin, L. Tang, H. Zhao, J. Stenvang, Y. Li, X. Wang, X. Xu, N. Chen, W.K. Wu, J. Al-Aama, H.J. Nielsen, P. Kiilerich, B.A. Jensen, T.O. Yau, Z. Lan, H. Jia, J. Li, L. Xiao, T.Y. Lam, S.C. Ng, A.S. Cheng, V.W. Wong, F.K. Chan, X. Xu, H. Yang, L. Madsen, C. Datz, H. Tilg, J. Wang, N. Brunner, K. Kristiansen, M. Arumugam, J.J. Sung, and J. Wang, *Metagenomic analysis of faecal microbiome as a tool towards targeted non-invasive biomarkers for colorectal cancer*. Gut, 2017. 66(1): p. 70-78.
- 202. Marchesi, J.R., B.E. Dutilh, N. Hall, W.H. Peters, R. Roelofs, A. Boleij, and H. Tjalsma, *Towards the human colorectal cancer microbiome*. PLoS One, 2011. 6(5): p. e20447.
- 203. Zhernakova, A., A. Kurilshikov, M.J. Bonder, E.F. Tigchelaar, M. Schirmer, T. Vatanen, Z. Mujagic, A.V. Vila, G. Falony, S. Vieira-Silva, J. Wang, F. Imhann, E. Brandsma, S.A. Jankipersadsing, M. Joossens, M.C. Cenit, P. Deelen, M.A. Swertz, R.K. Weersma, E.J. Feskens, M.G. Netea, D. Gevers, D. Jonkers, L. Franke, Y.S. Aulchenko, C. Huttenhower, J. Raes, M.H. Hofker, R.J. Xavier, C. Wijmenga, and J. Fu, *Population-based metagenomics analysis reveals markers for gut microbiome composition and diversity*. Science, 2016. **352**(6285): p. 565-9.
- He, Y., W. Wu, H.M. Zheng, P. Li, D. McDonald, H.F. Sheng, M.X. Chen, Z.H. Chen, G.Y. Ji, Z.D. Zheng, P. Mujagond, X.J. Chen, Z.H. Rong, P. Chen, L.Y. Lyu, X. Wang, C.B. Wu, N. Yu, Y.J. Xu, J. Yin, J. Raes, and R. Knight, *Regional variation limits applications of healthy gut microbiome reference ranges and disease models*. 2018. 24(10): p. 1532-1535.
- 205. Drewes, J.L., J.R. White, C.M. Dejea, P. Fathi, T. Iyadorai, J. Vadivelu, A.C. Roslani, E.C. Wick, E.F. Mongodin, M.F. Loke, K. Thulasi, H.M. Gan, K.L. Goh, H.Y. Chong, S. Kumar, J.W. Wanyiri, and C.L. Sears, *High-resolution bacterial 16S rRNA gene profile meta-analysis and biofilm status reveal common colorectal cancer consortia.* npj Biofilms and Microbiomes, 2017. **3**(1): p. 34.
- 206. Dai, Z., O.O. Coker, G. Nakatsu, W.K.K. Wu, L. Zhao, Z. Chen, F.K.L. Chan, K. Kristiansen, J.J.Y. Sung, and S.H. Wong, *Multi-cohort analysis of colorectal cancer metagenome identified altered bacteria across populations and universal bacterial markers*. 2018. 6(1): p. 70.

- 207. Wirbel, J. and P.T. Pyl, *Meta-analysis of fecal metagenomes reveals global microbial signatures that are specific for colorectal cancer*. 2019. **25**(4): p. 679-689.
- Yachida, S. and S. Mizutani, Metagenomic and metabolomic analyses reveal distinct stage-specific phenotypes of the gut microbiota in colorectal cancer. 2019. 25(6): p. 968-976.
- 209. Shen, X.J., J.F. Rawls, T. Randall, L. Burcal, C.N. Mpande, N. Jenkins, B. Jovov, Z. Abdo, R.S. Sandler, and T.O. Keku, *Molecular characterization of mucosal adherent bacteria and associations with colorectal adenomas*. Gut Microbes, 2010. 1(3): p. 138-47.
- 210. McCoy, A.N., F. Araujo-Perez, A. Azcarate-Peril, J.J. Yeh, R.S. Sandler, and T.O. Keku, *Fusobacterium is associated with colorectal adenomas*. PLoS One, 2013. 8(1): p. e53653.
- 211. Lu, Y., J. Chen, J. Zheng, G. Hu, J. Wang, C. Huang, L. Lou, X. Wang, and Y. Zeng, *Mucosal adherent bacterial dysbiosis in patients with colorectal adenomas*. Scientific reports, 2016. 6: p. 26337-26337.
- Tilg, H., T.E. Adolph, R.R. Gerner, and A.R. Moschen, *The Intestinal Microbiota in Colorectal Cancer*. Cancer Cell, 2018. 33(6): p. 954-964.
- Frantz, C., K.M. Stewart, and V.M. Weaver, *The extracellular matrix at a glance*. J Cell Sci, 2010. **123**(Pt 24): p. 4195-200.
- Bonnans, C., J. Chou, and Z. Werb, *Remodelling the extracellular matrix in development and disease*. Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology, 2014. 15(12): p. 786-801.
- Humphrey, J.D., E.R. Dufresne, and M.A. Schwartz, *Mechanotransduction and extracellular matrix homeostasis*. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology, 2014. 15: p. 802.
- 216. Mouw, J.K., G. Ou, and V.M. Weaver, *Extracellular matrix assembly: a multiscale deconstruction*. Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology, 2014. **15**(12): p. 771-785.
- 217. Rozario, T. and D.W. DeSimone, *The extracellular matrix in development and morphogenesis: A dynamic view.* Developmental Biology, 2010. **341**(1): p. 126-140.
- 218. Bosman, F.T. and I. Stamenkovic, *Functional structure and composition of the extracellular matrix.* J Pathol, 2003. **200**(4): p. 423-8.
- Worthley, D.L., A.S. Giraud, and T.C. Wang, *The extracellular matrix in digestive cancer*. Cancer microenvironment : official journal of the International Cancer Microenvironment Society, 2010. 3(1): p. 177-185.

- 220. Lazaris, A., A.N. Tzoumani, I. Thimara, G.E. Theodoropoulos, G. Thomopoulou, C. Dicoglou, D. Panoussopoulos, and P. Davaris, *Immunohistochemical assessment of basement membrane components in colorectal cancer: prognostic implications.* J Exp Clin Cancer Res, 2003. 22(4): p. 599-606.
- 221. Delektorskaya, V.V. and N.E. Kushlinskii, *Clinical Significance of the Content of Biomolecular Markers in Invasive Front of Colon Carcinomas*. Bulletin of Experimental Biology and Medicine, 2011. **150**(3): p. 368-371.
- Mylonas, C.C. and A.C. Lazaris, *Colorectal cancer and basement membranes: clinicopathological correlations*. Gastroenterology research and practice, 2014. 2014: p. 580159-580159.
- 223. Birk, J.W., M. Tadros, K. Moezardalan, O. Nadyarnykh, F. Forouhar, J. Anderson, and P. Campagnola, *Second harmonic generation imaging distinguishes both high-grade dysplasia and cancer from normal colonic mucosa*. Dig Dis Sci, 2014. **59**(7): p. 1529-34.
- 224. Bröker, M.E.E., Z.S. Lalmahomed, H.P. Roest, N.A. van Huizen, L.J.M. Dekker, W. Calame, C. Verhoef, J.N.M. Ijzermans, and T.M. Luider, *Collagen Peptides in Urine: A New Promising Biomarker for the Detection of Colorectal Liver Metastases.* PLOS ONE, 2013. 8(8): p. e70918.
- Yang, B., J. Gao, Z. Rao, and Q. Shen, *Clinicopathological significance and prognostic value of MMP-13 expression in colorectal cancer*. Scand J Clin Lab Invest, 2012. **72**(6): p. 501-5.
- 226. Naba, A., K.R. Clauser, S. Hoersch, H. Liu, S.A. Carr, and R.O. Hynes, *The matrisome: in silico definition and in vivo characterization by proteomics of normal and tumor extracellular matrices.* Mol Cell Proteomics, 2012. **11**(4): p. M111.014647.
- 227. Said, A.H., J.-P. Raufman, and G. Xie, *The role of matrix metalloproteinases in colorectal cancer*. Cancers, 2014. **6**(1): p. 366-375.
- 228. Yang, H.Y., J. Kwon, H.R. Park, S.O. Kwon, Y.K. Park, H.S. Kim, Y.J. Chung, Y.J. Chang, H.I. Choi, K.J. Chung, D.S. Lee, B.J. Park, S.H. Jeong, and T.H. Lee, *Comparative proteomic analysis for the insoluble fractions of colorectal cancer patients.* J Proteomics, 2012. **75**(12): p. 3639-53.
- Barczyk, M., S. Carracedo, and D. Gullberg, *Integrins*. Cell and Tissue Research, 2009. **339**(1): p. 269.

- Kechagia, J.Z., J. Ivaska, and P. Roca-Cusachs, *Integrins as biomechanical sensors of the microenvironment*. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology, 2019. 20(8): p. 457-473.
- 231. Hanein, D. and A.R. Horwitz, *The structure of cell-matrix adhesions: the new frontier*.Current opinion in cell biology, 2012. 24(1): p. 134-140.
- 232. Zeltz, C. and D. Gullberg, *The integrin-collagen connection--a glue for tissue repair*? J Cell Sci, 2016. **129**(4): p. 653-64.
- 233. Zhang, W.M., J. Kapyla, J.S. Puranen, C.G. Knight, C.F. Tiger, O.T. Pentikainen, M.S. Johnson, R.W. Farndale, J. Heino, and D. Gullberg, *alpha 11beta 1 integrin recognizes the GFOGER sequence in interstitial collagens*. J Biol Chem, 2003. 278(9): p. 7270-7.
- 234. Chen, X., Y. Su, B. Fingleton, H. Acuff, L.M. Matrisian, R. Zent, and A. Pozzi, *An* orthotopic model of lung cancer to analyze primary and metastatic NSCLC growth in integrin alpha1-null mice. Clin Exp Metastasis, 2005. **22**(2): p. 185-93.
- 235. Macias-Perez, I., C. Borza, X. Chen, X. Yan, R. Ibanez, G. Mernaugh, L.M. Matrisian,
  R. Zent, and A. Pozzi, *Loss of Integrin αlβl Ameliorates Kras-Induced Lung Cancer*.
  Cancer Research, 2008. 68(15): p. 6127.
- 236. Pozzi, A., P.E. Moberg, L.A. Miles, S. Wagner, P. Soloway, and H.A. Gardner, Elevated matrix metalloprotease and angiostatin levels in integrin alpha 1 knockout mice cause reduced tumor vascularization. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2000. 97(5): p. 2202-7.
- 237. Boudjadi, S., J.C. Carrier, and J.-F. Beaulieu, *Integrin α1 subunit is up-regulated in colorectal cancer*. Biomarker Research, 2013. 1(1): p. 16.
- Boudjadi, S., J.C. Carrier, J.F. Groulx, and J.F. Beaulieu, *Integrin αlβl expression is controlled by c-MYC in colorectal cancer cells*. Oncogene, 2015. 35: p. 1671.
- Ramirez, N.E., Z. Zhang, A. Madamanchi, K.L. Boyd, L.D. O'Rear, A. Nashabi, Z. Li,
  W.D. Dupont, A. Zijlstra, and M.M. Zutter, *The α2β1 integrin is a metastasis* suppressor in mouse models and human cancer. The Journal of Clinical Investigation, 2011. 121(1): p. 226-237.
- 240. Caron, J.M., J.J. Ames, L. Contois, L. Liebes, R. Friesel, F. Muggia, C.P. Vary, L. Oxburgh, and P.C. Brooks, *Inhibition of Ovarian Tumor Growth by Targeting the HU177 Cryptic Collagen Epitope*. Am J Pathol, 2016. **186**(6): p. 1649-61.
- 241. Wenke, A.K., C. Kjellman, E. Lundgren-Akerlund, C. Uhlmann, N.K. Haass, M. Herlyn, and A.K. Bosserhoff, *Expression of integrin alpha10 is induced in malignant melanoma*. Cell Oncol, 2007. 29(5): p. 373-86.

- 242. Lu, N., T.V. Karlsen, R.K. Reed, M. Kusche-Gullberg, and D. Gullberg, *Fibroblast alphal1betal integrin regulates tensional homeostasis in fibroblast/A549 carcinoma heterospheroids*. PLoS One, 2014. **9**(7): p. e103173.
- Zeltz, C., J. Alam, H. Liu, P.M. Erusappan, H. Hoschuetzky, A. Molven, H. Parajuli,
  E. Cukierman, D.-E. Costea, N. Lu, and D. Gullberg, α11β1 Integrin is Induced in a Subset of Cancer-Associated Fibroblasts in Desmoplastic Tumor Stroma and Mediates In Vitro Cell Migration. Cancers, 2019. 11(6): p. 765.
- Navab, R., D. Strumpf, C. To, E. Pasko, K.S. Kim, C.J. Park, J. Hai, J. Liu, J. Jonkman, M. Barczyk, B. Bandarchi, Y.H. Wang, K. Venkat, E. Ibrahimov, N.A. Pham, C. Ng, N. Radulovich, C.Q. Zhu, M. Pintilie, D. Wang, A. Lu, I. Jurisica, G.C. Walker, D. Gullberg, and M.S. Tsao, *Integrin α11β1 regulates cancer stromal stiffness and promotes tumorigenicity and metastasis in non-small cell lung cancer*. Oncogene, 2015. 35: p. 1899.
- 245. Lemmon, M.A. and J. Schlessinger, *Cell Signaling by Receptor Tyrosine Kinases*. Cell, 2010. 141(7): p. 1117-1134.
- 246. Johnson, J.D., J.C. Edman, and W.J. Rutter, A receptor tyrosine kinase found in breast carcinoma cells has an extracellular discoidin I-like domain. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 1993. 90(12): p. 5677-5681.
- 247. Di Marco, E., N. Cutuli, L. Guerra, R. Cancedda, and M. De Luca, Molecular cloning of trkE, a novel trk-related putative tyrosine kinase receptor isolated from normal human keratinocytes and widely expressed by normal human tissues. J Biol Chem, 1993. 268(32): p. 24290-5.
- 248. Zerlin, M., M.A. Julius, and M. Goldfarb, *NEP: a novel receptor-like tyrosine kinase expressed in proliferating neuroepithelia*. Oncogene, 1993. **8**(10): p. 2731-2739.
- 249. Karn, T., U. Holtrich, A. Brauninger, B. Bohme, G. Wolf, H. Rubsamen-Waigmann, and K. Strebhardt, *Structure, expression and chromosomal mapping of TKT from man and mouse: a new subclass of receptor tyrosine kinases with a factor VIII-like domain.* Oncogene, 1993. 8(12): p. 3433-40.
- 250. Lai, C. and G. Lemke, *Structure and expression of the Tyro 10 receptor tyrosine kinase*. Oncogene, 1994. 9(3): p. 877-83.
- 251. Laval, S., R. Butler, A.N. Shelling, A.M. Hanby, R. Poulsom, and T.S. Ganesan, Isolation and characterization of an epithelial-specific receptor tyrosine kinase from an ovarian cancer cell line. Cell Growth Differ, 1994. 5(11): p. 1173-83.

- 252. Sánchez, M.P., P. Tapley, S.S. Saini, B. He, D. Pulido, and M. Barbacid, *Multiple tyrosine protein kinases in rat hippocampal neurons: isolation of Ptk-3, a receptor expressed in proliferative zones of the developing brain.* Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 1994. **91**(5): p. 1819-1823.
- 253. Alves, F., W. Vogel, K. Mossie, B. Millauer, H. Hofler, and A. Ullrich, *Distinct* structural characteristics of discoidin I subfamily receptor tyrosine kinases and complementary expression in human cancer. Oncogene, 1995. **10**(3): p. 609-18.
- Playford, M.P., R.J. Butler, X.C. Wang, R.M. Katso, I.E. Cooke, and T.S. Ganesan, *The genomic structure of discoidin receptor tyrosine kinase*. Genome Res, 1996. 6(7): p. 620-7.
- 255. Edelhoff, S., D.A. Sweetser, and C.M. Disteche, *Mapping of the NEP receptor tyrosine kinase gene to human chromosome 6p21.3 and mouse chromosome 17C.* Genomics, 1995. 25(1): p. 309-311.
- 256. Shelling, A.N., R. Butler, T. Jones, S. Laval, J.M. Boyle, and T.S. Ganesan, Localization of an epithelial-specific receptor kinase (EDDR1) to chromosome 6q16. Genomics, 1995. 25(2): p. 584-587.
- 257. Valiathan, R.R., M. Marco, B. Leitinger, C.G. Kleer, and R. Fridman, *Discoidin domain receptor tyrosine kinases: new players in cancer progression*. Cancer Metastasis Rev, 2012. 31(1-2): p. 295-321.
- 258. Vogel, W., G.D. Gish, F. Alves, and T. Pawson, *The discoidin domain receptor tyrosine kinases are activated by collagen*. Mol Cell, 1997. **1**(1): p. 13-23.
- 259. Shrivastava, A., C. Radziejewski, E. Campbell, L. Kovac, M. McGlynn, T.E. Ryan, S. Davis, M.P. Goldfarb, D.J. Glass, G. Lemke, and G.D. Yancopoulos, An orphan receptor tyrosine kinase family whose members serve as nonintegrin collagen receptors. Mol Cell, 1997. 1(1): p. 25-34.
- 260. Leitinger, B., *Transmembrane Collagen Receptors*. Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology, 2011. **27**(1): p. 265-290.
- Li, Y., X. Lu, X. Ren, and K. Ding, *Small Molecule Discoidin Domain Receptor Kinase Inhibitors and Potential Medical Applications*. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry, 2015.
   58(8): p. 3287-3301.
- 262. Leitinger, B. and A.P.L. Kwan, *The discoidin domain receptor DDR2 is a receptor for type X collagen.* Matrix Biology, 2006. **25**(6): p. 355-364.

- Leitinger, B., Molecular analysis of collagen binding by the human discoidin domain receptors, DDR1 and DDR2. Identification of collagen binding sites in DDR2. J Biol Chem, 2003. 278(19): p. 16761-9.
- Hou, G., W. Vogel, and M.P. Bendeck, *The discoidin domain receptor tyrosine kinase* DDR1 in arterial wound repair. The Journal of clinical investigation, 2001. 107(6): p. 727-735.
- 265. Juskaite, V., D.S. Corcoran, and B. Leitinger, *Collagen induces activation of DDR1* through lateral dimer association and phosphorylation between dimers. eLife, 2017. 6: p. e25716.
- 266. Vogel, W., C. Brakebusch, R. Fassler, F. Alves, F. Ruggiero, and T. Pawson, *Discoidin domain receptor 1 is activated independently of beta(1) integrin.* J Biol Chem, 2000.
  275(8): p. 5779-84.
- 267. An, B., V. Abbonante, H. Xu, D. Gavriilidou, A. Yoshizumi, D. Bihan, R.W. Farndale,
  D.L. Kaplan, A. Balduini, B. Leitinger, and B. Brodsky, *Recombinant Collagen Engineered to Bind to Discoidin Domain Receptor Functions as a Receptor Inhibitor*.
  J Biol Chem, 2016. 291(9): p. 4343-55.
- 268. Xu, H., N. Raynal, S. Stathopoulos, J. Myllyharju, R.W. Farndale, and B. Leitinger, Collagen binding specificity of the discoidin domain receptors: Binding sites on collagens II and III and molecular determinants for collagen IV recognition by DDR1. Matrix Biology, 2011. 30(1): p. 16-26.
- Ichikawa, O., M. Osawa, N. Nishida, N. Goshima, N. Nomura, and I. Shimada, *Structural basis of the collagen-binding mode of discoidin domain receptor 2.* Embo j, 2007. 26(18): p. 4168-76.
- 270. Farndale, R.W., T. Lisman, D. Bihan, S. Hamaia, C.S. Smerling, N. Pugh, A. Konitsiotis, B. Leitinger, P.G. de Groot, G.E. Jarvis, and N. Raynal, *Cell-collagen interactions: the use of peptide Toolkits to investigate collagen-receptor interactions.* Biochem Soc Trans, 2008. **36**(Pt 2): p. 241-50.
- 271. Konitsiotis, A.D., N. Raynal, D. Bihan, E. Hohenester, R.W. Farndale, and B. Leitinger, *Characterization of high affinity binding motifs for the discoidin domain receptor DDR2 in collagen.* J Biol Chem, 2008. 283(11): p. 6861-8.
- 272. Schlessinger, J., Cell Signaling by Receptor Tyrosine Kinases. Cell, 2000. 103(2): p. 211-225.

- 273. Mihai, C., M. Chotani, T.S. Elton, and G. Agarwal, *Mapping of DDR1 Distribution and Oligomerization on the Cell Surface by FRET Microscopy*. Journal of Molecular Biology, 2009. 385(2): p. 432-445.
- 274. Vogel, W.F., R. Abdulhussein, and C.E. Ford, *Sensing extracellular matrix: an update on discoidin domain receptor function*. Cell Signal, 2006. **18**(8): p. 1108-16.
- 275. Sakuma, S., H. Saya, M. Tada, M. Nakao, T. Fujiwara, J.A. Roth, Y. Sawamura, Y. Shinohe, and H. Abe, *Receptor protein tyrosine kinase DDR is up-regulated by p53 protein*. FEBS Lett, 1996. **398**(2-3): p. 165-9.
- 276. Hachehouche, L.N., N. Chetoui, and F. Aoudjit, *Implication of discoidin domain receptor 1 in T cell migration in three-dimensional collagen*. Mol Immunol, 2010.
  47(9): p. 1866-9.
- 277. Chetoui, N., M.A. El Azreq, M. Boisvert, M.E. Bergeron, and F. Aoudjit, *Discoidin domain receptor 1 expression in activated T cells is regulated by the ERK MAP kinase signaling pathway.* J Cell Biochem, 2011. **112**(12): p. 3666-74.
- 278. Kim, S.H., S. Lee, K. Suk, H. Bark, C.D. Jun, D.K. Kim, C.H. Choi, and T. Yoshimura, Discoidin domain receptor 1 mediates collagen-induced nitric oxide production in J774A.1 murine macrophages. Free Radic Biol Med, 2007. 42(3): p. 343-52.
- 279. Chiusa, M., W. Hu, H.-J. Liao, Y. Su, C.M. Borza, M.P. de Caestecker, N.I. Skrypnyk, A.B. Fogo, V. Pedchenko, X. Li, M.-Z. Zhang, B.G. Hudson, T. Basak, R.M. Vanacore, R. Zent, and A. Pozzi, *The Extracellular Matrix Receptor Discoidin Domain Receptor 1 Regulates Collagen Transcription by Translocating to the Nucleus*. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology, 2019: p. ASN.2018111160.
- 280. Curat, C.A. and W.F. Vogel, *Discoidin Domain Receptor 1 Controls Growth and Adhesion of Mesangial Cells*. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology, 2002.
  13(11): p. 2648.
- 281. Lu, K.K., D. Trcka, and M.P. Bendeck, *Collagen stimulates discoidin domain receptor 1-mediated migration of smooth muscle cells through Src.* Cardiovascular Pathology, 2011. 20(2): p. 71-76.
- 282. Chen, S.C., B.W. Wang, D.L. Wang, and K.G. Shyu, *Hypoxia induces discoidin domain* receptor-2 expression via the p38 pathway in vascular smooth muscle cells to increase their migration. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2008. **374**(4): p. 662-7.
- 283. Zhang, Y., J. Su, J. Yu, X. Bu, T. Ren, X. Liu, and L. Yao, An essential role of discoidin domain receptor 2 (DDR2) in osteoblast differentiation and chondrocyte maturation via modulation of Runx2 activation. J Bone Miner Res, 2011. 26(3): p. 604-17.

- 284. Lin, K.L., C.H. Chou, S.C. Hsieh, S.Y. Hwa, M.T. Lee, and F.F. Wang, *Transcriptional upregulation of DDR2 by ATF4 facilitates osteoblastic differentiation through p38 MAPK-mediated Runx2 activation.* J Bone Miner Res, 2010. 25(11): p. 2489-503.
- 285. Poudel, B., H.H. Ki, Y.M. Lee, and D.K. Kim, *Induction of IL-12 production by the activation of discoidin domain receptor 2 via NF-kappaB and JNK pathway*. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2013. **434**(3): p. 584-8.
- 286. Lee, J.E., C.S. Kang, X.Y. Guan, B.T. Kim, S.H. Kim, Y.M. Lee, W.S. Moon, and D.K. Kim, *Discoidin domain receptor 2 is involved in the activation of bone marrow-derived dendritic cells caused by type I collagen*. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2007. 352(1): p. 244-50.
- 287. Poudel, B., D.-S. Yoon, J.-H. Lee, Y.-M. Lee, and D.-K. Kim, Collagen I enhances functional activities of human monocyte-derived dendritic cells via discoidin domain receptor 2. Cellular Immunology, 2012. 278(1): p. 95-102.
- 288. Barker, K.T., J.E. Martindale, P.J. Mitchell, T. Kamalati, M.J. Page, D.J. Phippard, T.C. Dale, B.A. Gusterson, and M.R. Crompton, *Expression patterns of the novel receptor-like tyrosine kinase, DDR, in human breast tumours.* Oncogene, 1995. 10(3): p. 569-75.
- 289. Ren, T., J. Zhang, J. Zhang, X. Liu, and L. Yao, Increased expression of discoidin domain receptor 2 (DDR2): a novel independent prognostic marker of worse outcome in breast cancer patients. Med Oncol, 2013. 30(1): p. 397.
- 290. Zhang, K., C.A. Corsa, S.M. Ponik, J.L. Prior, D. Piwnica-Worms, K.W. Eliceiri, P.J. Keely, and G.D. Longmore, *The collagen receptor discoidin domain receptor 2 stabilizes SNAIL1 to facilitate breast cancer metastasis*. Nat Cell Biol, 2013. **15**(6): p. 677-87.
- 291. Toy, K.A., R.R. Valiathan, F. Núñez, K.M. Kidwell, M.E. Gonzalez, R. Fridman, and C.G. Kleer, *Tyrosine kinase discoidin domain receptors DDR1 and DDR2 are coordinately deregulated in triple-negative breast cancer*. Breast cancer research and treatment, 2015. **150**(1): p. 9-18.
- 292. Takai, K., A.P. Drain, D.A. Lawson, L.E. Littlepage, M. Karpuj, K. Kessenbrock, A. Le, K. Inoue, V.M. Weaver, and Z. Werb, *Discoidin domain receptor 1 (DDR1)* ablation promotes tissue fibrosis and hypoxia to induce aggressive basal-like breast cancers. Genes Dev, 2018. **32**(3-4): p. 244-257.

- 293. Weiner, H.L., H. Huang, D. Zagzag, H. Boyce, R. Lichtenbaum, and E.B. Ziff, *Consistent and selective expression of the discoidin domain receptor-1 tyrosine kinase in human brain tumors.* Neurosurgery, 2000. **47**(6): p. 1400-9.
- Yang, S.H., H.A. Baek, H.J. Lee, H.S. Park, K.Y. Jang, M.J. Kang, D.G. Lee, Y.C. Lee, W.S. Moon, and M.J. Chung, *Discoidin domain receptor 1 is associated with poor prognosis of non-small cell lung carcinomas*. Oncol Rep, 2010. 24(2): p. 311-9.
- 295. Song, J., X. Chen, J. Bai, Q. Liu, H. Li, J. Xie, H. Jing, and J. Zheng, *Discoidin domain receptor 1 (DDR1), a promising biomarker, induces epithelial to mesenchymal transition in renal cancer cells.* Tumour Biol, 2016. **37**(8): p. 11509-21.
- 296. Xie, R., X. Wang, G. Qi, Z. Wu, R. Wei, P. Li, and D. Zhang, DDR1 enhances invasion and metastasis of gastric cancer via epithelial-mesenchymal transition. Tumor Biology, 2016. 37(9): p. 12049-12059.
- 297. Yuge, R., Y. Kitadai, H. Takigawa, T. Naito, N. Oue, W. Yasui, S. Tanaka, and K. Chayama, Silencing of Discoidin Domain Receptor-1 (DDR1) Concurrently Inhibits Multiple Steps of Metastasis Cascade in Gastric Cancer. Translational oncology, 2018. 11(3): p. 575-584.
- 298. Chung, V.Y., T.Z. Tan, R.L. Huang, H.C. Lai, and R.Y. Huang, Loss of discoidin domain receptor 1 (DDR1) via CpG methylation during EMT in epithelial ovarian cancer. Gene, 2017. 635: p. 9-15.
- 299. Ding, L., G. Getz, D.A. Wheeler, E.R. Mardis, M.D. McLellan, K. Cibulskis, C. Sougnez, H. Greulich, D.M. Muzny, M.B. Morgan, L. Fulton, R.S. Fulton, Q. Zhang, M.C. Wendl, M.S. Lawrence, D.E. Larson, K. Chen, D.J. Dooling, A. Sabo, A.C. Hawes, H. Shen, S.N. Jhangiani, L.R. Lewis, O. Hall, Y. Zhu, T. Mathew, Y. Ren, J. Yao, S.E. Scherer, K. Clerc, G.A. Metcalf, B. Ng, A. Milosavljevic, M.L. Gonzalez-Garay, J.R. Osborne, R. Meyer, X. Shi, Y. Tang, D.C. Koboldt, L. Lin, R. Abbott, T.L. Miner, C. Pohl, G. Fewell, C. Haipek, H. Schmidt, B.H. Dunford-Shore, A. Kraja, S.D. Crosby, C.S. Sawyer, T. Vickery, S. Sander, J. Robinson, W. Winckler, J. Baldwin, L.R. Chirieac, A. Dutt, T. Fennell, M. Hanna, B.E. Johnson, R.C. Onofrio, R.K. Thomas, G. Tonon, B.A. Weir, X. Zhao, L. Ziaugra, M.C. Zody, T. Giordano, M.B. Orringer, J.A. Roth, M.R. Spitz, Wistuba, II, B. Ozenberger, P.J. Good, A.C. Chang, D.G. Beer, M.A. Watson, M. Ladanyi, S. Broderick, A. Yoshizawa, W.D. Travis, W. Pao, M.A. Province, G.M. Weinstock, H.E. Varmus, S.B. Gabriel, E.S. Lander, R.A. Gibbs, M. Meyerson, and R.K. Wilson, Somatic mutations affect key pathways in lung adenocarcinoma. Nature, 2008. 455(7216): p. 1069-75.

- 300. Rammal, H., C. Saby, K. Magnien, L. Van-Gulick, R. Garnotel, E. Buache, H. El Btaouri, P. Jeannesson, and H. Morjani, *Discoidin Domain Receptors: Potential Actors* and Targets in Cancer. Frontiers in Pharmacology, 2016. 7(55).
- 301. Gao, M., L. Duan, J. Luo, L. Zhang, X. Lu, Y. Zhang, Z. Zhang, Z. Tu, Y. Xu, X. Ren, and K. Ding, Discovery and optimization of 3-(2-(Pyrazolo[1,5-a]pyrimidin-6yl)ethynyl)benzamides as novel selective and orally bioavailable discoidin domain receptor 1 (DDR1) inhibitors. J Med Chem, 2013. 56(8): p. 3281-95.
- 302. Kim, H.-G., L. Tan, E.L. Weisberg, F. Liu, P. Canning, H.G. Choi, S.A. Ezell, H. Wu, Z. Zhao, J. Wang, A. Mandinova, J.D. Griffin, A.N. Bullock, Q. Liu, S.W. Lee, and N.S. Gray, *Discovery of a Potent and Selective DDR1 Receptor Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitor*. ACS Chemical Biology, 2013. 8(10): p. 2145-2150.
- 303. Ambrogio, C., G. Gomez-Lopez, M. Falcone, A. Vidal, E. Nadal, N. Crosetto, R.B. Blasco, P.J. Fernandez-Marcos, M. Sanchez-Cespedes, X. Ren, Z. Wang, K. Ding, M. Hidalgo, M. Serrano, A. Villanueva, D. Santamaria, and M. Barbacid, *Combined inhibition of DDR1 and Notch signaling is a therapeutic strategy for KRAS-driven lung adenocarcinoma*. Nat Med, 2016. 22(3): p. 270-7.
- 304. Marcotte, R., K.R. Brown, F. Suarez, A. Sayad, K. Karamboulas, P.M. Krzyzanowski, F. Sircoulomb, M. Medrano, Y. Fedyshyn, J.L.Y. Koh, D. van Dyk, B. Fedyshyn, M. Luhova, G.C. Brito, F.J. Vizeacoumar, F.S. Vizeacoumar, A. Datti, D. Kasimer, A. Buzina, P. Mero, C. Misquitta, J. Normand, M. Haider, T. Ketela, J.L. Wrana, R. Rottapel, B.G. Neel, and J. Moffat, *Essential gene profiles in breast, pancreatic, and ovarian cancer cells.* Cancer Discov, 2012. 2(2): p. 172-189.
- 305. Malaguarnera, R., M.L. Nicolosi, A. Sacco, A. Morcavallo, V. Vella, C. Voci, M. Spatuzza, S.Q. Xu, R.V. Iozzo, R. Vigneri, A. Morrione, and A. Belfiore, *Novel cross talk between IGF-IR and DDR1 regulates IGF-IR trafficking, signaling and biological responses*. Oncotarget, 2015. 6(18): p. 16084-105.
- 306. Xiao, Q., Y. Jiang, Q. Liu, J. Yue, C. Liu, X. Zhao, Y. Qiao, H. Ji, J. Chen, and G. Ge, *Minor Type IV Collagen α5 Chain Promotes Cancer Progression through Discoidin Domain Receptor-1.* PLOS Genetics, 2015. **11**(5): p. e1005249.
- 307. Hur, H., I.H. Ham, D. Lee, H. Jin, K.Y. Aguilera, H.J. Oh, S.U. Han, J.E. Kwon, Y.B. Kim, K. Ding, and R.A. Brekken, *Discoidin domain receptor 1 activity drives an aggressive phenotype in gastric carcinoma*. BMC Cancer, 2017. 17(1): p. 87.
- 308. Miao, L., Y. Wang, S. Zhu, M. Shi, Y. Li, J. Ding, J. Yang, Q. Ye, H. Cai, D. Zhang,H. Liu, and Y. Song, *Identification of novel driver mutations of the discoidin domain*

receptor 2 (DDR2) gene in squamous cell lung cancer of Chinese patients. BMC Cancer, 2014. 14: p. 369.

- 309. Silva, J.M., K. Marran, J.S. Parker, J. Silva, M. Golding, M.R. Schlabach, S.J. Elledge, G.J. Hannon, and K. Chang, *Profiling essential genes in human mammary cells by multiplex RNAi screening*. Science, 2008. **319**(5863): p. 617-20.
- 310. Saby, C., H. Rammal, K. Magnien, E. Buache, S. Brassart-Pasco, L. Van-Gulick, P. Jeannesson, E. Maquoi, and H. Morjani, *Age-related modifications of type I collagen impair DDR1-induced apoptosis in non-invasive breast carcinoma cells*. Cell Adhesion & Migration, 2018. **12**(4): p. 335-347.
- 311. Vehlow, A., E. Klapproth, S. Jin, R. Hannen, M. Hauswald, J.W. Bartsch, C. Nimsky,
  A. Temme, B. Leitinger, and N. Cordes, *Interaction of Discoidin Domain Receptor 1* with a 14-3-3-Beclin-1-Akt1 Complex Modulates Glioblastoma Therapy Sensitivity. Cell Rep, 2019. 26(13): p. 3672-3683.e7.
- 312. Vehlow, A. and N. Cordes, *DDR1* (*discoidin domain receptor tyrosine kinase 1*) *drives* glioblastoma therapy resistance by modulating autophagy. 2019. **15**(8): p. 1487-1488.
- 313. Juin, A., J. Di Martino, B. Leitinger, E. Henriet, A.-S. Gary, L. Paysan, J. Bomo, G. Baffet, C. Gauthier-Rouvière, J. Rosenbaum, V. Moreau, and F. Saltel, *Discoidin domain receptor 1 controls linear invadosome formation via a Cdc42-Tuba pathway.* The Journal of cell biology, 2014. 207(4): p. 517-533.
- Moreau, V. and F. Saltel, *Type I collagen fibrils and discoidin domain receptor 1 set invadosomes straight*. Molecular & cellular oncology, 2015. 2(4): p. e1004963-e1004963.
- 315. Koh, M., Y. Woo, R.R. Valiathan, H.Y. Jung, S.Y. Park, Y.N. Kim, H.R. Kim, R. Fridman, and A. Moon, *Discoidin domain receptor 1 is a novel transcriptional target of ZEB1 in breast epithelial cells undergoing H-Ras-induced epithelial to mesenchymal transition.* Int J Cancer, 2015. **136**(6): p. E508-20.
- 316. Ram, R., G. Lorente, K. Nikolich, R. Urfer, E. Foehr, and U. Nagavarapu, *Discoidin domain receptor-1a (DDR1a) promotes glioma cell invasion and adhesion in association with matrix metalloproteinase-2.* J Neurooncol, 2006. **76**(3): p. 239-48.
- 317. Miao, L., S. Zhu, Y. Wang, Y. Li, J. Ding, J. Dai, H. Cai, D. Zhang, and Y. Song, Discoidin domain receptor 1 is associated with poor prognosis of non-small cell lung cancer and promotes cell invasion via epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition. Med Oncol, 2013. 30(3): p. 626.

- 318. Ren, T., W. Zhang, X. Liu, H. Zhao, J. Zhang, J. Zhang, X. Li, Y. Zhang, X. Bu, M. Shi, L. Yao, and J. Su, *Discoidin domain receptor 2 (DDR2) promotes breast cancer cell metastasis and the mechanism implicates epithelial-mesenchymal transition programme under hypoxia.* J Pathol, 2014. 234(4): p. 526-37.
- 319. Corsa, C.A., A. Brenot, W.R. Grither, S. Van Hove, A.J. Loza, K. Zhang, S.M. Ponik,
  Y. Liu, D.G. DeNardo, K.W. Eliceiri, P.J. Keely, and G.D. Longmore, *The Action of Discoidin Domain Receptor 2 in Basal Tumor Cells and Stromal Cancer-Associated Fibroblasts Is Critical for Breast Cancer Metastasis*. Cell Rep, 2016. 15(11): p. 2510-23.
- 320. Poudel, B., Y.M. Lee, and D.K. Kim, DDR2 inhibition reduces migration and invasion of murine metastatic melanoma cells by suppressing MMP2/9 expression through ERK/NF-kappaB pathway. Acta Biochim Biophys Sin (Shanghai), 2015. 47(4): p. 292-8.
- 321. Rowe, R.G., X.-Y. Li, Y. Hu, T.L. Saunders, I. Virtanen, A. Garcia de Herreros, K.-F. Becker, S. Ingvarsen, L.H. Engelholm, G.T. Bommer, E.R. Fearon, and S.J. Weiss, *Mesenchymal cells reactivate Snail1 expression to drive three-dimensional invasion programs*. The Journal of cell biology, 2009. 184(3): p. 399-408.
- Shintani, Y., Y. Fukumoto, N. Chaika, R. Svoboda, M.J. Wheelock, and K.R. Johnson, *Collagen I-mediated up-regulation of N-cadherin requires cooperative signals from integrins and discoidin domain receptor 1*. The Journal of cell biology, 2008. 180(6): p. 1277-1289.
- 323. Walsh, L.A., A. Nawshad, and D. Medici, *Discoidin domain receptor 2 is a critical regulator of epithelial-mesenchymal transition*. Matrix Biol, 2011. **30**(4): p. 243-7.
- 324. Yuge, R., Y. Kitadai, H. Takigawa, T. Naito, N. Oue, W. Yasui, S. Tanaka, and K. Chayama, Silencing of Discoidin Domain Receptor-1 (DDR1) Concurrently Inhibits Multiple Steps of Metastasis Cascade in Gastric Cancer. Transl Oncol, 2018. 11(3): p. 575-584.
- 325. Huang, H., R.A. Svoboda, A.J. Lazenby, J. Saowapa, N. Chaika, K. Ding, M.J. Wheelock, and K.R. Johnson, Up-regulation of N-cadherin by Collagen I-activated Discoidin Domain Receptor 1 in Pancreatic Cancer Requires the Adaptor Molecule Shc1. J Biol Chem, 2016. 291(44): p. 23208-23223.
- 326. Valencia, K., C. Ormazabal, C. Zandueta, D. Luis-Ravelo, I. Anton, M.J. Pajares, J. Agorreta, L.M. Montuenga, S. Martinez-Canarias, B. Leitinger, and F. Lecanda, *Inhibition of collagen receptor discoidin domain receptor-1 (DDR1) reduces cell*

*survival, homing, and colonization in lung cancer bone metastasis.* Clin Cancer Res, 2012. **18**(4): p. 969-80.

- 327. Gao, H., G. Chakraborty, Z. Zhang, I. Akalay, M. Gadiya, Y. Gao, S. Sinha, J. Hu, C. Jiang, M. Akram, E. Brogi, B. Leitinger, and Filippo G. Giancotti, *Multi-organ Site Metastatic Reactivation Mediated by Non-canonical Discoidin Domain Receptor 1 Signaling*. Cell, 2016. 166(1): p. 47-62.
- 328. Fridman, R. and P.H. Huang, *Discoidin domain receptors in health and disease*. 2016, Springer, New York, NY: SPRINGER.
- 329. Zhang, S., X. Bu, H. Zhao, J. Yu, Y. Wang, D. Li, C. Zhu, T. Zhu, T. Ren, X. Liu, L. Yao, and J. Su, *A host deficiency of discoidin domain receptor 2 (DDR2) inhibits both tumour angiogenesis and metastasis.* J Pathol, 2014. **232**(4): p. 436-48.
- 330. Kurashige, J., T. Hasegawa, A. Niida, K. Sugimachi, N. Deng, K. Mima, R. Uchi, G. Sawada, Y. Takahashi, H. Eguchi, M. Inomata, S. Kitano, T. Fukagawa, M. Sasako, H. Sasaki, S. Sasaki, M. Mori, K. Yanagihara, H. Baba, S. Miyano, P. Tan, and K. Mimori, *Integrated Molecular Profiling of Human Gastric Cancer Identifies DDR2 as a Potential Regulator of Peritoneal Dissemination*. Sci Rep, 2016. 6: p. 22371.
- 331. Gonzalez, M.E., E.E. Martin, T. Anwar, C. Arellano-Garcia, N. Medhora, A. Lama, Y.C. Chen, K.S. Tanager, E. Yoon, K.M. Kidwell, C. Ge, R.T. Franceschi, and C.G. Kleer, *Mesenchymal Stem Cell-Induced DDR2 Mediates Stromal-Breast Cancer Interactions and Metastasis Growth.* Cell Rep, 2017. 18(5): p. 1215-1228.
- 332. Yan, Z., S. Jin, Z. Wei, H. Huilian, Y. Zhanhai, T. Yue, L. Juan, L. Jing, Y. Libo, and L. Xu, Discoidin domain receptor 2 facilitates prostate cancer bone metastasis via regulating parathyroid hormone-related protein. Biochim Biophys Acta, 2014. 1842(9): p. 1350-63.
- 333. Xu, J., W. Lu, S. Zhang, C. Zhu, T. Ren, T. Zhu, H. Zhao, Y. Liu, and J. Su, *Overexpression of DDR2 contributes to cell invasion and migration in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma*. Cancer Biol Ther, 2014. **15**(5): p. 612-22.
- 334. May, P., H.H. Bock, and J.-R. Nofer, Low density receptor-related protein 1 (LRP1) promotes anti-inflammatory phenotype in murine macrophages. Cell and Tissue Research, 2013. 354(3): p. 887-889.
- 335. Herz, J. and D.K. Strickland, *LRP: a multifunctional scavenger and signaling receptor*.Journal of Clinical Investigation, 2001. 108(6): p. 779-784.

- 336. Lillis, A.P., L.B. Van Duyn, J.E. Murphy-Ullrich, and D.K. Strickland, *LDL receptor*related protein 1: unique tissue-specific functions revealed by selective gene knockout studies. Physiol Rev, 2008. **88**(3): p. 887-918.
- 337. Herz, J., U. Hamann, S. Rogne, O. Myklebost, H. Gausepohl, and K.K. Stanley, Surface location and high affinity for calcium of a 500-kd liver membrane protein closely related to the LDL-receptor suggest a physiological role as lipoprotein receptor. Embo j, 1988. 7(13): p. 4119-27.
- Liu, C.X., S. Musco, N.M. Lisitsina, S.Y. Yaklichkin, and N.A. Lisitsyn, *Genomic organization of a new candidate tumor suppressor gene, LRP1B.* Genomics, 2000.
   69(2): p. 271-4.
- 339. Saito, A., S. Pietromonaco, A.K. Loo, and M.G. Farquhar, Complete cloning and sequencing of rat gp330/"megalin," a distinctive member of the low density lipoprotein receptor gene family. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1994. 91(21): p. 9725-9.
- 340. Takahashi, S., Y. Kawarabayasi, T. Nakai, J. Sakai, and T. Yamamoto, *Rabbit very low density lipoprotein receptor: a low density lipoprotein receptor-like protein with distinct ligand specificity*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 1992. 89(19): p. 9252-9256.
- 341. Ishii, H., D.H. Kim, T. Fujita, Y. Endo, S. Saeki, and T.T. Yamamoto, *cDNA cloning of a new low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein and mapping of its gene (LRP3) to chromosome bands 19q12-q13.* 2. Genomics, 1998. 51(1): p. 132-5.
- 342. Nakayama, M., D. Nakajima, T. Nagase, N. Nomura, N. Seki, and O. Ohara, *Identification of high-molecular-weight proteins with multiple EGF-like motifs by motif-trap screening.* Genomics, 1998. **51**(1): p. 27-34.
- 343. Hey, P.J., R.C. Twells, M.S. Phillips, N. Yusuke, S.D. Brown, Y. Kawaguchi, R. Cox, X. Guochun, V. Dugan, H. Hammond, M.L. Metzker, J.A. Todd, and J.F. Hess, *Cloning of a novel member of the low-density lipoprotein receptor family*. Gene, 1998. 216(1): p. 103-11.
- 344. Kim, D.H., Y. Inagaki, T. Suzuki, R.X. Ioka, S.Z. Yoshioka, K. Magoori, M.J. Kang, Y. Cho, A.Z. Nakano, Q. Liu, T. Fujino, H. Suzuki, H. Sasano, and T.T. Yamamoto, A new low density lipoprotein receptor related protein, LRP5, is expressed in hepatocytes and adrenal cortex, and recognizes apolipoprotein E. J Biochem, 1998. 124(6): p. 1072-6.
- 345. Brown, S.D., R.C. Twells, P.J. Hey, R.D. Cox, E.R. Levy, A.R. Soderman, M.L. Metzker, C.T. Caskey, J.A. Todd, and J.F. Hess, *Isolation and characterization of*

*LRP6, a novel member of the low density lipoprotein receptor gene family.* Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 1998. **248**(3): p. 879-88.

- 346. Kim, D.H., H. Iijima, K. Goto, J. Sakai, H. Ishii, H.J. Kim, H. Suzuki, H. Kondo, S. Saeki, and T. Yamamoto, *Human apolipoprotein E receptor 2. A novel lipoprotein receptor of the low density lipoprotein receptor family predominantly expressed in brain.* J Biol Chem, 1996. 271(14): p. 8373-80.
- 347. Sugiyama, T., H. Kumagai, Y. Morikawa, Y. Wada, A. Sugiyama, K. Yasuda, N. Yokoi, S. Tamura, T. Kojima, T. Nosaka, E. Senba, S. Kimura, T. Kadowaki, T. Kodama, and T. Kitamura, A novel low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein mediating cellular uptake of apolipoprotein E-enriched beta-VLDL in vitro. Biochemistry, 2000. 39(51): p. 15817-25.
- 348. Jacobsen, L., P. Madsen, S.K. Moestrup, A.H. Lund, N. Tommerup, A. Nykjaer, L. Sottrup-Jensen, J. Gliemann, and C.M. Petersen, *Molecular characterization of a novel human hybrid-type receptor that binds the alpha2-macroglobulin receptor-associated protein.* J Biol Chem, 1996. 271(49): p. 31379-83.
- 349. Yamazaki, H., H. Bujo, J. Kusunoki, K. Seimiya, T. Kanaki, N. Morisaki, W.J. Schneider, and Y. Saito, *Elements of neural adhesion molecules and a yeast vacuolar protein sorting receptor are present in a novel mammalian low density lipoprotein receptor family member*. J Biol Chem, 1996. 271(40): p. 24761-8.
- 350. Battle, M.A., V.M. Maher, and J.J. McCormick, *ST7 is a novel low-density lipoprotein* receptor-related protein (*LRP*) with a cytoplasmic tail that interacts with proteins related to signal transduction pathways. Biochemistry, 2003. **42**(24): p. 7270-82.
- 351. Ranganathan, S., N.C. Noyes, M. Migliorini, J.A. Winkles, F.D. Battey, B.T. Hyman, E. Smith, M. Yepes, I. Mikhailenko, and D.K. Strickland, *LRAD3*, a novel low-density lipoprotein receptor family member that modulates amyloid precursor protein trafficking. J Neurosci, 2011. **31**(30): p. 10836-46.
- 352. Herz, J., D.E. Clouthier, and R.E. Hammer, *LDL receptor-related protein internalizes* and degrades uPA-PAI-1 complexes and is essential for embryo implantation. Cell, 1992. **71**(3): p. 411-421.
- Obermoeller-McCormick, L.M., Y. Li, H. Osaka, D.J. FitzGerald, A.L. Schwartz, and
   G. Bu, *Dissection of receptor folding and ligand-binding property with functional minireceptors of LDL receptor-related protein.* J Cell Sci, 2001. **114**(Pt 5): p. 899-908.
- 354. Pohlkamp, T., C.R. Wasser, and J. Herz, *Functional Roles of the Interaction of APP and Lipoprotein Receptors*. Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience, 2017. **10**(54).

- 355. Bres, E.E. and A. Faissner, *Low Density Receptor-Related Protein 1 Interactions With the Extracellular Matrix: More Than Meets the Eye.* Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology, 2019. **7**(31).
- 356. Xing, P., Z. Liao, Z. Ren, J. Zhao, F. Song, G. Wang, K. Chen, and J. Yang, *Roles of low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 1 in tumors*. Chinese Journal of Cancer, 2016. 35: p. 6.
- 357. Zlokovic, B.V., R. Deane, A.P. Sagare, R.D. Bell, and E.A. Winkler, *Low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein-1: a serial clearance homeostatic mechanism controlling Alzheimer's amyloid beta-peptide elimination from the brain.* J Neurochem, 2010. 115(5): p. 1077-89.
- 358. Li, Y., W. Lu, M.P. Marzolo, and G. Bu, *Differential functions of members of the low density lipoprotein receptor family suggested by their distinct endocytosis rates.* J Biol Chem, 2001. **276**(21): p. 18000-6.
- 359. Li, Y., M.P. Marzolo, P. van Kerkhof, G.J. Strous, and G. Bu, *The YXXL motif, but not the two NPXY motifs, serves as the dominant endocytosis signal for low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein.* J Biol Chem, 2000. **275**(22): p. 17187-94.
- 360. Deane, R., A. Sagare, K. Hamm, M. Parisi, S. Lane, M.B. Finn, D.M. Holtzman, and B.V. Zlokovic, *apoE isoform-specific disruption of amyloid beta peptide clearance from mouse brain*. J Clin Invest, 2008. **118**(12): p. 4002-13.
- 361. Hussain, M.M., *Structural, biochemical and signaling properties of the low-density lipoprotein receptor gene family.* Front Biosci, 2001. **6**: p. D417-28.
- 362. Gonias, S.L. and W.M. Campana, LDL receptor-related protein-1: a regulator of inflammation in atherosclerosis, cancer, and injury to the nervous system. Am J Pathol, 2014. 184(1): p. 18-27.
- 363. Kinoshita, A., T. Shah, M.M. Tangredi, D.K. Strickland, and B.T. Hyman, *The intracellular domain of the low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein modulates transactivation mediated by amyloid precursor protein and Fe65*. J Biol Chem, 2003. 278(42): p. 41182-8.
- 364. Zurhove, K., C. Nakajima, J. Herz, H.H. Bock, and P. May, *Gamma-secretase limits the inflammatory response through the processing of LRP1*. Science signaling, 2008.
   1(47): p. ra15-ra15.
- 365. Willnow, T.E., S.A. Armstrong, R.E. Hammer, and J. Herz, *Functional expression of low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein is controlled by receptor-associated*

*protein in vivo*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 1995. **92**(10): p. 4537-4541.

- Bu, G., H.J. Geuze, G.J. Strous, and A.L. Schwartz, 39 kDa receptor-associated protein is an ER resident protein and molecular chaperone for LDL receptor-related protein. Embo j, 1995. 14(10): p. 2269-80.
- 367. Herz, J., R.C. Kowal, J.L. Goldstein, and M.S. Brown, Proteolytic processing of the 600 kd low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein (LRP) occurs in a trans-Golgi compartment. The EMBO journal, 1990. 9(6): p. 1769-1776.
- 368. Willnow, T.E., A. Rohlmann, J. Horton, H. Otani, J.R. Braun, R.E. Hammer, and J. Herz, RAP, a specialized chaperone, prevents ligand-induced ER retention and degradation of LDL receptor-related endocytic receptors. The EMBO journal, 1996. 15(11): p. 2632-2639.
- 369. Williams, S.E., J.D. Ashcom, W.S. Argraves, and D.K. Strickland, A novel mechanism for controlling the activity of alpha 2-macroglobulin receptor/low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein. Multiple regulatory sites for 39-kDa receptor-associated protein. J Biol Chem, 1992. 267(13): p. 9035-40.
- 370. Bu, G. and S. Rennke, *Receptor-associated protein is a folding chaperone for low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein.* J Biol Chem, 1996. **271**(36): p. 22218-24.
- 371. Lee, D., J.D. Walsh, I. Mikhailenko, P. Yu, M. Migliorini, Y. Wu, S. Krueger, J.E. Curtis, B. Harris, S. Lockett, S.C. Blacklow, D.K. Strickland, and Y.X. Wang, *RAP uses a histidine switch to regulate its interaction with LRP in the ER and Golgi*. Mol Cell, 2006. 22(3): p. 423-30.
- Bu, G., S. Rennke, and H.J. Geuze, *ERD2 proteins mediate ER retention of the HNEL signal of LRP's receptor-associated protein (RAP)*. J Cell Sci, 1997. **110 ( Pt 1)**: p. 65-73.
- 373. Willnow, T.E., J.M. Moehring, N.M. Inocencio, T.J. Moehring, and J. Herz, *The low-density-lipoprotein receptor-related protein (LRP) is processed by furin in vivo and in vitro*. Biochem J, 1996. **313 ( Pt 1)**: p. 71-6.
- Auderset, L., L.M. Landowski, L. Foa, and K.M. Young, *Low Density Lipoprotein Receptor Related Proteins as Regulators of Neural Stem and Progenitor Cell Function.* Stem cells international, 2016. 2016: p. 2108495-2108495.
- 375. Obermoeller, L.M., I. Warshawsky, M.R. Wardell, and G. Bu, *Differential functions of triplicated repeats suggest two independent roles for the receptor-associated protein as a molecular chaperone.* J Biol Chem, 1997. **272**(16): p. 10761-8.

- 376. Lazic, A., K. Dolmer, D.K. Strickland, and P.G. Gettins, *Structural organization of the receptor associated protein*. Biochemistry, 2003. **42**(50): p. 14913-20.
- 377. Medved, L.V., M. Migliorini, I. Mikhailenko, L.G. Barrientos, M. Llinas, and D.K. Strickland, *Domain organization of the 39-kDa receptor-associated protein*. J Biol Chem, 1999. 274(2): p. 717-27.
- 378. Jensen, J.K., K. Dolmer, C. Schar, and P.G. Gettins, *Receptor-associated protein (RAP)* has two high-affinity binding sites for the low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein (LRP): consequences for the chaperone functions of RAP. Biochem J, 2009.
  421(2): p. 273-82.
- 379. Migliorini, M.M., E.H. Behre, S. Brew, K.C. Ingham, and D.K. Strickland, Allosteric modulation of ligand binding to low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein by the receptor-associated protein requires critical lysine residues within its carboxyl-terminal domain. J Biol Chem, 2003. **278**(20): p. 17986-92.
- 380. Prasad, J.M., P.A. Young, and D.K. Strickland, High Affinity Binding of the Receptorassociated Protein D1D2 Domains with the Low Density Lipoprotein Receptor-related Protein (LRP1) Involves Bivalent Complex Formation: CRITICAL ROLES OF LYSINES 60 AND 191. J Biol Chem, 2016. 291(35): p. 18430-9.
- 381. Fisher, C., N. Beglova, and S.C. Blacklow, *Structure of an LDLR-RAP complex reveals a general mode for ligand recognition by lipoprotein receptors*. Mol Cell, 2006. 22(2): p. 277-83.
- 382. Dolmer, K., A. Campos, and P.G. Gettins, Quantitative dissection of the binding contributions of ligand lysines of the receptor-associated protein (RAP) to the low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein (LRP1). J Biol Chem, 2013. 288(33): p. 24081-90.
- 383. Bloem, E., E.H. Ebberink, M. van den Biggelaar, C. van der Zwaan, K. Mertens, and A.B. Meijer, A novel chemical footprinting approach identifies critical lysine residues involved in the binding of receptor-associated protein to cluster II of LDL receptorrelated protein. Biochem J, 2015. 468(1): p. 65-72.
- 384. Shi, Y., E. Mantuano, G. Inoue, W.M. Campana, and S.L. Gonias, Ligand binding to LRP1 transactivates Trk receptors by a Src family kinase-dependent pathway. Sci Signal, 2009. 2(68): p. ra18.
- 385. Song, G., G. Ouyang, and S. Bao, *The activation of Akt/PKB signaling pathway and cell survival*. J Cell Mol Med, 2005. 9(1): p. 59-71.

- 386. Fuentealba, R.A., Q. Liu, T. Kanekiyo, J. Zhang, and G. Bu, Low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 1 promotes anti-apoptotic signaling in neurons by activating Akt survival pathway. J Biol Chem, 2009. 284(49): p. 34045-53.
- 387. Campana, W.M., X. Li, N. Dragojlovic, J. Janes, A. Gaultier, and S.L. Gonias, *The low*density lipoprotein receptor-related protein is a pro-survival receptor in Schwann cells: possible implications in peripheral nerve injury. J Neurosci, 2006. 26(43): p. 11197-207.
- 388. Lok, K.Z., S. Manzanero, and T.V. Arumugam, *Neuronal low-density lipoprotein* receptor-related protein 1 (*LRP1*) enhances the anti-apoptotic effect of intravenous immunoglobulin (*IVIg*) in ischemic stroke. Brain Res, 2016. **1644**: p. 192-202.
- 389. Liu, Q., C.V. Zerbinatti, J. Zhang, H.S. Hoe, B. Wang, S.L. Cole, J. Herz, L. Muglia, and G. Bu, *Amyloid precursor protein regulates brain apolipoprotein E and cholesterol metabolism through lipoprotein receptor LRP1*. Neuron, 2007. 56(1): p. 66-78.
- 390. Lutz, C., J. Nimpf, M. Jenny, K. Boecklinger, C. Enzinger, G. Utermann, G. Baier-Bitterlich, and G. Baier, *Evidence of functional modulation of the MEKK/JNK/cJun* signaling cascade by the low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein (LRP). J Biol Chem, 2002. 277(45): p. 43143-51.
- 391. Pallero, M.A., C.A. Elzie, J. Chen, D.F. Mosher, and J.E. Murphy-Ullrich, *Thrombospondin 1 binding to calreticulin-LRP1 signals resistance to anoikis*. FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology, 2008. 22(11): p. 3968-3979.
- 392. Van Gool, B., S. Dedieu, H. Emonard, and A.J.M. Roebroek, *The Matricellular Receptor LRP1 Forms an Interface for Signaling and Endocytosis in Modulation of the Extracellular Tumor Environment*. Frontiers in pharmacology, 2015. **6**: p. 271-271.
- Boucher, P., M. Gotthardt, W.P. Li, R.G. Anderson, and J. Herz, *LRP: role in vascular wall integrity and protection from atherosclerosis*. Science, 2003. 300(5617): p. 329-32.
- 394. Muratoglu, S.C., I. Mikhailenko, C. Newton, M. Migliorini, and D.K. Strickland, *Low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 1 (LRP1) forms a signaling complex with platelet-derived growth factor receptor-beta in endosomes and regulates activation of the MAPK pathway.* J Biol Chem, 2010. **285**(19): p. 14308-17.
- 395. Newton, C.S., E. Loukinova, I. Mikhailenko, S. Ranganathan, Y. Gao, C. Haudenschild, and D.K. Strickland, *Platelet-derived growth factor receptor-beta* (*PDGFR-beta*) activation promotes its association with the low density lipoprotein

*receptor-related protein (LRP). Evidence for co-receptor function.* J Biol Chem, 2005. **280**(30): p. 27872-8.

- 396. Boucher, P., P. Liu, M. Gotthardt, T. Hiesberger, R.G. Anderson, and J. Herz, *Platelet-derived growth factor mediates tyrosine phosphorylation of the cytoplasmic domain of the low Density lipoprotein receptor-related protein in caveolae.* J Biol Chem, 2002. 277(18): p. 15507-13.
- 397. Xian, X., Y. Ding, M. Dieckmann, L. Zhou, F. Plattner, M. Liu, J.S. Parks, R.E. Hammer, P. Boucher, S. Tsai, and J. Herz, *LRP1 integrates murine macrophage cholesterol homeostasis and inflammatory responses in atherosclerosis*. eLife, 2017. 6: p. e29292.
- 398. Takayama, Y., P. May, R.G. Anderson, and J. Herz, Low density lipoprotein receptorrelated protein 1 (LRP1) controls endocytosis and c-CBL-mediated ubiquitination of the platelet-derived growth factor receptor beta (PDGFR beta). J Biol Chem, 2005. 280(18): p. 18504-10.
- 399. Safina, D., F. Schlitt, R. Romeo, T. Pflanzner, C.U. Pietrzik, V. Narayanaswami, F. Edenhofer, and A. Faissner, *Low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 1 is a novel modulator of radial glia stem cell proliferation, survival, and differentiation.* Glia, 2016. 64(8): p. 1363-1380.
- 400. Medzhitov, R., Origin and physiological roles of inflammation. Nature, 2008. 454: p.
  428.
- 401. Edwards, D.R., M.M. Handsley, and C.J. Pennington, *The ADAM metalloproteinases*.Molecular Aspects of Medicine, 2008. 29(5): p. 258-289.
- 402. Coussens, L.M. and Z. Werb, *Inflammation and cancer*. Nature, 2002. **420**(6917): p. 860-867.
- 403. Brifault, C., A.S. Gilder, E. Laudati, M. Banki, and S.L. Gonias, *Shedding of membrane-associated LDL receptor-related protein-1 from microglia amplifies and sustains neuroinflammation.* J Biol Chem, 2017. **292**(45): p. 18699-18712.
- 404. Shackleton, B., F. Crawford, and C. Bachmeier, *Inhibition of ADAM10 promotes the clearance of Abeta across the BBB by reducing LRP1 ectodomain shedding*. Fluids Barriers CNS, 2016. **13**(1): p. 14.
- 405. Liu, Q., J. Zhang, H. Tran, M.M. Verbeek, K. Reiss, S. Estus, and G. Bu, *LRP1 shedding in human brain: roles of ADAM10 and ADAM17*. Mol Neurodegener, 2009.
  4: p. 17.

- 406. Yamamoto, K., S. Santamaria, K.A. Botkjaer, J. Dudhia, L. Troeberg, Y. Itoh, G. Murphy, and H. Nagase, *Inhibition of Shedding of Low-Density Lipoprotein Receptor-Related Protein 1 Reverses Cartilage Matrix Degradation in Osteoarthritis*. Arthritis Rheumatol, 2017. **69**(6): p. 1246-1256.
- 407. Quinn, K.A., V.J. Pye, Y.P. Dai, C.N. Chesterman, and D.A. Owensby, *Characterization of the soluble form of the low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein (LRP).* Exp Cell Res, 1999. **251**(2): p. 433-41.
- Gorovoy, M., A. Gaultier, W.M. Campana, G.S. Firestein, and S.L. Gonias, Inflammatory mediators promote production of shed LRP1/CD91, which regulates cell signaling and cytokine expression by macrophages. Journal of leukocyte biology, 2010.
   88(4): p. 769-778.
- 409. Holtzman, D.M., J. Herz, and G. Bu, *Apolipoprotein E and apolipoprotein E receptors: normal biology and roles in Alzheimer disease*. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med, 2012.
  2(3): p. a006312.
- 410. Sperling, R.A., P.S. Aisen, L.A. Beckett, D.A. Bennett, S. Craft, A.M. Fagan, T. Iwatsubo, C.R. Jack, Jr., J. Kaye, T.J. Montine, D.C. Park, E.M. Reiman, C.C. Rowe, E. Siemers, Y. Stern, K. Yaffe, M.C. Carrillo, B. Thies, M. Morrison-Bogorad, M.V. Wagster, and C.H. Phelps, *Toward defining the preclinical stages of Alzheimer's disease: recommendations from the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease.* Alzheimers Dement, 2011. 7(3): p. 280-92.
- 411. Kanekiyo, T. and G. Bu, *The low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 1 and amyloid-beta clearance in Alzheimer's disease*. Front Aging Neurosci, 2014. **6**: p. 93.
- 412. Shinohara, M., M. Tachibana, T. Kanekiyo, and G. Bu, *Role of LRP1 in the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease: evidence from clinical and preclinical studies.* Journal of lipid research, 2017. 58(7): p. 1267-1281.
- 413. Ghiso, J., M. Shayo, M. Calero, D. Ng, Y. Tomidokoro, S. Gandy, A. Rostagno, and B. Frangione, *Systemic catabolism of Alzheimer's Abeta40 and Abeta42*. J Biol Chem, 2004. 279(44): p. 45897-908.
- 414. Hone, E., I.J. Martins, J. Fonte, and R.N. Martins, *Apolipoprotein E influences amyloidbeta clearance from the murine periphery*. J Alzheimers Dis, 2003. **5**(1): p. 1-8.
- 415. Tamaki, C., S. Ohtsuki, T. Iwatsubo, T. Hashimoto, K. Yamada, C. Yabuki, and T. Terasaki, *Major involvement of low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 1 in*

*the clearance of plasma free amyloid beta-peptide by the liver*. Pharm Res, 2006. **23**(7): p. 1407-16.

- 416. Sehgal, N., A. Gupta, R.K. Valli, S.D. Joshi, J.T. Mills, E. Hamel, P. Khanna, S.C. Jain, S.S. Thakur, and V. Ravindranath, *Withania somnifera reverses Alzheimer's disease* pathology by enhancing low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein in liver. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2012. **109**(9): p. 3510-5.
- 417. Ma, Q., Z. Zhao, A.P. Sagare, Y. Wu, M. Wang, N.C. Owens, P.B. Verghese, J. Herz, D.M. Holtzman, and B.V. Zlokovic, *Blood-brain barrier-associated pericytes internalize and clear aggregated amyloid-beta42 by LRP1-dependent apolipoprotein E isoform-specific mechanism.* Mol Neurodegener, 2018. 13(1): p. 57.
- Kanekiyo, T., H. Xu, and G. Bu, *ApoE and Aβ in Alzheimer's Disease: Accidental Encounters or Partners?* Neuron, 2014. 81(4): p. 740-754.
- 419. Arelin, K., A. Kinoshita, C.M. Whelan, M.C. Irizarry, G.W. Rebeck, D.K. Strickland, and B.T. Hyman, *LRP and senile plaques in Alzheimer's disease: colocalization with apolipoprotein E and with activated astrocytes*. Brain Res Mol Brain Res, 2002. 104(1): p. 38-46.
- 420. Matsui, T., M. Ingelsson, H. Fukumoto, K. Ramasamy, H. Kowa, M.P. Frosch, M.C. Irizarry, and B.T. Hyman, *Expression of APP pathway mRNAs and proteins in Alzheimer's disease*. Brain Res, 2007. **1161**: p. 116-23.
- 421. Kang, D.E., C.U. Pietrzik, L. Baum, N. Chevallier, D.E. Merriam, M.Z. Kounnas, S.L. Wagner, J.C. Troncoso, C.H. Kawas, R. Katzman, and E.H. Koo, *Modulation of amyloid beta-protein clearance and Alzheimer's disease susceptibility by the LDL receptor-related protein pathway*. J Clin Invest, 2000. **106**(9): p. 1159-66.
- 422. Shinohara, M., R.C. Petersen, D.W. Dickson, and G. Bu, Brain regional correlation of amyloid-beta with synapses and apolipoprotein E in non-demented individuals: potential mechanisms underlying regional vulnerability to amyloid-beta accumulation. Acta Neuropathol, 2013. 125(4): p. 535-47.
- 423. Liu, C.-C., J. Hu, C.-W. Tsai, M. Yue, H.L. Melrose, T. Kanekiyo, and G. Bu, *Neuronal LRP1 regulates glucose metabolism and insulin signaling in the brain*. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 2015. **35**(14): p. 5851-5859.
- 424. May, P., A. Rohlmann, H.H. Bock, K. Zurhove, J.D. Marth, E.D. Schomburg, J.L. Noebels, U. Beffert, J.D. Sweatt, E.J. Weeber, and J. Herz, *Neuronal LRP1 functionally*

associates with postsynaptic proteins and is required for normal motor function in mice. Mol Cell Biol, 2004. **24**(20): p. 8872-83.

- 425. Hofmann, S.M., L. Zhou, D. Perez-Tilve, T. Greer, E. Grant, L. Wancata, A. Thomas, P.T. Pfluger, J.E. Basford, D. Gilham, J. Herz, M.H. Tschop, and D.Y. Hui, *Adipocyte LDL receptor-related protein-1 expression modulates postprandial lipid transport and glucose homeostasis in mice*. J Clin Invest, 2007. **117**(11): p. 3271-82.
- 426. Rohlmann, A., M. Gotthardt, R.E. Hammer, and J. Herz, *Inducible inactivation of hepatic LRP gene by cre-mediated recombination confirms role of LRP in clearance of chylomicron remnants.* J Clin Invest, 1998. **101**(3): p. 689-95.
- 427. Clemente-Postigo, M., M.I. Queipo-Ortuño, D. Fernandez-Garcia, R. Gomez-Huelgas,
  F.J. Tinahones, and F. Cardona, *Adipose Tissue Gene Expression of Factors Related to Lipid Processing in Obesity.* PLOS ONE, 2011. 6(9): p. e24783.
- 428. Costales, P., P. Fuentes-Prior, J. Castellano, E. Revuelta-Lopez, M.Á. Corral-Rodríguez, L. Nasarre, L. Badimon, and V. Llorente-Cortes, *K Domain CR9 of Low Density Lipoprotein (LDL) Receptor-related Protein 1 (LRP1) Is Critical for Aggregated LDL-induced Foam Cell Formation from Human Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells.* The Journal of biological chemistry, 2015. **290**(24): p. 14852-14865.
- 429. Llorente-Cortes, V., M. Otero-Vinas, and L. Badimon, *Differential role of heparan* sulfate proteoglycans on aggregated LDL uptake in human vascular smooth muscle cells and mouse embryonic fibroblasts. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2002. 22(11): p. 1905-11.
- 430. Dissmore, T., C.I. Seye, D.M. Medeiros, G.A. Weisman, B. Bradford, and L. Mamedova, *The P2Y2 receptor mediates uptake of matrix-retained and aggregated low density lipoprotein in primary vascular smooth muscle cells*. Atherosclerosis, 2016. 252: p. 128-135.
- 431. El Asmar, Z., J. Terrand, M. Jenty, L. Host, M. Mlih, A. Zerr, H. Justiniano, R.L. Matz, C. Boudier, E. Scholler, J.M. Garnier, D. Bertaccini, D. Thierse, C. Schaeffer, A. Van Dorsselaer, J. Herz, V. Bruban, and P. Boucher, *Convergent Signaling Pathways Controlled by LRP1 (Receptor-related Protein 1) Cytoplasmic and Extracellular Domains Limit Cellular Cholesterol Accumulation.* J Biol Chem, 2016. 291(10): p. 5116-27.
- 432. Mantuano, E., C. Brifault, M.S. Lam, P. Azmoon, A.S. Gilder, and S.L. Gonias, *LDL* receptor-related protein-1 regulates NFκB and microRNA-155 in macrophages to

*control the inflammatory response*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2016. **113**(5): p. 1369.

- 433. Muratoglu, S.C., S. Belgrave, A.P. Lillis, M. Migliorini, S. Robinson, E. Smith, L. Zhang, and D.K. Strickland, *Macrophage LRP1 Suppresses Neo-Intima Formation during Vascular Remodeling by Modulating the TGF-β Signaling Pathway.* PLOS ONE, 2011. 6(12): p. e28846.
- 434. Potere, N., M.G. Del Buono, A.G. Mauro, A. Abbate, and S. Toldo, *Low Density Lipoprotein Receptor-Related Protein-1 in Cardiac Inflammation and Infarct Healing*.
   Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine, 2019. 6(51).
- Huang, X.Y., G.M. Shi, R.P. Devbhandari, A.W. Ke, Y. Wang, X.Y. Wang, Z. Wang, Y.H. Shi, Y.S. Xiao, Z.B. Ding, Z. Dai, Y. Xu, W.P. Jia, Z.Y. Tang, J. Fan, and J. Zhou, Low level of low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 1 predicts an unfavorable prognosis of hepatocellular carcinoma after curative resection. PLoS One, 2012. 7(3): p. e32775.
- 436. Desrosiers, R.R., M.E. Rivard, P.E. Grundy, and B. Annabi, *Decrease in LDL receptor*related protein expression and function correlates with advanced stages of Wilms tumors. Pediatr Blood Cancer, 2006. **46**(1): p. 40-9.
- 437. Yamamoto, M., K. Ikeda, K. Ohshima, H. Tsugu, H. Kimura, and M. Tomonaga, Increased expression of low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein/alpha2macroglobulin receptor in human malignant astrocytomas. Cancer Res, 1997. 57(13): p. 2799-805.
- 438. Li, Y., N. Wood, P. Grimsley, D. Yellowlees, and P.K. Donnelly, *In vitro invasiveness* of human breast cancer cells is promoted by low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein. Invasion Metastasis, 1998. **18**(5-6): p. 240-51.
- 439. Catasus, L., A. Gallardo, V. Llorente-Cortes, D. Escuin, J. Munoz, A. Tibau, G. Peiro,
  A. Barnadas, and E. Lerma, *Low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 1 is* associated with proliferation and invasiveness in Her-2/neu and triple-negative breast carcinomas. Hum Pathol, 2011. 42(11): p. 1581-8.
- 440. Catasus, L., V. Llorente-Cortes, M. Cuatrecasas, C. Pons, I. Espinosa, and J. Prat, Lowdensity lipoprotein receptor-related protein 1 (LRP-1) is associated with highgrade, advanced stage and p53 and p16 alterations in endometrial carcinomas. Histopathology, 2011. 59(3): p. 567-71.

- 441. McGarvey, T., M.M. Hussain, and M.E. Stearns, *In situ hybridization studies of alpha* 2-macroglobulin receptor and receptor-associated protein in human prostate carcinoma. Prostate, 1996. **28**(5): p. 311-7.
- 442. Lopes, M.B., C.A. Bogaev, S.L. Gonias, and S.R. VandenBerg, *Expression of alpha 2*macroglobulin receptor/low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein is increased in reactive and neoplastic glial cells. FEBS Lett, 1994. **338**(3): p. 301-5.
- 443. Gopal, U., J.E. Bohonowych, C. Lema-Tome, A. Liu, E. Garrett-Mayer, B. Wang, and J.S. Isaacs, A novel extracellular Hsp90 mediated co-receptor function for LRP1 regulates EphA2 dependent glioblastoma cell invasion. PLoS One, 2011. 6(3): p. e17649.
- 444. Gheysarzadeh, A., A. Ansari, M.H. Emami, A.E. Razavi, and M.R. Mofid, Overexpression of low-density lipoprotein receptor-related Protein-1 is associated with poor prognosis and invasion in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Pancreatology, 2019. **19**(3): p. 429-435.
- 445. Yang, Z., D.K. Strickland, and P. Bornstein, *Extracellular matrix metalloproteinase 2* levels are regulated by the low density lipoprotein-related scavenger receptor and thrombospondin 2. J Biol Chem, 2001. **276**(11): p. 8403-8.
- 446. Sid, B., S. Dedieu, N. Delorme, H. Sartelet, G.M. Rath, G. Bellon, and L. Martiny, Human thyroid carcinoma cell invasion is controlled by the low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein-mediated clearance of urokinase plasminogen activator. Int J Biochem Cell Biol, 2006. 38(10): p. 1729-40.
- 447. Wygrecka, M., J. Wilhelm, E. Jablonska, D. Zakrzewicz, K.T. Preissner, W. Seeger, A. Guenther, and P. Markart, *Shedding of Low-Density Lipoprotein Receptor-related Protein-1 in Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome*. American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, 2011. **184**(4): p. 438-448.
- Emonard, H., G. Bellon, L. Troeberg, A. Berton, A. Robinet, P. Henriet, E. Marbaix, K. Kirkegaard, L. Patthy, Y. Eeckhout, H. Nagase, W. Hornebeck, and P.J. Courtoy, *Low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein mediates endocytic clearance of pro-MMP-2.TIMP-2 complex through a thrombospondin-independent mechanism.* J Biol Chem, 2004. 279(52): p. 54944-51.
- 449. Xu, X., Y. Wang, Z. Chen, M.D. Sternlicht, M. Hidalgo, and B. Steffensen, *Matrix Metalloproteinase-2 Contributes to Cancer Cell Migration on Collagen*. Cancer Research, 2005. 65(1): p. 130-136.

- 450. Luo, Y., F. Liang, and Z.-Y. Zhang, PRL1 promotes cell migration and invasion by increasing MMP2 and MMP9 expression through Src and ERK1/2 pathways. Biochemistry, 2009. 48(8): p. 1838-1846.
- Webb, A.H., B.T. Gao, Z.K. Goldsmith, A.S. Irvine, N. Saleh, R.P. Lee, J.B. Lendermon, R. Bheemreddy, Q. Zhang, R.C. Brennan, D. Johnson, J.J. Steinle, M.W. Wilson, and V.M. Morales-Tirado, *Inhibition of MMP-2 and MMP-9 decreases cellular migration, and angiogenesis in in vitro models of retinoblastoma*. BMC Cancer, 2017. 17(1): p. 434.
- 452. Tauro, M. and C.C. Lynch, *Cutting to the Chase: How Matrix Metalloproteinase-2* Activity Controls Breast-Cancer-to-Bone Metastasis. Cancers, 2018. **10**(6): p. 185.
- 453. Wujak, L., P. Markart, and M. Wygrecka, *The low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein (LRP) 1 and its function in lung diseases*. Histol Histopathol, 2016. **31**(7): p. 733-45.
- 454. Czekay, R.P., T.A. Kuemmel, R.A. Orlando, and M.G. Farquhar, Direct binding of occupied urokinase receptor (uPAR) to LDL receptor-related protein is required for endocytosis of uPAR and regulation of cell surface urokinase activity. Mol Biol Cell, 2001. 12(5): p. 1467-79.
- 455. Conese, M., A. Nykjaer, C.M. Petersen, O. Cremona, R. Pardi, P.A. Andreasen, J. Gliemann, E.I. Christensen, and F. Blasi, *alpha-2 Macroglobulin receptor/Ldl receptor-related protein(Lrp)-dependent internalization of the urokinase receptor.* J Cell Biol, 1995. **131**(6 Pt 1): p. 1609-22.
- 456. Nykjaer, A., M. Conese, E.I. Christensen, D. Olson, O. Cremona, J. Gliemann, and F. Blasi, *Recycling of the urokinase receptor upon internalization of the uPA:serpin complexes*. Embo j, 1997. **16**(10): p. 2610-20.
- 457. Czekay, R.-P., K. Aertgeerts, S.A. Curriden, and D.J. Loskutoff, *Plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 detaches cells from extracellular matrices by inactivating integrins*. The Journal of cell biology, 2003. 160(5): p. 781-791.
- 458. Gonias, S.L., A. Gaultier, and M. Jo, *Regulation of the urokinase receptor (uPAR) by LDL receptor-related protein-1 (LRP1).* Curr Pharm Des, 2011. **17**(19): p. 1962-9.
- 459. McMahon, B. and H.C. Kwaan, *The plasminogen activator system and cancer*. Pathophysiol Haemost Thromb, 2008. **36**(3-4): p. 184-94.
- 460. Mahmood, N., C. Mihalcioiu, and S.A. Rabbani, *Multifaceted Role of the Urokinase-Type Plasminogen Activator (uPA) and Its Receptor (uPAR): Diagnostic, Prognostic, and Therapeutic Applications.* Frontiers in Oncology, 2018. **8**(24).

- 461. Salama, Y., S.Y. Lin, D. Dhahri, K. Hattori, and B. Heissig, *The fibrinolytic factor tPA drives LRP1-mediated melanoma growth and metastasis*. Faseb j, 2019. **33**(3): p. 3465-3480.
- 462. Dedieu, S., B. Langlois, J. Devy, B. Sid, P. Henriet, H. Sartelet, G. Bellon, H. Emonard, and L. Martiny, *LRP-1 Silencing Prevents Malignant Cell Invasion despite Increased Pericellular Proteolytic Activities*. Molecular and Cellular Biology, 2008. 28(9): p. 2980.
- 463. Langlois, B., G. Perrot, C. Schneider, P. Henriet, H. Emonard, L. Martiny, and S. Dedieu, *LRP-1 Promotes Cancer Cell Invasion by Supporting ERK and Inhibiting JNK Signaling Pathways*. PLOS ONE, 2010. 5(7): p. e11584.
- 464. Tsen, F., A. Bhatia, K. Brien, C.-F. Cheng, M. Chen, N. Hay, B. Stiles, D.T. Woodley, and W. Li, Extracellular Heat Shock Protein 90 Signals through Subdomain II and the NPVY Motif of LRP-1 Receptor to Akt1 and Akt2: a Circuit Essential for Promoting Skin Cell Migration <em&gt;In Vitro&lt;/em&gt; and Wound Healing <em&gt;In Vivo&lt;/em&gt. Molecular and Cellular Biology, 2013. 33(24): p. 4947.
- 465. Pencheva, N., H. Tran, C. Buss, D. Huh, M. Drobnjak, K. Busam, and Sohail F. Tavazoie, *Convergent Multi-miRNA Targeting of ApoE Drives LRP1/LRP8-Dependent Melanoma Metastasis and Angiogenesis*. Cell, 2012. **151**(5): p. 1068-1082.
- 466. Montel, V., A. Gaultier, R.D. Lester, W.M. Campana, and S.L. Gonias, *The low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein regulates cancer cell survival and metastasis development*. Cancer Res, 2007. 67(20): p. 9817-24.
- 467. Leslie, P.L., D.A. Franklin, Y. Liu, and Y. Zhang, p53 Regulates the Expression of LRP1 and Apoptosis through a Stress Intensity-Dependent MicroRNA Feedback Loop. Cell Rep, 2018. 24(6): p. 1484-1495.
- Huang, S.S., T.Y. Ling, W.F. Tseng, Y.H. Huang, F.M. Tang, S.M. Leal, and J.S. Huang, *Cellular growth inhibition by IGFBP-3 and TGF-beta1 requires LRP-1*. Faseb j, 2003. 17(14): p. 2068-81.
- 469. Qian, B.Z. and J.W. Pollard, *Macrophage diversity enhances tumor progression and metastasis*. Cell, 2010. **141**(1): p. 39-51.
- 470. Staudt, N.D., M. Jo, J. Hu, J.M. Bristow, D.P. Pizzo, A. Gaultier, S.R. VandenBerg, and S.L. Gonias, *Myeloid Cell Receptor LRP1/CD91 Regulates Monocyte Recruitment and Angiogenesis in Tumors*. Cancer Research, 2013. **73**(13): p. 3902.
- 471. Boyé, K., N. Pujol, I. D Alves, Y.-P. Chen, T. Daubon, Y.-Z. Lee, S. Dedieu, M. Constantin, L. Bello, M. Rossi, R. Bjerkvig, S.-C. Sue, A. Bikfalvi, and C. Billottet,

*The role of CXCR3/LRP1 cross-talk in the invasion of primary brain tumors.* Nature Communications, 2017. **8**(1): p. 1571.

- 472. Strickland, D.K., S.C. Muratoglu, and T.M. Antalis, *Serpin-Enzyme Receptors LDL Receptor-Related Protein 1*. Methods in enzymology, 2011. **499**: p. 17-31.
- 473. Poller, W., T.E. Willnow, J. Hilpert, and J. Herz, *Differential recognition of alpha 1antitrypsin-elastase and alpha 1-antichymotrypsin-cathepsin G complexes by the low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein.* J Biol Chem, 1995. **270**(6): p. 2841-5.
- 474. Stockley, R.A., Alpha1-antitrypsin review. Clin Chest Med, 2014. 35(1): p. 39-50.
- 475. Carrell, R.W., alpha 1-Antitrypsin: molecular pathology, leukocytes, and tissue damage. J Clin Invest, 1986. **78**(6): p. 1427-31.
- 476. Toldo, S., I.M. Seropian, E. Mezzaroma, B.W. Van Tassell, F.N. Salloum, E.C. Lewis, N. Voelkel, C.A. Dinarello, and A. Abbate, *Alpha-1 antitrypsin inhibits caspase-1 and protects from acute myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury*. J Mol Cell Cardiol, 2011. 51(2): p. 244-51.
- 477. Abouzaki, N.A., S. Christopher, C. Trankle, B.W. Van Tassell, S. Carbone, A.G. Mauro, L. Buckley, S. Toldo, and A. Abbate, *Inhibiting the Inflammatory Injury After Myocardial Ischemia Reperfusion With Plasma-Derived Alpha-1 Antitrypsin: A Post Hoc Analysis of the VCU-alpha1RT Study.* J Cardiovasc Pharmacol, 2018. **71**(6): p. 375-379.
- 478. Abbate, A., B.W. Van Tassell, S. Christopher, N.A. Abouzaki, C. Sonnino, C. Oddi, S. Carbone, R.D. Melchior, M.L. Gambill, C.S. Roberts, M.C. Kontos, M.A. Peberdy, S. Toldo, G.W. Vetrovec, G. Biondi-Zoccai, and C.A. Dinarello, *Effects of Prolastin C (Plasma-Derived Alpha-1 Antitrypsin) on the acute inflammatory response in patients with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction (from the VCU-alpha 1-RT pilot study)*. Am J Cardiol, 2015. 115(1): p. 8-12.
- Toldo, S., D. Austin, A.G. Mauro, E. Mezzaroma, B.W. Van Tassell, C. Marchetti, S. Carbone, S. Mogelsvang, C. Gelber, and A. Abbate, *Low-Density Lipoprotein Receptor–Related Protein-1 Is a Therapeutic Target in Acute Myocardial Infarction.* JACC: Basic to Translational Science, 2017. 2(5): p. 561-574.
- 480. Pflanzner, T., M.C. Janko, B. Andre-Dohmen, S. Reuss, S. Weggen, A.J. Roebroek, C.R. Kuhlmann, and C.U. Pietrzik, *LRP1 mediates bidirectional transcytosis of amyloid-beta across the blood-brain barrier*. Neurobiol Aging, 2011. **32**(12): p. 2323.e1-11.

- 481. Drappatz, J., A. Brenner, E.T. Wong, A. Eichler, D. Schiff, M.D. Groves, T. Mikkelsen,
  S. Rosenfeld, J. Sarantopoulos, C.A. Meyers, R.M. Fielding, K. Elian, X. Wang, B.
  Lawrence, M. Shing, S. Kelsey, J.P. Castaigne, and P.Y. Wen, *Phase I study of GRN1005 in recurrent malignant glioma*. Clin Cancer Res, 2013. 19(6): p. 1567-76.
- 482. Demeule, M., A. Regina, C. Che, J. Poirier, T. Nguyen, R. Gabathuler, J.P. Castaigne, and R. Beliveau, *Identification and design of peptides as a new drug delivery system for the brain.* J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 2008. **324**(3): p. 1064-72.
- 483. Regina, A., M. Demeule, C. Che, I. Lavallee, J. Poirier, R. Gabathuler, R. Beliveau, and J.P. Castaigne, *Antitumour activity of ANG1005, a conjugate between paclitaxel and the new brain delivery vector Angiopep-2.* Br J Pharmacol, 2008. 155(2): p. 185-97.
- 484. Kurzrock, R., N. Gabrail, C. Chandhasin, S. Moulder, C. Smith, A. Brenner, K. Sankhala, A. Mita, K. Elian, D. Bouchard, and J. Sarantopoulos, *Safety, pharmacokinetics, and activity of GRN1005, a novel conjugate of angiopep-2, a peptide facilitating brain penetration, and paclitaxel, in patients with advanced solid tumors.* Mol Cancer Ther, 2012. **11**(2): p. 308-16.
- 485. Emonard, H., L. Theret, A.H. Bennasroune, and S. Dedieu, *Regulation of LRP-1 expression: make the point.* Pathol Biol (Paris), 2014. **62**(2): p. 84-90.
- 486. Kang, H.S., J. Kim, H.J. Lee, B.M. Kwon, D.K. Lee, and S.H. Hong, *LRP1-dependent pepsin clearance induced by 2'-hydroxycinnamaldehyde attenuates breast cancer cell invasion*. Int J Biochem Cell Biol, 2014. 53: p. 15-23.
- 487. Mantuano, E., M.S. Lam, and S.L. Gonias, *LRP1 assembles unique co-receptor systems* to initiate cell signaling in response to tissue-type plasminogen activator and myelinassociated glycoprotein. J Biol Chem, 2013. **288**(47): p. 34009-18.
- 488. Perrot, G., B. Langlois, J. Devy, A. Jeanne, L. Verzeaux, S. Almagro, H. Sartelet, C. Hachet, C. Schneider, E. Sick, M. David, M. Khrestchatisky, H. Emonard, L. Martiny, and S. Dedieu, *LRP-1–CD44, a New Cell Surface Complex Regulating Tumor Cell Adhesion*. Molecular and Cellular Biology, 2012. **32**(16): p. 3293-3307.
- 489. Tian, Y., C. Wang, S. Chen, J. Liu, Y. Fu, and Y. Luo, Extracellular Hsp90α and clusterin synergistically promote breast cancer epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition and metastasis via LRP1. Journal of Cell Science, 2019. 132(15): p. jcs228213.
- 490. Beaujouin, M., C. Prebois, D. Derocq, V. Laurent-Matha, O. Masson, S. Pattingre, P. Coopman, N. Bettache, J. Grossfield, R.E. Hollingsworth, H. Zhang, Z. Yao, B.T. Hyman, P. van der Geer, G.K. Smith, and E. Liaudet-Coopman, *Pro-cathepsin D*

*interacts with the extracellular domain of the beta chain of LRP1 and promotes LRP1dependent fibroblast outgrowth.* J Cell Sci, 2010. **123**(Pt 19): p. 3336-46.

- 491. Toquet, C., A. Jarry, C. Bou-Hanna, K. Bach, M.G. Denis, J.F. Mosnier, and C.L. Laboisse, Altered Calreticulin expression in human colon cancer: maintenance of Calreticulin expression is associated with mucinous differentiation. Oncol Rep, 2007. 17(5): p. 1101-7.
- 492. Obermeyer, K., S. Krueger, B. Peters, B. Falkenberg, A. Roessner, and C. Rocken, *The* expression of low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein in colorectal carcinoma. Oncol Rep, 2007. 17(2): p. 361-7.
- 493. Wu, J.B., A.L. Sarmiento, P.O. Fiset, A. Lazaris, P. Metrakos, S. Petrillo, and Z.H. Gao, *Histologic features and genomic alterations of primary colorectal adenocarcinoma predict growth patterns of liver metastasis.* World J Gastroenterol, 2019. 25(26): p. 3408-3425.
- 494. Brabletz, T., S. Spaderna, J. Kolb, F. Hlubek, G. Faller, C.J. Bruns, A. Jung, J. Nentwich, I. Duluc, C. Domon-Dell, T. Kirchner, and J.N. Freund, *Down-regulation of the homeodomain factor Cdx2 in colorectal cancer by collagen type I: an active role for the tumor environment in malignant tumor progression.* Cancer Res, 2004. 64(19): p. 6973-7.
- 495. Oku, Y., T. Shimoji, K. Takifuji, T. Hotta, S. Yokoyama, K. Matsuda, T. Higashiguchi, T. Tominaga, T. Nasu, K. Tamura, M. Matsuura, S. Miyata, Y. Kato, H. Yamaue, and Y. Miki, *Identification of the molecular mechanisms for dedifferentiation at the invasion front of colorectal cancer by a gene expression analysis*. Clin Cancer Res, 2008. 14(22): p. 7215-22.
- 496. Hynes, R.O., Integrins: bidirectional, allosteric signaling machines. Cell, 2002.
  110(6): p. 673-87.
- 497. Tolomelli, A., P. Galletti, M. Baiula, and D. Giacomini, *Can Integrin Agonists Have Cards to Play against Cancer? A Literature Survey of Small Molecules Integrin Activators*. Cancers (Basel), 2017. **9**(7).
- 498. Abdulhussein, R., C. McFadden, P. Fuentes-Prior, and W.F. Vogel, *Exploring the collagen-binding site of the DDR1 tyrosine kinase receptor*. J Biol Chem, 2004. 279(30): p. 31462-70.
- 499. Vogel, W., G.D. Gish, F. Alves, and T. Pawson, *The Discoidin Domain Receptor Tyrosine Kinases Are Activated by Collagen*. Molecular Cell, 1997. **1**(1): p. 13-23.

- 500. Nemoto, T., K. Ohashi, T. Akashi, J.D. Johnson, and K. Hirokawa, Overexpression of protein tyrosine kinases in human esophageal cancer. Pathobiology, 1997. 65(4): p. 195-203.
- 501. Tanaka, T., S. Jiang, H. Hotta, K. Takano, H. Iwanari, K. Sumi, K. Daigo, R. Ohashi, M. Sugai, C. Ikegame, H. Umezu, Y. Hirayama, Y. Midorikawa, Y. Hippo, A. Watanabe, Y. Uchiyama, G. Hasegawa, P. Reid, H. Aburatani, T. Hamakubo, J. Sakai, M. Naito, and T. Kodama, *Dysregulated expression of P1 and P2 promoter-driven hepatocyte nuclear factor-4alpha in the pathogenesis of human cancer.* J Pathol, 2006. 208(5): p. 662-72.
- 502. Afik, R., E. Zigmond, M. Vugman, M. Klepfish, E. Shimshoni, M. Pasmanik-Chor, A. Shenoy, E. Bassat, Z. Halpern, T. Geiger, I. Sagi, and C. Varol, *Tumor macrophages are pivotal constructors of tumor collagenous matrix*. J Exp Med, 2016. 213(11): p. 2315-2331.
- 503. Yuzhalin, A.E., A.N. Gordon-Weeks, M.L. Tognoli, K. Jones, B. Markelc, R. Konietzny, R. Fischer, A. Muth, E. O'Neill, P.R. Thompson, P.J. Venables, B.M. Kessler, S.Y. Lim, and R.J. Muschel, *Colorectal cancer liver metastatic growth depends on PAD4-driven citrullination of the extracellular matrix*. Nat Commun, 2018. 9(1): p. 4783.
- 504. Poschau, M., E. Dickreuter, J. Singh-Muller, K. Zscheppang, I. Eke, T. Liersch, and N. Cordes, EGFR and beta1-integrin targeting differentially affect colorectal carcinoma cell radiosensitivity and invasion. Radiother Oncol, 2015. 116(3): p. 510-6.
- 505. Olof Olsson, P., R. Gustafsson, A.V. Salnikov, M. Gothe, K.S. Zeller, T. Friman, B. Baldetorp, L.A. Koopman, P.H. Weinreb, S.M. Violette, S. Kalamajski, N.E. Heldin, and K. Rubin, *Inhibition of integrin alphaVbeta6 changes fibril thickness of stromal collagen in experimental carcinomas*. Cell Commun Signal, 2018. 16(1): p. 36.
- 506. Kang, J.C., J.S. Chen, C.H. Lee, J.J. Chang, and Y.S. Shieh, *Intratumoral macrophage counts correlate with tumor progression in colorectal cancer*. J Surg Oncol, 2010. 102(3): p. 242-8.
- 507. Cavdar, Z., A.E. Canda, C. Terzi, S. Sarioglu, M. Fuzun, and G. Oktay, *Role of gelatinases (matrix metalloproteinases 2 and 9), vascular endothelial growth factor and endostatin on clinicopathological behaviour of rectal cancer.* Colorectal Dis, 2011.
  13(2): p. 154-60.
- 508. Nozawa, H., C. Chiu, and D. Hanahan, *Infiltrating neutrophils mediate the initial angiogenic switch in a mouse model of multistage carcinogenesis*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2006. **103**(33): p. 12493-8.
- 509. O'Shannessy, D.J., E.B. Somers, L.K. Chandrasekaran, N.C. Nicolaides, J. Bordeaux, and M.D. Gustavson, *Influence of tumor microenvironment on prognosis in colorectal cancer: Tissue architecture-dependent signature of endosialin (TEM-1) and associated proteins*. Oncotarget, 2014. **5**(12): p. 3983-95.
- 510. Tong, R.T., Y. Boucher, S.V. Kozin, F. Winkler, D.J. Hicklin, and R.K. Jain, Vascular normalization by vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2 blockade induces a pressure gradient across the vasculature and improves drug penetration in tumors. Cancer Res, 2004. **64**(11): p. 3731-6.
- 511. Zou, X., B. Feng, T. Dong, G. Yan, B. Tan, H. Shen, A. Huang, X. Zhang, M. Zhang,
  P. Yang, M. Zheng, and Y. Zhang, Up-regulation of type I collagen during tumorigenesis of colorectal cancer revealed by quantitative proteomic analysis. J Proteomics, 2013. 94: p. 473-85.
- 512. Rodia, M.T., G. Ugolini, G. Mattei, I. Montroni, D. Zattoni, F. Ghignone, G. Veronese,
  G. Marisi, M. Lauriola, P. Strippoli, and R. Solmi, *Systematic large-scale meta-analysis identifies a panel of two mRNAs as blood biomarkers for colorectal cancer detection*. Oncotarget, 2016. 7(21): p. 30295-306.
- 513. Knight, C.G., L.F. Morton, A.R. Peachey, D.S. Tuckwell, R.W. Farndale, and M.J. Barnes, *The collagen-binding A-domains of integrins alpha(1)beta(1) and alpha(2)beta(1) recognize the same specific amino acid sequence, GFOGER, in native (triple-helical) collagens.* J Biol Chem, 2000. 275(1): p. 35-40.
- 514. Oh, B.Y., K.H. Kim, S.S. Chung, K.S. Hong, and R.A. Lee, *Role of beta1-Integrin in Colorectal Cancer: Case-Control Study*. Ann Coloproctol, 2014. **30**(2): p. 61-70.
- 515. Sun, C., R. Zargham, Q. Shao, X. Gui, V. Marcus, A. Lazaris, A. Salman, P. Metrakos, X. Qu, and Z. Gao, Association of CD98, integrin beta1, integrin beta3 and Fak with the progression and liver metastases of colorectal cancer. Pathol Res Pract, 2014.
  210(10): p. 668-74.
- 516. Leitinger, B., *Discoidin domain receptor functions in physiological and pathological conditions*. International review of cell and molecular biology, 2014. **310**: p. 39-87.
- 517. Chen, C.T., H. Yamaguchi, H.J. Lee, Y. Du, H.H. Lee, W. Xia, W.H. Yu, J.L. Hsu, C.J. Yen, H.L. Sun, Y. Wang, E.T. Yeh, G.N. Hortobagyi, and M.C. Hung, *Dual targeting*

of tumor angiogenesis and chemotherapy by endostatin-cytosine deaminase-uracil phosphoribosyltransferase. Mol Cancer Ther, 2011. **10**(8): p. 1327-36.

- 518. Sasaki, S., M. Ueda, T. Iguchi, M. Kaneko, H. Nakayama, T. Watanabe, A. Sakamoto, and K. Mimori, DDR2 Expression Is Associated with a High Frequency of Peritoneal Dissemination and Poor Prognosis in Colorectal Cancer. Anticancer Res, 2017. 37(5): p. 2587-2591.
- 519. Gonias, S.L., N. Karimi-Mostowfi, S.S. Murray, E. Mantuano, and A.S. Gilder, Expression of LDL receptor-related proteins (LRPs) in common solid malignancies correlates with patient survival. PloS one, 2017. 12(10): p. e0186649-e0186649.
- 520. !!! INVALID CITATION !!!
- 521. Henriet, P., Z.D. Zhong, P.C. Brooks, K.I. Weinberg, and Y.A. DeClerck, *Contact with fibrillar collagen inhibits melanoma cell proliferation by up-regulating p27KIP1*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2000. 97(18): p. 10026-31.
- 522. Chung, S., S.H. Kim, Y. Seo, S.K. Kim, and J.Y. Lee, *Quantitative analysis of cell proliferation by a dye dilution assay: Application to cell lines and cocultures.* Cytometry A, 2017. **91**(7): p. 704-712.
- 523. Teow, S.-Y., K. Liew, M.F. Che Mat, M. Marzuki, N. Abdul Aziz, T.-L. Chu, M. Ahmad, and A.S.-B. Khoo, *Development of a luciferase/luciferin cell proliferation (XenoLuc) assay for real-time measurements of Gfp-Luc2-modified cells in a co-culture system*. BMC Biotechnology, 2019. **19**(1): p. 34.
- 524. Clift, M.J.D., K. Fytianos, D. Vanhecke, S. Hočevar, A. Petri-Fink, and B. Rothen-Rutishauser, A novel technique to determine the cell type specific response within an in vitro co-culture model via multi-colour flow cytometry. Scientific Reports, 2017. 7(1): p. 434.
- 525. Haridas, P., C.J. Penington, J.A. McGovern, D.L.S. McElwain, and M.J. Simpson, *Quantifying rates of cell migration and cell proliferation in co-culture barrier assays reveals how skin and melanoma cells interact during melanoma spreading and invasion.* J Theor Biol, 2017. **423**: p. 13-25.
- 526. Romero-Lopez, M., A.L. Trinh, A. Sobrino, M.M. Hatch, M.T. Keating, C. Fimbres, D.E. Lewis, P.D. Gershon, E.L. Botvinick, M. Digman, J.S. Lowengrub, and C.C. Hughes, *Recapitulating the human tumor microenvironment: Colon tumor-derived extracellular matrix promotes angiogenesis and tumor cell growth.* Biomaterials, 2017. 116: p. 118-129.

- 527. Vermeulen, K., Z.N. Berneman, and D.R. Van Bockstaele, *Cell cycle and apoptosis*. Cell Prolif, 2003. 36(3): p. 165-75.
- 528. Pucci, B., M. Kasten, and A. Giordano, *Cell cycle and apoptosis*. Neoplasia (New York, N.Y.), 2000. 2(4): p. 291-299.
- 529. Gerard, C. and A. Goldbeter, *The balance between cell cycle arrest and cell proliferation: control by the extracellular matrix and by contact inhibition.* Interface Focus, 2014. **4**(3): p. 20130075.
- 530. Alenzi, F.Q., *Links between apoptosis, proliferation and the cell cycle.* Br J Biomed Sci, 2004. **61**(2): p. 99-102.
- 531. Evan, G.I. and K.H. Vousden, *Proliferation, cell cycle and apoptosis in cancer*. Nature, 2001. 411(6835): p. 342-8.
- 532. Ricard-Blum, S., *The collagen family*. Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology, 2011. **3**(1): p. a004978-a004978.
- 533. Shoulders, M.D. and R.T. Raines, *Collagen structure and stability*. Annual review of biochemistry, 2009. **78**: p. 929-958.
- 534. Kanematsu, A., A. Marui, S. Yamamoto, M. Ozeki, Y. Hirano, M. Yamamoto, O. Ogawa, M. Komeda, and Y. Tabata, *Type I collagen can function as a reservoir of basic fibroblast growth factor*. J Control Release, 2004. **99**(2): p. 281-92.
- 535. Willumsen, N., C.L. Bager, D.J. Leeming, V. Smith, C. Christiansen, M.A. Karsdal, D. Dornan, and A.C. Bay-Jensen, *Serum biomarkers reflecting specific tumor tissue remodeling processes are valuable diagnostic tools for lung cancer*. Cancer Med, 2014.
  3(5): p. 1136-45.
- 536. Barcus, C.E., K.A. O'Leary, J.L. Brockman, D.E. Rugowski, Y. Liu, N. Garcia, M. Yu, P.J. Keely, K.W. Eliceiri, and L.A. Schuler, *Elevated collagen-I augments tumor* progressive signals, intravasation and metastasis of prolactin-induced estrogen receptor alpha positive mammary tumor cells. Breast Cancer Res, 2017. **19**(1): p. 9.
- 537. Lu, P., K. Takai, V.M. Weaver, and Z. Werb, *Extracellular matrix degradation and remodeling in development and disease*. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol, 2011. **3**(12).
- 538. Kehlet, S.N., R. Sanz-Pamplona, S. Brix, D.J. Leeming, M.A. Karsdal, and V. Moreno, Excessive collagen turnover products are released during colorectal cancer progression and elevated in serum from metastatic colorectal cancer patients. Sci Rep, 2016. 6: p. 30599.
- 539. Vellinga, T.T., S. den Uil, I.H. Rinkes, D. Marvin, B. Ponsioen, A. Alvarez-Varela, S. Fatrai, C. Scheele, D.A. Zwijnenburg, H. Snippert, L. Vermeulen, J.P. Medema, H.B.

Stockmann, J. Koster, R.J. Fijneman, J. de Rooij, and O. Kranenburg, *Collagen-rich* stroma in aggressive colon tumors induces mesenchymal gene expression and tumor cell invasion. Oncogene, 2016. **35**(40): p. 5263-5271.

- 540. Kirkland, S.C., *Type I collagen inhibits differentiation and promotes a stem cell-like phenotype in human colorectal carcinoma cells*. British journal of cancer, 2009. 101(2): p. 320-326.
- 541. Cox, T.R. and J.T. Erler, *Remodeling and homeostasis of the extracellular matrix: implications for fibrotic diseases and cancer*. Dis Model Mech, 2011. **4**(2): p. 165-78.
- 542. Osterman, E. and B. Glimelius, Recurrence Risk After Up-to-Date Colon Cancer Staging, Surgery, and Pathology: Analysis of the Entire Swedish Population. Dis Colon Rectum, 2018. 61(9): p. 1016-1025.
- 543. Topper, M.J., M. Vaz, K.A. Marrone, J.R. Brahmer, and S.B. Baylin, *The emerging role of epigenetic therapeutics in immuno-oncology*. Nature Reviews Clinical Oncology, 2019.
- 544. Lin, L. and K. Hu, *Tissue plasminogen activator and inflammation: from phenotype to signaling mechanisms*. American journal of clinical and experimental immunology, 2014. 3(1): p. 30-36.
- 545. Lin, L. and K. Hu, *LRP-1: functions, signaling and implications in kidney and other diseases.* Int J Mol Sci, 2014. **15**(12): p. 22887-901.
- 546. Yancey, P.G., J. Blakemore, L. Ding, D. Fan, C.D. Overton, Y. Zhang, M.F. Linton, and S. Fazio, *Macrophage LRP-1 controls plaque cellularity by regulating efferocytosis* and Akt activation. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2010. **30**(4): p. 787-95.
- 547. Boucher, P., W.P. Li, R.L. Matz, Y. Takayama, J. Auwerx, R.G. Anderson, and J. Herz, *LRP1 functions as an atheroprotective integrator of TGFbeta and PDFG signals in the vascular wall: implications for Marfan syndrome.* PLoS One, 2007. **2**(5): p. e448.
- 548. Humphries, J.D., A. Byron, and M.J. Humphries, *Integrin ligands at a glance*. J Cell Sci, 2006. **119**(Pt 19): p. 3901-3.
- 549. Blandin, A.F., G. Renner, M. Lehmann, I. Lelong-Rebel, S. Martin, and M. Dontenwill, *beta1 Integrins as Therapeutic Targets to Disrupt Hallmarks of Cancer*. Front Pharmacol, 2015. **6**: p. 279.
- 550. Chen, H.M., Y.H. Lin, Y.M. Cheng, L.Y. Wing, and S.J. Tsai, Overexpression of integrin-beta1 in leiomyoma promotes cell spreading and proliferation. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 2013. 98(5): p. E837-46.

- 551. Schwartz, M.A. and R.K. Assoian, *Integrins and cell proliferation*. Journal of Cell Science, 2001. **114**(14): p. 2553.
- 552. Desgrosellier, J.S. and D.A. Cheresh, *Integrins in cancer: biological implications and therapeutic opportunities.* Nat Rev Cancer, 2010. **10**(1): p. 9-22.
- 553. Bartolome, R.A., R. Barderas, S. Torres, M.J. Fernandez-Acenero, M. Mendes, J. Garcia-Foncillas, M. Lopez-Lucendo, and J.I. Casal, *Cadherin-17 interacts with alpha2beta1 integrin to regulate cell proliferation and adhesion in colorectal cancer cells causing liver metastasis.* Oncogene, 2014. **33**(13): p. 1658-69.
- 554. Boudjadi, S., G. Bernatchez, B. Sénicourt, M. Beauséjour, P.H. Vachon, J.C. Carrier, and J.-F. Beaulieu, *Involvement of the Integrin α1β1 in the Progression of Colorectal Cancer*. Cancers, 2017. **9**(8): p. 96.
- 555. Kirkland, S.C. and H. Ying, *Alpha2beta1 integrin regulates lineage commitment in multipotent human colorectal cancer cells*. The Journal of biological chemistry, 2008.
  283(41): p. 27612-27619.
- 556. Buda, A., D. Qualtrough, M.A. Jepson, D. Martines, C. Paraskeva, and M. Pignatelli, Butyrate downregulates alpha2beta1 integrin: a possible role in the induction of apoptosis in colorectal cancer cell lines. Gut, 2003. **52**(5): p. 729-734.
- 557. Erusappan, P., J. Alam, N. Lu, C. Zeltz, and D. Gullberg, Integrin α11 cytoplasmic tail is required for FAK activation to initiate 3D cell invasion and ERK-mediated cell proliferation. Scientific Reports, 2019. 9(1): p. 15283.
- 558. Munksgaard Thoren, M., K. Chmielarska Masoumi, C. Krona, X. Huang, and S. Kundu, Integrin alpha10, a Novel Therapeutic Target in Glioblastoma, Regulates Cell Migration, Proliferation, and Survival. 2019. **11**(4).
- 559. Wang, G., A. Manaenko, A. Shao, Y. Ou, P. Yang, E. Budbazar, D. Nowrangi, J.H. Zhang, and J. Tang, *Low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein-1 facilitates heme scavenging after intracerebral hemorrhage in mice*. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab, 2017. 37(4): p. 1299-1310.
- 560. Yang, E., H. Zheng, H. Peng, and Y. Ding, Lentivirus-induced knockdown of LRP1 induces osteoarthritic-like effects and increases susceptibility to apoptosis in chondrocytes via the nuclear factor-kappaB pathway. Exp Ther Med, 2015. 10(1): p. 97-105.
- 561. Koh, M., Y. Woo, R.R. Valiathan, H.Y. Jung, S.Y. Park, Y.N. Kim, H.-R.C. Kim, R. Fridman, and A. Moon, *Discoidin domain receptor 1 is a novel transcriptional target*

of ZEB1 in breast epithelial cells undergoing H-Ras-induced epithelial to mesenchymal *transition*. International journal of cancer, 2015. **136**(6): p. E508-E520.

- 562. Duncan, J.S., M.C. Whittle, K. Nakamura, A.N. Abell, A.A. Midland, J.S. Zawistowski, N.L. Johnson, D.A. Granger, N.V. Jordan, D.B. Darr, J. Usary, P.F. Kuan, D.M. Smalley, B. Major, X. He, K.A. Hoadley, B. Zhou, N.E. Sharpless, C.M. Perou, W.Y. Kim, S.M. Gomez, X. Chen, J. Jin, S.V. Frye, H.S. Earp, L.M. Graves, and G.L. Johnson, *Dynamic reprogramming of the kinome in response to targeted MEK inhibition in triple-negative breast cancer*. Cell, 2012. 149(2): p. 307-21.
- 563. Carbone, A. and A. Gloghini, *Activated DDR1 increases RS cell survival*. Blood, 2013.
  122(26): p. 4152.
- 564. Van Doren, S.R., *Matrix metalloproteinase interactions with collagen and elastin*. Matrix biology : journal of the International Society for Matrix Biology, 2015. 44-46: p. 224-231.
- 565. Nagase, H., R. Visse, and G. Murphy, *Structure and function of matrix metalloproteinases and TIMPs*. Cardiovascular Research, 2006. **69**(3): p. 562-573.
- 566. Rozanov, D.V., E. Hahn-Dantona, D.K. Strickland, and A.Y. Strongin, *The low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein LRP is regulated by membrane type-1 matrix metalloproteinase (MT1-MMP) proteolysis in malignant cells.* J Biol Chem, 2004. 279(6): p. 4260-8.
- 567. Bigg, H.F., A.D. Rowan, M.D. Barker, and T.E. Cawston, Activity of matrix metalloproteinase-9 against native collagen types I and III. Febs j, 2007. 274(5): p. 1246-55.
- 568. Karagiannis, E.D. and A.S. Popel, A theoretical model of type I collagen proteolysis by matrix metalloproteinase (MMP) 2 and membrane type 1 MMP in the presence of tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase 2. J Biol Chem, 2004. **279**(37): p. 39105-14.
- 569. Ylisirnio, S., M. Hoyhtya, R. Makitaro, P. Paaakko, J. Risteli, V.L. Kinnula, T. Turpeenniemi-Hujanen, and A. Jukkola, *Elevated serum levels of type I collagen degradation marker ICTP and tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase (TIMP) 1 are associated with poor prognosis in lung cancer*. Clin Cancer Res, 2001. 7(6): p. 1633-7.
- 570. Saad, S., D.J. Gottlieb, K.F. Bradstock, C.M. Overall, and L.J. Bendall, *Cancer cell-associated fibronectin induces release of matrix metalloproteinase-2 from normal fibroblasts*. Cancer Res, 2002. **62**(1): p. 283-9.

- 571. Sato, H. and T. Takino, *Coordinate action of membrane-type matrix metalloproteinase-1 (MT1-MMP) and MMP-2 enhances pericellular proteolysis and invasion*. Cancer Sci, 2010. **101**(4): p. 843-7.
- 572. Thakur, V. and B. Bedogni, *The membrane tethered matrix metalloproteinase MT1-MMP at the forefront of melanoma cell invasion and metastasis*. Pharmacol Res, 2016.
  111: p. 17-22.
- 573. Gimeno-Garcia, A.Z., J. Trinanes, E. Quintero, E. Salido, D. Nicolas-Perez, Z. Adriande-Ganzo, O. Alarcon-Fernandez, B. Abrante, R. Romero, M. Carrillo, L. Ramos, I. Alonso, J. Ortega, and A. Jimenez, *Plasma matrix metalloproteinase 9 as an early surrogate biomarker of advanced colorectal neoplasia*. Gastroenterol Hepatol, 2016. **39**(7): p. 433-41.
- 574. Biasi, F., T. Guina, M. Maina, M. Nano, A. Falcone, E. Aroasio, G.M. Saracco, M. Papotti, G. Leonarduzzi, and G. Poli, *Progressive increase of matrix metalloprotease-9 and interleukin-8 serum levels during carcinogenic process in human colorectal tract.* PLoS One, 2012. 7(7): p. e41839.
- 575. Wilson, S., S. Damery, D.D. Stocken, G. Dowswell, R. Holder, S.T. Ward, V. Redman, M.J. Wakelam, J. James, F.D. Hobbs, and T. Ismail, *Serum matrix metalloproteinase 9* and colorectal neoplasia: a community-based evaluation of a potential diagnostic test. Br J Cancer, 2012. **106**(8): p. 1431-8.

## Rôle de LRP-1 dans la prolifération des cellules issues de cancer du côlon en matrice tridimensionnelle de collagène de type I

Le récepteur *low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein-1* (LRP-1) est un récepteur d'endocytose multifonctionnel impliqué dans de nombreux processus physiologiques et pathologiques. Plusieurs études ont montré que LRP-1 joue un rôle crucial lors des processus de tumorigenèse et durant la progression tumorale, notamment en régulant l'expression de protéines membranaires. Des études antérieures ont montré l'implication des récepteurs du collagène de type I de la famille des *Discoidin Domain Receptors* (DDRs) dans la régulation de la prolifération des cellules cancéreuses en 3D. Le but de ce travail est d'étudier s'il existe une interaction fonctionnelle entre LRP-1 et DDR1 et si celle-ci pourrait moduler la prolifération des cellules de cancer colorectal (CRC) cultivées dans une matrice 3D de collagène de type I.

Nos résultats ont permis de montrer qu'une invalidation de LRP-1 ou une inhibition de son activité par l'utilisation d'antagonistes sélectifs (RAP, anticorps bloquants) altère la prolifération des cellules de CRC LS174T et HT-29, uniquement lorsque qu'elles sont intégrées dans une matrice 3D de collagène de type I. De plus, la surexpression de DDR1-GFP dans les cellules HT-29 (HT-29<sup>DDR-GFP</sup>) diminue leur taux de croissance, tandis que l'inhibition de LRP-1 par RAP induit un arrêt du cycle cellulaire et une augmentation de l'apoptose dans les cellules HT-29 et HT-29<sup>DDR-GFP</sup>. Nous avons montré que la quantité de DDR1 à la surface cellulaire était augmentée et que l'endocytose de DDR1 était réduite de moitié lors du traitement par RAP, mettant ainsi en évidence une nouvelle voie d'internalisation pour DDR1. De plus, LRP-1 et DDR1 co-immunoprécipitent ensemble indiquant que ces récepteurs sont fortement associés au sein d'un même complexe moléculaire dans les cellules de CRC.

Nos résultats mettent en évidence l'existence d'une interface fonctionnelle entre LRP-1 et DDR1 I soutenant la prolifération des cellules de CRC dans une matrice 3D de collagène.

LRP-1, DDR1, cancer colorectal, prolifération, matrice 3D de collagène de type I

## Role of LRP-1 in colon cancer cell proliferation in three-dimensional culture systems

Low-density lipoprotein receptor related protein-1 (LRP-1) is a multifunctional endocytic receptor mediating the clearance of various molecules from the extracellular matrix, including metalloproteases and various glycoproteins. Several studies have shown that LRP-1 plays crucial roles in tumorigenesis and during tumor progression. LRP-1 also functions as a main regulator of signaling pathway by interacting with other cell-surface receptors. Previous studies have highlighted the involvement of Discoidin Domain Receptors (DDRs), type I collagen receptors with tyrosine kinase activity, in the regulation of cancer cell proliferation in 3D experimental models. The aim of this work is to study the potential functional interplay between LRP-1 and DDR1 in order to investigate whether this interaction may modulate the proliferation of colorectal cancer (CRC) cells in highly relevant 3D type I collagen matrices.

In this study, we demonstrated that inhibition of LRP-1-mediated endocytosis using RNA interference or selective antagonists (RAP and R2629 blocking antibodies) impaired LS174T and HT-29 carcinoma cell proliferation, but only when embedded in a 3D collagen matrix. Using 3D cultures, DDR1-GFP overexpressing HT-29 (HT-29DDR-GFP) reduced the colorectal carcinoma cell growth rate, whereas RAP treatment led to cell cycle arrest and induced apoptosis in both HT-29 and HT-29DDR-GFP. By streptavidin/biotin-based immunoassays, we demonstrated that membrane-anchored DDR1 amount was increased upon RAP treatment while DDR1 uptake was reduced by a half upon LRP-1 inhibition, highlighting a new way for DDR1 internalization and dynamics. Consistently, co-immunoprecipitations confirmed the existence of a LRP1:DDR1 biomolecular complex at the cell surface of CRC cells.

Our results suggest a role for LRP-1 in promoting CRC cell proliferation in 3D collagen environment by mediating DDR1 endocytosis.

LRP-1, DDR1, colon cancer cell, proliferation, 3D collagen matrix

## Discipline : SCIENCES DE LA VIE ET DE LA SANTE

Spécialité : Aspects moléculaires et cellulaires de la biologie

Université de Reims Champagne-Ardenne MEDYC - UMR CNRS 7369/ BioSpecT EA 7506 UFR Sciences Exactes et Naturelles, Campus Moulin de la Housse BP 1039 51687 Reims cedex 2, France.